Public Document Pack

Simon W. Baker B.Ed MBA MISPAL
Chief Executive

AGENDA
for a
MEETING OF THE CABINET
Tuesday, 19 June 2018 at 2.00 pm in
The Council Chamber - Moorlands House, Stockwell
Street, Leek
Contact Officer:

Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
or Tel: 01538 395613

Membership
Councillors:S. Ralphs MBE
A. Forrester
M. Bowen
T. Hall
E. Wain
D. Ogden
S. Scalise

Leader of the Council (Chair)
Environment (Deputy Leader)
Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks,
Countryside and Housing
Customer Services
Planning, Development and Property
Cabinet Support Member
Cabinet Support Member

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise.
1.

Apologies

2.

Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 3 - 6)

3.

Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)

4.

Declarations of Interest, if any
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests
P.T.O.

www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Tel: 0345 605 3010

A G E N D A (Continued)

5.

Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any

6.

Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any

7.

Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any

8.

Leader

9.

10.

8 .1

Forward Plan (Pages 7 - 16)

8 .2

Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2017/18
(Pages 17 - 64)

8 .3

Performance Framework 2018/19 (incorporating the Annual Report 2017/18
and revised Corporate Plan 2018-2019) (Pages 65 - 158)

8 .4

Staffordshire Moorlands Growth Strategy (Pages 159 - 190)

Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and Housing
9 .1

Community Right to Bid Policy (Pages 191 - 210)

9 .2

Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of Abuse and Neglect (Pages 211
- 262)

Planning, Development and Property
10 .1 Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan: Green Infrastructure Strategy; May 2018
(Pages 263 - 424)

11.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The Chair to Move:“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act,
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely
that confidential information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would
be disclosed to the public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt
information as defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.”

12.

Environment
12 .1 Alliance Environmental Services (AES) - Phase 2 - Transfer of Services
(Pages 425 - 478)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including the authority holding that information)
)

Agenda Item 2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DECISIONS
TUESDAY, 24 APRIL 2018
PRESENT:

Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair)
Councillors M Bowen, A Forrester, T Hall, D Ogden, S Scalise and
E Wain

IN ATTEDNANCE:
54

Councillor B Cawley

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED)
The Minutes of the meeting held on 13 February 2018 were approved.

55

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY
There were no declarations of interest made.

56

JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE MINUTES - 17 APRIL 2018
DECISION:

57

That the Minutes of Meeting of the Local Joint Employees
Consultative Committee held on 17 April 2018 be received and the
recommendations contained therein approved.

FORWARD PLAN
DECISION: That the Forward Plan for April 2018 be approved for publication.

58

ACCELERATED HOUSING DELIVERY PROGRAMME
The purpose of the report was to prepare for the delivery of the Local Plan subject to
submission to the Planning Inspectorate this summer and successful examination
thereafter. The report aimed to inform members of the issues and potential
opportunities for accelerating housing delivery in the District and sought approval for
a comprehensive package of approaches to tackle low level development activity
and to maintain the 5 year supply in order to deliver the Local Plan.
Options considered:
1. To not approve the Accelerated Housing delivery proposal. This was not
considered the preferred option because the government was imposing
sanctions on local authorities who were unable demonstrate a delivery of the
housing target. This was currently based on OAN of 320 dwellings per year until
the new local plan is adopted. The community benefits in the form of Council
Tax, New Homes Bonus and Business Rate would be reduced. Not
recommended
2. To approve the accelerated housing delivery programme. Having an
implementation plan in place Page
would 3help in demonstrating the Council’s

Cabinet - 24 April 2018
commitment to delivering the emerging Local Plan and maintaining a 5 year land
supply. The government was focused on housing delivery and was encouraging
local authorities to take a more proactive approach. The accelerated housing
delivery programme coordinates the council’s effort to access funding and attract
investment into the area. Recommended
DECISION:

59

1.

That the proposal for the Accelerated Housing Delivery programme as
outlined in para 7.5 and 7.7 of the report be approved.

2.

That the expenditure as outline in para 6.4 of the report be approved.

3.

That the options in section 5 of the report be noted and that the
recommended option as outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the report be approved.

HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY
The purpose of the report was to submit the Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan
for approval.
Options considered:
Option 1- Proceed with the recommendation to approve the attached Homelessness
Strategy, that had been developed in relation to appropriate legislation and
consultation with a range of stakeholders (preferred option).
Option 2- Reject the recommendations and not adopt the Strategy (not
recommended).
DECISION:
That the Alliance wide Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan at Appendix A of the
report be approved.

60

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY
The purpose of the report was to review the Council’s Corporate Equality Objectives
and the Corporate Equality Policy. The report was considered by the Resources
Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 18 April 2018.
Options considered:
That the Cabinet considers and comments on the revised Equality Policy and
Corporate Equality Objectives. (Recommended)
That the Cabinet does not consider or comment on the revised Equality Policy and
Corporate Equality Objectives. (Not recommended)

DECISION:

Page 4

Cabinet - 24 April 2018
The Cabinet considered the Council’s Corporate Equality Objectives 2018/19 and
adopted the revised Corporate Equality Policy.
61

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK CONSULTATION
The report informed councillors of the proposals in the draft National Planning Policy
Framework which were subject to consultation. The report also proposed
recommendations regarding responding to the consultation.
Options considered:
Option 1 (recommended) – that the Council liaise with the Local Government
Association to submit a joint response to the consultation. This was recommended
as it was considered that such a response would carry more weight.
Option 2 (not recommended) – that the Council submitted its own response or did
not respond to the consultation. This was not recommended as it would provide the
Council with less or no influence over national policy.
DECISION:
1. That the proposals in the draft National Planning Policy Framework and the
proposal to work with the Local Government Association to submit a joint
response (Option 1 in Section 5) be noted.
2. That the implications for the Local Plan Submission Version be noted.

62

FOXT CONSERVATION
APPRAISAL

AREA

DESIGNATION

AND

CHARACTER

The purpose of the report was to present the results of the public consultation
exercise regarding the designation of a conservation area at Foxt and the
accompanying draft character appraisal.
Options considered:
There are two principal options:
Option 1 – Accept all the recommendations
It was a statutory duty for Councils to periodically review and determine whether any
of their areas warrant conservation area designation. Through the Churnet Valley
Masterplan, Foxt had been identified as an area that potentially retained sufficient
architectural and historic interest to warrant designation. Designating the proposed
conservation area and adopting the character appraisal would maximise the
protection afforded to the hamlet.
Recommended
Option 2 – Not accept any of the recommendations
The proposed conservation area boundary was designed to ensure the protection of
Foxt’s special character. Failure to designate the conservation area at Foxt would
not meet a key action point arising from the adopted SPD (Churnet Valley
Page 5
Masterplan). Not recommended

Cabinet - 24 April 2018
DECISION:
That the public consultation responses be noted and that designation of the
proposed conservation area at Foxt and the accompanying character appraisal as
set out in appendix 2 and 3 of the report be approved.
63

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED - That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government
Act, 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that
confidential information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed
to the public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as
defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed
to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.

64

REVIEW OF PUBLIC REALM CCTV SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM
The Cabinet considered a report which presented options for the future of the public
realm CCTV system and approved option 2 for the future direction of the system.

65

ALLIANCE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES - PHASE 2 TRANSFER OF
SERVICES
The Cabinet agreed the process for the transfer of further Council functions to
Alliance Environmental Services (AES).

66

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
The Cabinet approved a report which presented proposals for new arrangements for
the Council’s facilities management services.
The meeting closed at 2.31 pm

_________________________________Chairman

Page 6

Agenda Item 8.1

CABINET FORWARD PLAN
June 2018
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take
dshortly. Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’ The Plan is
updated and published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is
available, together with all public reports referred to, from our website
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street,
Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Should you have any questions
regarding these documents please contact the Council’s Member Services Team
via our website or by telephoning 01538 395613.
A key decision is one defined as:
"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates."
OR
"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an
area comprising two or more District Wards."

Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be
available five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the
Council’s website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by telephoning 01538 395551.
They are also available from our offices – Moorlands House, Stockwell Street,
Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents relevant to decisions
to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker.
Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public. However, occasionally, some
meetings, or part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content
of the reports to be discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal
information). This document indicates which reports and dates of meetings
where this will apply and the reason for this.
Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further
notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private. This will again state why this is
necessary and give the details of any representations received about why the
meeting should be open to the public. This will also include a statement of the
Council’s response to any such representations.

Page 7

1

INDEX
Date of decision
to be made

Page
No.

Review of Community Right to Bid Policy

19 June 2018

3

Safeguarding Update

19 June 2018

4

19 June 2018

5

19 June 2018

6

19 June 2018

7

19 June 2018

8

19 June 2018

9

Matter to be decided
COMMUNITIES, LEISURE, SPORT, PARKS, COUNTRYSIDE AND
HOUSING

ENVIRONMENT
Alliance Environmental Services
LEADER
Growth Strategy
Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review
2017/18
Performance Framework 2018/19 (incorporating the Annual Report
2017/18 and revised Corporate Plan 2018-2019)
PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTY
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan: Green Infrastructure Strategy;
May 2018

Page 8

2

Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and Housing
Matter for decision

Review of Community Right to Bid Policy

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

19 June 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Community

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 9

3

Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks, Countryside and Housing
Matter for decision

Safeguarding Update

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

19 June 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Bowen

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Community

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (People)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 10

4

Environment
Matter for decision

Alliance Environmental Services

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

19 June 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Forrester

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources/Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Private – Financial or business affairs of any
particular person

Page 11

5

Leader
Matter for decision

Growth Strategy

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

19 June 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 12

6

Leader
Matter for decision

Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and
Performance Review 2017/18

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

19 June 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 13

7

Leader
Matter for decision

Performance Framework 2018/19 (incorporating
the Annual Report 2017/18 and revised
Corporate Plan 2018-2019)

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

19 June 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Ralphs

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Resources

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director
(Transformation)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 14

8

Planning, Development and Property
Matter for decision

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan: Green
Infrastructure Strategy; May 2018

Key decision to be made on
behalf of the Council

Yes

Decision maker

Cabinet

Expected date of decision

19 June 2018

Relevant Portfolio Holder

Cllr Wain

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny
Panel

Service Delivery

Documents submitted to the
decision taker for
consideration

Report of the Executive Director (Place)

Public/Private report

Public

Page 15

9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8.2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
19th June 2018
TITLE:

Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and
Performance Review 2017/18

PORTFOLIO HOLDER

Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Claire Hazeldene – Finance & Procurement
Vanessa Higgins - Performance

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached
 Appendix A (2017/18 – Fourth Quarter (Provisional Outturn) Financial
Report)
 Appendix B (2017/18 – Fourth Quarter Procurement Report)
 Appendix C (2017/18 – Fourth Quarter Performance Report)
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st March 2018
(“Fourth Quarter 2017/18”)

2.

Recommendations

2.1

That the Cabinet note:



The Fourth Quarter 2017/18 financial, procurement and performance
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this
covering report.
The proposed allocation of the surplus on the General Fund Revenue
Account to reserves as explained in Appendix A (paragraph 2.9)

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

This report essentially summarises the Council’s financial, procurement and
performance position after considering service activity up to the end of the
Fourth Quarter (i.e. 3st March 2018).

Page 17

3.2

Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B
(Procurement) and Appendix C (Performance).

3.3

The position can be summarised as follows:
Headline

Reference

The headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:
Performance against Budget
 At the Quarter Four stage the General Fund provisional outturn
for 2017/18 is an underspend of £1,497,076

Appendix A

Subject
Finance

Efficiency Programme
 The overall efficiency target of £661,000 for 2017/18 has been
achieved
Capital Programme
 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2017/18 was set at
£1.71m
 The provisional outturn is £1.55m which represents an
underspend of £0.16m relating primarily to re-profiling of the
Asset Management Plan.
Treasury Management
 Cash investments held at 31st March 2018 totalled £5.6 million.
 The Ascent loan and debenture currently stands at £19 million.
 Council borrowing at 31st March 2018 totalled £12.9 million (£12
million of which relates to the Ascent loan)
 The Council’s net interest receipts budget has achieved a surplus
of £35,713.
Revenue Collection
 98.6% of Council Tax was collected by 31 March 2018 (98%
target exceeded), compared to 98.7% for the same period last
year.
 98.5% of Business Rates was collected by 31 March 2018 (98.1%
target exceeded) compared with 98.8% for the same period last
year.
 At the end of the year the value of sundry debt that was over 60
days old was £110,423 which compares with £127,221 at 31
March 2017 (5% reduction target exceeded).
Procurement

The headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:



Performance

30 procurement activities were completed
At the 31 March 2018, 71% of procurement activity undertaken
was on the forward plan and the Council paid 96% of its invoices
within 30 days during the year

The headlines for the Fourth Quarter are:



Appendix B

Targets for 76% of the key performance indicators were met
Of the 24 Priority Actions within the Corporate Plan, 2 are still to

Page 18

Appendix C

Subject

Headline



Reference

commence, 4 are complete, 1 is closed, 2 are rated amber, the
remainder being classified as ‘Green’; and
The Council received 43 complaints, 55 comments and 22
compliments in the Fourth Quarter.
Repeat complaints and response times both on track

4.

How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the
effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the
subject of this report.

5.

Options and Analysis

5.1

Detailed Analysis is contained within the main body of the Report.

6.

Implications

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2

Workforce
None.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality
and Diversity policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the
report.

6.5

Legal
None.

16.6

Sustainability
None.

6.7

External Consultation
None.

6.8

Risk Assessment
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A.

Page 19

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer
Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Various background working papers

Moorlands House

Claire Hazeldene
01538 395400 Ext. 4191
Vanessa Higgins
01538 395400 Ext. 4195

Page 20

APPENDIX A

2017/18
Fourth Quarter
(Provisional Outturn)
Financial
Review

Page 21

1

Background and Introduction

1.1

In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and
recommended good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to
members. This is the final report for 2017/18.

1.2

The report summarises overall financial performance for 2017/18 with
particular emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council.
Specific considerations are as follows:


General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers
budgetary performance on the General Account by looking at
variations in income and expenditure and the funding received by the
Council.



Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) –
considers progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation
savings forecast for 2017/18.



Capital Programme (Section 4) – provides an update to Members
on progress against the Council’s capital plan



Treasury Management (Section 5) – sets out the key statistics in
terms of investments and borrowings;



Revenue Collection (Section 6) – considers progress-to-date in
collecting the Council Tax and Business Rates; and

Page 22

2

General Fund Revenue Account

2.1

This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General
Fund Revenue Account against budget by setting out variations in income and
expenditure and funding received by the Council.
Service

Projected
Outturn
2017/18

2017/18
Budget

Variance

Use of
Earmarked
Reserves

£

£
500,990
95,860
708,010
65,860
309,800
1,157,710
900
(24,310)
(79,790)
584,800
225,670
84,470
(221,710)
435,500
427,400
58,650
191,810
175,600
387,560
1,962,970
1,976,750
358,150
640,890
583,290
(409,490)
439,960

£
481,379
93,592
629,136
52,756
260,775
1,273,451
(109,348)
(114,323)
(16,364)
543,469
191,637
24,658
(225,179)
449,909
442,262
(33,802)
191,531
145,627
465,009
1,572,452
2,056,251
337,223
586,487
542,537
(361,572)
440,909

£
(19,611)
(2,268)
(78,874)
(13,104)
(49,025)
115,741
(110,248)
(90,013)
63,426
(41,331)
(34,033)
(59,812)
(3,469)
14,409
14,862
(92,452)
(279)
(29,973)
77,449
(390,518)
79,501
(20,927)
(54,403)
(40,753)
47,918
949

75,321
(26,680)
(35,485)
60,775
(80,533)
23,505
2,537
6,615
-

Net Total of Services

10,637,300

9,920,462

(716,838)

26,055

Net Interest

(357,870)
10,279,430

(393,583)
9,526,879

(35,713)
(752,551)

Funding : external
: reserves contribution/(use)

(9,751,040)

(10,481,690)

(730,650)

(528,390)

(542,265)

(13,875)

-

(1,497,076)

(1,497,076)

Alliance Management Team
Audit
ICT
Human Resources
Member Services
Property Services
Benefits
Planning Applications
Building Control
Customer Services
Legal Services
Electoral Services
Licensing and Land Charges
Regeneration
Communities and Cultural
Housing Strategy
Transformation
Community Safety and Enforcement
Finance, Income and Procurement
Corporate Finance*
Waste Collection
Street Scene
Leisure Services
Horticulture
Visitor Services
Environmental Health

Projected (Surplus)/Deficit

26,055

* In previous quarters Staff costs were budgeted and recorded in Finance & Procurement. They were
considered a corporate resource to be the main source of savings realised by the Authority’s Efficiency and
Rationalisation Programme, However to show the true use of resources by individual services it is necessary to
include the actual staff costs incurred. Therefore the Quarter Four provisional outturn position includes the
actual staff costs (and matching budgets) at the service level.

Page 23

2.2

A revenue budget of £10,279,430 was set for 2017/18.
shows how this budget has been allocated to services.

2.3

The provisional outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for the year is
£8,782,354. This represents a projected surplus for the year of £1,497,076.

2.4

There were five significant overspends on the General Fund Revenue Account:









2.5

The table above

Property (£115,741 overspend) – The most significant pressure on the
service budgets was an overspend of some £208,000 on repairs and
maintenance. However owing to the nature of the repairs £75,321 of the
Authority’s earmarked Health and Safety reserve has been used to meet
the additional costs (see 2.6). Savings against Non-Domestic Rates and
Utility budgets reduced the overall overspend.
Building Control (£63,426 overspend) – while operational costs were
reduced by some £52,000 this could not offset the larger decrease in
income suffered by the service.
Finance, Income and Procurement (£77,449 overspend) - The Recovery
function is around £60,000 over budget owing to lower than expected
summons income due to the changes implemented on the calculation of
summons/liability order costs. System modifications implemented in Local
Taxation, in line with changes to Non-Domestic Rates legislation, have
taken the service £19,000 over budget. The additional costs, of around
£23,500, have been funded out of an existing earmarked reserve at the
year end (see 2.6).
Waste Collection (£79,501 overspend) - While income from container hire
was some £15,000 above budget this was more than offset by overspends
elsewhere. Repair costs of the ageing vehicle fleet were £15,000 above
expectations and gate fees were £16,000 above budget. But the largest
single factor was a reduction in the income generated by paper recycling.
This reflected both a reduction in the tonnages collected and the price
earned.
Visitor Services (£47,918 overspend) – Museum running costs were some
£14,000 above budget. There were also overspends within the market
service amounting to around £30,000. The initiative at Cheadle accounted
for £4,000 of this but the rest was down to overspends on Leek markets’
running costs such as repairs and refuse disposal.

There were eight significant underspends on the General Fund Revenue
Account:





ICT (£78,874 underspend) – savings have accrued from lower than
expected spend across a range of service activities (telephony, system
upgrades, consultancy, ad-hoc projects).
Member Services (£49,025 underspend) – A £10,000 grant from the Police
and Crime Commissioner contributed to an overall surplus for the year.
However the majority of the underspend arose from savings against
member allowance and subsistence costs.
Benefits (£110,248 underspend) – the administrative costs of the service
were some £43,000 below budget owing to savings on spend and receipt of
£37,000 in grants towards implementing government initiatives and process
changes. The year also saw an emphasis on the pursuit of overpaid

Page 24










2.6

benefits by means of raising invoices to claimants. The act of raising
invoices results in the service being credited as if they were all paid on
issue. As realistically not all invoices will be paid the income accruing to the
service was offset by a substantial bad debts provision.
Planning Applications (£90,013 underspend) – the majority of the
underspend relates to additional planning fee income (planning fees were
increased nationally in January 2018)
Electoral Services (£59,812 underspend) - The service budgets to make an
annual contribution in to an earmarked reserve in order to smooth the costs
of the council’s elections over the term of the administration. The budgeted
underspend to fund this contribution for 2017/18 is £26,680 (see 2.6)
A further £20,000 underspend resulted from the in-year costs relating to
Individual Elector Registration being below the level of funding received
from Central Government in the form of Section 31 grant.
Housing Strategy (£92,452 underspend) - Some £85,000 in Government
grants were received in year to support actions to be taken by the Authority
in response to the Homelessness Reduction Act. As the majority of
initiatives identified under the Authority’s Homeless Strategy did not take
place in 2017/18 this funding has been carried forward as an earmarked
reserve (see 2.6).
Corporate Finance (£390,518 underspend) - Corporate Finance records the
Authority’s performance against its efficiency savings target and the
consolidation of savings against corporate budgets such as for employee
costs. This cashing-up exercise has been completed and as reported at
section 3 below, the saving target for the year was achieved. In addition
significant savings have accrued against corporate staff and inflation
contingency budgets. The net impact of staff turnover and vacancies has
contributed £300,000 while a saving of £60,000 has accrued from lower
than anticipated inflationary pressures.
Leisure Services (£54,403 underspend) – A new leisure development
strategy was finalised in July. The full roll out of its programmes was not
completed in 2017/18 generating an underspend of some £18,000. There
were further underspends across a number of service budgets including
some £13,000 saved against the Leisure Centre repairs budget

The actual level of funding achieved in the year was £744,525 above the
original estimate owing to variances across the following income streams;
External Funding: (£730,650)


Business Rates Retention (£725,220):
- An increase of £174,510 in the level of retained business rates is
anticipated owing to increases in business rates income prudently not
assumed in the budget because of uncertainties surrounding the 2017
revaluation and appeals provision.
- Following new information provided by the Valuation Office Agency, the
DCLG has adjusted the tariff payable on business rates for the year for
all Councils. This has had a positive effect for this Council and
increases the level of retained business rates by £114,510.
- An increase of £412,200 is anticipated resulting from additional S31
grants to fund the new reliefs not known at the budget setting stage for
Local Discretionary Relief, Supporting Small Businesses, Pub Relief

Page 25

-

and the change in thresholds on Small Business Rate Relief. These
grants are credited to the General Fund in the year and the associated
reliefs have the opposite effect of increasing the Collection Fund deficit
to be distributed the following year.
The resulting reduction in NNDR income from these additional reliefs
also has the effect of reducing the net levy payable to the Staffordshire
Pool, which improves the Council’s retention by £24,000.

In line with the Medium Term Financial Plan requirements the increased deficit
in 2018/19, as a result of accounting for business rates appeals and reliefs, will
need to be accommodated by the use of the Authority’s reserves (see 2.11).
Use of Reserves: (£13,875)



There was a £516,210 drawdown of reserves included in the 2017/18
budget. As detailed in 2.8 instead of a use of reserves they were actually
increased by £980,866.
In addition, £12,180 was budgeted to be drawn from earmarked reserves –
the actual amount drawn from earmarked reserves in 2017/18 was £26,055
(as shown in the table in 2.1)

Earmarked:











Property Services £75,321 use: the cost of resolving urgent health and
safety works at the Council’s properties is to be covered out of this reserve.
Electoral Services £26,680 contribution: this is a budgeted annual
contribution in to a reserve earmarked to spread the cost of the District’s
elections over the term of a council.
Regeneration £35,485 contribution: relating to New Burdens monies
received in 2017/18 which will be applied in 2018/19
Communities and Cultural £60,775 use: To facilitate the fact that Local
Strategic Partnership projects often take place in a different year to when
the funding is received an earmarked reserve is used to carry funds
between years. The use of this reserve reflects the level of such activities
being progressed by the service in 2017/18.
Housing Strategy £80,533 contribution: The Authority has received
significant funding from Central Government towards the cost of satisfying
the requirements of the Homelessness Reduction Act. As the majority of
actions were only to come into effect after the financial year end an
earmarked reserve has been used to carry the funding forward to future
years.
Finance, Income and Procurement £23,505 use: the cost of updating the
Business Rates software following legislative changes has been part funded
out of a reserve created from Government funding received in prior years.
Corporate Finance £2,537 use: the Authority occasionally suffers a charge
arising from its historical liability with Municipal Mutual Insurance. The
Authority’s Insurance Reserve is used to fund these irregular charges.
Horticulture £6,615 use: Works on Recreation Grounds and Open Spaces
are part funded each year by drawing down on Section 106 monies
previously received from Developers as part of their planning obligations.

Page 26

General Fund Revenue Reserves
2.7

The provisional outturn for the year on the General Fund Revenue Account was
a £1,497,076 surplus.

2.8

The surplus generated is calculated inclusive of the £516,210 use of general
reserves budgeted for 2017/18. If this budgeted contribution is excluded the
£980,866 that remains represents the amount by which the Authority’s
contingency reserves have increased.

2.9

The Authority’s calculated minimum for its contingency reserve is £1,000,000.
A review of the Authority’s reserves has been performed to identify areas where
earmarking for future projects was considered prudent while maintaining a
satisfactory level for contingency. As a result the following moves into
earmarked reserves are proposed;
-

£1,500,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to fund capital
expenditure and reduce the overall cost of borrowing. It is anticipated that
this will be applied to acquiring vehicles and equipment for Alliance
Environmental Services Limited.

-

£57,000 added to the Authority’s earmarked Elections reserve which exists
to spread the cost of the Authority’s quadrennial election over the life of a
council.

2.10

In addition the balance of £60,000 on the Growth earmarked reserve has been
returned to Contingency. The reserve was not considered necessary as the
business promotion activities it was created to fund can be supported out of
existing revenue budgets.

2.11

The effect of these changes results in a balance on general fund reserves as at
31st March 2018 of £3.108 million – which is £2.108 million above minimum
contingency. The current Medium Term Financial Plan, which accommodates
the £0.412m deficit on the Collection Fund (see 2.6), expects to utilise a net
£0.3m (£793,000 drawdown required 2018/9) of general contingency reserves
to support the revenue budget over the next four years 2018/19 – 2021/22.
This is however dependent on the realisation of the Efficiency Plan.

Page 27

3.

Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme

3.1

This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2017/18.

3.2

The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2017)
included a new four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation
Strategy targeting savings of £3.14 million. This was required to balance the
forecast budget deficit position of £2.7m and also the carry forward of
unachieved efficiencies from 2016/17 of £0.4m

3.3

The new Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy will have the effect of both
reducing expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now
more of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing. The
strategy has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting
frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable
the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the established
priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.

3.4

There are five areas of focus:







Major Procurements - There is the opportunity to focus attention on a
number of large service functions which are currently provided by an
external contractor / supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming
to an end. This will also allow a fundamental review of these services with
proper consideration of the current financial constraints. The contract
commitments have sometimes restricted the opportunity to align services
across the alliance with High Peak. The individual projects will focus on
Waste Collection & Environment Services, Leisure Management and
Facilities Management
Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of
rationalising the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in
order to allow for the necessary capital investment
Growth – development of a clear focus upon housing and economic
growth based upon the emerging Local Plan.
Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources
on income and a drive towards identifying new sources of income
Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority
areas of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift, nonstatutory services

3.5

The 2017/18 budget provides for the achievement of £661,000 of such savings
in year – with a significant focus on income generation and management
structure review.

3.6

At the end of Quarter 4, £661,000 has been taken against the overall Efficiency
programme, thus achieving the savings target for the year. This total relates to
management review savings, additional income from car parking and recycling,
channel shift project savings, corporate staffing budget savings, the result of
agency / vacancy reviews within Operational Services, and a reduction in
postage and printing costs.

Page 28

3.7

The Authority carries a reserve of £492,000 earmarked to support the Strategy
which can be drawn on to offset any one-off and short term costs from the
service review process and consequent shortfall against the efficiency target. It
has not been necessary to draw on this reserve in 2017/18 so it remains intact
to underwrite performance against future savings targets in the Efficiency
Programme.

Page 29

4.

Capital Programme

4.1

This section of the report provides an update on the Council’s Capital
Programme.

4.2

The revised General Fund Capital Programme for 2017/18, as updated and
approved in February, was set at £1,712,470

4.3

The 2017/18 provisional outturn at Mach 2018 is summarised in the table
below, with further detail provided at Annex A.
Service

4.4

2017/18
Outturn

Variance

Housing Standards
Property Services
ICT
Leisure Services
Regeneration
Horticulture
Total Spending

£
501,630
932,840
104,310
14,000
51,760
107,930
1,712,470

£
517,824
770,830
104,303
12,498
36,041
107,929
1,549,424

£
16,194
(162,010)
(8)
(1,502)
(15,719)
(1)
(163,046)

Grants External Contributions
Capital Receipts
Capital Reserve
Planning obligations
Borrowing
Total Funding

775,850
420,000
16,700
499,920
1,712,470

850,779
38,051
7,511
16,710
636,373
1,549,424

74,929
38,051
(412,489)
10
136,453
(163,046)

The Council incurred Capital Expenditure of £1,549,424 during the year against
the revised budget of £1,712,470. This represents an under spend of £163,046
The majority of the underspend reflects the impact of Capital Programme
projects which are either behind schedule or have progressed quicker than
expected with the most significant variance being:


4.5

2017/18
Approved
Budget

Property Services (£162,010 underspend) caused primarily by delays in
progress of a number of asset management projects where expenditure in
the year was below or ahead of forecast. These variances will be carried
forward into 2018/19 to fund those projects. Also included in the variance
is a (£58,127 underspend) recorded against roofing works at Biddulph
Valley Leisure Centre. The project was completed in the year and the
works required were less than originally anticipated.

Consequently, capital funding applied to the 2017/18 Capital Programme is
lower than forecast, reflecting the of incidence and timing of capital spend

Page 30

4.6

As a result of the variances detailed above, approval is sought to increase the
capital budgets for 2018/19 as shown in the table below:Capital Programme 'Carry Forwards' (2017/18 to 2018/19)
Carry
Over/
Forward to
Service
(Under)spend
2017/18
Variance
Completed
Over/(Under)
Projects
Spend
£
£
£
Housing
16,194
16,194
Property Services
(162,010)
(103,883)
(58,127)
ICT
(8)
(8)
Leisure Services
(1,502)
(1,502)
Regeneration
(15,719)
(5,524)
(10,195)
Horticulture
(1)
(1)
Total

(163,046)

Page 31

(93,213)

(69,833)

5.

Treasury Management

5.1

This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a
high level treasury management summary. The Audit and Accounts Committee
receives detailed operational updates on treasury management.
Investments

5.2

Cash Investments held on the 31st March 2018 totalled £5.6 million. Interest
earned on these investments to the end of Quarter 4 totalled £37,331. The
average level of funds available for investment to the end of Quarter 4 was £9.8
million.

5.3

The Council budgeted to receive £39,000 in investment income in 2017/18. The
budget was set with the expectation that the low interest environment would
continue, however the rates available on fixed investment opportunities reduced
further still in the first half of the year and internal borrowing is reducing
balances available for investment. The effects of these factors were largely
offset by increasing interest rates following the increase in the Bank of England
base rate on 2nd November. Therefore only a small shortfall of £1,669 is
reported against the budget.
Ascent Joint Venture

5.4

Ascent (the joint venture company set up to deliver affordable housing across
the District) had drawn the full £5 million debenture facility by the end of
2014/15. Interest is charged at 2%, therefore the budgeted interest income for
the year is £100,000; this has been achieved.

5.5

The balance on the loan facility to Ascent remains at £14 million. There were no
further drawdowns of the loan during 2017/18. The first tranche of the loan
(£7m) was due for repayment on 11th October 2017, the fifth anniversary of the
original drawdown. This was refinanced for a period of 1 year whilst the Ascent
LLP business plan is reviewed.

5.6

Interest charged is based on the PWLB rate on the date of the drawdown plus a
1.25% risk premium. The budget of interest income related to the loan was set
at £474,270 – this included £373,660 due from the original loan drawdowns and
£100,610 relating to the continuation of the first tranche of the loan. The
refinanced loan is charged interest at 2.61%, which is lower than the original
drawdowns in this tranche (average 3.53%) due to the shorter period; therefore
there a shortfall of £15,000 reported against the budget.
Borrowing

5.7

Total debt outstanding as at 31st March 2018 stood at £12.9 million. £12 million
has been used to fund the Ascent Loan, the remaining £0.9 million relates to
finance leases.

5.8

The Council has budgeted to incur £255,400 in interest charges in 2017/18.
This was based on the existing Ascent Loan Balance of £14 million and a £1.7

Page 32

million general fund borrowing requirement in the current year capital
programme.
5.9

The refinancing of a maturing debt of £2 million relating to the Ascent Loan in
2016/17 has been delayed, instead being funded internally for the duration of
this year. In addition to this, no ‘new’ external borrowing has taken place during
the year. The delayed borrowing has achieved savings on total borrowing costs
of £52,000.

Page 33

6

Revenue Collection

6.1

This section of the report details progress to date in collecting the Council Tax,
Business Rates and Sundry Debt.

6.2

The Quarter 4 collection rate outturn for the year 2017/18 was as follows:

6.3



Council Tax – 98.6% of Council Tax was collected by 31st March 2018
(target achieved), compared to 98.7% for the same period last year.



Business Rates – 98.5% of Business Rates was collected by 31st March
2018 (target achieved), compared with 98.8% for the same period last year.

At the end of Quarter Four the value of sundry debt that was over 60 days old
was £110,423 which compares with £127,221 at 31st March 2017.

Page 34

ANNEX A
Capital Programme Out-Turn 2017-2018

Capital Schemes

2017/18
Approved
Budget

2017/18
Outturn

£

£

Variance

C/fwd to
2018/19

Over /
(Underspend)
Completed
Projects

£

£

£

Housing Standards
Private Sector Grants

501,630

517,824

16,194

16,194

-

501,630

517,824

16,194

16,194

-

932,840
932,840
104,310
104,310

770,830
770,830
104,303
104,303

(162,010)
(162,010)
(8)
(8)

(103,883)
(103,883)
-

(58,127)
(58,127)
(8)
(8)

14,000
14,000

12,498
12,498

(1,502)
(1,502)

-

(1,502)
(1,502)

51,760
51,760

36,041
36,041

(15,719)
(15,719)

(5,524)
(5,524)

(10,195)
(10,195)

107,930
107,930

107,929
107,929

(1)
(1)

-

(1)
(1)

1,712,470

1,549,424

(163,046)

(93,213)

(69,833)

Property Services
Asset Management Plan
ICT
Leisure Services
Sports - Small Schemes
Regeneration
Moorlands Partnership Grants
Horticulture
Play - Projects

Total Programme

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B

2017/18
Fourth Quarter
Procurement
Review

Page 37

1.

Introduction

1.1

A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency &
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from the implementation of the
Procurement Strategy which was agreed by Councillors in April 2014.

1.2

The strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives link closely with the
Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives. The key actions in
in the strategy included:








Delivery of cashable efficiency savings to support the Efficiency &
Rationalisation Strategy by tendering, retendering and renegotiating of
contracts.
Development and embedding a professional procurement unit of
excellence to deliver on going efficiency savings for the Councils
Revising Financial and Procurement Procedure Rules to support
transparency, timeliness of contract award and greater control
Expanding the usage of electronic procurement systems for works as
appropriate
Increasing the levels of spend covered by the contract
Implementation of e-tendering
Supporting the local economy by increasing the number of procurement
opportunities advertised and adoption of a local business concordat

1.3

Significant progress has been made since April 2014, in conjunction with the
external support of the Alliance Transformation partner Northgate Information
Solutions. The reliance on this external support ended when a new staffing
structure was implemented as part of the service review process. This has
enabled new working initiatives to be implemented, including the integration of
the Creditors function into Procurement will ensure the ‘Purchase to Pay
Cycle’ is robust and able to meet the demands of efficiency and performance
targets.

1.4

Additionally, the introduction of new systems and electronic processes now
enables the Alliance to be fully compliant in accordance with Transparency
Code and Public Contract Regulations requirements – with all procurement
opportunities over £5,000 now openly advertised.

1.5

The Procurement Procedure Rules have been recently updated and the
updated Procurement Strategy is scheduled for presentation during 2018/19.

Page 38

2.

Fourth Quarter Completed Procurements

2.1

The activity supported by the procurement function during the fourth quarter
January – March 2018 is summarised below:
Third Quarter

SMDC Only
JOINT (SM/HP)
TOTAL

High Value
(>£172,000)

Low Value
(<£172,000)

Total

-

21
9
30

21
9
30

2.2

Annex A provides details of the 30 procurements exercises reviewed and
completed during Quarter 4.

2.4

As a result of procurement activity, cashable savings of £3,370 have been
achieved in 2017/18 which have been offset against the efficiency programme.

2.5

A number of one-off procurement exercises have also taken place – which
may result in savings against overall budget. This will be assessed when
reviewing overall expenditure and undertaking a comparison against budget to
identify where budgets can be reduced due to procurement activity.

Page 39

3.

2018/19 Procurement Forward Plan

3.1

The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or
high value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for completion in
2018/19.
2017/18

High Value

Low Value

Activity

( £172,000)

(<£172,000)

1
6
7

15
18
33

SMDC
JOINT (SM/HP)
TOTAL

Total

16
24
40

In addition to the above, there are 147 listed entries brought forward from
previous years for review for both HPBC and SMDC. To be included as carry
forwards to 2018/19 programme.
3.2

Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled
for delivery in 2018/19 includes:




Facilities Management Contract
Leisure Centre Management
CCTV Maintenance and Monitoring Arrangements
Leek Markets Logistic Support (Market stalls)

Page 40

4.

Procurement Performance

4.1

This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement
activity and the payment of suppliers.

4.2

Performance for the fourth quarter is highlighted below:
Performance Indicator
% of Alliance Procurement
Activity on Forward Plan
Annual contract spend as %
of gross expenditure budget
% of invoices paid within 30
days

Target

Performance at
31st March 2018

65%

71%

72%

79%

95%

96%

Page 41

ANNEX A
Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed
NB: REMOVE NO PROCUREMENT REQUIRED represents the review outcome against the individual
work plan item listed, to advise if an individual competitive procedure is required. Items may not be
required as the project is not to be procured, renewed or that it has been completed under an
alternative existing contract arrangement
Auth

SMDC

SMDC

SMDC

SMDC

SMDC

SMDC

Contract name

Brief contract
description

Recurring
or One-off
contracts

Service
Area

Procedure
/ Work
Plan
Review

AWARD DETAIL

Works associated
with retaining wall
(works completed)

One-off

Assets
Capital
Projects

TENDER

WHITEHOUSE
CONSTRUCTION

1

99,270

Works Contract to
Refurb of
Industrial Units at
SMDC region

One-off

Assets
Capital
Projects

TENDER

TRADES AND
LABOURERS
LTD

1

31,588

A single point of
contact service
lead related to
affordable warmth
that will provide
support and
advice Efficiency, fuel
bills and debt
reducing fuel
poverty

One-off

Democratic
&
Community Communities
&
Partnerships

TENDER

BEAT THE COLD

1

12,000

School Sport
Partnership
Consultancy

Support to
establish the
School Sport
Partnership with
all Staffordshire
Moorlands
Schools

One-off

Operational
Services Leisure

RFQ

YOUTH SPORTS
TRUST

1

2,123

Potholes Repair
Wetley Moor
Common

Maintenance of
vehicle access for
tracks to
residential
properties at
Wetley Moor.
Access tacks also
form part of
promoted walking
routes and
essential vehicular
routes for
maintenance work
at Wetley Moor.
Annual repair
required to rectify
potholes in hard
surfaced roads.
The gate was
damaged beyond
repair and
required replacing
to secure access
to the Depot

One-off

Operational
Services Horticulture

RFQ

WRIGHTS
LANDSCAPES
LTD

[-]

3,250

Assets
Capital
Projects

RFQ

NORTON
INDUSTRIAL
DOORS LTD

[-]

2,848

Joliffe Street - Wall
scheme
Leek Industrial Units
Refurbishments

Delivery of Affordable
Warmth

New Barrier at
Fowlchurch Depot

(Works)

(Works)

(Service
Contract)

(Service
Contract)

(Works)

One-Off
(Supply
and Install)

Page 42

Term

TVC

YRS

Auth

SMDC

SMDC

SMDC

SMDC

Contract name

Brief contract
description

Recurring
or One-off
contracts

Service
Area

Procedure
/ Work
Plan
Review

AWARD DETAIL

Repair to Potholes in
access Tracks as
required (additional
requirement)

Maintenance of
access tracks as
required under
statutory
obligations for
vehicular site
access and
access to
residential
properties

One-Off

Operational
Services Horticulture

RFQ

WRIGHTS
LANDSCAPES
LTD

[-]

2,750

Water level
monitoring at Hales
Hall Pool

Monitoring of
water levels at
Hales Hall Pool
reservoir including
quarterly visits
and management
of telemetry and
alarm system

Recurring

Operational
Services Horticulture

SINGLE
SOURCE

WSP Ltd

[-]

2,640

SMLC Sports Hall Asbestos
Encapsulation Survey
and report

Appointment of
specialist
Asbestos
consultancy to
complete full
survey and
produce
methodology for
leaseholder to
complete
encapsulation
works
Remedial Works

One-Off

Assets
Capital
Projects

RFQ

TERSUS
CONSULTANCY
LTD

[-]

585

Assets
Capital
Projects

RFQ

AIB SOLUTIONS
LTD

[-]

260

South Moorlands
Leisure Centre:
Repair and
Encapsulation of
plant room ceiling

(Works)

(Service
Contract)

(Service)

One-Off
(Works)

Term

TVC

YRS

SMDC

Fowlchurch Depot Demolition of
recycling shed

Demolition of
recycling shed

One-Off

Assets
Capital
Projects

EXISTING
CONTRACT

DCC
(COMPLETED
UNDER FM
CONTRACT)

[-]

[-]

SMDC

Leek Markets
Operational
Partnership

External delivery
of Leek Markets
Operation

Recurring

Visitor
Services Tourism &
Markets

OJEU
OPEN
TENDER

PROCEDURE
SUSPENDED

[-]

[-]

SMDC

Moorlands House
relocation of Server
Room and Internal
Alterations

Alterations to
Moorlands House
inc Server Room

One-Off

Assets
Capital
Projects

REVIEW

PROJECT
SUSPENDED –
alterations will be
covered under
P3515 (LIVE WP
ref: 731)

[-]

[-]

SMDC

8&8A Market Street
Repairs

Structural Repairs

One-Off

Assets
Capital
Projects

REVIEW

REMOVE
DUPLICATED
ITEM REF 790
LIVE

[-]

[-]

SMDC

Biddulph Grange
Country Park

Upgrade of the
fire system

One-Off

Assets
Capital
Projects

REVIEW

REMOVE NO
PROCUREMENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

Page 43

Auth

Contract name

Brief contract
description

Recurring
or One-off
contracts

Service
Area

Procedure
/ Work
Plan
Review

AWARD DETAIL

Term

TVC

YRS

SMDC

Vehicle leasing
administration

Car leasing
scheme
administration

Recurring

Finance

REVIEW

REMOVE NO
PROCURMEENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

SMDC

Refurbishment of
Hoops at SMLC
Basket Ball Courts

Refurbishment of
existing facilities

One-Off

Assets
Capital
Projects

REVIEW

REMOVE NO
PROCURMEENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

SMDC

Biddulph Valley
Leisure Centre –
Lintels repairs

Works on
specified Lintels

One-Off

Assets
Capital
Projects

REVIEW

REMOVE NO
PROCURMEENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

SMDC

Nicholson Institute
Re-plaster Library

Remedial works to
plaster

One-Off

Assets
Capital
Projects

REVIEW

REMOVE NO
PROCURMEENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

SMDC

Supply and lease of
‘E-bus’

Lease of E-Bus

Recurring

Customer
Services

REVIEW

REMOVE NO
PROCURMENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

SMDC

Digital Copier Rental

Hire of print output
machines

Recurring

Customer
Services

REVIEW

REMOVE NO
PROCURMENT
REQUIRED

INCORPORATED IN
WIDER PRINT
RATIONALISATION
REVIEW

Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed - JOINT
Auth

JOINT

Contract name

Pest Control
Products Provider

Brief contract
description

Recurring
or One-off
contracts

Service
Area

Procedure
/ Work
Plan
Review

AWARD DETAIL

To purchase all
pest control
equipment &
pesticides

Recurring

Regulatory
Services Environment
al Health

FRAME
WORK -

KILGERM

(Supply)

Term

TVC

YRS

3

MINI
COMP

30,000
HP
£21,000
SM
£19,000

JOINT

JOINT

Property
Management
Landlord and Tenant
lease renewals Consultancy
Appointment

Appointment of
External
Surveyors to
review current
rental properties
and Assets owned
by HPBC and
SMDC

One-off

Media Advertising
Agents
Public Notices

Third party agent
providing media
services for the
Authorities Public
notice in local
papers (Planning
Applications)

Recurring

(Service
Contract)

Assets
Capital
Projects

RFQ

Customer
Services

RFQ

Page 44

MOUNSEY
SURVEYORS
LTD

1

3,225
50%
HP/SM

Option to source directly from
publications. Business change
process SMDC, currently under
review. Efficiency savings identified.
Not required to procure a fixed term
service contract. This will be SOLE
Supplier sourcing against negotiated
rates.

Auth

Contract name

Brief contract
description

Recurring
or One-off
contracts

Service
Area

Procedure
/ Work
Plan
Review

AWARD DETAIL

Initially provision
of out of hours
self-service on
revs and bens,
and waste
telephone lines.
Extended to
queue busting
facility and
potentially full
front-end service
Supply of
printer/equipment
and all
consumables

Recurring

Customer
Services

REVIEW

REMOVE_NO
PROCUREMENT
REQUIRED

Recurring

Customer
Services

REVIEW

REMOVE_NO
PROCUREMENT
REQUIRED

Term

TVC

YRS

JOINT

Self-serve on phones

JOINT

Provision of
printers/photocopiers

JOINT

Financial IT System
Integra

Finance and eprocurement
system

Recurring

OD &
Trans_ICT

REVIEW

REMOVE_NO
PROCUREMENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

JOINT

WAN_IT

HPBC WAN
(includes HPBC to
SMDC link &
Buxton to Glossop
link) is with BT
SMDC WAN
(includes MH to
Cheadle &
Biddulph and link
into SCC network)
is with Staffs
County Council

Recurring

OD &
Trans_ICT

REVIEW

REMOVE_NO
PROCUREMENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

JOINT

PARIS e-payments

Electronic
payments system

Recurring

OD &
Trans_ICT

REVIEW

REMOVE_NO
PROCUREMENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

JOINT

FOI Admin Workflow

System to enable
tracking and work
flow for FOI
Requests

Recurring

OD &
Trans_ICT

REVIEW

REMOVE_NO
PROCUREMENT
REQUIRED

[-]

[-]

Page 45

[-]

[-]

INCORPORATED IN
WIDER PRINT
RATIONALISATION
REVIEW

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 47

Staffs Moorlands Performance and Customer Feedback Report: 2017/18 (Q4 Outturn)

Staffordshire Moorlands Q4 Summary
The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at Staffs Moorlands for the period April 2017 to March 2018 in
relation to the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects. The report also provides an overview of
the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints and the level of comments and
compliments.
Performance Overview
There are 109 ‘monthly’, ‘quarterly’, and ‘annual only’ reported performance measures at Staffs Moorlands, which represents a reduction on
last year. The chart below shows the results for quarter four against 58 indicators and reveals an improvement of 10% on last year’s outturn.
The actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures are detailed at the end of this report.

Page 48

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the revised 2017-2019
Corporate Plan. The table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these projects / actions.
80

76%

60
40
21%

20

3%

0
Target met

Off track

N/A

80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Off Track

64%

In danger of going off Track
On Track

25%
11%

Better

Weaker

No Change

Not yet started / Decision
awaited
Complete / Closed

Customer Feedback Overview
At the close of 2017/18 the Council exceeded its targets for responding to complaints within 10 days and for low levels of repeat complaints.
The trend in the number of stage 1 complaints received compared to the same period last year is also positive with a 14% reduction.

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work

SM Aim 1: March Trends 2017/18

SM Aim 1: March Results 2017/18

Page 49

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Target Met

Off Track

Better

Weaker

No Change

The only indicator which failed to meet its target in 2017/18 was Housing Benefit processing times for new claims, which came in at 19.21 days
against a target of 18 days. The result was an improvement on the previous year’s outturn of 20 days. Overall the Council has performed
strongly against the vast majority of its performance targets under Aim One.

Celebrating Success:
At the close of 2017/18 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:





Households in temporary accommodation
External funding awarded in support of the sport and physical activity strategy
housing benefit change of circumstance processing and accuracy of determinations
Homelessness prevention (cases assisted).

Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action

Status

Commentary – March
Health Visiting Services - Head of Child Health & Well-Being at
SCC was scheduled to attend the Health Panel on 18th October
2017. The meeting was cancelled. Meeting of 28/02/18 was
further delayed due to the weather and is in the process of
being rearranged.
West Midlands Ambulance Service - Mark Doherty was due to
provide an annual update to the Health Panel on the 18th
October 2017. The meeting was cancelled and is in the process
of being re-arranged.
Royal Stoke University Hospital- Annual Update is now due and
an invitation will be sent
Staffordshire & Stoke on Trent Partnership NHS Trust & North
Staffordshire Combined Health Care NHS Trust-The County
Council have advised that the Chief Executive of the Royal Stoke
Hospital has recently attended the County Council and under the
Code of Working between the District and County council, unless
there are any specific queries relating to the Moorlands, then
the County Council will lead on scrutiny.
Health watch Staffordshire - Annual Update due beginning of
2018 to include Care/Nursing Homes and Moorlands Hospital.

Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high
performing / low cost councils with a view to identifying
value for money improvements for Housing Benefit
processing

Corporate Plan Priorities and Annual report findings shared with
senior managers. This has kick started the benchmarking
activities and the Information Team have provided background
data packs to facilitate process benchmarking by Managers in
conjunction with their Finance Business Partners. Service is a
member of a county-wide managers’ forum looking at benefits
performance and measures. Post service review our costs have
greatly reduced and when the latest figures are available will be
completing site visits to partners.

Page 50

Help to ensure, through the scrutiny work programme, that
partner service provision, particularly health provision for
the elderly, is effective

Priority Action

Status

Commentary – March

Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity
strategy and carry out research into nil cost facility provision
being achieved by other councils; in order to achieve
improved health and value for money outcomes

The appointed consultants have submitted the final reports and
draft recommendations for consideration. Discussions with key
members from both authorities taking place over the coming
months to consider the conclusions and recommendations
within the reports. Agreement in principal with members for
way forward.

Undertake a review of the current CCTV system to look at its
cost-effectiveness in preparation for the expiry of the
maintenance contract in early 2018

Revised scrutiny reports are being prepared for consideration by
Councillors. These will hopefully go through the next committee
cycle. In the meantime, the current monitoring and maintenance
contracts have been extended for a further 6 months.
Finance to obtain Your Housing update on Business Plan review
in preparation for October £7m maturity

Develop a strategy for further development of affordable
and specialist housing

Page 51

Develop and agree a new empty properties strategy
Develop a scheme that supports the upgrading of security in
vulnerable people’s homes

Action Completed.
Strategy approved
Action Completed.
The Safe and Sound Service has been launched with the aim of
reducing victimisation by offering additional security to those
affected by crime or living in fear of crime. The service aims to
help those in most need by fitting additional security measures
within the home. The Partnership has funded a handyman
employed by Moorlands Housing to fit a range of security
features such as lockable window handles, padlocks, mortice
latches, door chain etc. The scheme is offered free of charge to
those in most need and who meet at least one of eligibility
criteria. There is a low level of demand for the service, which
reflects the low crime levels in the area. However, it has a huge
impact on those that have been affected by crime or live in fear
of crime as simple security precautions offer the reassurance
required to live a better quality of life without the fear of a
repeat crime. Over 30 properties have benefited from this
service making them more secure and less vulnerable and thus
improving quality of life.

Priority Action
Support the Community Safety Partnership with improved
provision of outreach workers for dealing with domestic
violence

Page 52
Work with Staffordshire County Council and other partners
to ensure an effective partnership with central government

Status

Commentary – March
Action Completed.
Domestic Violence Police Link Worker Project - to ensure
support and information is targeted and relevant to the specific
needs of the victim to help reduce risk to the victim. The role
seeks to make sure victims are safe and that further violence is
significantly prevented from happening by signposting the
relevant support services as quickly as possible. Closer working
with the Staffordshire Moorlands Police Vulnerability Team
means that packs containing information about ARCH services
are now given to the victims at the point the police turn up.
During the period 2015-16 a total of 231 referrals have been
received. A total of 81 joint visits were made and 7 lone visits by
the DV Police Link Worker. A total of 174 victims were
successfully contacted by telephone.
A total of 113 referrals have been made to ARCH services
including: refuge, floating support, IDVA (Independent Domestic
Violence Advisor), Male IDVA, Freedom Programme. Referrals to
other agencies include, Mind counselling service, housing, FARS,
social care, Rethink, One Recovery. A total of 178 information
packs were sent out/handed out. During this period the Police
Link Worker (PLW) received 226 referrals, of which 51 were
passed onto the IDVA through the MARAC process. 19 referrals
were made to Floating Support, 4 children were referred to
ARCH Children and Young People’s Service. 3 were found refuge
accommodation, 6 referrals were made for the Freedom
programme and 10 women attended a solicitor appointment at
the Sunrise Centre. A total of 65 visits were made, of these 49
were joint visits and 16 were undertaken just by the Police Link
Worker.
Links to strategic partnerships project above

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money

SM Aim 2 : March Trends
2017/18

SM Aim 2 : March Results
2017/18
100%

100%

80%

80%

60%

60%

40%

40%

20%

20%

0%

0%
Target Met

Off Track

N/A

Better

Weaker

No Change

Page 53

Aim two is also performing strongly with the vast majority of measures meeting their targets and a similar level making improvements on last
year. One of the off track measures related to the Council’s business units, which have undergone capital works recently that have delayed
their letting. Assets expect the occupancy levels to return to normal by Q1 of 2018/19.

Celebrating Success:
At the close of 2017/18 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:

 reduction in workplace accidents, twitter followers, press releases used, channel shift contacts, IT system and
network availability, procurement activity on forward plan, council tax and nndr collected, internal audit
recommendations implemented on time, FOI requests dealt with on time, complaints dealt with within 10 working
days, repeat complaints, invoices paid within terms, reduced sundry debt, contracted spend.

Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action

Status

Commentary - March

Page 54

Deliver the Channel Shift Programme

Digital Portal Launched July 2017 and CRM now switched off. Benefit claims are
now between 99.5 % and 100% online for both authorities and are integrated into
the Civica back office system. Changes in Circumstances are 100% online. All
Council tax discounts and exemptions are available online. Approx. 98% of all other
benefit forms are available online. Benefits /Savings analysis from programme
being evaluated. Phase Two of the Digital Portal project is on track. Findings of the
CGI review to be included. Environmental reporting app being explored.

Benchmark and review the Council’s
approach to customer complaints as part
of the introduction of a new automated
management system for complaint
handling and reporting
Develop and implement a plan to identify
new and innovative ways of generating
income

Action Completed.
Complaints system configuration is complete and all enhancements/improvements
are now in place. Final testing and trials successfully completed. Manager training
schedule completed.
System went live from 01/04/18 across both authorities.
All income generation challenge meetings have been completed, a target has been
included as part of the new efficiency and rationalisation strategy 2017/18 – 20/21.
Various streams:
Commercial properties- Mandates to be produced, assessment taking place ,
working through project plan. Industrial units will be ready for re-letting following
procurement process.
Fees and charges- Car Parking income and all inflationary increases approved at Full
Council.
Advertising/Sponsorship - Project put back by 8 weeks. Policy to be produced and
any political implications considered.
Affordable housing - Chase Your Housing for update on Business Plan review and
October Maturity of £7m
Empty Homes- Project manager appointed, working group met in Jan to consider
strategy action plan progress.
Working group established and new approach to be agreed. The improvement
programme will be produced prior to the MTFP in Feb 18.

Refresh and implement the Asset
Management Plan, including a review of
public estate, and ensure adequate
facilities management arrangements are
in place

The Facilities Management contract should be in place by October 2018.

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and
villages

SM Aim 3: March Results 2017/18

SM Aim 3 : March Trends 2017/18
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Page 55

Target Met

Off Track

Better

Weaker

No Change

The Council is performing well against the increased targets for speed of processing the three categories of planning application with 100% of
major applications determined on time. Staffs Moorlands remains off track for successfully defending planning appeals with only 45% of
decisions in our favour against a target of 80%. Town centre vacancy rates were recorded as 11.5% at year-end, which is higher than the <10%
target.

Celebrating Success:
At the close of 2017/18 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:
 Major, Minor and other planning applications processed on time
 % of planning applications with pre-app enquiries

Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action

Status

Commentary – March

Page 56

Undertake detailed process benchmarking
with high performing / low cost councils
with a view to identifying value for money
improvements for Planning application
processing
Implement the town deal in Biddulph in
partnership with Biddulph Town Council

In Staffs Moorlands our Development Control RO costs have reduced from £598k to
£369k which places the Council 7th highest out of 19 councils regionally.
Performance in determining planning applications is ranked 4th for majors, 5th for
minors and 8th fastest for other applications across the region.

Support the development of Cornhill and
improved rail links

Discussions ongoing with all stakeholders and neighbouring land owners regarding
delivery of the site.

Develop and implement plans to extend
the public market operations in Leek and
Cheadle

Authorisation has been given to proceed with the procurement of work to refurbish
the indoor markets and the MTFP has allocated a budget provision of £300k for the
project. The contractor and design team will put together a detailed project plan
which will be communicated on receipt. The wider market improvement strategy
has been agreed by the portfolio owner and is moving forward satisfactorily.
The market on Greyhound Walk in Cheadle was successfully launched in November,
this is going well, and as of Friday 23rd March, the footprint has been extended
onto the car park to accommodate a further 4/5 stalls.

Support the development of London Mill
as part of a wider redevelopment scheme

The site has now been sold. Discussions ongoing with a range of partners as well as
neighbouring land owners to consider options for comprehensive development of
wider Mill Quarter site.
Project Closed. Capital allocation removed from Medium Term Financial Plan as no
external application progressed beyond the Business Case phase.

Implement the Growth Fund initiative to
support small businesses

A report was approved by the Cabinet in April for an accelerated housing delivery
programme in Staffordshire Moorlands. The report sought approval for preparing
two masterplans in Biddulph. One is for the sites allocated at Wharf Road for
residential-led mixed use development and the other is for sites allocated at
Tunstall Road for employment-led mixed use development. Town council have
commissioned consultants for the mill triangle masterplan with support from
regeneration team. Consultation with SCC is on-going.

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

SM Aim 4: March Results 2017/18

SM Aim 4 : March Trends 2017/18
100.00%
90.00%
80.00%
70.00%
60.00%
50.00%
40.00%
30.00%
20.00%
10.00%
0.00%

Target Met

Off Track

N/A

Better

Weaker

No Change

Page 57

Fly-tipping numbers and missed bin rates cam in off track at year end but despite this aim four remains a very strong area of delivery across
the Council with the vast majority of targets being met. The N/A at Staffs Moorlands relates to Ladderedge Country Park’s annual Green Flag
award assessment, the result of which won’t be known until the summer.

Celebrating Success:
At the close of 2017/18 the following performance indicators outstripped their targets:
 Environmental enforcements and Fixed Penalty Notices Issued, new pest control contracts
 Street cleanliness standards, community clean-ups and volunteer hours
 Residual household waste levels and recycling rates (estimated)

Corporate Priority Actions – Progress Highlights

Priority Action
Work with ANSA and Cheshire East to
launch Alliance Environmental Services
Ltd, our new joint venture company, to
deliver waste, streets and grounds
maintenance services on behalf of the
Council in order to achieve improved
performance and value for money
outcomes.
Establish a developer open space
contributions plan

Page 58
Identify and implement an approach to
reduce the cost of country parks

Develop a plan to improve Brough Park
with Heritage Lottery Fund support
Reduce the Council’s energy consumption
and associated costs (through the Asset
Management Plan)

Status

Commentary – March
Alliance Environmental Services has been established and phase 1 (the transfer of
current Veolia contract to AES) is complete. A plan for phase 2 is being developed.
Next focus is SMDC waste including associated fleet services for approx. July 2018.
PID under development to be agreed at next project board Feb 18. Report due Feb
on next cycle setting our proposals for stage 2.

An Open Space Audit and Playing Pitch Strategy have been completed. In addition
Operational Services have proposed a revised method for calculating developer
contributions for play, open space and sport / recreation facilities. This proposed
method is currently being considered by the Councils' appointed consultants who
are working with the planning policy team as part of the Local Plan process. Subject
to approval a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for developer contributions
will be worked up in June 2018 using these proposed calculations and methods.
This will provide guidance for developers on the expected contributions they will
have to make towards play, open space and sport / recreation facility provision as
part of local developments.
Transfer of the Councils’ countryside sites to a specialist provider is still underway.
A report has been presented to Service Delivery O&S Panel recommending the
transfer of the management of key Countryside Sites to the Staffordshire Wildlife
Trust- this was accepted with one caveat regarding Biddulph Grange Country Park.
Still awaiting decision from Stoke and the matter has been escalated in order to
progress.
A revised submission is now being prepared for the next funding window in Feb 18,
however HLF are withdrawing Parks for People funding, which may reduce the
chance. A report went to Scrutiny in the new year. Capital funding update/MTFP
need to be re-assessed due to reduced lottery funding.
Working group to be established and new approach to be agreed. The
improvement programme will be produced prior to the MTFP in Feb 18.

Page 59

Page 60

Page 61

Areas for Improvement: 2017/18 Outturn
Target
2017/18

Result
2017/18

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Head of Customer
Services

18 days

19.21 days

Although this target has not been met for 17/18 the
performance has improved from 20.46 days last
year. New Claims processes, online forms, Risk
Based Verification and the customer portal have
also been implemented over the last 12 months.

Aim 2: Easily available
services provided right first
time

OD &
Transformation
Manager

4 stars

3 stars

Part of the Socitm scoring was based on the old
website in particular the accessibility. Accessibility
in the new website is much improved.

% & Number of council
owned business units
occupied

Aim 2: More effective use
of council assets

Assets Manager

92.1%
(35/38)

84%
(32/38)

The percentage is down due to the fact there have
been capital works required which has delayed reletting voids. We anticipate we will be back to
target by the June quarter.

Income budget variance

Aim 2: Effective use of
financial and other
resources to ensure value
for money
Aim 3:
High quality development
and building control with
an open for business
approach

Finance &
Procurement
Manager

+/- 5%

21.9%

Based on Q3 data only.

+/- 5%

12%

Operations Manager
– Development
Services

80%

45%

Detailed report containing measures to improve
performance on planning appeals is going to the
next AMT

80%

78%

This has improved since last year but uptake of the
survey continues to be a problem so feedback is
unlikely to be reflective of general opinion. Move to
an annual survey planned which will give a more
accurate picture.

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

Housing Benefits Processing:
Time taken to process new
claims

Aim 1: Increased supply of
good quality affordable
homes

Website Quality: Socitm
Better Connected
assessment

Staffs Moorlands

Page 62

Expenditure budget variance
Planning appeals - %
successfully defended

Agent satisfaction with the
Planning Service

Measure of Success (PI)

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

% of Empty town centre
shops

Aim 3: Flourishing town
centres

Regeneration
Manager

Target
2017/18

Result
2017/18

District
vacancy
rate of
<10%

Average
11.5%

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)
New housing in Cheadle & Biddulph (part of Local
Plan delivery) will support increased footfall/shop
occupancy levels.
Individual results as follows: Leek 7.9%, Cheadle
14.3%, Biddulph 18.2%.

Aim 4:
Effective recycling and
waste management

Head of Operational
Services

35.5

44.66

Number of fly tips (exc sec
46 waste)

Aim 4: Provision of high
quality public amenities,
clean streets and
environmental health

Democratic and
Community Services
Manager

400

403

Further promotional work and new fly tipping
campaigns are planned to encourage responsible
waste disposal.

Aim 2:
A high performing and well
motivated workforce

OD &
Transformation

100%

84%

Some small delays in a couple of areas due to staff
changes and work deadlines.

Page 63

Missed bins per 100,000
collections

The number of missed collections recorded was
severely hampered by external factors in 2017-18.
Including changes to the CRM reporting system in
June 2017 when the numbers of reports increased
considerably as a result of self serve channels being
used more regularly. In addition bad weather has
affected collections during Dec, Jan & Feb resulting
in the outturn figure being off target. However,
performance during 2017/18 has improved with
the number of missed bins per 100,000 reducing
from 46.49 to 44.66 (2016/17 outturn).

Joint Alliance Measures
% of appraisals completed
(due)

Measure of Success (PI)
Number of RIDDOR
reportable / Lost Time
(7days) accidents

Aim / Objective

Service Lead

Target
2017/18

Result
2017/18

Service Manager Commentary (reasons for
performance / SMART actions to improve)

Chief Executive

0

7

The target set by members is accepted as an
aspirational target across the alliance. Accidents
overall are down and the alliance was successful in
achieving the prestigious ‘gold’ award from Rospa
last year in recognition of our commitment to
health and safety at work.

For a full list of all performance measures and the Q4 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this link.
http://hpbc.alliance-online.org/transformation/performance-management

Page 64

Agenda Item 8.3
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
19th June 2018
TITLE:

Performance Framework 2018/19
(incorporating the Annual Report 2017/18 and
revised Corporate Plan 2018-2019)

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader

CONTACT OFFICER:

Vanessa Higgins - Information Business
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendices Attached:
Appendix 1: Annual Report 2017/18 including refreshed Corporate Plan
2018/19
Appendix 2: Performance Framework 2018/19
1.

Reason for the Report:

1.1

The purpose of this report is to:




Provide members with an opportunity to scrutinise the draft Performance
Framework and associated targets for 2018/19
Present the findings from the Annual Report and how these have
influenced the Framework and Corporate Plan refresh
Outline the suggested approach and timescale for approval of the 2018/19
Performance Framework.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Performance Framework, Annual Report and the revised Corporate
Plan refresh be approved.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2015-2019) articulates the aims,
objectives and priority actions, which the Council is working to achieve over
this period. Its delivery is measured through the Performance Framework,
which has at its centre the three pillars of value for money - efficiency,
economy and effectiveness.

3.2

This report seeks to take stock at the end of year three of the 4-year
Corporate Plan and refocus the Council’s targets and priority actions for its

Page 65

remaining period, based upon current achievements and the findings taken
from the Annual Report.
4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The purpose of the report is to enable the monitoring of progress against the
Council’s corporate priorities. As such this report has linkages to each of the
Council’s Corporate Plan aims.

5.

Options

5.1

Members are asked to consider the proposed targets and to make
amendments if they consider that they are necessary.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2

Workforce
None

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies

6.4

Financial Considerations
Effective Performance Management contributes to the Council’s
financial objectives

6.5

Legal
None

6.6

Sustainability
None

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
Corporate and Operational Managers have proposed the targets
within this report

6.8

Risk Assessment
A robust Performance Framework is a critical tool in controlling and
mitigating risks.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Performance Framework 2018/19
Annual Report 2017/18

Available on request

V Higgins, Ext 4057

Page 66

7.

Background and Introduction

7.1

The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2015-2019) articulates the aims,
objectives and priority actions, which the Council is working to achieve over
this period. The new Plan required a new Performance Framework that could
measure its delivery and also aid effective scrutiny through more focused and
balanced reporting; celebrating success and promoting improvement.

7.2

The 2016/17 Performance Framework was built around the Council’s key
objectives whilst also ensuring that the three pillars of value for money
(efficiency, economy and effectiveness) remained central.

7.3

The Framework is made up monthly, quarterly and annual measures and the
Council reports by exception on all monthly and quarterly measures but has
moved away from a ‘dashboard’ approach to one which reflects the whole
Framework. The annual contextual measures are reported in the new Annual
Report, which also provides an overview of the Council’s progress in
delivering its Corporate Plan and the results of value for money
benchmarking.

8.

Performance Framework 2018/19

8.1

Targets covering a 3-year period are owned and managed by Service Leads
across the authority, and are communicated to teams through service plans
and individual performance objectives via the PEP process. Managers have
been asked to review and refresh these targets for the period 2018/19 to
2020/21 based upon current performance levels and national benchmarks,
where available.

8.2

In some cases Managers have proposed the removal, addition or amendment
of performance measures. Such instances have been highlighted within the
Appendices to this report and have been challenged by Alliance Management
Team as appropriate.

9.

Annual Report 2017/18

9.1

The purpose of an Annual Report is to look back and take stock of the
progress and achievements made against the Council’s stated objectives and
to use this intelligence to understand what still needs to be done and what
new challenges lie ahead.

9.2

The Annual Report does this by:




looking at performance against our targets
analysing performance (and cost) against national comparisons
presenting information on the local context in which the Council operate;
such as, health profiles, deprivation levels, economic indicators, and
access to housing

Page 67



outlining the financial challenges facing the authority over the course of its
Medium Term Financial Plan.

9.3 The headline findings from this year’s Annual Report have been used to
influence the targets set for 2018/19 and the refreshed Corporate Plan and
include the following:
Benchmarking Issues…
Housing Benefits are the 6th fastest in the
region and costs have fallen by 35% to
become the 5th lowest out of 19 councils.
Staffs Moorlands enjoys relatively low crime
levels (the second lowest in the comparator
group) but the Council’s spend on CCTV is
7th highest in the West Midlands
comparison group
Spend on sport and recreation facilities is
the 9th highest in the region but inactivity
levels stand at almost 27%.

Being addressed through…
Channel shift project and further
benchmarking activity by the
service
CCTV project

Sport and Physical Activity
Strategy implementation (including
a review of leisure centre
provision in preparation for the
expiry of the current contract)
Low levels of Ombudsman complaints
New system for recording and
reporting on complaints is now in
place for 2018/19
Business formation rate was the lowest in Adoption of Local Plan to facilitate
the County at 9.26%. Long term business growth and appropriate
unemployment is amongst the lowest 20% development
of councils nationally.
Staffs Moorlands is now the 7th highest Further benchmarking activity by
spender regionally for Development Control service area to understand cost
(down from 3rd highest) and performance differences
rankings for major applications are 4th
fastest.
The Council is a high performing but also New service delivery model in
high cost council across the West Midlands partnership with ANSA Ltd and
region for waste and recycling. We have the Cheshire East
lowest residual waste rates in the region
and the second highest recycling rate but
also the second highest waste collection
costs. Nationally our waste collection costs
are amongst the top 20% of councils.
The Council’s spend on public
Implementation of the Asset
nd
conveniences is the 2 highest of our
Management Plan, including a
comparison group at £276k.
review of public estate
10.

Timeframe for refreshing the Corporate Plan 2018-2019

10.1

The Annual Report, as well as looking at performance metrics and
comparative cost measures, also takes stock of the progress the Council has

Page 68

made in terms of delivering against its priority actions. These actions were
laid out within the Corporate Plan under each of our four aims as specific
objectives.
10.2

The Annual Report will provide an opportunity to reflect on the progress
made during the first three years of the Plan and to reiterate the Council’s
commitment to the remaining objectives as well as adding any new areas of
priority that have emerged since the Plan was first developed.

10.3

The timeframe for approval and publication of the revised Corporate Plan is
as follows:
 June 6th – Resources Panel – scrutiny of 2018/19 Performance Framework
including the 2017/18 Annual Report and refreshed Corporate Plan 20182019
 June 19th – Cabinet – approval of 2018/19 Performance Framework including
the 2017/18 Annual Report and refreshed Corporate Plan 2018-2019
 July 19th – Council – adoption of Corporate Plan 2018-2019
 July 20th onwards - Internal communication of revised Corporate Plan.

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 71

Staffordshire Moorlands: Annual Report
2017-2018

Contents Page
Chapter 1: Profile of the District – Life in Staffs Moorlands: contextual information on housing provision,
employment and skills, health issues and levels of crime

Chapter 2: Financial Context – The financial challenges and opportunities facing local government and how
the Council is addressing them

Chapter 3: Our Vision – The key priorities for the Council for 2015 to 2019
Chapter 4: Demonstrating Value for Money – Progress against our corporate priorities and how we
Page 72

perform compared to other councils

Chapter 5: Our Priorities 2018-2019 - The Council’s roadmap for the next twelve months
Appendices
Appendix A: Aim 1 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix B: Aim 2 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix C: Aim 3 Analysis of comparative performance and costs
Appendix D: Aim 4 Analysis of comparative performance and costs

Chapter 1: Profile of the District
The District of Staffordshire Moorlands covers an area of 57,600 hectares, of
which 32.16% is classed as rural, and serves a resident population of 97,106 50.79% of which are female. There are 43,974 domestic households on the
Council Tax valuation list.

Who lives in the Staffordshire Moorlands?




Page 73





Staffs Moorlands has an aging population, having seen a 55% increase in
the proportion of residents aged 65 plus from 1991-2016. Over 24% of
the local population now fall within this age group but the majority (30%)
of Staffs Moorlands residents are aged between 45 and 64.
Only 2.52% of the local population is non-white, compared to 6.44% in
Staffordshire and 20.25% nationally. Mixed or multiple ethnic groups
make up the second largest proportion of the local population at 0.62%.
One person households make up the largest group in the District at over
28% although this is in line with national data.
Married couples without children are higher than the national average at
16%
27.52% of the population are educated to degree level or higher, which ranks in the lowest 20% of councils nationally. However, only
7% have no qualifications, which is slightly better than the national average.

What’s it like to live in the Staffordshire Moorlands?
Crime – Figures show that Staffs Moorlands is amongst the lowest 40% of councils nationally for levels of crime. Since 2009 there has been a
12% decrease in offences, down to 476.3 per 10,000 population.

Deprivation – Staffs Moorlands is ranked in the bottom 40% of districts nationally for its deprivation score.

Health – Average life expectancy is lower than the national average for women at 82.81 years but higher than the national average for men
at 80.14years.





44.15% of the population assess themselves as having ‘very good health’, compared to 47.17% nationally. Conversely, 1.37% have ‘very
bad health’, which again is worse than the national average.
Infant mortality in Staffs Moorlands is very high at 5.3 deaths per 1,000 births, compared to 3.89 nationally.
Obesity levels stand at 64.86%, lower than the national median
At 14.08% the proportion of the adult population who smoke is estimated to be in the bottom 40% of districts nationally.

Housing – Staffs Moorlands is ranked in the top 20% of districts nationally in terms of housing affordability. The average house price in the
area was £174,998, by comparison the Staffordshire figure was £198,209 and the national average was £287,577.

Page 74




79.69% of households in Staffs Moorlands are owner occupied, which is higher than the County and national average
8.86% of households live in social rented accommodation putting the area in the lowest 20% of areas nationally

Employment – 63.99% of the Staffs Moorlands resident working age population are in employment, which is higher than the Staffordshire
and national figures.




The proportion of the working age population who are long-term unemployed is 1.05%, which places Staffs Moorlands amongst the
lowest 20% of councils nationally.
Staffs Moorlands has a very high proportion of residents with elementary; process, plant and machinery; and associate professional
occupations but very low levels of skilled trades and customer service / sales occupations.

The following pages provide further and supporting analysis from Grant Thornton’s Place Analytics Tool on some key contextual data that
helps the Council understand the issues facing our local population and to plan services accordingly.

Page 75

Page 76

Page 77

Page 78

Chapter 2: Our Financial Context
The District continues to face significant financial challenges as a consequence of austerity measures along with cost
pressures within services and greater volatility in financing streams. The shift in Local Authority financing is increasing the
focus on locally generated income streams and reducing the reliance on core Central Government funding. This increases
the control and influence the Council has over income generated within the District but has also made it vulnerable to
fluctuations within the local economy, hence increasing financial risk. The table below compares Council spend per capita against all District
Councils and shows that Staffs Moorlands has the 45th lowest spend out of 201 councils.

Unit
Cost
(£)

Unit Cost
Score

9,914 98,069

101.09

Low

TOTAL HOUSING SERVICES (GFRA ONLY) (RO Bal) / Population

791 98,069

8.07

Low

TOTAL CULTURAL & RELATED SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

2,049 98,069

20.89

Average

TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL & REGULATORY SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

3,688 98,069

37.61

Average

966 98,069

9.85

Low

2,550 98,069

26

Low

2016/2017

Page 79

Staffordshire Moorlands

TOTAL SERVICE NET EXPENDITURE (RO Bal) / Population

TOTAL PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

TOTAL CENTRAL SERVICES (RO Bal) / Population

(£000s)

Unit

Financial challenges and opportunities
Set out below are some of the more significant developments which have a potential impact on the financial position of the Authority.
Changes to Local Government Finance
In November 2015, the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement set out the strategic direction for public expenditure, which outlined a number of
changes to local government financing which have had a significant impact of the Council’s future financial position.
Revenue Support Grant - The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government presented the Local Government finance settlement
2016/17 to the House of Commons on 17th December 2015. This was made in the context of the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement / Spending
Review and included a four year settlement offer to Authorities for Revenue Support Grant (the Local Government core grant) which
confirmed the phasing out of the grant by 2020. The Council accepted this and the financial impact has been included in the Council’s MTFP.

Page 80

Business Rates – It has previously been announced by Government that by 2020, authorities will retain 100% of Business Rate growth. As part
of the current Business Rates Retention system, authorities are able to retain a proportion of any growth in business rates over and above a
centrally established baseline. The Council’s proportion is further increased by participation in the Staffordshire Business Rates pool, which
removes the growth levy payable to Government.
Following invitation from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Staffordshire Authorities made an application to
become a pilot area for 100% Business Rates Retention. The application was unsuccessful for 2018/19, but indications are that applications will
be sought again by DCLG for 2019/20 pilots and the authority will consider at the appropriate time whether or not to pursue this.
Uncertainty remains around how the new system will be phased in and in what form – the approved pilots being trialled around the Country
will support the Government in forming the final model. Therefore, no financial assumptions based on the new system have been included
with the Council’s financial plan at this stage - these will be fed into the plans once we have more certainty around how the system will
operate.
During 2016, a national revaluation of business rates premises took place and the new list of rateable values has been introduced from 1st
April 2017. Central Government have adjusted the tariff applied to the Council’s business rates income to take account of this change. The
change in this tariff is offset by the net change in income following the introduction of the revised rateable values.

As a result of the revaluation, the Government extended some existing reliefs and introduced a number of new Business Rate Reliefs to
support businesses who have suffered an increase in rates. To compensate for the loss of business rates income resulting from the reliefs,
funding has to date been made available to Councils under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003.
Council Tax - The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the abolition of capping. However the Council’s ability to
increase Council Tax by more than a certain percentage is subject to referendum. The threshold was 1.99% - therefore a Council Tax increase
of 1.9% was applied by the Council for 2017/18. This threshold was increased to 2.99% in the recent finance settlement in order to better
reflect CPI (to be applied from 1st April 2018) – the Council has increased its share of Council Tax by 2.9% in 2018/19.
New Homes Bonus - Proposals were presented to amend the current New Homes Bonus settlement which is currently a significant source of
income to the Authority. A consultation was then undertaken, with the outcome released in December 2016. The main changes to the scheme
which came into effect from 1st April 2017 were incorporated into the 2017/18 budget and 4 year MTFP, these include:-

Page 81



The reduction in the number of years for which the Bonus is paid from the current 6 years to 5 years in 2017/18; to be followed by a
further reduction to 4 years in 2018/19;



The removal of New Homes Bonus paid on development below a 0.4% baseline (of the overall tax base)

Further changes, proposed in the consultation, have been put on hold to be considered for future implementation. These include:


Withholding the Bonus from areas where an authority does not have a Local Plan in place; and



Abating the Bonus in circumstances where planning permission for a new development has only
been granted on appeal.

The 2018 settlement announcement confirmed these measures would not be implemented in 2018/19.
Social Housing - The Government announced in July 2015 far reaching legislative and financial changes
for the social housing sector. One of the most significant announcements being the reduction in social
housing rents by 1% per annum from April 2016 for 4 years. The Government announced in October 2017
that after the four year 1% rent reduction ends in 2019/20, authorities will then be allowed to increase
rents from 2020/21 by CPI +1%.

This has impacted on the Ascent business plan (the joint venture company established by the Council and Your Housing Group Limited) to
deliver affordable housing across the District. Consequently, forecast revenue receipts have been revised to account for the reduction in rental
income and as a result a number of strategic options are now being considered for the future of Ascent.
Impact of Brexit
On the 23rd June 2016, the United Kingdom voted to leave the European Union as a result of the referendum. Subsequently, Prime Minister
Theresa May activated the official mechanism that made this a reality – Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty – on 29th March 2017, which then
allows two years to negotiate withdrawal and reach agreement before the UK officially leaves the EU by 29 th March 2019.
The financial consequences of ‘Brexit’ on the Council remain uncertain at this stage. It will have implications on specific project funding bids
which have in the past been submitted to European established bodies, it is unclear what/if any mechanism will replace this.

Page 82

Dependent on the economic impact of an EU exit, this could potentially impact on the valuation of our assets and liabilities; for example, the
Council’s property portfolio and pension liability. Discussions with Valuers suggest it is extremely difficult to assess any implications at this
stage.
Additionally, the EU exit may influence investment and borrowing rates. The overall wider impact and any specific changes to Local
Government finance will be further assessed within the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.
A general election was called and took place on 8th June 2017 providing the opportunity for the general public to vote in a Government to
undertake Brexit negotiations. The results of which meant that the Conservatives lost their majority after losing seats to opposition parties
across the Country. The Conservatives subsequently made an agreement with Northern Ireland’s DUP (Democratic Unionist Party) forming a
minority Government.
Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme
2017-18 was the first year of the Council’s new 4 year Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme, which targets £3.1m in financial savings by
31st March 2021 to offset the 4 year forecast budget shortfall and ensure the Council is financially stable. The new Efficiency and
Rationalisation Strategy was developed and presented as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan to full Council in February 2017.
The Efficiency Programme is focused on five areas:-

Page 83



Major Procurements - There is the opportunity to focus attention on a number of large service functions which are currently provided by
an external contractor / supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming to an end. This will also allow a fundamental review of
these services with proper consideration of the current financial constraints. The contract commitments have sometimes restricted the
opportunity to align services across the Alliance with High Peak. The individual projects will focus on Waste Collection & Environmental
Services, Leisure Management and Facilities Management.



Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of rationalising the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in
order to allow for the necessary capital investment.



Growth – development of a clear focus on housing and economic growth based upon the established Local Plan.



Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources on income and a drive towards identifying new sources of
income.



Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority areas of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift,
non-statutory services.

During 2017/18, the efficiency target of £661,000 has been achieved. The savings achieved relate to management review savings, additional income
from car parking and recycling, channel shift project savings, agency/vacancy reviews within Operational Services and a reduction in printing and
postage costs. Additionally, a number of vacant staff posts have been reviewed (in line with the service review process and as a result of other
efficiency projects) which have contributed to the overall efficiency programme.

Chapter 3: Our Vision
Staffordshire Moorlands’ 4-year Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s Vision for 2015 to 2019 – achieving excellence in the delivery of high
quality services that meet the needs and aspirations of our communities – and is underpinned by four aims:
 Aim One: To help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work – measured through
an increased supply of quality affordable housing, improved health, and improved community safety. Our key
priorities are:

Page 84



An effective relationship with strategic partners



Develop a positive relationship with communities



Increased supply of good quality affordable homes



Effective support of community safety arrangements including CCTV



Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon improving health

In order to meet these priorities we will…
 Develop a strategy for further development of affordable and specialist housing
 Develop and agree a new empty properties strategy
 Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high performing / low cost councils with a view to identifying value for money improvements around
Housing Benefit processing
 Undertake a review of the current CCTV system to look at its cost-effectiveness in preparation for the expiry of the maintenance contract in early 2018
 Develop a scheme that supports the upgrading of security in vulnerable people’s homes
 Support the Community Safety Partnership with improved provision of outreach workers for dealing with domestic violence
 Work with Staffordshire County Council and other partners to ensure an effective partnership with central government
 Help to ensure, through the scrutiny work programme, that partner service provision, particularly health provision for the elderly, is effective
 Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity strategy and carry out research into nil cost facility provision being achieved by other councils;
in order to achieve improved health and value for money outcomes for the Staffs Moorlands

 Aim Two: To meet financial challenges and provide value for money – measured through a balanced
and sustainable medium term financial position, value for money services and high levels of resident and
customer satisfaction. Our key priorities are:


Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money



Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided “right first time”



A high performing and well motivated workforce



More effective use of Council assets

Page 85

In order to meet these priorities we will…
 Deliver the Channel Shift Programme
 Benchmark and review the Council’s approach to customer complaints as part of the introduction of a new automated management
system for complaint handling and reporting
 Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income
 Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a review of public estate, and ensure adequate facilities management
arrangements are in place

 Aim Three: To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages – measured
through sustainable towns and rural communities and increased economic growth. Our key priorities are:


Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises



Flourishing town centres that support the local economy



Encourage and develop tourism



High quality development and building control with an “open for business approach”

Page 86

In order to meet these priorities we will…
 Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high performing / low cost councils with a view to identifying value for money
improvements for planning application processing
 Implement the town deal in Biddulph in partnership with Biddulph Town Council
 Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail links
 Develop and implement plans to extend the public market operations in Leek and Cheadle
 Support the development of London Mill as part of a wider redevelopment scheme
 Implement the Growth Fund initiative to support small businesses

 Aim Four: To protect and improve the environment – measured through high recycling rates, quality parks and open spaces,
and clean streets. Our key priorities are:


Effective recycling and waste management



Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health



Promote environmentally sustainable policies and practices



Provision of quality parks and open spaces



Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors

Page 87

In order to meet these priorities we will…
 Work with ANSA and Cheshire East to launch Alliance Environmental Services Ltd, our new joint venture company, to deliver waste,
streets and grounds maintenance services on behalf of the Council in order to achieve improved performance and value for money
outcomes.
 Establish a developer open space contributions plan.
 Identify and implement an approach to reduce the cost of country parks
 Develop a plan to improve Brough Park with Heritage Lottery Fund support
 Reduce the Council’s energy consumption and associated costs (through the Asset Management Plan)

Chapter 4: Demonstrating value for money - our performance and how we compare
At the close of 2017/18 the Council had achieved 76% of its key performance indicator targets for the year (a 10% improvement on the
previous year) and had maintained or improved performance levels in 75% of these measures.

Trends 2017-18

2017/18 Targets

Target Met

Page 88

Target Not Met
N/A

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

64%

25%
11%

Better

Weaker

No Change

The service areas which fell short of target include housing benefits new claims, business unit occupancy, planning satisfaction and appeals,
town centre vacancy rates, missed bins and fly-tipping incidents.
For those measures that fell below the target set for the year we have developed actions for improvement, where feasible, as part of our
performance reporting to senior managers and members.

Aim 1: A safer and healthier environment
Delivering on our housing targets:






Benefits processing times for new claims
Benefits processing times for changes of circumstance
Households in temporary accommodation
Homelessness prevention
Disabled adaptation grant processing and satisfaction with works
Housing Benefits processing – accuracy rates

Page 89

2016/17 benchmarking evidences that within the West Midlands region, Staffs Moorlands’ performance in determining new Housing Benefit
claims is still the 6th fastest (out of 19 councils), despite longer processing times. The Council’s costs are now the 5 th lowest in the region,
having reduced by 35% over the period in question. The correlation charts in Appendix A detail the regional performances and identify those
councils with lower costs. The number of households in temporary accommodation has increased from 5 to 12 from 2009 to 2016 but remains
relatively low.
Contextual Measures:
 33 affordable homes came on line in 2016/17 (the 2017/18 figure won’t be available until the end of June 2018)
 300 homes stood empty for more than two years
 9% (57) of housing register applicants in priority need have been waiting in excess of 6 months
 3 landlords signed up to the Landlord Accreditation Scheme (an increase of one on the previous year)

Delivering on community safety:
Benchmarking confirms that the Staffs Moorlands area enjoys relatively low crime levels (the second lowest in the comparator group) but the
Council’s spend on CCTV is 7th highest in the West Midlands comparison group. A CCTV review project is already underway
Contextual Measures:
 We used the crime and policing powers to issue 30 warning letters, 1 Public Space Protection Order, 4 Criminal Behaviour Orders, 3
Community Protection Notices, 4 Fixed Penalty Notices and 1 Injunction
 98.8% of residents feel safe in their local area during the day and 88.5% after dark

Delivering on our leisure targets:
 £75,000 in external funding awarded to help support the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy
2016/17 benchmarking again evidences that relative spend by Staffs Moorlands on the provision of leisure facilities is in line with the national
average. The Council’s spend on sport and recreation facilities is ranked 9th highest in the region at £643,000. As the Council’s contract with its
leisure partners approaches its expiry, it remains an opportune time to look at the arrangements in place at other authorities where
comparisons reveal similar income levels but much lower levels of expenditure. The wider health outcomes within the Staffs Moorlands also
need to be considered as the Council implements its sport and physical activity strategy.
Contextual Measures:
 26.8% of the local population are ‘inactive’
 17.2% of the local population volunteer in sports clubs

Page 90

Delivering on the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities
The following section highlights the progress made during 2017/18 against the Corporate Plan Priority Actions under Aim One.

Priority Action
Help to ensure, through the scrutiny work programme, that
partner service provision, particularly health provision for
the elderly, is effective

Status

Commentary – March
Health Visiting Services - Head of Child Health & Well-Being at
SCC was scheduled to attend the Health Panel on 18th October
2017. The meeting was cancelled. Meeting of 28/02/18 was
further delayed due to the weather and is in the process of
being rearranged.
West Midlands Ambulance Service - Mark Doherty was due to
provide an annual update to the Health Panel on the 18th
October 2017. The meeting was cancelled and is in the process
of being re-arranged.
Royal Stoke University Hospital- Annual Update is now due and
an invitation will be sent
Staffordshire & Stoke on Trent Partnership NHS Trust & North
Staffordshire Combined Health Care NHS Trust-The County
Council have advised that the Chief Executive of the Royal Stoke

Priority Action

Status

Commentary – March
Hospital has recently attended the County Council and under the
Code of Working between the District and County council, unless
there are any specific queries relating to the Moorlands, then
the County Council will lead on scrutiny.
Health watch Staffordshire - Annual Update due beginning of
2018 to include Care/Nursing Homes and Moorlands Hospital.

Page 91

Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high
performing / low cost councils with a view to identifying
value for money improvements for Housing Benefit
processing

Corporate Plan Priorities and Annual report findings shared with
senior managers. This has kick started the benchmarking
activities and the Information Team have provided background
data packs to facilitate process benchmarking by Managers in
conjunction with their Finance Business Partners. Service is a
member of a county-wide managers’ forum looking at benefits
performance and measures. Post service review our costs have
greatly reduced and when the latest figures are available will be
completing site visits to partners.

Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity
strategy and carry out research into nil cost facility provision
being achieved by other councils; in order to achieve
improved health and value for money outcomes

The appointed consultants have submitted the final reports and
draft recommendations for consideration. Discussions with key
members from both authorities taking place over the coming
months to consider the conclusions and recommendations
within the reports. Agreement in principle with members for
way forward.

Undertake a review of the current CCTV system to look at its
cost-effectiveness in preparation for the expiry of the
maintenance contract in early 2018

Revised scrutiny reports are being prepared for consideration by
Councillors. These will hopefully go through the next committee
cycle. In the meantime, the current monitoring and maintenance
contracts have been extended for a further 6 months.
Finance to obtain Your Housing update on Business Plan review
in preparation for October £7m maturity

Develop a strategy for further development of affordable
and specialist housing
Develop and agree a new empty properties strategy
Develop a scheme that supports the upgrading of security in

Action Completed.
Strategy approved
Action Completed.

Priority Action
vulnerable people’s homes

Page 92
Support the Community Safety Partnership with improved
provision of outreach workers for dealing with domestic
violence

Status

Commentary – March
The Safe and Sound Service has been launched with the aim of
reducing victimisation by offering additional security to those
affected by crime or living in fear of crime. The service aims to
help those in most need by fitting additional security measures
within the home. The Partnership has funded a handyman
employed by Moorlands Housing to fit a range of security
features such as lockable window handles, padlocks, mortice
latches, door chain etc. The scheme is offered free of charge to
those in most need and who meet at least one of eligibility
criteria. There is a low level of demand for the service, which
reflects the low crime levels in the area. However, it has a huge
impact on those that have been affected by crime or live in fear
of crime as simple security precautions offer the reassurance
required to live a better quality of life without the fear of a
repeat crime. Over 30 properties have benefited from this
service making them more secure and less vulnerable and thus
improving quality of life.
Action Completed.
Domestic Violence Police Link Worker Project - to ensure
support and information is targeted and relevant to the specific
needs of the victim to help reduce risk to the victim. The role
seeks to make sure victims are safe and that further violence is
significantly prevented from happening by signposting the
relevant support services as quickly as possible. Closer working
with the Staffordshire Moorlands Police Vulnerability Team
means that packs containing information about ARCH services
are now given to the victims at the point the police turn up.
During the period 2015-16 a total of 231 referrals have been
received. A total of 81 joint visits were made and 7 lone visits by
the DV Police Link Worker. A total of 174 victims were
successfully contacted by telephone.
A total of 113 referrals have been made to ARCH services
including: refuge, floating support, IDVA (Independent Domestic
Violence Advisor), Male IDVA, Freedom Programme. Referrals to

Priority Action

Page 93

Work with Staffordshire County Council and other partners
to ensure an effective partnership with central government

Status

Commentary – March
other agencies include, Mind counselling service, housing, FARS,
social care, Rethink, One Recovery. A total of 178 information
packs were sent out/handed out. During this period the Police
Link Worker (PLW) received 226 referrals, of which 51 were
passed onto the IDVA through the MARAC process. 19 referrals
were made to Floating Support, 4 children were referred to
ARCH Children and Young People’s Service. 3 were found refuge
accommodation, 6 referrals were made for the Freedom
programme and 10 women attended a solicitor appointment at
the Sunrise Centre. A total of 65 visits were made, of these 49
were joint visits and 16 were undertaken just by the Police Link
Worker.
Links to strategic partnerships project above

Aim 2: Meeting financial challenges and providing value for money
Delivering on our effective use of resources targets:







-

Council tax and business rates collection
Media releases take up and twitter followers
Internal audit recommendations implemented on time
Sundry debt reduction
Invoices paid on time
Efficiency savings met (Q3)
Procurement activity
Budget variance (Q3)

Page 94

2016/17 benchmarking again reveals that Staffs Moorlands has the 4th highest Council Tax collection rate in the region (41st nationally) and is
relatively low cost (28th lowest out of 201 councils). Performance in collecting Business Rates is also amongst the top 40% of councils nationally
and has improved in its ranking by 15 places to 79th highest of 201 councils. The limited benchmarking material on complaints levels indicates
that we have low levels of ombudsman complaints but the picture is less clear for general complaints. A new system for managing and
recording complaints went live in April 2018 and should provide improved reporting in order to better understand customer issues.

Delivering on our customer access and right first time targets:





Website assessment through Socitm’s Better Connected survey
Complaints responded to within 10 days
Repeat complaints
Channel shift contacts (phone, face to face and web)
FOI requests dealt with on time

Contextual Measures:
 10.3% of FOI requests were diverted to the Council’s website / publication scheme
 193 complaints were received during 2017/18, a 21% reduction on the previous year

Delivering on our high performing and well motivated workforce targets:



-

Sickness absence per FTE
Workplace accidents
Reportable / lost time workplace accidents
Appraisals completed

Most appraisals have now been completed and for many teams are in Year 2 of the process. Some slippage has occurred in a small number of
teams. The Council was successful in being accredited with the prestigious RoSpa Gold Award in recognition of our health and safety at work
practices and our overall accident levels decreased last year.
Contextual Measures:
 We received 102 compliments last year
 Staff turnover stood at 9.3%

Page 95

Delivering on our effective use of assets targets:
- Council-owned business units that are occupied
 IT network and system availability

Delivering on the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities
The following section highlights the progress made during 2017/18 against the Corporate Plan Priority Actions under Aim Two.

Priority Action

Status

Commentary - March

Deliver the Channel Shift Programme

Digital Portal Launched July 2017 and CRM now switched off. Benefit claims are
now between 99.5 % and 100% online for both authorities and are integrated into
the Civica back office system. Changes in Circumstances are 100% online. All
Council tax discounts and exemptions are available online. Approx. 98% of all other
benefit forms are available online. Benefits /Savings analysis from programme
being evaluated. Phase Two of the Digital Portal project is on track. Findings of the
CGI review to be included. Environmental reporting app being explored.

Benchmark and review the Council’s
approach to customer complaints as part
of the introduction of a new automated

Action Completed.
Complaints system configuration is complete and all enhancements/improvements
are now in place. Final testing and trials successfully completed. Manager training

management system for complaint
handling and reporting
Develop and implement a plan to identify
new and innovative ways of generating
income

Page 96

Refresh and implement the Asset
Management Plan, including a review of
public estate, and ensure adequate
facilities management arrangements are
in place

schedule completed.
System live from 01/04/18 across both authorities.
All income generation challenge meetings have been completed, a target has been
included as part of the new efficiency and rationalisation strategy 2017/18 – 20/21.
Various streams:
Commercial properties- Mandates to be produced, assessment taking place ,
working through project plan. Industrial units will be ready for re-letting following
procurement process.
Fees and charges- Car Parking income and all inflationary increases approved at Full
Council.
Advertising/Sponsorship - Project put back by 8 weeks. Policy to be produced and
any political implications considered.
Affordable housing - Chase Your Housing for update on Business Plan review and
October Maturity of £7m
Empty Homes- Project manager appointed, working group met in Jan to consider
strategy action plan progress.
Working group established and new approach to be agreed. The improvement
programme will be produced prior to the MTFP in Feb 18.
The Facilities Management contract should be in place by October 2018.

Aim 3: To support economic development and regeneration
Delivering on our encouraging business start-ups objective:
Benchmarking reveals that our business formation rate was the lowest in the County at 9.26% in 2016 but had improved from
7.58% in 2010. Employment rates are above the national average and long term unemployment at 1.05% puts Staffs Moorlands
amongst the lowest 20% of councils nationally.
Contextual Measures:
 4165 enterprises are operating within the Staffs Moorlands, an increase of 45 on the previous year
 97 businesses were supported through the Growth Fund

Delivering on our flourishing town centres targets:

Page 97

-

The district had an average town centre vacancy rate of 11.5% - Leek 7.9%, Cheadle 14.3%, Biddulph 18.2%

New housing in Cheadle and Biddulph as part of the Local Plan delivery will support increased footfall and therefore increased shop occupancy
levels.

Delivering on our promoting tourism objective:
Visitors to the Staffs Moorlands added £261m of spend to the local economy according to the latest research reports and local business
benefited from over 1.5m overnight stays. The Council’s spend on Tourism is amongst the top 20% of councils nationally at £260,000.

Delivering on our high quality development and building control targets:


-

Planning appeals successfully defended
Major, minor and other planning applications determined in time
Planning applications with pre-app enquiries
Satisfaction with the planning application process

2016/17 benchmarking results across the West Midlands evidences that for the period in question the Council achieved above average
performance rates for major planning, minor and other application processing but at above average costs (7th highest of 19 councils, an
improvement from 3rd highest). Our costs are amongst the middle 20% of councils nationally. Performance has improved and costs have
reduced but there are examples of other councils achieving better determination rates at lower costs and warrant some further investigation
by the service area in order to understand the reasons for the differences.
Contextual Measures:
 £850 in costs were awarded against the Council last year for planning appeals
 238 customers attended the new Planning Surgeries
 68% of planning enforcement cases were resolved in 13 weeks
 100% of priority 1 planning enforcement cases were visited within 24hours

Page 98

Delivering on the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities
The following section highlights the progress made during 2017/18 against the Corporate Plan Priority Actions under Aim Three.

Priority Action

Status

Commentary – March

Undertake detailed process benchmarking
with high performing / low cost councils
with a view to identifying value for money
improvements for Planning application
processing
Implement the town deal in Biddulph in
partnership with Biddulph Town Council

In Staffs Moorlands our Development Control RO costs have reduced from £598k to
£369k which places the Council 7th highest out of 19 councils regionally.
Performance in determining planning applications is ranked 4th for majors, 5th for
minors and 8th fastest for other applications across the region.

Support the development of Cornhill and
improved rail links

Discussions ongoing with all stakeholders and neighbouring land owners regarding
delivery of the site.

A report was approved by the Cabinet in April for an accelerated housing delivery
programme in Staffordshire Moorlands. The report sought approval for preparing
two masterplans in Biddulph. One is for the sites allocated at Wharf Road for
residential-led mixed use development and the other is for sites allocated at
Tunstall Road for employment-led mixed use development. Town council have
commissioned consultants for the mill triangle masterplan with support from
regeneration team. Consultation with SCC is on-going.

Priority Action

Status

Commentary – March

Develop and implement plans to extend
the public market operations in Leek and
Cheadle

Authorisation has been given to proceed with the procurement of work to refurbish
the indoor markets and the MTFP has allocated a budget provision of £300k for the
project. The contractor and design team will put together a detailed project plan
which will be communicated on receipt. The wider market improvement strategy
has been agreed by the portfolio owner and is moving forward satisfactorily.
The market on Greyhound Walk in Cheadle was successfully launched in November,
this is going well, and as of Friday 23rd March, the footprint has been extended
onto the car park to accommodate a further 4/5 stalls.

Support the development of London Mill
as part of a wider redevelopment scheme

The site has now been sold. Discussions ongoing with a range of partners as well as
neighbouring land owners to consider options for comprehensive development of
wider Mill Quarter site.
Project Closed. Capital allocation removed from Medium Term Financial Plan as no
external application progressed beyond the Business Case phase.

Implement the Growth Fund initiative to
support small businesses

Page 99

Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment
Delivering on our effective recycling and waste management targets:
 % of household waste recycled
 Kg of residual household waste
- Missed Bins
Regional benchmarking for 2016/17 places Staffs Moorlands amongst the highest performing but also highest cost authorities in the West
Midlands for waste and recycling. We have the lowest residual waste rates in the region and the second highest recycling rates but also the
second highest waste collection costs. Nationally our waste collection costs are amongst the top 20% of councils.

Delivering on our high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health targets:

Page 100









Environmental Fixed Penalty Notices issued and enviro-crime enforcements undertaken
Street cleanliness
Regulatory inspections
High risk premises inspections
Permitted processes inspections
Food premises that are broadly compliant with Food Standards Agency standards
Fly-tipping incidents (although a decrease on last year)
Community clean-up campaigns

Fly-tipping remains an area of concern because of the environmental impact and the drain on resources but Staffs Moorlands’ rate is the 6th
lowest in the West Midlands. The Council’s spend on public conveniences remains the second highest across the regional comparator group at
£276,000. Food hygiene in establishments across the Borough looks healthy with only 15 premises achieving 0-2 stars and 678 premises
achieving 3 stars or above.

Delivering on our quality parks and open spaces targets:
 Volunteer hours (1363)
Council spend on parks and open spaces has increased and is now ranked 10th highest in the region at £962,000 but 83rd highest nationally.

Delivering on the Council’s Corporate Plan Priorities
The following section highlights the progress made during 2017/18 against the Corporate Plan Priority Actions under Aim Four.

Priority Action
Work with ANSA and Cheshire East to
launch Alliance Environmental Services
Ltd, our new joint venture company, to
deliver waste, streets and grounds
maintenance services on behalf of the
Council in order to achieve improved
performance and value for money
outcomes.
Establish a developer open space
contributions plan

Page 101

Identify and implement an approach to
reduce the cost of country parks

Develop a plan to improve Brough Park
with Heritage Lottery Fund support

Reduce the Council’s energy consumption
and associated costs (through the Asset
Management Plan)

Status

Commentary – March
Alliance Environmental Services has been established and phase 1 (the transfer of
current Veolia contract to AES) is complete. A plan for phase 2 is being developed.
Next focus is SMDC waste including associated fleet services for approx. July 2018.
PID under development to be agreed at next project board Feb 18. Report due Feb
on next cycle setting our proposals for stage 2.

An Open Space Audit and Playing Pitch Strategy have been completed. In addition
Operational Services have proposed a revised method for calculating developer
contributions for play, open space and sport / recreation facilities. This proposed
method is currently being considered by the Councils' appointed consultants who
are working with the planning policy team as part of the Local Plan process. Subject
to approval a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for developer contributions
will be worked up in June 2018 using these proposed calculations and methods.
This will provide guidance for developers on the expected contributions they will
have to make towards play, open space and sport / recreation facility provision as
part of local developments.
Transfer of the Councils’ countryside sites to a specialist provider is still underway.
A report has been presented to Service Delivery O&S Panel recommending the
transfer of the management of key Countryside Sites to the Staffordshire Wildlife
Trust- this was accepted with one caveat regarding Biddulph Grange Country Park.
Still awaiting decision from Stoke and the matter has been escalated in order to
progress.
A revised submission is now being prepared for the next funding window in Feb 18,
however HLF are withdrawing Parks for People funding, which may reduce the
chance. A report went to Scrutiny in the new year. Capital funding update/MTFP
need to be re-assessed due to reduced lottery funding.
Working group to be established and new approach to be agreed. The
improvement programme will be produced prior to the MTFP in Feb 18.

Chapter 5: Our Future Priorities 2018-2019
2018/19 is the final year of the current 4-year Corporate Plan. Most of last year’s actions remain relevant and have been retained alongside a
small number of new priority areas, including new national legislation.

Corporate Plan Aim
Aim 1: Increased supply of
good quality affordable
homes

Page 102

Aim 1: Effective support of
community safety
arrangements
Aim 1: Effective
relationship with strategic
partners

Aim 1: Provision of high
quality leisure facilities

Aim 2: Services easily
available and provided right
first time
Aim 2: Effective use of
resources to ensure value

Rolled forward Actions / Projects



Develop a strategy for further development of
affordable and specialist housing
Benefits Processing: undertake detailed process
benchmarking with high performing / low cost
councils with a view to identifying value for
money improvements

New Priority Actions
Ensure the Council is compliant with the requirements
of the new Homelessness Reduction Act

Amended: Complete the review of the CCTV system
and implement the agreed recommendations.


Work with Staffordshire County Council and
other partners to ensure an effective
partnership with central government
 Help to ensure that partner service provision,
particularly health provision for the elderly, is
effective through the Council’s scrutiny work
programme
Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity
strategy and carry out research into nil cost facility
provision being achieved by other councils; in order to
achieve improved health and value for money
outcomes for the Staffs Moorlands
Deliver the Channel Shift Programme



Develop and implement a plan to identify new
and innovative ways of generating income

Provide advice and support for residents affected by
the rollout of Universal Credit across Staffs Moorlands
in 2018 in order to help ensure a smooth transition to
the new system
Continue to embed good information management
practices through the ASSURED Framework

Corporate Plan Aim
for money

Aim 3: Encourage business
start-ups and enterprise
Aim 3: High quality
development control

Aim 3: Flourishing town
centres

Page 103

Aim 3: Flourishing town
centres

Aim 4: Effective recycling
and waste management

Aim 4: Provision of quality
parks and open spaces

Aim 4: Promote
environmentally
sustainable policies and
practices

Rolled forward Actions / Projects


New Priority Actions

Refresh and implement the Asset Management
Plan, including a review of public estate, and
ensure adequate facilities management
arrangements are in place
Support the development of the former Churnet
Works site in Leek
Submit the Draft Local Plan to the Planning Inspector
by the end of June 2018

Planning Application Processing: undertake detailed
process benchmarking with high performing / low cost
councils with a view to identifying value for money
improvements
Implement the town deal in Biddulph in partnership
with Biddulph Town Council
Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail
links
 Develop and implement plans to extend the
public market operations
 Amended: Develop a Master Plan for the Leek
Mill Quarter
Amended: Successfully deliver Phases 2 and 3 of the
transfer of services to Alliance Environmental Services
Ltd, our new joint venture company, to deliver waste,
streets and grounds maintenance services on behalf of
the Council in order to achieve improved performance
and value for money outcomes
 Identify and implement an approach to reduce
Make improvements to the Tean Road Recreation
the cost of country parks
ground in Cheadle
 Develop a plan to improve Brough Park with HLF
support
Reduce the Council’s energy consumption and
associated costs (through the Asset Management Plan)

References
The benchmarking data used within this Report has been drawn from the following sites:
1. Grant Thornton’s Place Analytics online tool
2. Grant Thornton’s CFO Insights online tool
3. The LGA’s benchmarking tool – LG Inform

Page 104

Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live
and work
Increased supply of good quality affordable homes.

The following chart shows the correlation between Housing Benefit costs and processing times against the West Midlands NonMetropolitan group 2016-17using Grant Thornton’s CFO Insight tool. Out of a group of 19, Staffordshire Moorlands costs are
quite low within the group and have reduced from 8th highest in 2015-16 to 15th in 2016-17. Processing times have increased
from 17 to 20 days. North Warwickshire processes claims almost as quickly but at a lower cost.

Page 105

This chart shows the correlation between Change in Circumstances processing times and costs against the group. Staffordshire
Moorlands’ costs have reduced significantly but processing times have increased slightly from 6 days in 2015-16 to 7 days,
moving the rank from 3rd to 8th. North Warwickshire processes changes faster and at a lower cost.

Page 106

This bar chart shows changes in the number of households in temporary accommodation in Staffordshire Moorlands since
2009. Overall there has been an increase of 140% between 2009-2016 but the figure is still relatively low.

Page 107

Effective support of community safety arrangements including CCTV
The chart below shows the cost of CCTV compared to the total number of crimes (percentile) for Staffordshire Moorlands
against the group 2016-17. Costs are mid/high at £187,000 but the total number of crimes are low at 4,671 (10th lowest out of
a group of 11). Councils spending similar amounts on CCTV would appear to have a higher incidence of crime.

Page 108

Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon improving health
This map shows which quintile Staffordshire Moorlands falls into for sport and recreational facilities (including golf) (RO)
£000’s for all English districts in 2016-17. Compared to the West Midlands Group, Staffordshire Moorlands is ranked 9th
highest spend out of 19.

Page 109

This bar chart shows the proportion of the population in Staffordshire Moorlands who participate in 150+ minutes of exercise
per week compared to other council areas in Staffordshire (Nov 16- Nov 17 Sport England). Staffordshire Moorlands has 59.5%
of its residents participating in 150+ minutes of exercise per week, compared to the Staffordshire average of 59%.
66%

64%

62%

Page 110

60%

58%

56%

54%

52%

50%
Staffordshire
Moorlands

Tamworth

Lichfield

Stafford

South Staffordshire

Cannock Chase

Newcastle Under
Lyme

East Staffordshire

This spider chart gives an overview of expenditure, income and outcomes relating to sports and leisure facilities. In the context
of all English districts, Staffordshire Moorlands has an average gross expenditure and high net unit spend on sports and
recreation facilities. Income from these facilities is very low and the proportion of residents in Staffordshire Moorlands who
participate in 1 session of sport a week is low in the national context. Sedgemoor has a similar level of gross expenditure to
Staffordshire Moorlands, as well as a similar level of sports participation. However, Sedgemoor has a much higher total income
from sports and recreation facilities, and a lower spend per head of population

Page 111

This map shows spend per head of population on sports and recreation facilities for all English districts (RO, £/head 2016-17)
and shows that Staffordshire Moorlands sit in the third quintile for unit spend on sports and recreational facilities.

Page 112

The following chart shows the correlation between leisure facilities total income and gross expenditure against the context of
all English districts 2016-17 and shows Staffs Moorlands as having very low income and quite low gross expenditure. The
authorities in the bottom right quadrant have very high incomes, and low gross expenditure- they would be described as highly
efficient in this service and include for example Mole Valley, Maidstone and Mid–Sussex.

Page 113

This page is intentionally left blank

Meet Financial Challenges and Provide Value for Money
Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money
The map below has been produced using Grant Thornton’s CFoI analytical tool and shows that Staffordshire Moorlands
has a high rate of Council Tax collection (RO 2016-17) at 98.7% sitting within the top 40% of districts nationally. In
2015/16, the rate of 98.66% also sat in the top 40%. The cost of Council Tax Collection (RO) £000’s is low compared to the
group 174th lowest out of 201 areas at £195,000.

Page 115

This map shows non-domestic collection rates (RO 2016-17) across all English districts. Staffordshire Moorlands has a high
rate of collection at 98.76%, sitting within the top 40% of districts nationally. In 2015/16, the rate of 98.5% also sat in the
top 40%.

Page 116

Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and
provided ‘right first time’
The table below has been produced using LG Inform and shows the number of formal complaints from 2016/17 Q1 to
2016/17 Q4 for Staffordshire Moorlands and Staffordshire Moorlands CIPFA nearest neighbours.

Page 117

This map shows the total number of Ombudsman complaints received by English Districts in 2016-17. The Staffordshire
Moorlands score of 10 is low compared to the national context, sitting within the bottom 40% of districts.

Page 118

A high performing and well motivated workforce
The chart below compares Staffordshire Moorlands to CIPFA nearest neighbours and is generated using LG Inform tools. It
shows the average number of days lost to sickness for each individual quarter during 2017-18. The figure for the year was
9 days against a target of 9 days.

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of
towns and villages
Encourage business start-ups and enterprises
This time series demonstrates changes in business formation rate from 2010-2016. The rate of new businesses as a
proportion of total business stock has increased from 7.58% in 2010 to in 9.26% in 2016.

Page 121

This bar chart has been produced using Grant Thornton’s CFoI analytical tool and shows the Staffordshire Moorlands new
business formation rate % for 2016 compared to other authorities in the area.

Page 122

Encourage and develop tourism
This map shows the total spend on tourism (RO £000’s 2016-17) across all English districts. Staffordshire Moorlands sits in
the top quintile of districts nationally, spending £260,000 on tourism.

Page 123

High quality development and building control with an ‘open for business’ approach
This scatter plot shows the relationship between the development control spend (RO 000’s) and % major application
processing within 13 weeks compared with West Midlands Non-Metropolitan districts. In 2016-17, Staffordshire
Moorlands has processed 96% of applications within target times, no change compared to 2015-16. Warwick and
Tamworth have better processing times and at lower cost.

Page 124

This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and % minor application processing within 8
weeks compared with the group for the same period. In 2016-17, Staffordshire Moorlands processed 88% of applications
within target times, compared to 78% in 2015-16. Districts that have a better processing times and lower spend include
Warwick and East Staffordshire.

Page 125

This chart shows the correlation between the cost of development control and % ‘other’ application processing within 8
weeks compared with group for the same period. In 2016-17, Staffordshire Moorlands has processed 92% of applications
within target times, compared to 94% in 2015-16. Districts that have better processing times at lower spend include
Newcastle, Bromsgrove and Warwick.

Page 126

The map below shows the spend on development control (RO, 2016-17) across all English districts. Staffordshire
Moorlands spent £369,000 on development control, which places it in the middle quintile.

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

Protect and Improve the Environment
Effective recycling and waste management
The charts below have been produced using Grant Thornton’s Cfo Insight tool. This line chart shows the proportion of
household waste that is sent for reuse, recycling or composting from 2009-2016. Within Staffordshire Moorlands, the recycling
rate has decreased from 61.84% in 2009-10 to 57.4% in 2016-17.

Page 129

This scatter chart demonstrates the relationship between deprivation and the percentage of household waste sent for
reuse, recycling or composting and shows that there is a weak negative correlation between deprivation and recycling rate
in the context of all English districts. Staffordshire Moorlands has a mid - deprivation score and a high recycling rate within
the national context.

Page 130

This bar chart shows the residual household waste per household in kilograms (2016-17) for Staffordshire Moorlands and
individual districts within Staffordshire. Compared to other districts, Staffordshire Moorlands has a low amount of residual
waste per household.

Page 131

The map shows the unit spend on Waste Collection (RO, £/dwelling 2016-17) across all English districts. Staffordshire
Moorlands has a very high unit spend, falling into the top 20% nationally.

Page 132

This scatter chart shows the correlation between the waste collection RO (£000’s) and the kg of residual waste per
household. No other district in the West Midlands group has a lower amount of residual waste than Staffordshire
Moorlands but the costs are second highest in the group. Warwick residual waste is slightly higher but at a much lower
cost.

Page 133

This scatter chart shows the correlation between the waste collection RO (£000’s) and the % of household waste sent for
reuse, recycling or composting. Stratford on Avon has a higher recycling rate but their costs are lower.

Page 134

Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health
The table shows the number of fly tipping incidents in 2016-17 compared to the 10 nearest neighbours from the West Midlands
Group. Compared to the whole West Midlands group, Staffordshire Moorlands were ranked 14th (out of 19) in 2016-17 with 511
incidents, this compares favourably to 2015-16 when they were ranked 11th with 562 incidents.

Page 135

This shows the cost (in £ 000’s) of Public Conveniences (RO) compared to the 10 nearest neighbours from the West Midlands
group in 2016-17. Staffordshire Moorlands have the 2nd highest spend in the group at £276,000, compared to £288,000 in 201516.

Page 136

Provision of quality parks and open spaces
This map shows the cost of open spaces (RO) £000’s 2016-17 across all English districts. Staffordshire Moorlands are now ranked
83rd out of 201 areas at £962,000. In 2015-16 Staffordshire Moorlands were ranked 107th at £770,000.

Page 137

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 139
Staffordshire Moorlands Performance Framework 2018/19
1

Appendix 1: Performance Targets 2018/19

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work
Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

a)19.21
days
b) 6.74
days
10

a)18 days
b) 7 days

a) 18 days
b) 7 days

a) 18 days
b) 7 days

a) 18 days
b) 7 days

15

10

TBD

TDB

Objective: Increased supply of good quality affordable homes

Page 140

Housing Benefits Processing: Time taken to
process a) new claims b) change of
circumstances
Number of households in temporary
accommodation

Monthly

a) 20 days
b) 7 days

Monthly

12

Target amended from 15 to 10 in light of Homeless Reduction Act. It will be reviewed going
forward once the impact of the act becomes evident.

Homelessness prevention: number and % of
cases assisted

Monthly

39.02%
(32/82)

51.93%
(215/414)

30%

N/A

N/A

N/A

NEW: Homelessness : % of cases prevented
(from total presentations:
assisted/prevented/other)
% of active housing register applicants in
priority need (classes A and B) who have been
registered in excess of 6 months

Monthly

N/A

N/A

N/A

65%

TBD

TBD

Annual

N/A

9.43%

N/A

Establish
Establish
Establish
new
new
new
Baseline
Baseline
Baseline
A new baseline will be established once the impact of the Homeless Reduction Act becomes
evident.

2

Measure

Reported
Quarterly

2016-17
Result
100%

2017-18
Result
a)100% b)
30

2017-18
Target
100%

2018-19
Target
N/A

2019-20
Target
N/A

2020-21
Target
N/A

% of completed applications for disabled
adaptations a) approved within 6 months of
receipt and b) average time taken to approve
applications
Satisfaction with disabled adaptations

Quarterly

100%

100%

100%

N/A

N/A

N/A

Housing Benefits Processing: % of cases
determined correctly

Annual

99.9%

99.8%

99%

99.5%

99.5%

99.5%

33% success
rate.
Minimum
£50k

33% success
rate.
Minimum
£60k

33% success
rate.
Minimum
£60k

4

5

5

Objective: Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon improving health

Level of external funding awarded to support
the physical activity and sport strategy and
number of bids

Quarterly

NEW 17-18

£75,000

Page 141

NEW: Number of voluntary
clubs/organisations supported with funding
applications

Annual

N/A

N/A

33%
success
rate.
Minimum
£50k
N/A

NEW: Number of new sports participation
programmes created in priority areas

Annual

N/A

0

New

4

TBD

TBD

NEW: Number of new volunteering programmes
created in priority areas

Annual

N/A

0

New

2

TBD

TBD

3

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money
Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

Objective: Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided 'right first time'
No. / % of interactions: a) phone b)
face to face c) web

Monthly

Page 142

a) 64,221
55%
b) 37,711
33%
c) 13,914
12%

a) 38,972
39%
b) 23,587
24%
c) 37,285
37%

Establish
New
Baseline
N/A

a) 45% b)
25% c) 30%

a) 40%
b) 25 % from
20%
c) 35% from
40%

a) 35% from
30%
b) 20% from
15%
c)45% from
55%

a)30%
b)15%
c)55%

TBD

TBD

TBD

Establish
New Baseline

TBD

TBD

Establish
New Baseline

TBD

TBD

97%

97%

97%

5%

5%

5%

Impacts of Universal Credit in 2018 and Homeless Reduction Bill may be felt on face to face contacts.

% of contacts dealt with 'right first
time'

Annual

86%

NEW: Avoidable contact (number
taken from customer portal

Annual

N/A

22%
reduction to
16/17
N/A

Satisfaction with customer services

Annual

94%

Positive

Complaint handling: % dealt with
within 10 working days

Monthly

99%

98%

Establish
New
Baseline
95%

Complaint handling: % of repeat
issues (compares previous month
only)

Monthly

6%

4%

5%

4

Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

FOI requests: % responded to within
statutory time frame and number of
requests

Quarterly

97%

99.09%

95%

95%

95%

95%

Website Quality: Socitm Better
Connected assessment

Annual

1 Star

3 stars

4 stars

4 stars

4 stars

4 stars

Urgent 100%
Non urgent
95%
92.1%

Urgent 100%
Non urgent
95%
92.1%

Urgent 100%
Non urgent
95%
92.1%

99%

99%

99%

Objective: More effective use of Council assets

Page 143

Public Buildings Repairs and
maintenance: response times for
urgent and non-urgent repairs
% & number of council owned
business units occupied
IT- % network availability

Quarterly

a) 100% b)
96%

No return

Annual
Monthly

87%
(33/38)
New 17-18

84%
(32/38)
100%

Urgent 100%
Non urgent
95%
92.1%
(35/38)
99%

IT- % system availability

Monthly

New 17-18

100%

99%

99%

99%

99%

Objective: A high performing and well motivated workforce
Average days sickness absence per
FTE (show split between short and
long term)
NEW: Average days sickness absence
per FTE across the Alliance
% of Appraisals completed across the
workforce (of those due)
Number of a) workplace accidents and
b) RIDDOR reportable / Lost Time
(7days) accidents

Monthly

9.91 days

9 days

9 days

9 days

9 days

9 days

Monthly

N/A

N/A

N/A

9 days

9 days

9 days

Annual

55%

84%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual

a) 37 b) 3
Joint

a)28 b)7

a) <36
b) 0

a) <28 b)0

TBD

TBD

5

Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

Target reflects desire for annual improvement in accident figures and aspirational target for reportable
accidents. Our future rationale for the reduction of accidents will be determined at the end of the next
financial year.

Objective: Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money

Page 144

Number & % of press releases taken
up in local media

Annual

53 issued
95% take up
1269

46 issued
96% taken
up
1576

Number of twitter followers

Quarterly

NEW: Number of Facebook followers
Collection rates: Business rates

90%

90%

90%

1500

Quarterly

N/A

319

N/A

400

500

600

Monthly

98.76%

98.54%

98.1%

98.1% from
98.2%

98.1% from
98.2%

98.2%

1675 from
1775 from
1500
1500
Amended future targets based on outturn performance.

90%
1875 from
1500

Freeze the current target until 2020/21. Although we over-achieved against the BR targets in
2017/18, we would prefer to maintain the current targets to allow performance to be monitored in
2018/19. This is on the basis that the revaluation was undertaken in 2017, as a result a number of
new reliefs were introduced/current reliefs extended. Some of the new reliefs are temporary –
particularly the Local Discretionary relief scheme (eligible businesses will see their LDRR reduce by
50% in 2018/19) which may have an impact on collection.
Collection rates: Council Tax
Monthly
98.70%
98.6%
98%
98.1%
98.1% from
98.2%
98.2%
Targets amended to match the business rates targets. This should be achievable based on previous
years’ performance.
Collection rates: Sundry Debt (value of Quarterly £127,221.40 £110,422.5
5%
5%
5%
3%
SD over 60 days old)
reduction
reduction
reduction
Reduction
from 5%
6

Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

Will monitor performance, as the level reduces, it becomes more difficult to achieve a year on year
5% reduction
% of invoices paid in line with contract

Monthly

96%

96%

Use of Contracts register - annual
contract spend as % of gross
expenditure budget

Quarterly

67%

79%

95%

96%

96%

96%

5%
5%
3%
3%
improvement improvement improvement improvement
to 16/17
to 17/18
to 18/19 was to 19/20 was
5%
5%

Future targets have been reduced as the % improvement increase slows down as performance improves

Page 145

% of procurement activity on the
Procurement Forward Plan (Joint
Alliance measure)

Quarterly

% of internal audit recommendations
implemented within timescale

Quarterly

External Audit Opinion
% of corporate efficiency savings met
a) Expenditure variance to budget
b) Income variance to budget

55%

71%

65%

72% from
65%

75% from
70%

75%

Increased target going forward based on outturn performance.
96.7%

97.53%

96%

97%

97.5%
(from 98%)

98%

18/19 target amended from 98% to 97.5%. Targets are proving very challenging following
considerable improvement since 2015/16, our realistic ceiling is very close and any further increases
will be marginal.
Annual
Unqualified
Unqualified
Unqualified
Unqualified
Unqualified
2015-16
Annual
82%
100% of
100% of
100% of
100% of
target
target
Target
target
Annual
a) +5%
Net Budget
Net Budget
Net Budget
Net Budget
b) -5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
Q3 prov.
variance
variance
variance
variance
outturn

7

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and
villages
Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

2019-2020 2020-2021
Target
Target

Leek(7.9%),
Cheadle(14.3%),
Biddulph(18.2%).
Average 11.5%

District
vacancy
rate of
<10%

District
vacancy
rate of
<10%

District
vacancy
rate of
<10%

District
vacancy
rate of
<10%

Objective: Flourishing town centres that support the local economy
% of empty town centre shops

Annual

Page 146

Leek
(6.6%),
Cheadle
(12.4%),
Biddulph
(14.9%).
District
average
9.7%

Objective: High quality development and building control with an open for business approach
Planning processing times a) Majors b)
Minors c) Others

Monthly

% of planning applications with preapplication enquiries
% of appeals successfully defended

Annual

NEW :% of major developments allowed on
Appeal

a)100 %
b) 90%
c) 95%
12%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%
10%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%
10%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%
10%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%
10%

Monthly

a)90%
b) 88%
c) 92%
82
(number)
70%

45%

80%

N/A

N/A

N/A

Monthly

N/A

N/A

N/A

10%

10%

10%

8

Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

Monthly

N/A

N/A

N/A

10%

10%

10%

Annual

70%

78%

80%

80%

80%

80%

% of planning enforcement cases resolved in
13 weeks

Annual

NEW

68%

Establish
Baseline

70%

% of priority 1 planning enforcement cases
visited within 1 working day

Annual

NEW

100%

Establish
Baseline

90%

To be
reviewed
after
18/19
90%

To be
reviewed
after
18/19
90%

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

NEW: % of minor and other developments
allowed on appeal
Agent satisfaction with Planning Service
(amended survey)

2019-2020 2020-2021
Target
Target

Page 147

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment
Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

a)55.9%
b) 388kg

58%
384kg

55%
390kg

2018-19
Target

Objective: Effective recycling and waste management
Recycling rates / Residual waste per
household

Quarterly

59 % from
59 % from
60%
56%
57%
360kg
375kg
365kg
2017-18 result is estimated as Q4 data has not been fully received. Targets have
been reviewed to take into account the growth in performance that has been
seen in 2017-18

9

Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

Missed bins per 100,000 collections (exc.
customer error and bad weather)

Monthly

46.49

44.66

35.5

40 from 34

39 from 33

38

% of 'high risk' premises (A-C) inspected per
annum

Quarterly

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

% of routine permitted process premises
inspected

Quarterly

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

% food premises compliant with FSA criteria

Annual

97%

98%

98%

98%

98%

98%

Amended: number of fly tips (exc. sec 46
waste)

Monthly

464

403

400

395

390

385

Fixed Penalty Notices – a) littering b) flytipping c) dog fouling

Monthly

40

52

45

N/A

N/A

N/A

Number of enviro-crime enforcements
undertaken ( Abandoned Vehicles, Duty of
Care)
NEW: Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements by
type (including behaviour adversely affecting
the environment)
a) number of warnings issued b) number of
fixed penalty notices issued c) number of
Community Protection Notices issued

Quarterly

480

626

500

N/A

N/A

N/A

Monthly

NEW

N/A

N/A
a)35
b)50
c)4

TBD

TBD

The target for missed bins requires a review. Evidence suggests that an increase in reports
took effect following the removal of the CRM system leading to us receiving reports that were
not justified from customers. Systems presently prevent us from challenging these but they
have affected performance all year alongside bad weather. Target of 40 should be achievable
(this is based on 2017-18 reports minus anything for bad weather)
Objective: Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health

Page 148

10

Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

d) number of prosecutions
Street and environmental cleanliness
inspection results (% achieving top grades for
cleanliness)

Number of community clean-up campaigns

Page 149

Number of pest control contracts

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

89%

90%

d)contextual
Annual

87.75%

96.4%

88%

88.5%

Whilst the target was exceeded in 2017/18 it is currently unclear as to whether or not this is a
long term trend. Future targets will be reviewed at the end of 18/19.
Annual

10

60

20

30

35 from 40

40

It is increasingly difficult to encourage new groups to participate in community clean ups.
Officers are actively promoting links to National campaigns but it is unrealistic to try to
increase the number of clean up by 10 per year.
Annual
25
50
46
52 from 48 54 from 50
56
Targets have been increased from 2018/19 based on outturn performance.

Private water supplies - % of sampling
programme completed

Annual

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Pollution measures - air quality: % compliance
against national reporting requirements in
relation to air quality
Customer satisfaction with regulatory services
(environment)

Annual

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual

N/a

N/a

N/a

Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

1

Not yet
available

1

1

1

1

Objective: Provision of quality parks and open spaces
Green Flag awards maintained

Annual

11

Measure

Reported

2016-17
Result

Friends / Community Groups – no. of
Annual
NEW
volunteer hours
Objective: Promote environmentally sustainable policies and practices
Paper consumption across the alliance

Monthly

3470
reams

Page 150
12

2017-18
Result

2017-18
Target

2018-19
Target

2019-20
Target

2020-21
Target

1363

250

N/A

N/A

N/A

2408
reams

3250
reams

2500
reams

2000
reams

2000
reams

Appendix 2: Contextual Performance Indicators 2018/19

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work

Page 151

1.

Housing Benefits processing: % of overpayments recovered

2.

Landlord Accreditation Scheme - Numbers signed up to scheme

3.

CCTV: a) no. of monitored incidents - deleted b) no. of data downloads for the police and number of resolved cases

4.

Cost of CCTV per capita and number of cameras- delete number of cameras

5.

Effective use of crime and policing powers: number of prosecutions - delete

6.

Fear of crime survey results- delete

7.

External leverage from grants £ for £

8.

Number of voluntary groups supported

9.

Costs of leisure centre provision per households

10.

Levels of inactivity among local population and number of volunteers within local sports clubs (Sport England’s Active Lives Survey)

13

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money

Page 152

1.

Complaint handling: Number received

2.

Customer Feedback: Level of compliments

3.

The number of empty homes

4.

% of income generated against net budget

5.

External funding levered annually

6.

Number of twitter retweets

7.

Staff Climate Survey (2018/19)

8.

Staff turnover

9.

% of FOI requests diverted to the website / publication scheme

10.

The cost of dealing with FOI requests

14

Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration

Page 153

1.

Planning application processing costs

2.

Costs awarded against the council from planning appeals

3.

Number of attendees at Planning Surgeries

4.

Visitor spend in the area

5.

TICs online hits

6.

Total tourist bed spaces

7.

Total overnight stays (tourism)

8.

Number of affordable homes delivered

9.

Local Plan Delivery: New Homes Bonus; Business Rates; Council Tax; employment sites taken up

10.

Number of businesses supported by the Growth Hub (fair proportion across partnership)

11.

Number of enterprises operating in the area (considering business starts as well as deaths; as recorded through ONS stats)

12.

Cost to the Council per Market (Subsidy)

15

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment

Page 154

1.

Cost measures: Environmental Health Service

2.

Number of premises in each of the 6 food hygiene star rating gradings (from 0 to 5)

3.

Cost measures: public conveniences

4.

Net income per car parking space

5.

Parking PCNs issued and % collected

6.

% of car park spaces accredited with Park Mark

7.

Cost of street cleansing service

8.

Cost of parks and open spaces per capita

9.

Cost per household of waste and recycling service

10.

No & % of disabled bays within car parks

11.

NEW : Anti- Social behaviour: Number of prosecutions

16

Appendix 3: Deleted Performance Indicators 2018/19

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work
Performance Indicator
CCTV - number of cameras
CCTV: Number of monitored incidents

Page 155

Fear of Crime survey results
Effective use of crime and policing powers:
number of prosecutions
Homelessness prevention: number and %
of cases assisted

Disabled adaptation application processing and
satisfaction survey results

Reason for proposed deletion
A decision is being made regarding CCTV which may result in the number of cameras being fixed
for a period of years.
Number of monitored incidents is being replaced with resolved cases
We have a problem obtaining the data for one of the Counties and we are reliant on 2 police
forces carrying out their own analysis and reporting it.
Replace with Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements (including behaviour adversely affecting the
environment) a) number of warnings issued b)number of fixed penalty notices issued c) Number
of Community Protection Notices issued d)Number of prosecutions (Aim 4)
Replaced with new measure that better reflects Homeless Reduction Act
To be replaced with financial updates on the capital allocation and completed spend on disabled
adaptations within the quarterly financial reports. Processing and satisfaction has been
consistently 100%.

17

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money
Performance Indicator
Public Buildings Repairs and maintenance:
response times for urgent and non-urgent
repairs
% of contacts dealt with 'right first time'

Reason for proposed deletion
DCC unable to provide the data- reintroduce the measure in 2019-20
Replace with new measure around avoidable contact as proxy for right first time. Establish new
baseline 2018/19 based on numbers of avoidable contacts taken from Onevu

Page 156
Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration
Performance Indicator
% of appeals successfully defended

Reason for proposed deletion
Replaced with 2 new targets: % of major developments allowed on appeal and % of minor and other
developments allowed on appeal . The new measures reflect the national government performance
targets and designation thresholds (in recent AMT report)

18

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment

Page 157

Performance Indicator

Reason for proposed deletion

Number of enviro-crime enforcements
undertaken (Abandoned Vehicles,
Duty of Care)
Number of fly-tips where further
enforcement action taken
Fixed Penalty Notices – littering, flytipping, dog fouling etc

Replace with Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements (including behaviour adversely affecting the
environment) a) number of warnings issued b) number of fixed penalty notices issued c) number of
Community Protection Notices issued d) number of prosecutions
To be replaced with new ASB Enforcement PIs as detailed above.

Friends / Community Groups – no. of
volunteer hours

To be removed as most of the volunteer hours are within the Countryside Sites which are due to transfer out
of the authority during 2018/19

Replace with Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements (including behaviour adversely affecting the
environment) a) number of warnings issued b)number of fixed penalty notices issued c) Number of
Community Protection Notices issued d)Number of prosecutions

19

Appendix 4: Quality and Satisfaction Measures
The following satisfaction measures have been historically measured through the original BVPI survey and then locally through the Citizens
Panel. No results were taken in 2017/18. They will be considered for inclusion within the new Place Survey in December 2018 as part of the
new consultation strategy, amongst a range of other measures.
•
•
•

Satisfaction with waste and recycling services
Satisfaction with street cleanliness standards
Satisfaction with public toilets

The following quality measures were included within the new Performance Framework for 2017/18 but have yet to be measured or assessed.
Work is being undertaken in 2018/19 with regard to the customer services excellence accreditation but the housing quality network
assessment is being deferred until 2019/20 as the council is currently focusing on a housing advice process review.

Page 158

• Customer Service Excellence accreditation
• Housing Quality Network assessment

20

Agenda Item 8.4
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to the Cabinet
19 June 2018
TITLE:

Staffordshire Moorlands Growth Strategy

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Sybil Ralphs – Leader

CONTACT OFFICER:

Pranali Parikh

WARDS INVOLVED:

All wards

Appendices 1: Draft Growth Strategy For Staffordshire Moorlands

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to update the Cabinet on the progress of the Draft
Growth Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands, being developed jointly in
partnership between SMDC and SCC.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

To note the draft growth strategy.

2.2

To approve the Draft Growth Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands for
publication for the purpose of public consultation.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The emerging local plan is due to be submitted to the inspector in June 2018,
with the examination process expected to take place in Sept/ October 2018.
Depending on the outcome, adoption is likely to happen in spring 2019.

3.2

In order for the Local Plan objectives to be achieved a delivery plan is required
which will support appropriate development to come forward in identified
locations and maximise community benefits from such development. The Draft
Growth Strategy is prepared to provide the strategic vision and context to the
development and propose key actions to achieve the vision. While the Local
Plan identifies where the development should be, the Growth Strategy
identifies how could it be delivered and what benefits could it achieve. The
Draft Growth Strategy was presented to the Service Delivery Overview and

Page 159

Scrutiny Committee in May 2018 and the members have recommended to the
Cabinet to approve the document for consultation.
3.3

The Draft Growth Strategy is a joint initiative between Staffordshire Moorlands
District Council and Staffordshire County Council. It demonstrates commitment
from both partner organisations to delivering sustainable growth in the District.
It has been informed by the Councils’ Corporate Plan priorities, existing
evidence base reports, current initiatives being carried out by the Councils and
their partners as well as overarching strategies for the wider Stoke &
Staffordshire Local Enterprise Partnership area.

3.4

The key purpose of the strategy is to provide a wider growth context to
prospective investors and funders and attract inward investment in the District.
It is anticipated that the Draft Strategy will help the public and private sector
partners in preparing and assessing business cases for funding bids and
investment propositions.

3.5

The Draft Growth Strategy proposes to focus on key areas of intervention:
 Housing delivery
 Business & Employment growth and skills
 Visitor economy and town centres
 Health & well-being
 Connectivity

3.6

The key delivery principles for the Strategy are:
 Adopting a plan led approach which identifies and delivers priorities in line
with the Local Plan
 Delivery through the creation of strong partnerships including the Local
Economic Partnership(LEP), Chamber of Commerce and others
 Willingness to use the prospect of growth to support investment and
focusing on what is feasible and achievable.
 Proactive intervention in growth and development activities including
taking control when required to acquire land and funding
 Working with our neighbouring urban areas to create a complementary
offer

3.7

It is proposed to conduct a four week consultation exercise by publishing the
document on the Council’s website. Email notifications will be sent out to all
relevant stakeholders, district and county councillors and parish councils.
Press releases will be prepared to notify the residents of the consultation
period. Following the consultation, the comments will be collated and
incorporated in the document where appropriate. Final draft will be presented
to the Full Council for consideration and adoption as a material planning
document.

3.8

Officers at Staffordshire County Council are also preparing a report to be
considered by their Cabinet that will enable the County Council to actively
engage with the delivery of this strategy, once approved. This will form part of
the County Councils emerging thinking surrounding the delivery of sustainable
growth, most notably through enabling the provision of new homes together
with associated infrastructure and employment opportunities.

Page 160

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The report links Corporate Plan 2015-19; Aim 3: To help create a strong
economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages; in that it will
address delivery of priorities
 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises
 flourishing town centres that support the local economy
 encourage and develop tourism
 support open for business approach

5.

Options and Analysis

5.1

Option 1: Do not agree approval for consultation
Under this option, the Council will not seek public and stakeholder consultation
on draft Growth Strategy. This would mean that there is less opportunity for
key partners and residents to influence local strategy Not recommended.

5.2

Option 2: Agree approval for consultation to opportunity for key partners and
residents to influence local strategy. Recommended

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2

Workforce
SMDC Regeneration team in partnership with Staffordshire County
Council

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies and an Equality Impact Needs
Assessment is not required at this time.

6.4

Financial Considerations
The draft Growth Strategy sets out an agreed approach to future
development in the district and will act as a tool to lever in external
funding as well as setting the framework for commitment of SMDC
and SCC future resources.

6.5

Legal
None at this stage.

6.6

Sustainability
This draft Growth Strategy has been developed in line with
emerging Local Plan proposals, adopted core strategy and

Page 161

Supplementary Planning documents relating to sustainability.
6.7

Internal and External Consultation
This report has been developed as a joint SMDC/SCC growth
strategy and as such has been subject to internal consultation
within both organisations. The strategy sets out an approach to
delivery of the Local Plan and the vision agreed by the Leaders of
both authorities. The Local Plan has been subject to extensive
consultation. The Draft Strategy will be consulted with relevant
stakeholders and residents prior to adoption.

6.8

Risk Assessment
The key risk to the preparation of the Draft Growth Strategy is the
potential lack of buy-in for the Growth Strategy form partners and
residents
The Draft Growth Strategy sets out an approach to delivery of the
priorities and sites agreed by the Local Plan which has been
developed through an extensive consultation process so the risk of
buy-in from the residents is minimal. It is important to engage with
the stakeholders and partners as they will be key for the delivery of
it. While most partners and stakeholders are engaged in the
process of developing the strategy, a public consultation exercise
is proposed for more formal engagement.

Dai Larner
Executive Director of Place
Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

Contact details
Pranali Parikh
Regeneration Manager
Pranali.parikh@staffsmo
orlands.gov.uk
0758305536

Page 162

Page 163

DRAFT
Growth Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands
May 2018

Spatial Context:

Page 164

Contents:
Introduction
Local context
National and regional context

Page 165

Challenges and strengths
Our focus
Key priority sectors
• Housing delivery
• Business, employment growth and skills
• Visitor economy and town centres
• Health and well‐being
• Connectivity
Delivery mechanism
Appendix 1: Development Opportunities

02

Foreword:
The Growth Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands
is a joint initiative between Staffordshire
Moorlands District Council and Staffordshire
County Council.

Page 166

The Strategy sets out a plan for sustainable
growth and identifies development opportunities
in the District for the next 15 years. It
demonstrates the partners’ commitment to
regeneration as well as to the delivery of the
Local Plan.
It has been informed by the Council’s Corporate
Plan priorities, existing evidence base reports and
current initiatives being carried out by the
Councils and their partners.
We believe it will not only guide future
developments, but also help attract inward
investment and funding from private and public
sector sources.
The Strategy is an ambitious step forward for the
District to position itself in the wider North
Staffordshire context.

Cllr Philip Atkin, Leader, Staffordshire County
Council
Cllr Sybil Ralphs, Leader, Staffordshire
Moorlands District Council

Vision
Staffordshire Moorlands aims to be an area
with a vibrant and distinctive natural and
built environment which welcomes
planned growth to create an independent
and sustainable economy and offer a high
quality of life to the residents, visitors and
the business community in North
Staffordshire.

The key principles for the Growth Strategy are:

Purpose

Page 167

• To create a shared vision among partners
• To demonstrate our commitment to
growth and delivery of the Local Plan
• To set out clear priorities and our
approach to their delivery.

• Adopting a plan led approach with a focus on delivering the Local
Plan
• Delivery through the creation of strong partnerships including the
Local Economic Partnership(LEP), Chamber of Commerce and
others
• Willingness to use the prospect of growth to support investment
and focusing on what is feasible and achievable.
• Proactive intervention in growth and development activities
including taking control when required to acquire land and funding
• Working with our neighbouring urban areas to create a
complementary offer

Aim

The key objectives for the Growth Strategy are:

To support planned growth in housing, jobs,
entrepreneurial activities and the visitor
economy through the provision of
appropriate infrastructure for health,
education and transport in order to deliver
our vision for the area.

• To achieve delivery of housing targets as set out in the Local Plan which
will provide ‘good growth’ that supports community vitality and enhances
towns and villages as places where residents want to live and work.
• To deliver a business growth approach that supports entrepreneurship,
innovation and investment across a diverse economic base to provide a
wide range of jobs and opportunities for present and future residents.
• To facilitate leisure development, enhance leisure infrastructure and carry
out place marketing activities to support the visitor economy and increase
visitor spend.
• To support a high performing, relevant and responsive education and skills
system that narrows the skills gap and anticipates future challenges and
opportunities to ensure a productive workforce for tomorrow.
• To be a place where improved health and wellbeing is experienced by all.

Local Context:
Corporate Plan: The Council’s Corporate Plan supports Economic
Development and Regeneration to achieve increased economic growth and
sustainable towns and rural communities.

Page 168

Peak District National Park

Planning Policy: The Council adopted a Core Strategy in 2014 which
established the principle of growth in Leek, Cheadle and Biddulph and in the
more sustainable villages of the Rural Areas. A new Local Plan is now in the
latter stages of preparation which carries this principle forward whilst
identifying sites for development and protection. The plan seeks to support the
growth of 320 homes per year and a total of 27ha of additional employment
land up to the year 2031 to support economic growth.
Built Heritage:
The Council is committed to planning positively for high quality and inclusive
design for all development and has adopted a Design Guide as a
Supplementary Planning Document to the Local plan. A high quality, well
designed, development can enhance the sense of place and identity of an area
and can bring significant benefits to the local environment and economy.

Leek town centre

Natural environment: Staffordshire Moorlands lies in the foothills of the
Pennines and around a third of the District lies within the Peak District National
Park. Of the remainder, around 30% is Green Belt. Extensive areas of the
District are protected for their environmental value. The Churnet Valley is an
area of significant landscape, wildlife and heritage value.

Key employment sectors: (ONS 2015)
Manufacturing, mining and associated logistics ‐ 25%
of workforce
Growth Potential – Supply chain growth linked to JCB,
Rapiscan, Keyplant engineering, Klarius, Altrad Belle,
Greenhouse People, F Ball & Co.
Key constraint – Availability of sites + skills

Page 169

Agri‐Supply Chain‐ 2,339 jobs
Growth potential‐ EIA (2017) identifies £541m pa
GVA; Linked to Ornua, Croda, Cottage Delight, IAE. LM
Bateman, Armatrac
Key constraints –business support for diversification,
identifying new markets, incubation space, digital
connectivity
Professional services and real estate (construction,
finance, scientific and technical) ‐ 24% of workforce
Growth potential – Linked to Capita, creative and
digital services, University
Key constraint – Availability of higher grade office
accommodation with high speed digital connectivity
Leisure & Tourism (Accommodation, food, retail, arts
and entertainment)‐ 17% of workforce
Growth potential‐ Link to Peak Park, Alton Towers,
Churnet Valley, Lodges and outdoor recreation
Key constraints‐ Connectivity, packaging and
marketing of offer and low wages
Education, Health and Public services‐23% of
workforce
Growth potential‐ Link to NHS, University, Council
Key constraints‐ Public sector funding, recruitment

Local Context:
Economic Profile
• Economic activity rate in the District (84.2%) is higher than the national average
(77.8%).
• Weekly pay for jobs available in the District is low (£486.2) compared to the
national average (£540.20).
Employment:
 Average wages of full time workers are £3,000 below the national average pa.
 Net outflow of 12,800 workers from District.
 Claimant unemployment is very low at 0.6%
 Youth unemployment has fallen sharply since 2012 to 1.2%
Skills:
 At level 2(GCSE) and 3(A level), the district performs at par with the regional
average.
 10% fewer residents hold a degree or equivalent higher level qualification than the
national average.
 390 workplaces offer apprenticeships in the District.
 59% of the apprenticeships are at Level 2.
 Number of Level 3 apprenticeships have risen since 2013/14 by 13%
Enterprise:
 Lowest business start up rate in Staffordshire at 10.5%
 4120 enterprises based in the District in 2016 (ONS); 75 workplaces employ more
than 50 people on site
 In 2016, self‐employment rate has fallen to 10.1% but remains above Staffordshire
average (9.5%)
 Ranked highest in Staffordshire for proportion of employees working in knowledge
based economy
 Business survival rate is strong with 93% businesses established in 2014 still trading

National Context:
The Government is driving housing delivery,
utilising changes to the planning system, and
reducing barriers to development. This is
reflected in the recently published draft
National Planning Policy Framework

Page 170

Constellation Partnerships Growth Strategy:
As part of the Constellation Partnership
(Northern Gateway Development Zone) and
the development of the Crewe Hub, a Growth
Strategy is being prepared to provide new jobs
and homes in Cheshire, Stoke and
Staffordshire. Blythe Vale is identified as a
priority location for development along with
Crewe and Stoke and improved road and rail
links have been put forward.
Midlands Connect:
The Midlands Connect strategy identifies rail
and road connectivity between the Stoke and
Staffordshire hub (Crewe) and the
Derby/Nottingham hub (Toton) as a key
strategic priority. It acknowledges their
potential to act as catalysts for business and
professional services in both economic hubs.
Better connectivity to these hubs could also
provide better access to the HS2 stations at
Crewe and Toton, raising their potential to
unlock the growth of higher‐value sectors in
North Staffordshire.

National and Regional Context:
Constellation Partnership:

Growth
Context:
A50 Corridor connects:

Page 171

• M6 and M1
• Stoke‐on‐Trent and Derby
• HS2 Eastern arm and HS2
Western arm
• High‐tech and hi‐skilled
businesses such as Bentley,
JCB, Toyota, Rolls‐Royce and
Bombardier

South
Cheshire
growth region

Leek

Challenges :

Page 172

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Delivery of Local Plan housing and employment sites
Delivery of affordable and special needs homes
Rural environment and accessibility to external infrastructure
Low growth area and low level of economic dynamism
Retention of skilled young people/graduates
Lower level skills at NVQ4+ and above
Low level of development and inward investment
Few large employers & lack of career progression
Vacant and under‐used heritage assets
Low level of start‐ups and growth of small businesses
Ageing population and social exclusion
Low wages limit re‐spend potential

Strengths:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Vibrant town centres & distinctive built heritage
Outstanding natural environment
Good partnership working with SCC and LEP
Successful growing businesses‐ JCB, Klarius, Rapiscan, Greenhouse People
Available skilled technical workforce for engineering, professional services
and creative industries
Low land values, reduced cost of development
Use of great outdoors to promote health and wellbeing offer
High quality of life – attractive to aspirational residents
Local Plan submission draft approved‐ clarity and certainty of
development

Our focus:
Leek

Page 173

Biddulph

Cheadle

Churnet Valley

Leek

Biddulph

• Self‐contained market town
• Attractive town centre with high
percentage of independent shops
attracting visitor spend & new hotels
• Hub for arts & creative industries
• Strong & successful local industry –
including engineering &
manufacturing, food production and
financial sector

• Attractive residential town with good
range of local amenities
• Strong interest in investment from
growing engineering & manufacturing
firms
• New housing, employment & retail
uses planned
• Biddulph Grange‐ key destination

Cheadle

Blythe Bridge & Churnet Valley

• Need to increase housing in the town
centre – bring more local spend,
investment in health & recreation
• Daisy Bank redevelopment for new
office accommodation & business
growth
• Continued focus for engineering
growth – JCB, Klarius
• St Giles church & new markets

• Deliver the Churnet Valley Masterplan
– supporting tourism to increase
visitor stays & economic impact
• Improve rail and road access to key
destinations
• Support development of Churnet
Valley railway
• Promote the use of green
infrastructure, paths and trails

Housing Delivery:
Local Plan Context: 2018‐2031
6080 homes to be completed (2012‐2031) at an
annual average of 320 per year on allocated sites in
Leek (30%), Biddulph (20%), Cheadle (25%) and
rural areas (25%).

Page 174

The Housing supply data suggests that:
• Homes completed during 2015/16 = 100
• Homes under construction = 266
• Homes with full/outline consent not yet under
construction = 1034
In the towns, residential development of 15 homes
or more to provide a target of 33% affordable
housing on site.
Housing market: (Rightmove)
The majority of sales in Staffordshire Moorlands
during the last year were semi‐detached properties,
selling for an average price of £152,842. Detached
properties sold for an average of £274,828, with
terraced properties fetching £120,205.
Staffordshire Moorlands, with an overall average
price of £184,627 was more expensive than nearby
Stoke‐On‐Trent (£133,520) & Newcastle under Lyme
(£157,441).
Overall sold prices in Staffordshire Moorlands over
the last year were 6% up on the previous year and
8% up on the 2015 level of £171,721.

Issues:
• Low rate of house‐building due to:
• small sites not attractive to regional developers and investors
• viability issues due to low values
• poor connectivity adding to high construction costs
• low level of profit margins‐ not enough incentives for developers
• Over 189 homes with full permissions unimplemented on larger sites
• Further 900 homes with outline planning approvals
• Lack of control and certainty for Council due to lack of publically owned land that can
be developed for housing
• Aging population
• Need for suitable accommodation
• Rural residents unable to access services if unable to drive/lack public
transport
• Lack of diversity in available house types‐ not attracting premium earners/high
skilled and young first time buyers
• Potential threat to decline in workforce without sufficient and right quality housing

Opportunities:
Draft Local Plan approved by the Council‐ providing clarity and certainty
Government’s focus on housing growth and availability of funding
Strong track record of delivering 275 homes through ASCENT
Keen interest from Registered Providers and specialist housing product developers
Constellation Partnership Growth Strategy in place, provides context and positioning
Stoke’s economy is improving with direct positive impact on housing market
A50 is a key growth corridor for skilled labour force creating a strong housing market
along it
• A50 corridor is recognised as an investment priority in Midlands Connect growth
strategy
• Recent rise in development activities‐
• St Modwens got planning approval on Blythe Vale phase 1
• McCarthy & Stone on site with schemes for refurbished mill in Leek
• Waitrose site sold very quickly, more interest from food retailers in all
towns‐ proving spend capacity

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Proposed Actions:

Housing Delivery:

• Prepare Masterplans and delivery options for
larger housing clusters such as Biddulph Wharf
Rd, Cheadle Town Centre, the Leek Mill area and
the Blythe Vale sites.
• Commission consultants to prepare an
investment and acquisitions strategy for the
masterplanned areas.
• Consider ASCENT phase 2 or other housing
delivery vehicle for public sector led delivery.

Page 175

• Review all council owned/ public sector owned
assets and consider development opportunities
where appropriate.
• Work with Homes England to promote the ‘Home
Building Fund’ aimed at small sites and small
scale builders to bring forward the delivery of
sites.
• Revise planning pages to include guidance for
small site owners and businesses‐ demystifying
the planning application process.
• Clear backlog in the planning system by agreeing
S106 with the help of SCC.
• Consider refurbishment of mill buildings as part
of the wider Leek Mill Quarter Strategy to deliver
apartments, student accommodation and
serviced accommodation to add to diversity.

Extra care housing in Leek

Issues:

Business,
Employment Growth
and Skills
Local Plan Context 2018:2031
Page 176

The employment land requirement study
(2017) recommended 27ha additional
employment land to support the growth of
320 homes per year.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

This is identified in various locations, mainly
in Leek, Biddulph, Cheadle and rural
locations.
Key allocations:
‐ 5ha at land off Tunstall Road , Biddulph
‐ 1ha at Wharf Road, Biddulph
‐ 4.27 ha at land off new Haden Road,
Cheadle
‐ 4ha at Leekbrook (expansion of existing
industrial estate)
‐ 18ha at Blythe Vale, off A50

Lower than average business start‐up rates.
Perception of rural areas being unsuitable and unwelcoming for business growth.
Lack of fit‐for‐purpose accommodation and freehold sites.
Viability issues due to high remediation/infrastructure costs and low values that restrict
delivery of allocated and available sites
Local demand is for light industrial units that create lower density of jobs. Funding favours
high job density to meet ‘value for money’ criteria.
Funding for growth is restricted to SMEs who have no/little direct customer sales
Lack of national/international business or key cluster which restricts ability to attract co‐
locaters /supply chain and access to sector growth funding.
Council does not own land for development.
Poor connectivity and road infrastructure restricts growth potential.
Distance to skill providers/lack of transport (or cost of transport) acts as a barrier to skills
acquisition & apprenticeships for low income households
High use of temporary agency staff in manufacturing & engineering & nursing/care sectors
means lack of access to advanced training/skill development
Low wages & terms and conditions acts as a disincentive to skills acquisition in a number of
sectors which effect availability of skilled labour for sector growth
Lack of strategic interaction between schools career teams/labour market information/
businesses

Opportunities:
• Emerging Local Plan identifies approximately 27ha of additional employment land.
• Track record of delivering serviced plots in Victoria Business Park in Biddulph which is fully
occupied.
• A50 Corridor allows for labour movement for advanced manufacturing businesses such as
Bentley, JCB, Toyota and Bombardier.
• Cushman Wakefield report (November 2017) has identified demand for commercial use and
a need for public sector intervention.
• Established relationship between the Growth Hub, Chamber and partners for business
support.
• District has higher rates of Level 3 qualified working age residents than Stoke‐on‐Trent, and
better than average school leaver attainment.
• Council owns and manages a portfolio of commercial units with a high occupancy rate and
good rate of return on investment.
• Employment growth is a key political priority and is supported by the District Deal
commitment from SCC.
• Funding available for small businesses from LEP, Peak LEADER and other sources for
proactive businesses

Proposed Actions:

Business, Employment Growth and Skills

• Prepare deliverable masterplans for key sites such
as Biddulph Tunstall Road and Blythe Vale.
• Commission an investment and acquisitions
strategy for the masterplanned areas as well as
other employment locations.
• Support town centre regeneration through viable
re‐use of surplus public estate and heritage assets.
• Promote development of managed workspaces to
support business start‐ups, entrepreneurs and
SMEs in Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle town centre.

Page 177

• Use of Council resources (Council assets + Growth
Fund + staff expertise) to increase deliverability
and act as match funding to lever private and
public sector investment.
• Use the power of strategic acquisition of land
where relevant to ensure sustained income and
future growth.
• Develop investment prospectus & investor
relationships for development sites.
• Co‐ordination of district wide data on Gatsby
Careers Benchmarks audit for schools to
understand strategic issues and, with partners,
develop action plan to address gaps.
• Continue to engage with the businesses to identify
their skill needs and work with the University as
well as HE and FE providers to meet the need.

JCB factory in Cheadle

Visitor Economy &
Town Centres
Local Plan Context 2018:2031
New Local Plan policies support appropriate tourism
development and recognises cultural tourism and
they support a greater range of new
accommodation, attractions and facilities for tourists
and visitors.

Page 178

The visitor economy is an integral part of the:
• Churnet Valley Masterplan
• Cheadle Town Centre Masterplan
• Biddulph Town Centre Area Action Plan
• Leek Town Centre Masterplan
Visitor economy sector:
• Generates over 6m visitor days (4.5m day
visitors)
• Creates £261m economic impact across
Staffordshire Moorlands as a whole – but static
growth from 2014
• Creates £32.6m economic impact from visitors to
Leek – increased by £4.25 since 2014 (9% growth)
• More than doubles the value of staying visitor s
per day over that of day‐visitors
• Generated 83,970 more visitors in Leek since
2013 (STEAM data) – 9% growth
Town Centre Retail vacancy rates:
UK (towns) average‐ 8.9%
West Midlands‐ 9.3%
Leek‐ 7.9%
Biddulph‐ 18.2%
h dl

Issues:
• Under utilised and under‐recognised visitor opportunities and attractions
• Low visibility/awareness of visitor infrastructure in form of paths/longer trails
• Poor physical links between trails & green infrastructure (Peak Park, Churnet
Valley area) to key destinations and town centres and Stoke urban area.
• Need for a greater clarity and promotion of offer (why come and what to do &
even where district is in relation to neighbouring cities).
• Ratio of staying/day visitors is low (but improving) in part due to lack of visitor
accommodation compared to Derbyshire.

Opportunities:
• Outstanding built and natural environment
• Key tourism destinations with national profiles such as Alton Towers, Peak
District National Park, Biddulph Grange.
• Historic villages and town centres with tourism appeal
• Moneystone Park and Alton towers accommodation expansions
• Churnet Valley heritage railway expansion to Leek (planning application
submitted)
• Emerging Local Plan and Green Infrastructure Strategy‐ supportive of visitor
economy development
• Opportunity to create a close physical relationship of the District with the Peak
District National Park through enhancement of Green Infrastructure.
• Opportunity to enhance the distinctive built heritage in town centres and
create a unique offer to suit contemporary uses.

Proposed Actions:

Visitor Economy and Town Centres

• Attract more staying visitors by improving the
quality and range of accommodation stock by
working with key operators and small businesses
• Working with private sector partners, ensure the
delivery of planned and approved 350 bed spaces
(Travelodge in Leek, Alton Towers expansion)
and Moneystone (250 lodges)

Page 179

• Use of green infrastructure to improve
connectivity from urban areas and extend trails
to town/village centres by working with SCC, the
National Park Authority and voluntary groups
ensuring clear linkages to shops, restaurants &
pubs to generate visitor spend.
• Undertake an economic impact assessment by
visitor activities and have a clear focused strategy
on increasing numbers of high spending
groups/individuals
• Enhanced place marketing linked to key
audiences by working with Destination
Staffordshire
• Churnet Valley Railway project implementation
including extension to Moneystone Park and Leek
town centre with linkages to path/cycle trails.
• Working with SCC, Stoke and Newcastle to link
housing development to countryside as quality of
life offer for urban areas.

©Alton Towers

Health and Well‐being
Local Plan Context 2018:2031

Page 180

The vision for the Draft Local Plan states that the
needs of all sectors of the community, in particular
younger and older people, will be better met
through the provision of recreational, sport and
community facilities, local employment
opportunities and appropriate housing.
Encouragement of physical activity and active
travel throughout the District and across all age
groups will improve health and well‐being.

Issues:
• The significant and acknowledged issues within the health economy in North
Staffordshire.
• Aging population and changing need for health and social care.
• Recruitment of skilled health professionals as well as support workers.
• Proposed closure of hospital sites in Leek and Cheadle (pending consultation)
• Need to improve provision and accessibility to health and education services
and facilities.
• Need to increase physical activity and encourage healthy travel across all age
groups.

Health Profile 2017 (Public Health England)
Rates of violent crime, long term unemployment,
early deaths from cardiovascular diseases and early
deaths from cancer are better than national
average. Priorities for Staffordshire Moorlands
include childhood obesity, smoking in pregnancy,
drug misuse and aging well.
Key facts:
• 13% children live in low income families
• In year 6, 19.4% of children are classified as
obese.
• Levels of smoking at the time of delivery are
worse than England average.
• The rate of self‐harm hospital stays is worse
than the average for England.
• The rate of excess winter deaths is worse than
national average.
• Life expectancy for men is higher than the
England average.

Opportunities:
• The development and the delivery of the NHS Sustainable Transformation Plan
• Opportunity to consider reshaping service delivery for health sector in Leek
and Cheadle
• Opportunity to bring health development within the town centre in a more
accessible and sustainable location.
• Opportunity for health development to lead and drive town centre
regeneration.
• Opportunity to redevelop the health centres sites for appropriate use.

Health and well‐being
Proposed Actions:
• Support the delivery of the Strategic
Transformation Plan (STP) with an initial
focus on Leek and Cheadle to develop health
and other services that are fit for the future.
• Consider health offer as an integral part of
any town centre masterplans to be prepared.

Page 181

• Work in partnership with NHS trust and SCC
to access OPE support and funding.
• Prepare business cases and relevant funding
bids to bring the developments of these sites
forward.
• Work with private sector developers and land
owners to deliver school sites identified and
allocated in the Draft Local Plan.
• Work with others including the local
education sector and employers to address
the skill gaps identified.
Leek College campus

Connectivity
Local Plan Context 2018:2031

Page 182

The Spatial Strategy of the Local Plan supports
connectivity at the outset by focussing growth in the
most sustainable locations. However, the plan seeks
to further enhance connectivity with support for
measures identified in the County Council’s
Integrated Transport Strategy, sustainable transport
measures such as improvements to Green
Infrastructure and more strategic infrastructure such
as consideration of the A50 and links to Stoke.
The A50 is an important strategic corridor
supporting global advanced manufacturing
businesses such as Bentley, JCB, Toyota, Rolls Royce
and Bombardier. It is identified as a key corridor as
part of the Midlands’ Connect programme. A50 is
the key east‐west link between two major transport
corridors of M1 and M6. As per of the planned HS2
route, A50 connects the eastern and western arm of
HS2 by linking Stoke in the West and Derby in the
East. The roundabout at Blythe Bridge is the last
remaining roundabout on the A50 that requires
remodelling.
Blythe Bridge railway station is the only station in
Staffordshire Moorlands and from which passenger
numbers are increasing despite the poor and
infrequent service. Blythe Bridge railway station is
right in the middle of the eastern and western arm
of HS2 with currently 40 mins travel to both Crewe
and to Derby.

Issues:
• Safety issues for heavy vehicles on A50 near Blythe Bridge.
• Lack of access to key strategic sites such as Blythe Vale (south of A50) and other
master planned areas for residential and employment sites.
• Traffic issues in Cheadle. (and also poor links to/from Cheadle to A50)
• Pedestrian and cycle connectivity between towns, Churnet Valley and Stoke urban
area.
• Lack of consistency and quality in digital connectivity throughout the district –
need for increased funding & intervention rates or innovation solutions to address
areas in final 4% ( areas with no planned broadband coverage)
• Lack of rail connectivity.

Opportunities:
• The development of north/south HS2 routes and the opportunity to enhance the
east –west link through Blythe Bridge station.
• Further development of the A50 as a major growth route enabling the movement
of skilled labour force.
• Potential to develop the Leek to Moneystone heritage rail link‐ Enhance the visitor
economy through the further development of the Churnet Valley Heritage Line.
• Existing network of trails, paths and walking routes that can be joined up and
promoted as a coherent package.
• Potential light rail network proposal to link Biddulph/Knypersley to Hanley/Stoke
• Digital connectivity needs to be explored to overcome some of the constraints of
physical infrastructure provision and tackle social and economic inclusion.
• The emerging Local Plan Policy states that: all development shall be served by high
speed broadband (>30mbps) unless it can be demonstrated through consultation
with Next Generation Access Network providers that this would not be possible,
practical or economically viable. In all circumstances during construction of the site
sufficient and suitable ducting should be provided within the site and to the
property to facilitate ease of installation at a future date.

Proposed Actions:
• Develop and deliver projects from Cheadle
transport package by working with public and
private sector partners.
• Work in partnership with Highways England and
SCC to deliver access infrastructure to bring
forward Blythe Vale site.
• Develop a joint masterplan for Blyther Vale site
to include enhancement and long term vision
for the east‐west route and specifically Blythe
Bridge station and seeking support for this
through the Constellation Partnership and
Midlands Engine.

Page 183

• Support as required to the Churnet Valley
Railway as they seek to connect additional
lengths of the heritage tourist line.
• Work with public, private and voluntary sector
to enhance sustainable transport network of
pedestrian and cycle paths, canal towpaths and
other green infrastructure corridors with a view
to connect key visitor destinations as well as
residential and employment areas.
• Work with Superfast Staffordshire and
commercial sector to ensure s106 requirements
for digital infrastructure all new build business
& housing allocation developments
• Consider business case for travel subsidy for
vocational skills/apprenticeships 16‐24 year
group (including wheels to work initiatives) or
sustainable transport network to key business
clusters.

Connectivity

Page 184

Delivery Mechanism

Our Priorities
In addition to supporting the District Council in delivering the actions identified in this
document, SCC will lead on the following actions:
Overall:
• Review all council owned/ public sector owned assets and consider development
opportunities where appropriate.
• Prepare an Investment and Acquisitions Strategy for the District.
Housing Delivery:
• Deliver the Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme as approved by the SMDC
Cabinet in April 2018.

Page 185

Business Employment Growth and Skills
• Deliver the Accelerating Business Growth programme as approved by the SMDC
Cabinet in September 2016.
Visitor Economy and Town Centres:
• Prepare masterplan for Cheadle Town Centre and Leek Mill Quarter
• Support the development of bed spaces across the District
• Undertake an economic impact assessment to understand the impact of this sector
on the wider economy and identify area of intervention by public sector.
Connectivity:
• Develop and deliver projects from Cheadle transport package by working with public
and private sector partners.
• Reinstate Churnet Valley Railway including extension to Moneystone Park and Leek
town centre with linkages to path/cycle trails.
• Work in partnership with Highways England and SCC to deliver access infrastructure
to bring forward Blythe Vale site.
Health and Well‐being:
• Support the delivery of the Strategic Transformation Plan (STP) for Leek and Cheadle
to develop health and other services that are fit for the future.

Key areas of intervention:
•
•
•
•
•

Housing Delivery
Business, Employment and Skills Growth
Visitor Economy & Town Centre Regeneration
Health
Connectivity

Interdependencies:

Page 186

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan and Corporate Plan
SCC Strategic Plan
Stoke & Staffordshire Local Enterprise Partnership’s Strategic Economic Plan
Constellations Partnership Growth Strategy
Midlands Engine Strategy
Destination Staffordshire Tourism strategy, SMDC visitor economy strategy
Health & Wellbeing Board , Strategy
Playing pitch and built facilities strategy, SMDC
Green Infrastructure Strategy

Funding opportunities
To ensure that the growth strategy is delivered external funding opportunities will be explored as including developer
contributions and national options.

Partners
The initial growth strategy will be between SCC and SMDC but other partners including Your Housing, Leek and Buxton
College will be invited to be part of emerging approach?

Governance structure
It is proposed that a formal Governance arrangement is required with both SCC and SMDC reporting progress through their
existing arrangements.
A joint oversight Board will include the Leaders of both SCC and SMDC and their Chief Executives and officer support who
will monitor delivery of the Growth Strategy and take action as required.

Key stakeholders:

Key stakeholders include :

Page 187

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Staffordshire County Council
Constellations Partnership
Stoke on Trent and Staffordshire LEP
Staffordshire Chambers of Commerce
Town and parish councils
Totally Locally
Churnet Valley Living Landscapes Partnership
Peak District National Park Authority
Destination Staffordshire
Buxton & Leek College (University of Derby)
Business Peak District
Stoke & Staffordshire Growth Hub
Make It Stoke and Staffordshire
HCA, RPs, house builders
Site owners + developers
Civic society, other active community organisations
Historic England
Environment Agency
Support Staffordshire
Others?

24

Page 188

Page 189
Dai Larner

Darryl Eyres

Executive Director of Place
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Dai.larner@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Director of Regeneration
Staffordshire County Council
darryl.eyers@staffordshire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.1
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to the Cabinet
19 June 2018

TITLE:

Community Right to Bid Policy

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Mike Bowen – Portfolio Holder for
Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks,
Countryside & Housing

OFFICER:

Mark Forrester (Corporate Service Manager)

WARDS:

All

Appendices attached: Appendix 1 – Draft Community Right to Bid
Policy
1.

Reason for the Report:
The Council adopted a Community Right to Bid/Assets of Community
Value Policy in December 2012, based on the Council’s experience
since that date and the growing body of case law amendments are
proposed to the current policy.

2.

Recommendation
2.1

To approve the revised Community Right to Bid Policy
(Appendix 1).

3 Executive Summary
3.1

The Community Right to Bid (provided for within the Localism
Act 2011) came into force on 21st September 2012. It provides a
mechanism for parish councils and voluntary bodies to request
that buildings and land in their community is registered with the
Council as an ‘asset of community value’. The owner of land
and buildings registered with the Council is required to inform
the Council of their intention to dispose of these assets. Should
eligible organisations express an interest in acquiring the land or

Page 191

buildings a moratorium on the sale is triggered during which time
community groups or parish councils can seek to secure funds
to make a bid to purchase the asset.

4.

3.2

The Council adopted a policy for dealing with the Community
Right to Bid in December 2012.

3.3

With the benefit of experience and the growing body of case law
officers have reviewed the Council’s current Community Right to
Bid Policy and processes. Drawing on lessons learned and case
law, amendments to the current policy are proposed.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities
4.1

5.

6.

The policy supports the Council’s aim: To help create a safer
and healthier environment for our communities to live and work.

Options and Analysis
5.1

To approve the revised Community Right to Bid policy
(Recommended).

5.2

To not approve the revised Community Right to Bid policy (Not
recommended).

Implications
6.1

Community Safety – (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No specific implications from the policy. Positive community
activity strengthens communities and contributes positively to
community safety.

6.2

Workforce
No implications from this report.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
No specific implications from this report.

6.4

Financial Considerations
No specific implications from the revisions to the Community
Right to Bid/Assets of Community Value Policy.

6.5

Legal

Page 192

The provisions of the Localism Act 2011 relating to the
Community Right to Bid are mandatory on the Council.
6.6

Sustainability
No specific implications.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
No implications.

6.8

Risk Assessment
There is a risk of compensation claims from owners of land/
buildings incurring loss as a result of the sale moratorium being
triggered in accordance with the legislation.

7.

Background and detail
7.1

The Community Right to Bid (provided for within the Localism
Act 2011) came into force on 21st September 2012. It provides a
mechanism for parish councils and voluntary bodies to request
that buildings and land in their community is registered with the
Council as an ‘asset of community value’. The owner of land
and buildings registered with the Council is required to inform
the Council of their intention to dispose of these assets. Should
eligible organisations express an interest in acquiring the land or
buildings a moratorium on the sale is triggered during which time
community groups or parish councils can seek to secure funds
to make a bid to purchase the asset.

7.2

In December 2012 the Council adopted a policy for dealing with
the Community Right to Bid.

The Role of the Council
7.3

Under the ‘Community Right to Bid’ provisions, the Council is
required to:




Set up a process to enable local community and voluntary
groups to nominate assets;
To adjudicate in accordance with Government Regulations
on whether the assets can be included in a list of assets of
community value;
Publish the list of assets of community value and also details
of those assets that were nominated but unsuccessful,
including the reason why the nomination was unsuccessful;

Page 193






Implement an internal review process should the owner of
the nominated asset disagree with the Council’s decision that
the nomination be successful;
Set up and monitor a moratorium process so that when an
asset from the list comes on to the market, community
groups have time to register their intent to bid and raise the
necessary capital, and preventing the owner from selling the
asset during the moratorium period; and
Operate a compensation scheme to compensate owners for
loss or expense incurred as a result of listing and complying
with any of the procedures required by the scheme.

7.4

While Government Regulation set out much of the detail of how
the Community Right to Bid is to be operated a growing body of
case law has also been established as a result of
appeals/challenges nationally.

7.5

Since the adoption of the policy in 2012 the Council has dealt
with 15 nominations – all 15 resulted in the property being listed
as Assets of Community Value. There have been 5 appeals by
property owners against listing, 1 request for compensation
(which was refused) and 1 appeal was escalated to the first tier
tribunal but was subsequently dismissed. Four community
groups have subsequently made successful bids to purchase
the listed properties.
For comparison, the figures for High Peak Borough Council
since the adoption of the policy in 2012 are: the Council has
dealt with 10 nominations - 7 have been listed as Assets of
Community Value by the Council. Two nominations were
refused and one withdrawn. There have been no appeals
against listing. One community group made a successful bid to
purchase a listed property.

7.6

With the benefit of experience and the growing body of case law
officers have reviewed the Council’s current Community Right to
Bid Policy and processes. Drawing on lessons learned and case
law amendment to the current policy are proposed.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) & Monitoring Officer
Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Mark Forrester
Corporate Service
Manager

Page 194

Page 195

This page is intentionally left blank

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
and
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT
COUNCIL
Council Policy: Community Right to Bid/Assets
of Community Value

Contents
1. Introduction
2. Background
3. Process
i) Listing
ii) Review and appeals
iii) Sale
4. Policy Review
5. Appendices
A: The Process (flow charts)
B: Assets of Community Value/Community Right to Bid Nomination
form

Page 197

1

1. Introduction
This document sets out the Council’s policy for implementing the Localism Act
2011 Part 5. Chapter 3: Assets of Community Value (known as the
Community Right to Bid).
This policy is in force from 6th December 2012.
2. Background
The Community Right to Bid (‘the Right’), is one of the new community rights
derived from the Localism Act 2011. The aim of the Right is to empower
communities wishing to protect valuable local assets (land and buildings). It
requires the Council to maintain a list of assets in its area which are of
community value. It requires the owners of listed community assets to notify
the Council of an intention to sell listed assets and it provides the opportunity
for the community to delay a sale in order to prepare a bid to buy it.
The Right does not restrict in anyway who the owner of the asset can sell their
property to, or at what price and it does not confer a right of first refusal to
community interest groups.
The Right does not apply to residential property or operational land as defined
in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Part 2.
3. The Process
The Government has published an Assets of Community Value Policy
Statement and Statutory Regulations, which set out statutory elements of how
the Right should operate. The Government has also published non statutory
guidance (October 2012). However, how the Right will be administered in a
locality has to be specified by the responsible local authority.
This section of the policy statement explains our local process for operation of
the Right.
The process falls into three sections:
•
•
•

Listing
Review and Appeals
Sale

A flow chart providing an overview of all the stages of our process is available
at Appendix A.
.

Page 198

2

3.1 Listing
The Council will complete this section of the process within 8 weeks of receipt
of nominations.

Stage.1 – NOMINATION
The listing process is community led and is triggered by the receipt of a
nomination. The Statutory Regulations specify what an asset of
community value is, who can make a nomination and the information
required in a nomination, which must be in written form (letter, email, eform).
The criteria
An asset is of community value if the Council judges that;
•

Current use of the building or land furthers the social well-being
or social interests of the local community and it is realistic to
think this use will continue, or there was a time in the recent past
when the use of the building or land furthered the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community and it is realistic
to think there would be a time in the next 5 years when there
could be use that would further the social well-being or social
interests of the local community , or its use in the past 5 years
has done so;

•

That use is the main one and not ancillary; and

•

It is realistic to think that the building or land will continue to be
used in a way which will further the social well-being and social
interests of the community within the next 5 years; and

•

It does not fall within the list of exemptions

The Localism Act 2011 provides that ‘social interest’ includes (in
particular) each of the following: cultural interests, recreational
interests, sporting interests.
Organisations which are eligible to nominate
Only parish councils and voluntary and community organisations with a
local connection have the right to make nominations for assets to be
included on the list. The Localism Act and associated regulations
provide definitions of eligible bodies, these bodies include:
•

Neighbourhood Forums (section 61F of the Town & Country
Planning Act 1990 – added by the Localism Act 2011)

Page 199

3

•
•
•
•
•
•

Parish Councils in respect of land in the parish council’s area
Unincorporated bodies (that has at least 21 individual members
of 21 who are on the local electoral register)
A Charity
Company Limited by Guarantee (where profits are not
distributed to members)
Industrial or Provident Society
Community Interest Company

The form of nomination and information required
Nominations must be in writing and include the following information:
•
•
•
•

Clear identification of the asset
Names of the current occupants of the asset and names and
current or last known address of all those holding a freehold or
leasehold estate in the asset
Reasons why it qualifies as an asset of community value
Identification of the nominating organisation and some proof of
eligibility to make a community nomination

The Council will provide a nomination form to assist applicants and the
assessment process.

Stage.2 – DECISION
Asset owners (and any leaseholders) will be notified of the asset
nomination and asked to make any comments as will any occupants of
the property and, if there is one, the parish council.
Having considered the information submitted with the nomination and
any comments provided by the asset owners Tthe Council will assess
decide whether the nomination:
•
•
•

Meets all criteria (above)
Fails to meet the criteria
Meets some criteria/ needs further consideration

The Council will write to the nominating organisation and owner of the
asset (and any lawful occupant)everyone else notified of the
nomination outlining the decision and (including an explanation where
the nomination was unsuccessful). This is called a ‘Decision
Notification Letter’
There is no right or review or appeal for community groupsOnly the
Owner of the listed land has a right of review (see below) although like
all council decisions the listing can be subject to judicial review by an

Page 200

4

interested party if the decision is taken without compliance with the law,
unreasonably or unfairly.

Stage.3 – LISTING
The Council will maintain and publish in a single list:
•
•

Assets of Community Value
Assets Nominated but not accepted by the Council as fitting the
Community Value criteria.

The lists will be updated on a monthly basis and available for public
inspection. The Council will publish these lists on our website, and Tthe
Council will make hard copies available on request.
3.2 Review and Appeals
In some cases, aA landowner (land and/or buildings) whose asset has been
included on the list of assets of community value may wish to ask the Council
to review its decision.
In such cases, the landowner must write to the Council within 8 weeks of
receipt of the Council’s notification that the asset is to be listed. This request
should be sent to: rachel.rourke@highpeak.gov.uk
The landowner must present a case for removing the asset from the list based
on whatever evidence they consider appropriate, but it should be relevant to
the following issues:
•
•
•
•

Whether or not the asset is eligible to be listed;
Whether or not the asset was nominated by an eligible group;
Any new factors which have come to light since the original nomination
was made; or,
Any irrelevant orf improper matternner which the Council might have
taken into account when reaching its original decision.

The landowner should present this in writing in the first instance, but may also
request an oral hearing and be represented at this hearing by whomever they
wish. If an oral hearing is not requested then the review will be considered on
the papers submitted with the review.
Asset listing reviews will be determined by a Local AuthorityCouncil Officer
with appropriate seniority who has not been involved in making the original
decision.
If the Review agrees finds in favour of the asset owner then the asset is
removed from the list, if not then the asset will remain on the list.

Page 201

5

The Council will complete this review within 8 weeks of receipt of the review
request, or a longer period by agreement of both parties and must notify the
owner of its decision with reasons. If the asset is removed from the list then
the decision with reasons must be given to the person/group who made the
nomination.

Appeal:
If a landowner is dissatisfied with the decision reached through the internal
review process to maintain the listing of their land/property then they are
entitled to appeal to an the independent First Tier tTribunal (Property) which is
a Tribunal (akin to a court) specialising in land and property matters. If
successful in their appeal then the landowner may apply to the council for
reasonable costs.

3.3 Sale
Owners duty to notify the Council
It is the responsibility of the asset owner to notify the Council of an intention to
make a ‘relevant disposal’. This terminology is used because not all sales are
covered by the Right, there are a number of exclusions specified in the
Regulations for example transfers of the property as a gift or inheritance. ,
these are:
Transfers made other than for value i.e. a gift
Transfers between members of the same family i.e. made as a sale as well as
a gift
Transfers due to the inheritance of the asset
Sales by personal representatives in order to pay estate debts or cash
legacies
Transfers occasioned by resignation or death of partners in a firm of trustees
of a trust
Transfers between trustees, between a trust and settler, and between a trust
and a beneficiary
Business to business transactions of a going concern, where the intention is
to continue the existing use of the asset
Transfers where the listed asset forms part of a larger estate
Disposals made as a result of pre-existing arrangements
Transfers between connected companies
Disposals of land made under existing statutory provisions that clash with the
Assets of Community Value moratorium rules
Provision of on-going public service delivery
Interim Moratorium Period

Page 202

6

Receipt by the Council of notification of a relevant disposal will trigger a 6
week interim moratorium period in which community interest groups should
decide whether they wish to prepare a bid to purchase an asset.
The Council will publish the owner’s intention to dispose of the asset on its
website so that relevant community interest groups can consider whether they
would like to place a bid for the asset. The organisation which originally
nominated the land/building for registration as a community asset will be
contacted in writing.
A community interest group is:
•
•

A Parish Council in whose area the asset lies, or
A body with a local connection which is constituted in one of the
following ways:
o A company limited by guarantee
o An Industrial or Provident Society
o A Community Interest Company
o Any other body which is registered as a charity including a
Charitable Incorporated Organisation

At this stage community interest groups only need to express an interest in
bidding, they do not need to provide any details of their bid. The expression of
interestis will trigger a full moratorium period of 6 months in total from
notification of the relevant disposal during which time a sale is barred and
they are able to prepare a bid for the asset. It is important to note however
that Tthe owner is under no obligation to accept this bid and is free to dispose
of their asset as they wish.
If a bid is not received duringAfter the full moratorium period of 6 months has
ended then the landowner is free to dispose of their asset as they wish and no
further moratorium period can be triggered for a protected period of 18
months from the date that the council receiveds notification of athe relevant
disposal. This provides the owner with 12 months in which to dispose of the
asset freely.
Full Moratorium Period
If a relevant community interest group wants to place an offer, the Full
Moratorium Period is launched to enable the group to develop offer to
purchase offer.
Any offer to purchase is made directly to the owner of the land/buildings and
does not involve the Council.
Protected Period
Following the end of the Full Moratorium Period, the owner is free to dispose
of their asset without further delay within 12 months. This is called the
‘Protected Period’.

Page 203

7

Claims for compensation
Types of claim
The owner of the listed asset may make a claim for compensation for any loss
or expenses they may have incurred at a time when the land was listed, which
they would not have incurred had the land not been listed.
The following claims may therefore be made:
•
•

For Aany loss, arising from any period of delay in the owner entering
into a binding agreement to sell the land, which has been caused by
either the interim or full moratorium periods.
A claim for reasonable legal expenses incurred in a successful appeal
to the First Tier Tribunal against the Local Authority’s decision to;
I. List the asset
II. To refuse to pay compensation, or
III. With regard to the amount of compensation offered or paid

Claims stage 1: The Iinitial Cclaim to the Council must be made in writing
before the end of 13th week (90 days) after the loss orf expense was incurred
giving supporting evidence for each part of the claim and the Council must
give its decision with reasons as to whether the claim is accepted or denied.
If compensation is denied then there are provisions for review and appeal
which may be followed. The owner can place an application for compensation:
this must be written, include amounts sought and supporting evidence.
Claims stage 2: The Review of the Council’s decision must be made before
the end of the 8 week period from which the Council provides the owner with
a written response to the outcome of Stage 1. This must be written, include
amounts sought and supporting evidence.
Claims stage 3 - If owner is unhappy with the Council’s reviewing decision
they can opt to take it to a First Tier Tribunal. And request compensation
and reasonable legal costs.

4. Policy Review
This policy will be reviewed periodically and may be amended to take account
of developing best practice locally and nationally, or new government
guidance.

5. Disclaimer

Page 204

8

This policy document is not intended to provide any person with legal advice
specific to any particular site or matter and contains general information only
about the way in which the Council will normally deal with matters relating to
assets of community value. You should consult a suitably qualified lawyer on
any specific legal problem or matter.
Any enquiries should be directed to ???

.

Page 205

9

Appendix A: The process
Listings Assets
Stage.1 – NOMINATION
Nomination to list an asset can be provided in any written format
(letter, email, e-form).
Contact details of where to submit a nomination and an e-form are
available at www.highpeak.gov.uk/

Stage.2 – DECISION
Eight Weeks

Asset owners and other interested parties will be notified of asset
nomination and given time to comment.
An initial checking process will be conducted by Council officers will
checker whether the nomination
• Meets all criteria
• Fails to meet the criteria
• Meets some criteria/ need further consideration
The Decision will be made by the appointed Executive Councillor.
The Council will issue a decision notification letter to all the
interested parties. write to the nominating organisation and owner of
the asset outlining their decision. This is called a ‘Decision
Stage.3 – LISTING
The Council will list all successful and unsuccessful bids (including
explanation for why a bid was unsuccessful or not)

What you need to know:
•

Complete the nomination form if you are interested in nominating an
asset for the list, give as much detail as you can as to why you
consider the land/property meets the criteria as an asset of community
value.

•

The property (owner and occupier) and other interested parties, will be
informed of the nomination and be invited to make comment.

•

All the information will be considered.

•

You will be informed within 8 weeks of the Council’s decision by a
‘Decision Notification’ letter.

Page 206

10

Review and appeals
Stage.1 – INTERNAL REVIEW
The asset (i.e. land or building) owner can send a request to
lodge a review of the Council’s listing decision within 8 weeks
of the written notification of listing.

Six Weeks

This request should be sent to:
rachel.rourke@highpeak.gov.uk
Asset listing review will be determined by a Local Authority
Officer of appropriate seniority who has not been involved in
making the original decision.
If the Review
agrees finds in
favour of the asset
owner then the
asset is removed
from the list

If the Review finds in
favour of the original
listing decision then
the Owner has the
option to take their
appeal to a First Tier
Tribunal

What you need to know:
•

The owner of a listed asset can request that the Council reviews its
decision.

•

Owners will be provided with information about how they can do this in the
‘Decision Notification’ letter which will be sent to notifying organisations,
occupiers and owners following the Councils decision.

•

Owners and notifying organisations will be informed by a ‘Review
Notification’ letter within 8 weeks.

Page 207

11

Sale
Interim Moratorium Period

Twelve
months

Six months

Six weeks

Owners of listed assets who intend to dispose of their
listed asset will need to contact the Council.
This triggers an Interim Moratorium Period.
The Council will publish the owner’s intention to dispose
of the asset on its website so that relevant community
interest groups can consider whether they would like to
place a bid for the asset.

Full Moratorium Period
If a relevant community interest group wants to place an
offer, the Full Moratorium Period is launched given to
enable the group to develop offer to purchase offer. Offers
are made to the owner who may or may not accept them.
Protected Period
If no offer is made Ffollowing the end of the Full
Moratorium Period, the owner is free to dispose of their
asset without further delay within 12 months. This is
called the ‘Protected Period’.

What you need to know:
• If you are the owner of a listed asset and intend to sell please notify
rachel.rourke@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 208

12

Compensation
Stage 1 - The Initial Claim to the Council
Must be made before the end of 13th week (90 days) after
the loss orf expense was incurred. The owner can place
an application for compensation: this must be written,
include amounts sought and supporting evidence.

Stage 2 – The Review of the Council’s decision
Must be made before the end of the 8 week period from
which the Council provides the owner with a written
response to the outcome of Stage 1. This must be
written, include amounts sought and supporting
evidence.

Stage 3 - First Tier Tribunal
If owner is unhappy with the Council’s reviewing
decision they can opt to take it to a First Tier Tribunal.
Aand request compensation and reasonable legal costs.

Page 209

13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to the Cabinet
19 June 2018
TITLE:

Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of
Abuse and Neglect

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Cllr Mike Bowen - Portfolio Holder for
Communities, Leisure, Sport, Parks,
Countryside & Housing

CONTACT OFFICER:

Executive Director (People) and Monitoring
Officer

WARDS INVOLVED:

All

Appendices Attached
Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of Abuse and Neglect Policy and
Procedure (Appendix 1)
1.

Reason for the Report
The Council last revised its Safeguarding Policy in 2016. An amended policy is
presented to reflect recent legislative and other changes. The report also
provides an update to Councillors on the Council’s actions to meet its
safeguarding duties.

2.

3.

Recommendation
2.1

That the Cabinet notes the actions taken by the Council in response to
its safeguarding duties.

2.2

That the Cabinet approves the amended Safeguarding Policy.

Executive Summary
3.1

The Council is committed to ensuring the safety and protection of
people using its services. In response, the Council has developed
policies and procedures to ensure that children and adults at risk of
abuse and neglect are safeguarded when using services provided by or

Page 211

on behalf of the Council in accordance with the relevant legislation and
statutory guidance.

4.

3.2

The Council approved a Child Protection Policy in 2006 and
subsequently updated the policy to incorporate adults at risk of abuse
and neglect in 2014. The introduction of the Care Act in May 2014
necessitated some changes and a revised policy was agreed by the
Council in 2016. Further revisions have been made and a new policy is
attached at Appendix 1 of the report.

3.3

The Council has established an officer group, chaired by the Executive
Director (People) to co-ordinate the Council’s response to safeguarding.

3.4

Recent actions include: updating the Council’s safeguarding policy,
providing safeguarding training for staff members; updating recruitment
and training procedures, and reviewing staff safety arrangements. The
Council has also supported the work of the Safer and Stronger
Communities Strategy Group to safeguard the local community.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities
4.1

5.

Options and Analysis
5.1

6.

The Council is committed to providing quality services.

None.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
The Council’s policy assists the Council to ensure the safety of
children and adults at risk of abuse and neglect.

6.2

Workforce
The Council’s policy requires all staff with direct or indirect access to
children or adults at risk of abuse or neglect to be vetted, checked and
provided with an appropriate level of training. There is a requirement
that every member of staff has an awareness of the Council’s policy.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
There are no specific implications.

6.4

Financial Considerations
The policy commits the Council to ensure appropriate training for staff

Page 212

and members.
6.5

Legal
The policy assists the Council to fulfil its statutory duties with respect
to the protection of children and adults at risk of abuse and neglect.

6.6

Sustainability
No specific implications.

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
No specific implications.

6.8

Risk Assessment
Implementation of the policy will assist the Council to manage risks in
relation to the impact of its services and activities on individual
children and adults at risk of abuse and neglect.

7.

Background and Detail
7.1

The Council approved a Child Protection Policy in 2006 and
subsequently updated the policy to incorporate adults at risk of abuse
and neglect in 2014. The introduction of the Care Act in May 2014
necessitated some changes and a revised policy was agreed by the
Council in 2016.

7.2

The Council’s officer group, chaired by the Executive Director (People),
continues to meet on a quarterly basis to co-ordinate the Council’s
response to safeguarding.

Activity since the last annual report
7.3

An amended Safeguarding Policy has been produced for approval by
Councillors (attached at Appendix 1) to reflect legislative changes,
notably the introduction of the General Data Protection Regulation, and
other minor procedural changes.

7.4

All staff members have received appropriate safeguarding training
either on-line or face-to-face. Any further needs for specific
safeguarding training will be identifed through the annual PEP process.
New recruits will receive training as and when required. The Council’s
on-line Safeguarding Children’s and Adults Course was updated in
January 2018.

7.5

Staff safety arrangements have been reviewed to have one consistent
approach across the Alliance. This safeguards both colleagues, who
are now aware if a customer poses additional risk and also customers
who have different needs that need to be met. The register is reviewed
quarterly to ensure that it remains up-to-date.

Page 213

7.6

An internal audit of the Council’s safeguarding requirements was
completed in January 2018, which concluded that the controls in place
provide satisfactory assurance that risks are being adequately
managed. The audit did not reveal any significant risks but highlighted
two medium level risks:


Both HPBC and SMDC have a ‘Recruitment and Selection
Procedure’ which had not been updated for some time, and
therefore did not adequately reflect current procedures e.g.
policy refers to Criminal Records Checks which are no longer
relevant and have been superseded by the Disclosure &
Barring Service (DBS).



A review of staff with access to the register of concerns
highlighted that Northgate staff have full access (read, modify
and delete access) to this information which is extremely
personal and sensitive. A review of staff with access to the
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) spreadsheet stored on
the Council’s network also highlighted staff who have full
access who do not required it as part of their role.

7.7

A revised Recruitment and Selection procedure has been produced and
will be considered by the Joint Consultative Committee in July 2018.
Access for Northgate staff has been reduced and now only the on-site
team have access to the folders for administrative purposes. Similarly,
access to the DBS database has also now been restricted.

7.8

One of the priorities of the Safer and Stronger Communities Strategy
Group has been support for vulnerable people. Work has included:


The partnership contracted ARCH to provide a domestic violence
worker to carry out joint welfare and safeguarding visits with
police officers following reports or Incidents of domestic violence
to:
 Reduce repeat incidents of domestic violence by increasing
the safety of victims and their children through improving
access to available support and advice.
 Increase confidence in the Police through a multi‐agency
approach that encourages victims to report incidents of
domestic violence and holds perpetrators to account.
 Improve the experience of the criminal justice system for
vulnerable victims of domestic violence and their children
through the presence of a specialist worker at welfare visits.
 A work club that aims to prevent re‐offending by offering
support to ex‐offenders to gain Employment. Places are also
offered to members of the Building Resilient Families and
Communities cohort with the aim of reducing Offending and
involvement in anti‐social behaviour, which helps to
safeguard the wider community.

Page 214













A theatre education programme to raise awareness of how to
identify different types of bullying, how to stop or prevent it and
where to go for support.
The Connected Youth project safeguards individuals vulnerable
to CSE. Connected Youth CIC raised awareness around the
growing concern of sexual exploitation/abuse through our
supportive detached project.
Engagement of young people by Sporting Communities through
a detached youth work model using sport and socialisation as a
means of changing behaviour and promoting a positive image of
young people, tackling more complex societal issues and
creating an opportunity for young people’s voices, aspirations
and needs to be captured and acted on locally.
A Sanctuary Scheme which aims to safeguard households at risk
of domestic abuse and violence to remain safely in their current
home, where suitable and appropriate, with security adaptation
measures and support.
The Safe & Sound Service to reduce victimisation and helps to
safeguard those affected by crime or live in fear of crime by
offering additional security measures in their own home.
Funding an Independent Sexual Violence Advisor to provide
immediate and appropriate responses to sexual violence,
including sexual abuse current and historic, sexual assault and
rape.
An event raising awareness of Modern Day Slavery amongst
partner agencies, Councillors and others.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

David Smith x4165

Page 215

This page is intentionally left blank

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Safeguarding Policy

(Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of Abuse and
Neglect Policy and Procedure)

Page 217

1

Contents
1.

Policy

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4

Introduction
Policy Statement
Principles
Summary of supporting documentation

2.

Procedure Guide

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5

Introduction
Definitions used within procedure
Recognition of abuse including bullying and neglect
Increased risk
Responding to disclosure, suspicions and allegations

Appendices
Appendix A

Guidance
1.
Recognising the signs of abuse
2.
Risk Factors
3.
Responding to disclosure: Dos and Don’ts
Appendix B1 Procedural Flow Chart (Children)
Appendix B2 Procedural flow Chart (Adults)
Appendix B3 Safeguarding Referral Form
Appendix C
Relevant Guidance and Legislation
Appendix D
Promoting Good Practice
Appendix E
Photographic Consent Form
Appendix F
Recruitment and Selection Considerations
Appendix G Telephone numbers for key contacts

Page 218

2

1.

Policy

1.1

Introduction

All children1 and adults with care and support needs who are at risk of abuse and
neglect2 have the right to live their lives to the fullest potential, to be protected, to
have the opportunity to participate in and enjoy any activity, and to be treated with
dignity and respect.
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has both a moral and legal obligation to
ensure a duty of care for children and adults across its services. We are committed
to ensuring that all children and adults are protected and kept safe from harm whilst
engaged in services organised and provided by the Council. We believe that
safeguarding is everybody’s responsibility.
The purpose of this policy and its associated procedures is to help protect all
children and adults including those living in our communities or accessing our
services and to protect Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, its staff, elected
members and volunteers.
1.2

Policy Statement and Scope

The scope of this policy is to understand the district/borough council legislative
framework, to outline the procedures to be followed and to identify the relevant
contacts in relation to safeguarding children and adults. The policy covers
Safeguarding Children and Adults.
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has a legal responsibility to safeguard,
promote wellbeing and protect children and adults.
We will aim to comply with our duties by:


Respecting and promoting the rights, wishes and feelings of children and adults.



Raising the awareness of the duty of care responsibilities relating to children and
adults throughout the Council.



Promoting and implementing appropriate procedures to safeguard the well-being
of children and adults to protect them from harm.

1

‘Children’ for the purposes of these guidelines are defined as those aged under 18 years.

2 The safeguarding duties apply to an adult who: has needs for care and support (whether or not the local

authority is meeting any of those needs) and; is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and as a result of
those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either the risk of, or the experience of abuse
or neglect. The adult experiencing, or at risk of abuse or neglect will hereafter be referred to as the adult
throughout this policy.

Page 219

3



Creating a safe and healthy environment within all our services, to protect all
parties and reduce the risk of abuse or allegations of abuse from occurring.



Recruiting, training, supporting and supervising staff, elected members and
volunteers to adopt best practice to safeguard and protect children and adults
from abuse, and to also minimise any risks to themselves.



Responding promptly to any suspicions or allegations of misconduct or
abuse of children or vulnerable adults in line with the Staffordshire
Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) inter-agency procedures for
safeguarding children and promoting their welfare and Staffordshire and
Stoke-on-Trent Adult Safeguarding Partnership (SSAP) adult safeguarding
procedures.



Requiring staff, elected members and volunteers to adopt and abide by the
Council’s Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of Abuse and Neglect Policy
and Procedures, codes of conduct and associated procedures.



Reviewing and evaluating this policy and procedure on an annual basis or in line
with best practice, changing legislation, organisational requirements and service
delivery.



Ensuring agencies or individuals acting on behalf of Staffordshire Moorlands
District Council who have contact with children, young people or adults are
subject to safer recruitment procedures. This is also applicable for when the
council is working in partnership with other private, voluntary or contracted
organisations and employees.

1.3

Principles

This policy and supporting procedures are based on the following principles


The welfare of children and adults is the primary concern.



All children and adults irrespective of their age, culture, disability, gender,
language, racial origin, socio-economic status, religious belief and/or sexual
orientation have the right to protection from abuse and harm.



It is everyone’s responsibility to act on any concerns about abuse in order that
children and adults are appropriately safeguarded.



All incidents of alleged poor practice, misconduct and abuse will be taken
seriously and responded to swiftly and appropriately.



All personal data will be processed in accordance with the requirements of
relevant data protection legislation.

Page 220

4

1.4

Supporting Documents/Legislation

This policy should be read in conjunction with a number of additional policies and
legislative documents, listed in Appendix B.
The major pieces of legislation and guidance are:















Children Act 1989;
Children Act 2004;
Care Act 2014;
Guidance to the Care Act 2014;
Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006;
Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998;
General Data Protection Regulation 2016;
European Convention of Human Rights;
Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2015;
Mental Capacity Act 2005;
Disclosure and Barring Service (formerly the Criminal Records Bureau (CRB)
and Independent Safeguarding Authority (ISA);
Staffordshire Safeguarding Children Board's inter-agency policies and
procedures for safeguarding children and promoting their welfare; and
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Adult Safeguarding Partnership InterAgency Procedures.

1.5

Responsibilities



The Council will appoint a senior manager to act as the Council’s designated
safeguarding officer (the Safeguarding Officer).
The Safeguarding Officer will nominate or make arrangements for an officer to
act as deputy safeguarding officer.
The Council will cooperate fully with safeguarding partnership arrangements
in the County.
The Council will audit and report on its compliance with this policy and
associated statutory duties.





Page 221

5

2.

Procedure Guide

2.1

Introduction

This set of procedures and guidelines sets out how Staffordshire Moorlands District
Council will implement the Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk of Abuse and
Neglect Policy. It is to be used by all staff that come into contact with those who fall
under the definition of the procedure, or those who are responsible for managing
services that affect these individuals or groups.
The procedure guide is intended to be used in conjunction with the policy document,
and other supporting individual service procedures (see appendices for detail).
2.2

Definitions used within the procedure



The term children or young person is used to refer to anyone under the age of
18 years in accordance with the Children Act 1989.



All the policies and procedures described within this document refer to adults
as well as children.



Adults at risk for the purposes of this procedure are an adult who: has needs
for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting any of those
needs) and: is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and as a result of
those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either the
risk of, or experience of abuse or neglect.



The term staff, elected members and volunteers is used to refer to employees,
district councillors, volunteers and anyone working on behalf of, delivering a
commissioned service for or representing the Council.

2.3

Recognition of Abuse including Neglect and Bullying

Important Rule
It is important to remember that many children and adults will exhibit some of these
signs and indicators at some time, and the presence of one or more should not be
taken as proof that abuse is occurring. There may well be other reasons for changes
in behaviour such as a death, or the birth of a new baby in the family, relationship
problems between parents/carers, etc. However, you should always report anything
that causes you to suspect that abuse may be happening in order for appropriate
action to be taken to ensure the welfare and safety of children and adults.

Page 222

6

Recognising Abuse
Recognising abuse is not easy, and it is not the responsibility of council staff, elected
members or volunteers to decide whether or not abuse has taken place or if there is
significant risk. The Council/authority has a responsibility to act if we think it may be
happening.
Abuse and neglect are forms of maltreatment of a child or adult. Somebody may
abuse a child or adult by inflicting harm, or by failing to act to prevent harm. Children
and adults may be abused in a family or in an institutional or community setting; by
those known to them or, more rarely, by a stranger for example via the internet.
They may also be abused by an adult or adults, or by another child or children.
Types and Signs of Abuse
Within the relevant legislation and or statutory guidance there are 4 known
categories of abuse identified for children and 10 categories of abuse noted for
adults.
Children
Physical, emotional (or psychological), sexual and neglect.
Adults
Physical, emotional (or psychological), sexual, neglect, financial, discriminatory,
organisational, domestic abuse, modern slavery and self-neglect.
More information on specific types of abuse, such as domestic abuse, child sexual
abuse, modern slavery, etc is provided below. Information on recognising the signs
of abuse is provided at Appendix A.
Other types of abuse
Domestic Violence and Abuse
The Home Office defines domestic violence and abuse as: “Any incident or pattern of
incidents of controlling3, coercive4 or threatening behaviour, violence or abuse
between those aged 16 or over who are or have been intimate partners or family
members regardless of gender or sexuality. This can encompass but is not limited to
the following types of abuse; psychological, physical, sexual, financial and/or
emotional”.

3

Controlling behaviour is: a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or dependent by isolating
them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving them of the
means needed for independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.
4

Coercive behaviour is: an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or
other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim.

Page 223

7

In all cases where there is knowledge or suspicion that there exists a potential for a
child or children to be suffering harm as a result of domestic violence and abuse,
then a referral should be made in accordance with the procedural flow chart provided
at Appendix B1. Telephone numbers for key contacts are provided at Appendix G.
Where it is thought that a victim of domestic violence and abuse meets the definition
of an adult at risk of abuse and neglect, then an Adult Protection referral should be
made in accordance with the procedural flow chart provided at Appendix B1.
Telephone numbers for key contacts are provided at Appendix G.
Hidden Harm
Children may be suffering from the effects of what is known as ‘hidden harm’ if they
live with parents or carers who are misusing drugs or alcohol. Children in these
situations may be acting as young carers or they may be subjected to any of the
forms of abuse described above. Separate policies and procedures for children living
with parents who misuse substances can be found on the SSCB website.
www.staffsscb.org.uk/Professionals/Procedures/Procedures.aspx
Child Sexual Exploitation
Child sexual exploitation is a form of sexual abuse. It occurs where an individual or
group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a
child or young person under the age of 18 into sexual activity (a) in exchange for
something the victim needs or wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage or
increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have been sexually
exploited even if the sexual activity appears consensual. Child sexual exploitation
does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur through the use of
technology. (DFE2017)
Children and Young people do not make informed choices to enter or remain
in sexual exploitation.
Rather, they do so from coercion, enticement,
manipulation, fear or desperation.
For further guidance see
www.staffsscb.org.uk/Professionals/Procedures/Procedures.aspx

Page 224

8

Forced Marriage
Forced marriage5 is a marriage without the full and free consent of both parties. It is
a form of domestic violence and an abuse of human rights. In an arranged marriage
the family will take the lead in arranging the match but the couples have a choice as
to whether to proceed. In forced marriage, one or both spouses do not (or, in the
case of some disabled young people and some adults, cannot) consent to the
marriage and some element of duress is involved.
Duress can include physical, psychological, sexual, financial and emotional
pressure.
It is important to note that the Mental Capacity Act does NOT allow for consent to
marry to be given on behalf of a person without capacity to make this decision for
themselves.
Female Genital Mutilation
Female genital mutilation (FGM) includes procedures that intentionally alter or cause
injury to the female genital organs for non-medical reasons. (World Health
Organisation, 2014). It is illegal in the UK.
FGM is known by a number of names including “female genital cutting”, “female
circumcision” or “initiation”. The term female circumcision suggests that the practice
is similar to male circumcision, but it bears no resemblance to male circumcision,
has serious health consequences and no medical benefits. FGM is also linked to
domestic abuse, particularly in relation to honour based violence.
For further guidance
http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/Professionals/Procedures/Section-Four/SectionFour-Docs/Section-4M-Female-Genital-Mutilation.pdf
Modern slavery
Modern slavery encompasses slavery, human trafficking, forced labour and domestic
servitude. Traffickers and slave masters use whatever means they have at their
disposal to coerce, deceive and force individuals into a life of abuse, servitude and
inhumane treatment.
The organised crime of human trafficking into the UK has become an issue of
considerable concern to all professionals with responsibility for the care and
protection of children and adults. Any form of trafficking humans is an abuse.
Trafficking of persons means the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or
receipt of persons, by means of the threat of, or use of coercion, abduction, fraud,
5

Research carried out by the then Department for Children, Schools and Families estimated that the
national prevalence of reported cases of forced marriage in England was between 5,000 and 8,000,
with the youngest victim being 2 years old and the oldest 76 years..

Page 225

9

deception, abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability. It also includes the giving
or receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having
control over another person, for the purpose of exploitation.
It is important to note that some cases involve UK-born people being trafficked within
the UK, e.g. people being trafficked from one town to another. The consent of the
victim of trafficking is irrelevant where any of the above methods have been used.
Trafficked people may be used for sexual exploitation, agricultural labour including
tending plants in illegal cannabis farms and benefit fraud. Children as well as adults
are trafficked.
If you have a concern regarding the possible trafficking of a person you should
immediately contact the Designated Safeguarding Officer or Deputy. Practitioners
should not do anything which would heighten the risk of harm or abduction to the
child or adult.
Race and Racism
People from black and minority groups (and their parents or carers) are potentially
likely to have experienced harassment, racial discrimination and institutional racism.
Although racism causes significant harm it is not, in itself, a category of abuse
(unless the victim meets the definition of an adult at risk of abuse and neglect, in
which case an appropriate referral should be made) and dealing with it is considered
under other specific policies of the Council and the District Community Safety
Partnership.
Hate Crime
The Association of Chief Police Officers6 (ACPO) and the Crown Prosecution
Service (CPS) have a nationally agreed definition of Hate Crime. Hate crimes are
taken to mean any crime where the perpetrator's hostility or prejudice against an
identifiable group of people is a factor in determining who is victimised. This is a
broad and inclusive definition. A victim does not have to be a member of the group.
In fact, anyone could be a victim of a hate crime.
The Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) and The Association of Chief Police Officers
(ACPO) have agreed 5 monitored strands of hate crime as set out below. A hate
crime is any criminal offence that is motivated by hostility or prejudice based upon
the victim's:






6

disability
race
religion or belief
sexual orientation
transgender identity

ACPO was replaced by the National Police Chiefs’ Council (NPCC) in 2015.

Page 226

10

Hate crime can take many forms including:
physical attacks such as physical assault, damage to property, offensive
graffiti and arson
threat of attack including offensive letters, abusive or obscene telephone calls,
groups hanging around to intimidate, and unfounded, malicious complaints
verbal abuse, insults or harassment - taunting, offensive leaflets and posters,
abusive gestures, dumping of rubbish outside homes or through letterboxes,
and bullying at school or in the workplace.





If the victim of a Hate Crime meets the definition of a adult at risk of abuse and
neglect, an Adult Protection referral should be made. See Appendix G for telephone
numbers for key contacts.
Safeguarding People who are Vulnerable to being drawn into Violent Extremism
and/or Terrorism
The current threat from terrorism in the United Kingdom can involve the exploitation
of vulnerable people, including children of all ages, young people and adults to
involve them in terrorism or activity in support of terrorism.
Violent Extremism is defined by the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) as: "The
demonstration of unacceptable behaviour by using any means or medium to express
views, which:


Encourage, justify or glorify terrorist violence in furtherance of particular
beliefs;



Seek to provoke others to terrorist acts;



Encourage other serious criminal activity or seek to provoke others to serious
criminal acts;



Foster hatred which might lead to inter-community violence in the UK."

There are a number of offences that can be considered when dealing with violent
extremism. They include offences arising through spoken words, creation of tapes
and videos of speeches, internet entries, chanting, banners and written notes and
publications.
The main offences employed to date have been soliciting murder and inciting racial
hatred.
The Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire Local Safeguarding Children Boards and the
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Adult Safeguarding Partnership Board recognise
the need to protect people against the messages of all violent extremism including
that linked to Far Right / Neo Nazi / White Supremacist, Al Qaeda ideologies, Irish

Page 227

11

Nationalist and Loyalist paramilitary groups, and that linked to Animal Rights
movements.
http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/Professionals/Procedures/Section-Six/Section-Six-Docs/Section6L-Staffordshire-and-Stoke-on-Trent-LSCB-and-SSASPB-Prevent-Channel-Guidance.docx

2.4

Reducing the risk of abuse

The Council will seek to limit the situations where the abuse of children and
vulnerable adults may occur, by promoting good practice to all staff, elected
members, volunteers and the Council’s agents. Appendix A:2 provides more
information on the risk factors for abuse, Appendix C lists relevant guidance and
legislation and Appendix D provides information on good practice when working with
children and adults at risk of abuse and neglect.
2.5

Responding to Disclosure, Suspicions and Allegations

Council employees/ elected members/ volunteers or agents of the Council may come
across cases of suspected abuse either through direct or indirect contact with
children and adults, for example, running a holiday activity, or for peripatetic staff
visiting homes as part of their day to day work. It is not an employee’s/ elected
members/ volunteer’s or Council agent’s responsibility to decide whether or not a
child or adult has been abused. It is however their responsibility to act immediately
on any such suspicions and report their concerns and to ensure any relevant
information is passed to the appropriate person or organisation.
2.5.1 Responding to Disclosure
Abused children and adults are more likely to disclose details of abuse to someone
they trust and with whom they feel safe. By listening and taking seriously what the
child or adult is saying employees/ elected members/ volunteers are already helping
the situation. Appendix A:3 provides information on responding to disclosure
including “do’s” and “don’ts” points to help employees to respond appropriately.
2.5.2 Responding to Concerns
It is the responsibility of the individual employee, elected member, volunteer or
Council agent to take action where there are safeguarding concerns.
If any employee, elected member or volunteer has any concerns regarding a child or
adult who they think is being abused it is important for them to act immediately. All
concerns must be shared with the Designated Safeguarding Officer. If this person is
not available, either because they are on annual leave or off sick then any concerns
should be discussed with a nominated deputy who will take responsibility for
safeguarding when the designated lead is unavailable.
The Designated Safeguarding Officer/ Deputy should also ensure that the employee
reporting the incident is reassured that their concerns are being appropriately
addressed and that they have access to staff support if needed.

Page 228

12

The employee, elected member or volunteer must make a record of the concern, this
should include











The date and time;
The child or adult’s name, address and date of birth;
The nature of the allegation;
A description of any visible injuries;
Observations – e.g. a description of the child or adult’s behaviour and physical
and emotional state;
What the child or adult said and what was said in reply. Please record this as
accurately as possible, using their choice of language;
Any action taken as a result of the concerns being raised e.g. who was
spoken to and resulting actions. Include names, addresses and telephone
numbers;
Sign and date what has been recorded;
Store the information in accordance with relevant procedures, e.g. Data
Protection; and
Report to and inform your line manager and/or the Council’s Safeguarding
Officer/Deputy.

Actions to be taken by Designated Officer/Deputy


Where concerns meet the threshold for significant harm a referral must be
made to Staffordshire Children’s Social Care’s First Response Team based at
the MASH on 0800 1313126 (between 8.00 am and 5.00 pm and 4.30 pm
on a Friday) or via a brief e-mail firstr@staffordshire.gov.uk with your contact
details (please note this should not include any confidential details about a
child or young person) and explain the need for an urgent response due to a
child protection concern. The referral must be followed up in writing within
48 hours (the address is written on the multi agency referral form).



Where concerns do not meet the threshold for significant harm the Local
Support Team should be contacted for advice



To make an Adult Protection referral advice should be sought from the
Contact Centre 0845 604 2719.



Outside of 8.00 am and 5.00 pm any concerns relating to a child should be
directed to Staffordshire County Council Emergency Duty Service on 0845
6042886.

Where there is evidence of immediate harm then the employee, elected
member, volunteer or Council agent should phone 999 and report the incident
to the Police.
Where there is any possibility that a criminal act may have been committed
care should be taken not to take any action that may jeopardise any
subsequent criminal investigation.

Page 229

13

If the child lives outside of Staffordshire but accesses services within Staffordshire,
the referral must be made to the area in which the child resides.
2.5.3 Consent
Whilst trained (at Level 2) Council staff should in general discuss any concerns with
the child and family and where possible seek their agreement to making referrals to
Staffordshire Children’s Social Care Services, this should only be done where such
discussion and agreement-seeking will not place the child or others at increased risk
of suffering significant harm. Staff who have not received specific training in risk
assessment should not seek consent but should refer their concerns to the
Designated Safeguarding Officer/ Deputy. The Safeguarding Officer/Deputy will
consider whether consent should be gained.
Consent is not required for referrals that meet the threshold for significant harm.
Consent is not required for adult protection referrals; however it is good practice to
gain consent if possible. If the adult lacks capacity to make a decision to share the
information for themselves, a decision can be taken in their best interests about
whether this is appropriate.
2.5.4 Responding to allegations against Staff and Volunteers
It is essential that any concerns for the welfare of a child arising from abuse or
harassment by a member of staff or a volunteer should be reported IMMEDIATELY
to the Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer/ Deputy and the Human Resources
Manager.
If a child or children have suffered or be at risk of suffering significant harm the
Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer/ Deputy will contact First Response and
speak to the Staffordshire LADO (Local Authority Designated Officer)
If the matter does not meet the threshold for significant harm the Council’s
Designated Safeguarding Officer/ Deputy will contact First Response and speak to
the LADO within 24 hours
The LADO is a statutory role in relation to allegations against children7. They
provide an ‘Initial Discussion’ which allows for the giving of advice and guidance
relating to the most appropriate way of managing the allegation or concern, and most
importantly will help establish what the ‘next steps’ should be in terms of
investigating the matter further.
The LADO will liaise with police and children’s social care safeguarding teams when
appropriate, and also discuss with the Designated Safeguarding Lead or Deputy
other issues such as – notifying the child’s parents/carers; suspending the adult;
risks to other children; communication with relevant other organizations/bodies;
supporting the adult and possible media interest. The LADO will also monitor the
7

As defined in Working Together 2013, Chapter 2, page 48

Page 230

14

progress of an investigation and assist an employer in the taking of any difficult
judgments about a person’s suitability to remain in the children’s workforce.
If the allegation is in respect of abuse or harassment of an adult, the Council’s
Designated Safeguarding Officer/Deputy will make a referral.
Detailed procedures and guidance relating to the management of allegations against
people who work with children are contained within the following documents:
•

Working Together to Safeguarding Children (2015) Chapter 2

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41959
5/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf
•

SSCB inter-agency procedures: Section 4A

http://www.staffsscb.org.uk/Professionals/Procedures/Section-Four/Section-FourDocs/Section-4-A-Managing-Allegations-of-Abuse-against-a-Person-who-Workswith-Children.pdf
Support for the Referrer
The Council will fully support and protect all elected members/ employees/volunteers
who, in good faith (without malicious intent), make a referral about a colleague who
may be abusing a child or adult and report his or her concern about a colleague’s
practice.
This support may take the form of counselling through the Council’s service, moving
the person reporting the abuse / potential abuse to another workplace temporarily
whilst the incident is investigated. The Council also has a whistle blowing procedure
which a referrer can follow if there are reasons why the standard procedures for
dealing with allegations make them feel particularly vulnerable, or if they consider
their concerns are not being acted upon appropriately. However, all elected
members/ employees/ volunteers have a duty to safeguard and promote the welfare
of children and adults and in order to investigate concerns robustly it may not be
possible to maintain complete anonymity, but the interests of the referrer will be
protected when concerns are raised.
Disclosure
Any staff member, elected member or volunteer who becomes the subject of a police
investigation in relation to physical or sexual offences against adults or children, or
are charged with such a criminal offence, must inform the Head of Human
Resources. Staff must disclose any convictions, cautions, court orders, reprimands
and warnings which may affect their suitability to work with children whether received
before, or during their employment at the organisation. The Head of Human
Resources will discuss any potential safeguarding matters with the LADO and any
required action will be agreed.

Page 231

15

Types of Investigation
There may be a number of strands to a child or adult protection investigation e.g.
professional strategy meetings, child protection conferences and core groups,
criminal investigations joint evaluation meetings (under Staffordshire LADO
procedures) as well as disciplinary investigations. Elected members/ employees/
volunteers may need to be involved as witnesses, holders of key information, or in
regard to ongoing processes around protection and welfare.

Page 232

16

APPENDIX A:

GUIDANCE

GUIDANCE 1. RECOGNISING THE SIGNS OF ABUSE
Please note that the tabled examples and signs detailed below may also be indicators of other medical factors
and may not necessarily confirm abuse and neglect. These tables are provided as a guide to help Council staff,
elected members, volunteers or agents to recognise the signs of abuse and to help them decide whether
concerns should be raised.

PHYSICAL ABUSE
Examples include
 Shaking
 Pinching
 Slapping
 Force-feeding
 Biting
 Burning or Scalding.
 Causing needless physical discomfort
Inappropriate restraint
 Locking someone in a room

Signs include
 Unexplained bruising, marks or
injuries on any part of the body
 Frequent visits to the GP or A&E
 An injury inconsistent with the
explanation offered
 Fear of parents or carers being
approached for an explanation
 Aggressive behaviour or severe
temper outbursts
 Flinching when approached
 Reluctance to get changed or wearing
long sleeves in hot weather
 Depression




Withdrawn
behaviour
or
other
behaviour change
Running away from home/ residential
care
Distrust of adults, particularly those
with whom a close relationship would
normally be expected

EMOTIONAL/PSYCHOLOGICAL ABUSE
Examples include
Signs include
 Intimidation and/or threats
 A failure to thrive or grow
 Bullying
 Sudden speech disorders
 Rejection
 Developmental delay, either in terms
of physical or emotional progress
 Shouting
 Indifference and the withdrawal of  Behaviour change
 Being unable to play or socialise with
approval
others
 Denial of choice

Fear of making mistakes
 Deprivation of dignity or privacy
 Self harm
 The denial of human and civil rights

Page 233

17

 Harassment

 Being made to fear for one’s well
being


Fear of parent or carer being
approached regarding their behaviour
Confusion

SEXUAL ABUSE
Examples include
 Rape and other sexual offences
 For adults, sexual activity including
sexual contact and non-sexual contact
that the person does not want, to
which they have not consented, could
not consent, or were pressured into
consenting to.
 Being encouraged or enticed to touch
the abuser
 Coercing the victim into watching or
participating in pornographic videos,
photographs, or internet images
 Any sexual relationship that develops
where one is in a position of trust,
power or authority

Signs include
 Pain or itching in the genital/anal
areas
 Bruising or bleeding near genital/anal
areas
 Sexually transmitted disease
 Vaginal discharge or infection
 Stomach pains
 Discomfort when walking or sitting
down
 Pregnancy
 Sudden or unexplained changes in
behaviour, e.g. becoming aggressive
or withdrawn
 Fear of being left with a specific
person or group of people
 Nightmares
 Leaving home
 Sexual knowledge which is beyond
their age or development age
 Sexual drawings or language
 Bedwetting
 Saying they have secrets they cannot
tell anyone about
 Self harm or mutilation, sometimes
leading to suicide attempts
 Eating problems such as overeating
or anorexia

NEGLECT
Examples include
Signs include
 Withholding help or support necessary  Constant hunger, sometimes stealing
to carry out daily living tasks
food from others
 Dirty or ‘smelly’
 Ignoring medical and physical care  Loss of weight, or being constantly
needs
underweight

Inappropriate
dress for the weather
 Failing to provide access to health,
 Complaining of being tired all the time
social or educational support
 Not requesting medical assistance

Page 234

18

 The withholding
of
nutrition and heating

medication,



 Keeping someone in isolation.

 Failure to intervene in situations that 
are dangerous to the
person
Inadequate supervision and guidance 
– leaving the child to cope alone, 
abandoning them or leaving them with 
inappropriate carers and failing to 
provide appropriate boundaries about 
behaviours such as under age sex or 
alcohol.






and/or failing to attend appointments
Having few friends
Worsening of health conditions
Pressure sores
Mentioning their being left alone or
unsupervised
Sore or extreme nappy rash
Skin infections
Lack of response to stimuli or contact
Poor skin condition(s)
Frozen watchfulness
Anxiety
Distressed
Child moves away from parent under
stress
Little or no distress when separated
from primary carer
Inappropriate emotional responses
Language delay

Self-Neglect (Adults)
Examples Include

Signs include

 can sometimes be as a result of a
person’s choice of lifestyle and covers
a wide range of behaviour including
 Little or no personal care
 Refusing medication or refusing to
stay on medication
 Disorientated or incoherent
 Unsafe living conditions & hoarding
 Inability to manage finances and
property
 Isolation
 Hoarding when it becomes extreme
(including animal hoarding). In these
circumstances there is no abuser.

 poor grooming, dirty or ragged
clothes, unclean skin and fingernails.
 unwilling to accept medical care.
 unable to focus, carry on normal
conversation
or
answer
basic
questions about date, place, and time.
 Lack of food or basic utilities in the
home, unclean living quarters,
rodents or other vermin.
 Hoarding animals or trash, inability to
get rid of unneeded items.
 Inability to manage finances and
property: not paying bills, repeatedly
borrows money, gives money or
property away.
 Little contact with family or friends, no
social support.
 Living
in
grossly
unsanitary
conditions.
 Suffering from untreated illness or
disease/condition.
 Suffering from over or under eating to
the extent that if untreated the adult’s
physical or mental health could be
impaired.
 Creating a hazardous situation that

Page 235

19

would likely cause serious physical
harm to the adult or cause substantial
loss of assets

FINANCIAL ABUSE
Examples include
 Being over charged for services
 Being tricked into receiving goods or
services that they do not want or
need
 Inappropriate use, exploitation, or
misappropriation of property and/or
utilities
 Theft
 Deception
 Fraud
 Exploitation or pressure in connection
with wills

Signs include
 Lack of basic requirements e.g. food,
clothes, shelter
 Inability to pay bills.
 Unexplained
withdrawals
from
accounts.
 Inconsistency between standard of
living and income
 Reluctance to take up assistance
which is needed
 Unusual interest by family and other
people in the person’s assets
 Recent changes in deeds
 Power of Attorney obtained when
person lacks capacity to make the
decision.

DISCRIMINATORY
Examples
 Use of inappropriate “nick names”
 Use
derogatory
language
or
terminology
 Enforcing rules or procedures which
undermine the individual’s well being
 Denial to follow one’s religion
 Lack of appropriate food
 Denial of opportunity to develop
relationships
 Denial of health care.

Signs
 Being treated unequally from other users
in terms of the provision of care, treatment
or services
 Being isolated
 Derogatory language and attitude by
carers
 Dismissive language by staff
 Hate campaigns by neighbours or others
 Deteriorating health
 Indicators of other forms of abuse

ORGANSATIONAL ABUSE
Examples

Signs

Page 236

20






Service users required to ‘fit in’
excessively to the routine of the
service
More than one individual is being
neglected
Everyone is treated in the same way
Other forms of abuse on an
institutional scale













Inflexible daily routines, for example:
set bedtimes and/or deliberate waking
Dirty clothing and bed linen
Lack of personal clothing and
possessions
Inappropriate use of nursing and
medical procedures
Lack of individualised care plans and
failure to comply with care plans
Inappropriate use of power, control,
restriction or confinement
Failure to access health care,
dentistry services etc
Inappropriate use of medication.
Misuse of residents’ finances or
communal finances
Dangerous moving and handling
practices
Failure to record incidents or
concerns

Page 237

21

GUIDANCE 2

RISK FACTORS

RISKS THAT INCREASE THE LIKELIHOOD OF ABUSE HAPPENING

There are certain situations and factors that put people at particular risk of abuse.
If one or more of these factors are present, it does not mean that abuse will occur
but it will increase the risk:
 Isolation.
 Living in the same household as an abuser.
 A previous history of abuse.
 The existence of financial problems.
 A member of the household experiences emotional or social isolation.
 Inappropriate physical or emotional environment e.g. lack of privacy and/ or
personal space.
 Where there has been a change of lifestyle e.g. illness, unemployment or
employment.
 Dependence on others for personal and practical care.
 Where a person is dependent on other people to administer money or where
several people manage their money.
 Where the vulnerable person exhibits difficult and challenging behaviour.
 The carer has difficulties such as debt, alcohol or mental health problems.
 Poor leadership in care services.
 Unmonitored provision of care e.g. where reviews or inspections do not take
place.
 Failure to comply with standard operating policies and procedures.
INCREASED RISK TO VULNERABLE CHILDREN
There are many issues that may contribute to child abuse, but some factors
increase the risk to children and make them more vulnerable to abuse. They can
be found in the background of parents, in the environmental situation and in
attributes of the child themselves.
Parental factors:










Parent has a mental illness
Parent is misusing drugs or alcohol
Parent has already abused a child
Parent has previously had children removed
Unwanted pregnancy/terminations
Parent has a background of abuse when growing up
Parents have unrealistic expectations of the child and lack parenting
knowledge
Parent is isolated and has little support
Parent has a learning difficulty/ disability

Page 238

22

Environmental factors:






Overcrowding in the house
Poverty or lack of opportunity to improve the family’s resources
Domestic abuse is present
A non biological adult (i.e. unrelated) living in the house
Family is experiencing multiple stresses

Child factors:









Baby is sickly, colicky or unwanted
Child has a physical or learning disability
Lack of attachment between child and parent
Child resides in care, particularly residential
Child is excluded from mainstream school
Child uses drugs/ alcohol
Child goes missing
Child is living in private fostering arrangements

Page 239

23

GUIDANCE 3

Responding to disclosure: Dos and Don’ts

Dos

Don’ts

 React calmly so as not to frighten
them
 Take what the person says seriously,
recognising the difficulties inherent in
interpreting what is being said by a
person who has for example a speech
impairment and / or differences in
language
 Avoid asking leading or direct
questions other than those seeking to
clarify your understanding of what the
person has said. They may be
subsequently formally interviewed by
the Police and/or Children’s Social
Care Services (CSC) and they should
not have to repeat their account on
several occasions. The first person
told may become at witness at court if
they have asked/gained direct relevant
information.
 Reassure the child or adult at risk of
abuse and neglect that they are right
to tell.
 Explain to them that concerns may
have to be shared with someone who
is in a position to act.
 Make a written record of what has
been disclosed at the earliest
opportunity.



Dismiss the concern



Panic



Allow your shock or distaste to show



Probe for more information than is
offered



Speculate or make assumptions



Make negative comments about the
alleged abuser



Make promises or agree to keep
secrets



Ask the child, young person, adult at
risk of abuse and neglect or any
witnesses to sign your written
information as this may be
significantly detrimental to any
subsequent police investigation



Take photographs of any alleged
injuries. Any such recording must
only be done by an approved medical
or other practitioner, following referral.

Page 240

24

APPENDIX B1

Responding to Concerns About a Child

Staff member has concerns about a child?

Is the child in immediate harm or danger,
or requiring medical attention?
NO

YES
Phone
999

Are you worried that a child is
suffering significant harm or
abuse or living in circumstances
where maltreatment is resulting
in a lack of safe & effective
care, or causing impairment to
health development

YES

NO

Are you concerned about a
child or young person’s
general wellbeing or welfare?

Have you been authorised to
make referrals directly?
YES

NO

Make referral and
notify Designated
Safeguarding
Officer /Deputy

YES

Complete SMDC
Referral Form
Report to the
Council’s Designated
Safeguarding
Officer/Deputy.
Designated Officer
makes an referral
immediately

NO

Complete SMDC
Referral Form
Contact the Council’s
Designated
Safeguarding Officer
/Deputy

No
further
action

Complete Council on-line
recording form

Record actions on
Reporting Form

Page 241

25

APPENDIX B2

Responding to Concerns about an Adult
Staff member has a concern about a vulnerable adult?

Is the vulnerable adult in immediate
harm or danger,
or requiring medical attention?

YES

NO
Phone
999

Has the vulnerable adult been
abused or come to harm as a
result of an intentional or
unintentional act or a failure to
act?

YES
Make referral and
notify Designated
Safeguarding Officer
/Deputy

YES

NO

Have you been authorised to
make referrals directly?

NO
Are you concerned about a
vulnerable adult’s general
wellbeing or welfare?

Complete SMDC referral form
Report to the Council’s Designated
Safeguarding Officer/Deputy.
Designated Officer makes an Adult
Protection Referral immediately

Complete Council on-line
recording form

Complete SMDC Referral
Form
Contact Designated
Safeguarding Officer
/Deputy
Record actions on
recording Form

Page 242

NO

No
further
action

26

The Council’s policy is that staff who have safeguarding concerns about a child or an
adult at risk of abuse and neglect would report them to the designated safeguarding
officer. Where there is risk of immediate harm the policy states that staff should
immediately call the police.
It is, however, recognised that certain Council services frequently deal with
vulnerable children and adults and that staff members in these services are (i)
trained and familiar with safeguarding and vulnerable adult procedures and (ii) have
the skills to make decisions about appropriate referral routes or other actions.
Appropriate staff members may, therefore, be authorised by the Designated
Safeguarding Officer to be able to make (1) a vulnerable adult referral or (2) a child
or adult safeguarding referral or (3) or to initiate other appropriate action without first
contacting the Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer or Deputy. The following
safeguards will be put in place:










The Designated Safeguarding Officer will keep a list of authorised staff and
services.
These staff must have appropriate (level 2) training.
As soon as practicable the Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer/Deputy
will be informed of any referral.
Peer or manager support must be available to authorised staff so that they
have access to advice or support where cases are complex.
Authorised staff can call an internal Council case review meeting where input
is required from a variety of staff to consider an appropriate course of action.
A standard form will be violable to record key facts, judgements,
decisions/actions and responsibilities.
Safeguarding will regularly feature as part of the one to one review between
individual authorised staff and their line manager.
An appropriate record will be kept using a system approved by the
Designated Safeguarding Officer.
An audit of these cases will be undertaken and overseen by the Designated
safeguarding Officer to ensure the quality of decisions and actions.

Page 243

27

Appendix B3

Safeguarding Referral Form

DETAILS OF PERSON CONCERNED
IFTHERE IS AN IMMEDIATE RISK OF HARM THE POLICE MUST BE NOTIFIED
Name
Address of Property
Date of Birth (or approximate age if known)
Tenure Type if known

1) SITUATION GIVING CONCERN
(PLEASE INCLUDE AS MUCH DETAIL AS POSSIBLE INCLUDING DATES/TIMES/WITNESSES ETC)
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

SPECIFIC CONCERNS/AREAS OF POTENTIAL ABUSE
Is the person at risk from themselves/others

…………………………………………………….

If others, who? …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
Is there potential abuse? If so which categories:1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Physical
Sexual
Psychological
Financial
Neglect
Discriminatory
High Risk of Abuse/Neglect

Tenancy start Date

Page 244
Sole or Joint tenancy?

28

CONT’D ………
If the risk is from themselves, are there particular triggers?

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
Are other agencies involved?

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
Is the individual aware a referral is being considered? …………………………………………

FORM COMPLETED BY:(name) ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
(title) …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
(date) ……………………………………………….…

(time) ……………………………………………

IF THE PERSON COMPLETING THIS FORM IS NOT DESIGNATED TO MAKE A SAFERGUARDING/VULNERABLE
ADULTS DETERMINATION THEY SHOULD PASS IT IMMEDIATELY TO THE APPROPRIATE PERSON FOR THEIR
BUSINESS AREA
NOTE IN THIS SECTION IF THE CASE IS TO BE PASSED AS EITHER SAFEGUARDING OR VULNERABLE ADULT
AND/OR NOTE THE NEXT STEPS TO BE TAKEN AND BY WHOM
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
(name) ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
(title) …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
(date) ……………………………………………….…

(time) ……………………………………………

Page 245

29

APPENDIX C

Guidance and Legislation

The Children Act 1989 – provides legislation to ensure that the welfare and
developmental needs of children are met, including their need to be protected from
harm. The welfare of the child is paramount.
The Children Act 2004 – Section 11 places a duty on all organisations to ensure
that their functions are discharged with regard to the need to safeguard and promote
the welfare of children. The Act offered the legislative framework for the
implementation of the five Every Child Matters principles which are considered to be
integral to achieving positive outcomes and life chances for all children and young
people form birth into adulthood. These principles are:






Be healthy
Staying safe
Enjoying and achieving
Making a positive contribution
Achieving economic wellbeing

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013, 2010, 2006, 1999 - This statutory
guidance as revised by the government in 2013 details the roles and responsibilities
of all agencies with the aim of promoting effective working together to promote the
welfare and safety of children. To view the 2013 Working Together to Safeguard
Children statutory guidance please go to; www.education.gov.uk
Inter-agency procedures for safeguarding children and promoting their welfare in
Staffordshire are available on line at www.staffsscb.org.uk.
The “No Secrets” guidance is available at:
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsP
olicyAndGuidance/DH_4008486
Care Standards Act 2000 – this Act details the statutory responsibility for all
agencies to ensure the protection of vulnerable adults. In summary this Act –


establishes a new, independent regulatory body for social care and private
and voluntary healthcare services (“care services”) in England to be known as
the National Care Standards Commission;



provides for an arm of the National Assembly for Wales to be the regulatory
body for such services in Wales;



establishes new, independent Councils to register social care workers, set
standards in social care work and regulate the education and training of social
workers in England and Wales;



establishes an office of the Children’s Commissioner for Wales;



reforms the regulation of childminders and day care provision for young
children;



provides for the Secretary of State to maintain a list of individuals who are
considered unsuitable to work with vulnerable adults.

Page 246

30

The Mental Capacity Act provides a framework to empower and protect people who
may lack capacity to make some decisions for themselves. The Act makes clear
who can take decisions in which situations, and how they should go about this.
Anyone who works with or cares for an adult who lacks capacity must comply with
the MCA when making decisions or acting for that person. This applies whether
decisions are life changing events or more every day matters and is relevant to
adults of any age, regardless of when they lost capacity.
Interagency Procedures for Adult Protection in Staffordshire can be found at
http://preview.staffordshirecares.info/StayingSafeintheCommunity/Stopabuseofadults
.aspx
There is a wide range of associated legislation and guidance available, see the
Office of Public Sector Information for more information (www.opsi.gov.uk)

Page 247

31

APPENDIX D
1.

Promoting Good Practice with Children and Vulnerable
Adults

Code of Conduct for the Protection of Children and Vulnerable Adults

It is possible to limit the situations where the abuse of children and vulnerable adults
may occur, by promoting good practice to all staff, elected members and volunteers.
This code of conduct details the type of practice required by all employees, elected
members and volunteers when in contact with children or vulnerable adults.
Suspicions or allegations of non-compliance of the Code by a member of staff will be
dealt with through the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure. The Council will also expect
contractors or organisations working as its agent to operate in accordance with this
code.
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council supports and requires the following good
practice by employees, members and volunteers when in contact with children and
vulnerable adults.
Dos
When working with children and vulnerable adults all parties should:


Adhere to the children, young people and vulnerable adult’s policy at all times.



Treat all children and vulnerable adults equally, with respect and dignity



Be an excellent role model including not smoking or drinking alcohol in the
company of children and vulnerable adults



Ensure that personal care is delivered in a dignified manner that meets the
needs of the individual.



Involve parents, guardians and carers wherever possible



Build balanced relationships on mutual trust that empower children and
vulnerable adults to share in the decision making process

2.

Social Networking sites.

Employees shall work to the Council’s policies and procedures, including:






Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection policy
Code of Conduct
Whistle blowing
Safer Recruitment
Bullying and Harassment

Page 248

32

3.

First Aid and Treatment of Injuries

If a child or vulnerable adult requires first aid or any form of medical attention whilst
in the care of an employee, then the following good practice should be followed:


Be aware of any pre-existing medical conditions, medicines being taken by
participants or existing injuries and treatment required.



Keep a written record of any injury that occurs, along with the details of any
treatment given



Where possible, ensure access to medical advice and / or assistance is
available



Only those with a current, recognised First Aid qualification should respond to
any injuries



Where possible any course of action should be discussed with the
child/vulnerable adult, in language that they understand, and their permission
sought before any action is taken



In more serious cases, assistance must be obtained from a medically qualified
professional as soon as possible



The child’s or vulnerable adult’s parents/guardians or carers must be informed
of any injury and any action taken as soon as possible, unless it is in the
child’s or vulnerable adult’s interests and on professional advice not to do so.



A notification of accident form must be completed and signed and passed to
the Health and Safety Officer.

4.

For Transporting Children and Vulnerable Adults Away From Home

If it is necessary to provide transport to take children or vulnerable adults away from
home or school the following good practice must be followed:


Where practical request written parental/guardian consent if members of staff
are required to transport children or vulnerable adults



Always tell another member of staff that a child or vulnerable adult is being
transported, giving details of the route and the anticipated length of the
journey



Never transport a child or vulnerable adult unaccompanied, other than in
exceptional circumstances. Plan pick ups and drop offs to minimise the risk of
being alone with a child or vulnerable adult.



Ensure all vehicles are correctly insured and well maintained.

Page 249

33



Ensure drivers hold current, appropriate driving licenses, and have undergone
training as appropriate (e.g. minibus driving, use of wheelchair hoist)



All reasonable safety measures must be taken, e.g. children in the back seat
behind the driver, seatbelts worn and booster seats in place



Ensure where possible at least one male and one female accompany mixed
groups of children or vulnerable adults. These adults should be familiar with
and agree to abide by the Council’s Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection
Policy and Procedures



Always plan and prepare a detailed programme of activities and ensure
copies are available for other staff and parents/guardians

5.

Use of Contractors

Contractors or organisations acting as agents of the Council must comply with the
principles set out in:




The Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 as amended by the Protection
of Freedoms Act 2012.
The Department for Education ‘Revised guidance on safeguarding children
and safer recruitment in education (2010).
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Checks: Policy and Guidance for
service providers and CQC staff (July 2011).

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and its employees, elected members and
volunteers should undertake reasonable care that contractors doing work on behalf
of the Council are monitored appropriately. Service Level Agreements or contracts
in place for these contractors should therefore specify this requirement.
Any contractor or sub-contractor engaged by the Council in areas where workers are
likely to come into contact with children or vulnerable adults8 and take part in
‘regulated activity9’ (as defined within the new definition with effect from September
2012) must have an appropriate DBS check.

8

The DBS definition of regulated activity relating to adults no longer labels adults as ‘vulnerable’. Instead the
definition identifies the activities which, if any requires them, lead to that adult being considered vulnerable at
that particular time. This means that the focus is on the activities required by the adult and not on the setting in
which the activity is received, nor on the personal characteristics or circumstances of the adult receiving the
activities. There is no longer a requirement for a person to do the activities a certain number of times before they
are engaging in regulated activity. Further guidance is on the DBS website: www.gov.uk/disclosure-barringservice
9

The full definition of regulated activity is set out in Schedule 4 of the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006,
as amended (in particular, by the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012). Further information can be found at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/143666/eligibility-guidance.pdf

Page 250

34

There are five types of check that are available. Further guidance is provided on the
DBS website (www.gov.uk/disclosure-barring-service) to enable employers to
establish, which, if any, level of check is required. The checks that are available are:
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Children) - used when someone
is undertaking regulated activity relating to children. This check involves a
check of the police national computer, police information and the children’s
barred list.
Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Adults) - used when someone is
undertaking regulated activity relating to adults. This check involves a check
of the police national computer, police information and the adults barred list.
Enhanced Check for Regulated Activity (Children and Adults) - used
when someone is undertaking regulated activity relating to both children and
adults. This check involves a check of the police national computer, police
information and the children’s and adults barred list.
Enhanced DBS Check - used where someone meets the pre September
2012 definition of regulated activity. This level of check involves a check of the
police national computer and police information.
Standard DBS Check - used primarily for people entering certain professions
such as: members of the legal and accountancy professions. Standard DBS
checks just involve a check of the police national computer and do not include
a check of police information or the children’s or adults barred lists.

Where there is potential for contact with children or vulnerable adults it is the
responsibility of the manager who is using the services of the contractor (the Client)
to check that the correct Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check has been
satisfactorily completed.
6.

Guidelines on Children and Vulnerable Adults in Publications and on the
Internet

Websites and publications provide excellent opportunities to publicise achievements
of individuals and provide a showcase for the activities of children and vulnerable
adults. In some cases, however, displaying certain information about children and
vulnerable adults could place them at risk.
The following procedure must be followed to ensure the Council’s publications and
information on the internet does not place children or vulnerable adults at risk.


Publications or information on an internet site must never include personal
information that could identity the child or vulnerable adult. Any contact
information must be directed to the Council or another relevant organisation.



Before publishing any information about a child or vulnerable adult, written
consent must be obtained from the child or vulnerable adult’s parent /
guardian. If the material is changed from the time of consent, the
parents/guardians must be informed and consent provided for the changes.

Page 251

35



The content of photographs or videos must not depict a child or vulnerable
adult in provocative pose or in a state of partial undress. Children and
vulnerable adults must never be portrayed in a demeaning or tasteless
manner.



For photographs or videos of groups or teams of children or vulnerable adults
ensure that only the group or team is referred to not individual members.
Credit for achievements by an individual child or vulnerable adult are to be
restricted to first names only.



All published events involving children or vulnerable adults must be reviewed
to ensure the information will not put children or vulnerable adults at risk. Any
publications of specific meetings or child/vulnerable adult events e.g. team
coaching sessions, must not be distributed to any individuals other than to
those directly concerned.



Particular care must be taken when publishing photographs, film or videos of
children or vulnerable adults who are considered particularly vulnerable e.g.
the subject of a child or vulnerable adult protection issue or a custody dispute.

Important Note: Any concerns or enquiries about publications or internet information
should be reported to the Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer/ Deputy.
7.

Guidelines on Use of Photography, Videoing and Filming of Children
and Vulnerable Adults – (Including Mobile Phone Technology)

There is evidence that some individuals have used public events as an opportunity to
take inappropriate photographs or film footage of children. The following best
practice is to be adopted to protect children and vulnerable adults who are being
photographed or videoed.


When commissioning professional photographers or inviting the press to
cover Council services, events and activities organisers must ensure that they
make expectations clear in relation to child and vulnerable adult protection.



Organisers must check the credentials of any photographers and
organisations used.



Where possible the consent of the parent/guardian for photographing,
videoing and / or filming or a child or vulnerable adult must be obtained prior
to the event or activity.



Where possible anyone wishing to use photographic/film/video equipment at a
venue must obtain the approval of the Council.



An activity or event specific identification badge/sticker must be provided and
clearly displayed at all times by the accredited photographers, film and video
operators on the day of the activity or event.

Page 252

36



Unsupervised access must not be allowed to children or vulnerable adults or
one to one photographic sessions.



Do not allow photographic sessions outside of the activities or services, or at a
child or vulnerable adult’s home.



It is recommended that the names of children or vulnerable adults should not
be used in photographs or video footage, unless with the express permission
of the child or vulnerable adult’s parent or guardian.



The Council reserves the right at all times to prohibit the use of photography,
film or video at any event or activity with which it is associated.



The specific details concerning photographic/video and filming equipment
should, where possible, be published prominently in event programmes and
must be announced over the public address system prior to the start of an
event. The recommended wording is,
“In line with the recommendation in the Councils Safeguarding Children
and Vulnerable Adult Policy, the promoters of the event request that any
person wishing to engage in any video, zoom or close range photography
should register their details with staff at the spectator’s entry desk before
carrying out any such photography. The promoter reserves the right to
decline entry to any person unable to meet or abide by the promoter’s
conditions.”

Any concerns with photographers or video or film operators are to be reported to the
Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer/Deputy and where relevant, the Police.
8.

Parents/Carers use of Photographic and Filming Equipment at Events

It is good practice to inform parents/carers of our expectations of them using their
own photographic/filming equipment at events organised by the Council.


Parents/carers and spectators should register with the organiser their intent to
use zoom, close range photography or filming equipment at an event.



Children, vulnerable adults and parents/carers should be informed that if they
have concerns they can report these to the organiser.



Concerns regarding inappropriate or intrusive photography or filming should
be reported to the organiser, or senior member of staff present. It is their
responsibility to record the incident on the incident report forms and pass on
to the Child and Vulnerable Adult Protection officer to take appropriate action.

An example of wording to be displayed at an event or on publicity material prior to
the event should follow the lines of:

Page 253

37

“In line with Staffordshire Moorland District Council’s Safeguarding Children
and Vulnerable Adults Protection Policy, any person wishing to engage in
zoom, close range photography or filming, should register their intent with the
event/activity organiser, prior to carrying out any such photography or filming.
The organiser reserves the right to refuse any such photography or filming if
there are concerns or complaints about its appropriateness”
An example form for use at Events and taking photographs, video material is given
at Appendix E

Page 254

38

APPENDIX E

Photographic consent

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council produces a range of print materials and online
information. On occasion it takes photographic images (moving and still) for promotional purposes.
Signing this form gives agreement for the individual named to take part in such a
photographic/video shoot for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council for the above stated purpose
only.
I have read and understood this form and give my permission for the child or adult in my
care named below to be photographed, filmed or recorded. I am aware that the images may
be used by the Council in printed material, Council or partnerships websites, on official
Council or partnership social media accounts (such as Twitter or Facebook), or in other
such media for promotional purposes.
Signature
Date

In addition to giving permission for the images to be used for promotional purposes, I also
give permission for their name or other identifying information to be used alongside these
images.
Yes



No



Name
(block capitals)
Date of Birth
(if under 18)
Address:

Phone number:

Name of
Parent/carer/guardian

Page 255

39

Address
(if different from
above)
Contact telephone
details
(if different from
above)
Email address
(optional)

Page 256

40

APPENDIX F

Recruitment and Selection Considerations

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council recognises that the appropriate recruitment
and selection of staff is a most crucial element in protecting users of the Council’s
services and activities. By ensuring a robust procedure exists to prevent people with
negative attitudes towards vulnerable groups gaining employment with the Council, it
will be completing the first stage of protecting vulnerable groups from maltreatment
by employees. These procedures will be supported by on-going staff training when
required, to ensure that the methods for dealing with vulnerable groups are reflecting
the correct approach current at the time. This knowledge base will be further
supported by regular staff supervision to ensure compliance with policy and
procedure, and that attitudes are in line with professional expectations.
1.

Identity Confirmation

All people with access to vulnerable groups in an employed or voluntary capacity will
need to provide evidence to confirm their identity. In most cases this evidence will be
dictated by the requirements of the legal checks the Council is required to carry out.
Should anyone have access to vulnerable groups in such a way as to not be
required to be legally “cleared”, then they will be asked to provide documentary
evidence of their identity.
2.

Pre-recruitment

If any form of advertising is used to recruit staff and volunteers, it should reflect:


The responsibilities of the role.



The level of experience or qualifications required (e.g. experience of working
with children is an advantage)



The Council’s open and positive stance on children and vulnerable adult
protection.



The use of the Disclosure and Barring Service procedures to promote safe
recruitment and selection processes.

3.

Applicant Information

All applicants, whether for paid or voluntary, full or part-time positions, should
complete an application form which should elicit the following information:


Name, address and National Insurance Number.



Past career, relevant interests, any gaps in employment and reasons for
leaving.



Relevant experience, educational qualifications, job specific qualifications and
training.

Page 257

41



Any criminal record.



The names of at least two people (not relatives) willing to provide written
references that comment on the applicant’s previous experience of , and
suitability for, working with children or vulnerable adults where it is a
requirement of the job or volunteering role,



And a willingness to assist in the completion of a DBS check

4.

Checks and References

Staff and volunteers recruited to work in services for children and vulnerable adults
must be checked for any possible irregularities (or issues), which may give reason
for concern.
A minimum of two references should be taken up, one of which must be the previous
employer and if available, at least one should be associated with former work with
children or vulnerable adults. References should include the applicant’s suitability to
work with children or vulnerable adults where it is a requirement of the job. Where
references are given verbally, they must follow a prescribed format and a written
record kept.
In accordance with guidance from the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) all posts
that have direct contact with children and vulnerable adults will require an Enhanced
DBS check. These checks will be completed by the Human Resources Team.
If a DBS check highlights an unspent conviction a risk assessment will be carried out
to assess the suitability of the applicant to work with children or vulnerable adults.
This will be carried out by the line manager and Human Resources Officer.
5.

Interview

Interviews are carried out in line with the Council’s Recruitment and Selection
procedures. The interview is likely to include questions on how to deal with children
and vulnerable adult protection issues.
6.

Induction and Training

Checks are only part of the process to protect children and vulnerable adults from
possible abuse. Appropriate training will enable individuals to recognise their
responsibilities with regard to their own good practice and the reporting of suspected
poor practice/concern of possible abuse. It is important that the recruitment and
selection process is followed by relevant inductions and training in order to further
protect children and vulnerable adults from possible abuse.

Page 258

42

The induction and training should include:


An assessment of the training needs required carried out by the local
manager.



Clarification, agreement and signing up to the Council’s Code of Conduct for
Employees. This is not a separate document for LDC and forms part of
Disciplinary which are referred to at induction but not handed out/signed for.



Clarification, agreement and signing up to the Council’s Safeguarding
Children and Vulnerable Adult Policy and Procedure.



Clarification of the expectations, roles and responsibilities of the job or
volunteering role.



As a minimum the Council expects all staff to have undergone formal children
and or vulnerable adult training related to their job within 6 months of
commencement of employment with the Council. Refresher training will be
required every 3 years. This is the responsibility of line managers in services
where children and/or vulnerable adults are clients/customers.

7.

Probation, Monitoring and Appraisal

All newly appointed members of staff undergo an agreed period of probation on
commencement of their role, other than casual or agency staff.
All members of staff who have contact with children and vulnerable adults will be
monitored and their performance appraised. This will give an opportunity to evaluate
progress, set new goals, identify training needs and address any issues of poor
practice. Line managers should be sensitive to any concerns about poor practice
and act on them at an early stage. They should also offer appropriate support to
those who report concerns/complaints.
Particular care must be taken to monitor casual and agency staff, whose less
frequent employment reduces the opportunities for regular supervision and training
and who may therefore be less familiar with policies and procedures.
It is the responsibility of line managers to monitor good practice. This can be done in
a number of ways:




Direct observation of the activity or service
Staff appraisals, mentoring and providing feedback on performance
Children’s and adults’ feedback on the activities or services

8.

Rehabilitation of Offenders

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is committed to the fair treatment of its
employees (both paid and voluntary), potential staff or volunteers or users of its

Page 259

43

service, regardless of race, gender, religion, sexual orientation, responsibilities for
dependants, age, physical/mental disability or offending background.
Having a criminal record will not necessarily bar someone from working or
volunteering with the Council. This will depend on the nature of the position, the
nature of the offence, how long ago and at what age the offence was committed and
any factors which may be relevant.
Failure to declare a conviction, caution or pending police action, will disqualify the
applicant from appointment or result in summary dismissal if the discrepancy comes
to light.

Page 260

44

APPENDIX G

Telephone Numbers for Key Contacts

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council
Designated Safeguarding Officer

Mark Trillo, Executive Director & Monitoring
Officer
Tel 01538 395623 or 07736 380766

SMDC Deputy Safeguarding Officer

David Smith, Service Manager
Tel: 07736 817237

Staffordshire Cares
To report abuse to adults

0845 604 2719

Staffordshire County Council, Health and
Social Care, First Response Team

0800 131 3126
Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO)
01785 277311 (ask for the LADO)

To report abuse to children and young
people
Police Emergencies

999

Staffordshire Police
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)

101 and ask for MASH (or the Area
Communications Room outside of MASH
hours)

Page 261

45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.1
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report to Cabinet
19th June 2018
TITLE:

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan: Green
Infrastructure Strategy; May 2018

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Edwin Wain – Cabinet Member for
Planning, Development and Property

CONTACT OFFICER:

Pranali Parikh – Regeneration Manager

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-Specific

Appendix A – Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan: Green Infrastructure
Strategy; May 2018
Appendix B – Summary consultation responses and action taken
1.
1.1

Reason for the Report
A Green Infrastructure Strategy has been prepared to support the Local
Plan. The Strategy has been prepared in collaboration with a number of
external partners and has been subject to public consultation. This report
sets out the results of the consultation and recommends that the amended
GI Strategy is adopted.

2. Recommendation
2.1

The Cabinet notes the preparation of a Staffordshire Moorlands Green
Infrastructure Strategy, the consultation feedback received, subsequent
action taken and approves adoption of the attached Strategy.

2.2

That Cabinet approves adoption of the strategy to be used as background
evidence to support and inform the development of the policies in the local
plan.

3. Executive Summary
3.1

The National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning authorities
to set out a strategic approach in their Local Plans, planning positively for
the creation, protection, enhancement and management of networks of
biodiversity and green infrastructure. A commitment to green infrastructure
planning was made in the Core Strategy adopted in March 2014.

Page 263

3.2

The Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Strategy identifies and
describes the network of green spaces, wildlife habitats, water courses,
footpaths and trails that together deliver a range of environmental and
quality of life benefits for local communities. The Strategy also sets out
priorities and actions proposed to conserve and enhance the network.

3.3

The Strategy is supported by a Steering Group comprising external partners
including Staffordshire County Council, Staffordshire Wildlife Trust,
Environment Agency, Natural England, RSPB and Woodland Trust.

3.4

Public consultation on a draft Strategy was carried out alongside the
Preferred Option Local Plan for a six-week period between 24th July and
15th September 2017. The consultation responses show a general support
for the Strategy, along with a number of observations and detailed
comments. This consultation feedback is summarised in section 7 of this
report and set out in more detail, including the action taken in response, in a
table at Appendix B.

3.5

It is proposed that the Council adopt the GI Strategy (May 2018) and for the
Strategy to form part of the evidence base of documents submitted
alongside the Local Plan.

3.6

The strategy will be supported by a Delivery Plan that is intended to show
how the key partners and agencies involved will support the delivery of
green infrastructure and contribute to the aims of the Strategy. The
Delivery Plan will include a series of delivery and action plans for key
projects to be developed as the focus of the next phase of this work.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

This report identifies a strategic approach to delivering a network of green
infrastructure. This will help enable the Council to meet aims 1 and 4 of
Corporate Plan 2017 -19.
 Aim One: To help create a safer and healthier environment for our
communities to live and work.
 Aim Four: To protect and improve the environment – measured through
high recycling rates, quality parks and open spaces, and clean streets.

5.

Options and Analysis

5.1

There are three options:
Option 1 – Decline to adopt the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan: Green
Infrastructure Strategy; May 2018.
A GI Strategy for the District is required by national and local planning policy.
Failure to include a GI Strategy with the evidence base supporting the Local
Plan risks the plan being found unsound at Examination. Not recommended

Page 264

Option 2 – Approve the adoption of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan:
Green Infrastructure Strategy; May 2018, but subject to fundamental
modification of the document.
The May 2018 GI Strategy has been approved by a Steering Group of external
partners who have collaborated in its preparation and who will, alongside the
Council, be principal partners in its delivery. Fundamental revision of the
Strategy will require further consultation and this may delay preparation of the
Strategy such that it can not be submitted alongside the Local Plan. Not
recommended
Option 3 – Adopt the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan: Green Infrastructure
Strategy; May 2018
The adoption of the GI Strategy will provide a strategic framework for the
development of a network of habitat corridors and linked green spaces in the
District that will form part of the evidence base for Local Plan policies, inform
the Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan, assist with development
management decisions and inform the contributions required from new
developments. Recommended
6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No implications

6.2

Workforce
The regeneration team is able to provide project management
support for the GI Strategy. Delivery of the Strategy can only be
achieved through partnership working.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
There are no financial considerations for the Council relating to the
recommendations of this report.

6.5

Legal
This report informs Cabinet of the strategy produced and requests
authority to authorise its adoption for use in determining planning
policy associated with the local plan.

6.6

Sustainability
Green infrastructure can play a key role in helping to achieve the
vision for economic regeneration and sustainable growth set out in

Page 265

the Local Plan.
6.7

Internal and External Consultation
The Strategy has been subject to a six week period of public
consultation alongside the Preferred Options Local Plan from July
2017, the results of which are included at Appendix B.

6.8

Risk Assessment
Risks have been addressed in the body of the report.
Dai Larner
Executive Director of Place

Web Links and
Background Papers
Staffordshire
Moorlands Local
Plan: Green
Infrastructure
Strategy; May 2018

Location

Contact details

Moorlands House, Leek

Pranali Parikh
Regeneration Manager
Pranali.parikh@staffsmo
orlands.gov.uk
Phone- 07583055366

7. Background and Detail
7.1

The requirement for green infrastructure planning is set out at paragraph 114
of the National Planning Policy Framework that states that local planning
authorities should plan positively for the creation, protection, enhancement
and management of networks of biodiversity and green infrastructure. In
addition, national planning practice guidance states that:
“Green infrastructure is important to the delivery of high quality sustainable
development, alongside other forms of infrastructure such as transport,
energy, waste and water. Green infrastructure provides multiple benefits,
notably ecosystem services, at a range of scales, derived from natural
systems and processes, for the individual, for society, the economy and the
environment. To ensure that these benefits are delivered, green
infrastructure must be well planned, designed and maintained. Green
infrastructure should, therefore, be a key consideration in both local plans
and planning decisions where relevant.”

7.2

The context for the Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Strategy
was established in the Core Strategy and is set out in Core Strategy Policy
C3: Green Infrastructure. This policy states that the Council will, through
partnership working with local communities, organisations, landowners and
developers, develop an integrated network of high quality and multifunctional green infrastructure that will:

Page 266









Support and improve the provision of open space, sport and recreational
facilities for local communities and enhance the settings of
neighbourhoods;
Link existing and potential sites of nature conservation value and historic
landscape features, create new wildlife habitats, increase biodiversity,
and increase tree cover where it is appropriate to the landscape;
Enhance the natural, man-made and cultural features that are crucial to
the local landscape and create opportunities for the restoration of
degraded landscapes and the enhancement of the urban fringe;
Mitigate the negative effects of climate change and maximise potential
climate change benefits including effective flood risk and waterways
management;
Create appropriate access for a wide range of users to enjoy the
countryside, including improved linkages to and provision of formal and
informal recreation opportunities and accessible woodland areas,
encouraging walking, cycling and horse riding;
Contribute to the diversification of the local economy and tourist
development through the enhancement of existing, and provision of new
facilities.

7.3

The Staffordshire Moorlands GI Strategy appended as Appendix A is the
culmination of a period of research identifying and mapping the existing
green infrastructure assets in the District, coupled with an analysis of
proposed priorities for green infrastructure. It sets out the vision for green
infrastructure in the district, a spatial framework showing the broad
geographical areas where green infrastructure investment is most needed,
and delivery priorities.

7.4

The document has been prepared in agreement with a group of partner
organisations operating as a Steering Group. The organisations are:
Staffordshire County Council
Peak District National Park Authority
Staffordshire Local Nature Partnership
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust
Environment Agency
Natural England
RSPB
Woodland Trust
Forestry Commission










7.5

The Strategy sets out details of eleven strategic corridors / areas of green
infrastructure in the Local Plan area of the District. These are summarised
below.
1. Churnet Valley Corridor: At the heart of the Staffordshire Moorlands
Green Infrastructure Network, the Churnet Valley Corridor runs the
length of the District and is subject to its own Masterplan SPD and
habitat network modelling. Proposed priorities and actions include
to: conserve and enhance the Churnet Valley area for its historic
interest, recreation, education and nature conservation value; in

Page 267

particular to help deliver the aims and objectives of the Churnet
Valley Masterplan. Also to assist with the delivery of the Churnet
Valley Living Landscape Partnership ambition to support and
develop a linear route along the River Churnet from Rudyard to
Denstone as a multi-user trail that is well connected to other green
infrastructure.
2. Leek town strategic area: The town is a significant gateway into the
Churnet Valley and the Peak District National Park from the north
and west. The strategy can be used to help promote Leek’s special
character and heritage and strengthen its role as a visitor
destination. There is scope for developing a series of green radial
routes linking the town with surrounding countryside.
3. Churnet Valley North: this is a distinct blue corridor that includes a key
recreational hub in the north of the Churnet Valley dominated by
Rudyard Lake which lends itself to a range of leisure and
recreational activities. The corridor follows the river Churnet to
Ladderedge and Deep Hayes Country Parks, picking up Endon
Brook and the Caldon Canal to Endon, Stockton Brook and over the
border into Stoke-on-Trent, linking with the River Trent / Caldon
Canal corridor within the City. There is scope for woodland planting
to link habitats and manage water flow along the floodplains.
4. Churnet Valley Central: this woodland corridor is an area of high
landscape value and a strategic wildlife corridor potentially linking
Park Hall Country Park, Caverswall Common and Creswell's Piece to
Consall Wood and Nature Park through the Combes Valley to further
woodland at Apesford. There is scope to increase connectivity of
habitats by linking, buffering and expanding existing sites of
importance.
5. Biddulph Moor Corridor: A potential wildlife corridor linking a series of key
habitats (in particular heathland and woodland) and villages to the
east of Biddulph. There is scope to extend and improve green
infrastructure within the corridor to help support the delivery of a
network of well-connected pathways providing routes for walkers,
cyclists and horse riders and a functional mosaic of woodland and
heathland habitats.
6. Biddulph corridor (along the Biddulph Valley Way): This is a major green
network component and route of the former Biddulph Valley Railway
Line. It is suitable for walkers, cyclists and horseriders. The
Whitemoor Local Nature Reserve at the northern end of Biddulph
Valley Way is a Staffordshire Site of Biological Importance due to its
woodland wildlife. At the southern end, the corridor could link beyond
the district boundary to the heritage country park at the site of the
former Chatterley Whitfield Colliery. There is scope for increasing
connections from the corridor to Biddulph town centre.
7. Gritstone Corridor (along the Staffordshire Way): The Staffordshire Way

Page 268

is a long distance footpath which has been established by
Staffordshire County Council. Proposed priorities and actions are to
protect and improve the Staffordshire Way as an established
greenway, to increase its use and enjoyment by people for health
and recreation and to enhance its function as a wildlife corridor.
8. Biddulph town: The Biddulph Town strategic area presents opportunities
for a network of vital green / blue infrastructure connections, utilising
water courses and retained woodland. The corridor running along
Biddulph Brook from Hawthorn Grove to the Leisure Centre is
especially important, as are key sites along Biddulph Brook which
connect to the Biddulph Valley Way. There is scope to use the GI
strategy to help improve the image and identity of Biddulph and
strengthen its role as a visitor destination, including by improving and
creating green spaces within the town and strengthening and
promoting links between the town and countryside, in particular with
the Biddulph Valley Way, Biddulph Grange Garden and the Country
Parks.
9. Cecilly Brook Corridor: A key blue corridor principally following the River
Tean and Cecilly Brook to the east of Cheadle, this is a strategic
wildlife corridor running from Checkley in the south of the district via
Upper Tean and Mobberley Brook to follow the route of Cecilly
Brook, finally running north via Cheadle Park towards Broad Haye.
The corridor is key to help strengthen the population of water voles in
Cecilly Brook.
10. Cheadle town strategic area: Proposed priorities and actions are to
protect and extend green infrastructure within Cheadle to improve
access to green spaces within the town and links out to the
surrounding countryside including Cheadle Park; Cecilly Brook and
Hales Hall Pool Local Nature Reserves and Huntley Wood, as well
as investigating the potential for improving connectivity to centres of
employment such as JCB, Brookhouses and land off New Haden
Road.
11. Blythe Bridge Opportunity corridor: This corridor has scope to create
and contribute to significant GI networks for people and wildlife as
part of development of the strategic site at Blythe Vale. Proposed
priorities and actions are to protect and extend green infrastructure
within the corridor to improve access to surrounding settlements and
links out to the surrounding countryside, and in particular to
contribute to the strategic Green Infrastructure supporting the
emerging Northern Gateway initiative.
7.7

The full document is at Appendix A. As well as describing the strategic
network of corridors and areas as set out above, the Strategy also identifies
key priorities and actions for each part of the identified network.

Results of the public consultation

Page 269

7.8

A draft GI Strategy was consulted on alongside the Preferred Option Local
Plan for a six-week period between 24th July and 15th September 2017. A
total of 23 respondents made 74 comments on the document. A summary
of the responses is set out as Appendix B to this report. The responses in
full can be seen at the following link:
http://staffsmoorlands-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/local_plan/gi_strategy

7.9

There was general support for the aims and opportunities of the strategy and
for protecting the district’s countryside. Although people were keen to see
details of how the strategy will be implemented. Key issues raised
included:
 There should be more explicit reference to encouraging young people
into green spaces.
 The value of roadside verges and railway banks should be included.
 The strategy should set out how the district’s green / blue infrastructure
links to adjacent areas such as the Peak District.
 The Biddulph Valley needs a specific focus on managing rainfall runoff.
Tree planting schemes and wet meadow creation should be
encouraged.
 More habitat mapping is needed in areas away from the Churnet
corridor.
 The Greenways and the Sabrina Way should be added to the Green
Travel Links section and SCC Country Parks included.
 A simplified combined map of assets should be included to give a
comprehensive picture and help identify areas of deprivation.
 The Knypersley corridor should be renamed Biddulph Moor Corridor.
 Part of the Blythe Bridge Opportunity corridor is shown as being within
Stafford Borough’s boundary and should be redrawn.
 Illustrating the strategic GI network as lines is misleading as it indicates
that GI is linear rather than the actual complex network of habitat
patches and linear sites.
 There is potential for a joint working initiative with East Staffordshire
Borough Council and the County Council regarding grassland habitat
connectivity and footpaths in the Cauldon and Weaver Hills area.
 The historic environment should form part of the implementation plan.
 A discussion on carbon should be included within the section on
ecosystem services.
 Concern that the strategy may add to the regulatory burden for farmers.
Vision should include the role and contribution of agriculture.

7.10

All issues raised in the consultation have been addressed in the revised
version (May 2018) strategy wherever possible.

Next steps
7.11

The proposed priorities and actions identified in the GI Strategy will be used
to:
 Form part of the evidence base for Local Plan policies.
 Inform the Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

Page 270







Inform scheme design and use of financial contributions required from
new developments.
Help identify potential sites for any biodiversity off-setting and
opportunities to conserve and enhance the setting of heritage assets.
Identify and inform any future partnership projects.
Support broader ecological networks, for example through the Local
Nature Partnership and Duty to Cooperate with the strategies of
neighbouring authorities.
Support and encourage community engagement and participation
around GI assets.

7.12

A Delivery Plan will be prepared setting a delivery framework for the Green
Infrastructure Strategy. The Delivery Plan will show how the key partners
and agencies involved will support the delivery of green infrastructure and
contribute to the aims of the Strategy.

7.13

The Plan will include a series of delivery and action plans for key projects
and these will be developed as the focus of the next phase of this work. A
proposed Delivery Plan will be brought for scrutiny at a later date.

Page 271

Appendix A
INSERT STRATEGY

Page 272

Appendix B
INSERT CONSULTATION RESPONSES TABLE

Page 273

This page is intentionally left blank

Staffordshire Moorlands
Local Plan
Green Infrastructure
Strategy
May 2018

Page 275

Page 276

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

1 Introduction

3

2 Methodology

9

3 Vision

14

4 Overview of key assets

18

5 Existing provision and new opportunities

25

6 GI priorities and proposals

50

7 Strategic GI Network settlement maps

72

7.1 Leek

73

7.2 Biddulph

76

7.3 Cheadle

79

7.4 Strategic site at Blythe Vale

82

8 Implementation

86

Appendix A Maps of GI assets by type

89

Appendix B Staffordshire Moorlands Biodiversity Opportunity Map

105

Page 277
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Introduction

Page 278
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

2

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

1 Introduction
1.1 Green infrastructure (GI) can play a key role in helping to achieve the economic and
sustainable vision set out in the emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan.
1.2

(1)

The National Planning Policy Framework

defines Green infrastructure as:

"A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of
delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local
communities".
1.3 For the purposes of the GI strategy, green space is taken to include rivers, canals,
standing waters, and other water courses.
1.4 A commitment to green infrastructure planning was made in the Staffordshire Moorlands
(2)
District Council Core Strategy , adopted March 2014.
1.5 Green infrastructure planning involves the provision of strategically planned networks
designed to link existing (and proposed) green spaces with green corridors running through
towns, villages and rural areas. Through the maintenance, enhancement and extension of
these networks, multi-functional benefits can be realised for local communities, businesses,
visitors and the environment.
1.6 The preparation of this strategic network has involved collaboration with a number of
external partners. Appropriate strategies, plans and programmes of these partners, other
local partnerships and organisations, will be necessary to help maintain existing green
infrastructure, promote solutions to remedy deficiencies, and create new opportunities.
1.7 The planning system provides the opportunity to deliver green infrastructure that will
provide benefits far beyond just the allocation and provision of open space. Green
infrastructure encompasses many cross-cutting issues that through the Local Plan will help
to deliver high quality development in a high quality environment. GI planning and the delivery
of a strategic network will also help to safeguard and deliver landscape and townscape
character and distinctiveness, biodiversity, water quality and flood management
considerations, whilst helping to address health, recreation, climate change adaptation and
mitigation, and other issues.
1.8 Green Infrastructure also has a role to play in economic regeneration and sustainable
growth. Provision of GI makes a valuable contribution to the 'liveability' of an area helping
to create places where people choose to live and work, helping to attract and retain both
people and businesses. Strategic development of green infrastructure will also contribute
towards the District's sustainable tourism offer, enhancing the area's overall image as an
attractive destination.

1
2

Page 279

National Planning Policy Framework; Department for Communities and Local Government; March 2012
http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/775/Core-Strategy

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

3

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Caldon Canal

1.9 The Green Infrastructure Strategy reflects and helps put into practice numerous other
strategies, plans and guidance. A brief summary of some of the key national and local ones
is set out below.

National Context
The Natural Choice: Securing the Value of Nature
1.10 The Government’s White Paper, The Natural Choice: Securing the Value of Nature
(2011), stresses the social, economic and environmental benefits of the natural environment.
The paper highlights the important role green infrastructure plays to provide habitats and
complete linkages to the national ecological network. The importance of green infrastructure
for managing environmental risks such as flooding and heat waves, thus helping to combat
climate change, are also identified.
1.11 The paper is partly based on the UK National Ecosystem Assessment which shows
the social and economic benefits provided by the wildlife assets within the natural
environment. The assessment identifies a 30% decline in the country’s ecosystem functions
along with associated reductions in both the quantity and quality of green spaces in urban
areas. To help rectify these issues, the paper supports the establishment of green
infrastructure partnerships and support for Local Nature Partnerships. The creation of Nature
Improvement Areas tasked at reversing the decline and fragmentation of wildlife habitats is
also set out in the paper.

Page 280
4

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Biodiversity 2020: A Strategy for England’s Wildlife & Ecosystem Services
1.12 The Government’s Biodiversity 2020: A Strategy for England’s Wildlife & Ecosystem
Services (2011) builds on the Natural Environment White Paper and provides a
comprehensive picture on how the government is implementing its international and European
Union commitments. It sets out the strategic direction for biodiversity policy over the next
decade.
1.13 The Geodiversity Charter for England 2014 and UK Geodiversity Action Plan
provides guidance on protecting, managing, enhancing and creating geodiveristy assets.
Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our Strategy for Public Health in England
1.14 The Government White Paper, Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our Strategy for Public
Health in England (2010) sets out the long term vision for the future of public health in
England, including the links between environmental quality and a healthy population. The
quality of the environment around us also affects any community. Pollution, air quality, noise,
the availability of green and open spaces, transport, housing, access to good-quality food
and social isolation all influence the health and wellbeing of the local population. Climate
change represents a challenge in terms of long-term health services planning and emergency
preparedness. Improving the environment in which people live can make healthy lifestyles
easier. When the immediate environment is unattractive, it is difficult to make physical activity
and contact with nature part of everyday life.
National Planning Policy Framework
1.15 The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies
for England and how they should be applied. It includes the core land use planning principles
that should underpin both plan-making and development management decisions. National
policies require an approach that ensures new development protects, restores, maintains,
creates, enhances and extends green infrastructure and improves connectivity within the
network. National policy also expects the natural environment to function as an integrated
network of habitats, and seeks to protect and enhance the quality, character and amenity
value of the countryside and urban areas as a whole, recognising the limitations of the
environment to accept further development without irreversible damage, and encourages
sustainable development.
Ecosystems Services
1.16 An ecosystems approach is a way of looking at the natural environment throughout
the decision making process. Carrying out economic valuation of ecosystem services helps
incorporate the value of the natural environment into a decision making process. Ecosystems
services, such as tourism, air quality and people’s health and mental well-being will all benefit
from protection and investment in our natural environment.
1.17
Addressing climate change is another area where ecosystem services can be
valuable. Carbon rich soils, such as those that are peaty or heathy and habitats like ponds,
flower-rich grassland and mixed, diverse structural woodlands are very good carbon stores.
Protecting and enhancing these soils and the habitats on them can play an important role
in trapping carbon and helping to mitigate the effects of climate change.

Page 281
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

5

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Environmental Stewardship
1.18 Farming is important for the economy of Staffordshire Moorlands, the District is an
important centre for the livestock and dairy sectors. This GI strategy recognises the way in
which farming and nature can influence each other.
Farming has contributed over the centuries to creating and maintaining a unique
countryside. Agricultural land management has been a positive force for the
development of the rich variety of landscapes and habitats, including a mosaic of
woodlands, wetlands, and extensive tracts of an open countryside.
Agricultural businesses routinely invest in landscape management and enhancement
works for example hedging, tree planting, cutting and grazing.
The ecological integrity and the scenic value of landscapes make rural areas attractive
for the establishment of enterprises, for places to live, and for the tourist and recreation
businesses.
1.19 Farmers and landowners own and manage many of the areas considered to be key
Green Infrastructure assets. The links between the richness of the natural environment and
farming practices are complex. Many valuable habitats are maintained by agriculture, and
a wide range of wild species rely on this for their survival. But inappropriate land use can
also have an adverse impact on natural resources, like pollution of soil, water and air;
fragmentation of habitats, or loss of wildlife.

Regional context
Staffordshire Local Nature Partnership
1.20
Local Nature Partnerships (LNPs) are partnerships of a broad range of local
organisations, businesses and people who aim to help bring about improvements in their
local natural environment. Staffordshire LNP coordinates a number of strategic initiatives
in the area, many of which include the development of green infrastructure and ecological
networks as part of their key aims.
South West Peak Landscape Partnership
1.21 The South West Peak Landscape Partnership is a group of organisations working to
restore, protect, and improve the landscape of the South West Peak. With the Peak District
National Park Authority as lead partner, and with the support of the Heritage Lottery Fund,
the scheme works with local communities to build stronger connections with the landscape
and with each other. The Partnership aims to enhance ecosystem services (the benefits
we all get from the natural environment) and support sustainable farming in the area.

Local context
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Corporate Plan 2017 - 2019
1.22 The Corporate Plan sets out to achieve excellence in the delivery of high quality
services that meet the needs and aspirations of our communities. The first aim is to to help
create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work and the fourth
is to to protect and improve the Page
environment.
282
6

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan
1.23 This report to identify a strategic green infrastructure network is being prepared
alongside the emerging Local Plan. The Local Plan provides a framework for delivering
development for the period 2016 to 2031. It sets out the spatial strategy, strategic and
development management policies and land use designations for the District. The Local
Plan influences how and where the Staffordshire Moorlands will develop in the future. It
sets out what the District Council would like to achieve in each of the main towns and the
rural areas outside the Peak District National Park, including the provision of green
infrastructure and ecological networks.
Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership
1.24 The Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) of twenty organisations,
led by Staffordshire Wildlife Trust, works at a landscape scale, conserving and enhancing
the wildlife and built heritage of the Churnet Valley and supports the many local people and
organisations who look after the Churnet Valley. Much of the work of the CVLLP has been
undertaken with the help of volunteers and many of the projects undertaken support the
provision and improvement of green infrastructure.
SMDC Tree Strategy, March 2016
1.25 The strategy directs the long term management of trees and woodlands in the
Staffordshire Moorlands for which the Council has duties and responsibilities. Its objective
is to manage trees in Staffordshire Moorlands to create a sustainable, robust tree population
that contributes to the quality of the local and global environment.
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Open Space Study Standards Paper; October
2017
1.26 The Standards Paper identifies the deficiencies and surpluses in existing and future
open space provision. It also helps inform an approach to securing open space facilities
through new housing development and negotiations with developers for contributions towards
open space. Provision standards focusing on quantity, quality and accessibility are set within
the document to help inform these processes.
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Infrastructure Delivery Plan Final Report;
February 2018
1.27 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan brings together data on the infrastructure necessary
to support delivery of the planned growth set out in the emerging SMDC Local Plan. This
includes consideration of current provision and new requirements alongside projected costs
and potential funding mechanisms. The IDP examines the quality and capacity of a number
of different types of infrastructure including green infrastructure.

Page 283
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

7

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Methodology

Page 284
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

8

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

2 Methodology
2.1 This document is the culmination of a period of detailed research examining the existing
green infrastructure assets in the District, coupled with a reflective analysis on the priorities
for green infrastructure. It sets out the vision for green infrastructure in the district, a spatial
framework showing the broad geographical areas where green infrastructure investment is
most needed, and delivery priorities.
2.2 This document has been prepared in agreement with a group of partner organisations
operating as a Steering Group for the preparation of a Strategic Green Infrastructure Network.
The Council would like to thank the following organisations for their involvement in the project,
and where applicable, for data sharing:
Staffordshire County Council
Peak District National Park Authority
Staffordshire Local Nature Partnership
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust
Environment Agency
Natural England
RSPB
Woodland Trust
Forestry Commission
2.3

The approach taken has involved several work streams:
Understanding the context for green infrastructure in the District, including the plans
and strategies of other relevant organisations.
Understanding the green infrastructure resource: a quantitative audit of green
infrastructure assets.
Preparing a resource of evidence base maps.
Considering the functions of, and priorities for, green infrastructure.
Identifying and mapping of strategic corridors.

Review of existing strategies
2.4
The Strategic Network of Green Infrastructure in Staffordshire Moorlands will
complement and support a range of plans and strategies for the District. A number of key
strategies have been reviewed and taken into account in the preparation of this GI network,
these include:

Page 285

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

9

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Core Strategy; March 2014
Churnet Valley Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (SPD); March 2014
Churnet Valley Landscape Ecology Pilot reports
Staffordshire Rights of Way Improvement Plan; Staffordshire County Council
The State of Staffordshire's Nature Report 2016; Staffordshire Wildlife Trust
Evidence base
2.5 Maps included at Appendix A show the existing, known, strategic GI assets that form
the "backbone" or underlying framework for the District's Strategic GI Network. The mapping
is based on the Council's datasets, enhanced where appropriate by relevant additional
datasets identified in consultation with partner organisations, for example Historic Environment
Character Assessments. The evidence base maps were prepared by mapping these datasets
using Geographical Information Systems (GIS).
2.6 It should be noted that the maps show the boundary of Staffordshire Moorlands District
outside the Peak District National Park - as this is the area for which the District Council is
the Local Planning Authority.
Limitations
2.7 There are at present data gaps in terms of habitat survey coverage, with around 52%
of the district overall lacking data, mainly in western and southern parts of the district (as
illustrated on Map A.10 in Appendix A). Due to this, it is anticipated that there may be priority
habitats and areas of Local Wildlife Site value yet to be identified.
2.8 Existing Local Wildlife Sites may also require updates to their status or boundaries as
they are periodically re-assessed, to reflect changes in habitat quality and the assessment
criteria.
2.9 Where there are data gaps or limitations, for example gaps in detailed habitat network
modelling, these may be addressed as part of the implementation plan.
Identification of strategic corridors
2.10 A review of the evidence base maps was undertaken against the functions of the
District’s GI assets identified and described by the vision proposed in the District's Core
Strategy. The outputs from this work are included in Section 6. For each of the three main
towns (Leek, Biddulph, Cheadle) and the Strategic Site at Blythe Vale, the maps of existing
assets were used to prepare further maps illustrating:
Key green travel routes
Ecological corridors
Water management corridors

Page 286
10

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

2.11 These maps were then combined to identify and describe eleven strategic corridors
/ areas across the District that together comprise the District's strategic GI network. This
network of corridors / areas is illustrated in Section 5.
Supporting adjoining green and blue infrastructure strategies
2.12 The District's landscapes, habitats and public rights of way do not stop at the Council's
Plan Area boundary and it is important that this strategy responds to, and influences, the
approach to the green and blue infrastructure of the surrounding area.
2.13

Other relevant strategies include:
Peak District National Park Authority Trails Management Plan - Five-year plan for the
Tissington, High Peak, Monsal and Thornhill Trails: 2013–2018.
The Green Infrastructure Framework for North East Wales, Cheshire and Wirral; 2011.
Cheshire East Green Space Strategy; 2013.
Newcastle under Lyme Green Infrastructure Strategy.
Stoke-on-Trent City Council and Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council Joint Local
Plan Issues Consultation: Natural and Rural Environment Technical Paper; February
2016.
A Green Infrastructure Strategy for Stafford: The Strategic Plan; Stafford Borough
Council; November 2009.

2.14 Potential for a joint working initiative with Staffordshire County Council and East
Staffordshire Borough Council regarding grassland habitat connectivity and footpaths in the
Cauldon and Weaver Hills area has been identified.
2.15 Better connections and linkages to and within the Peak District National Park is also
to be sought. There may be opportunities to improve connectivity with the upland habitats
and foothills in the south west part of the Peak District National Park, through joint working
initiatives with the South West Peak Landscape Partnership.

Page 287
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

11

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Churnet Valley

Page 288
12

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Vision

Page 289
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

13

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

3 Vision
Context
3.1 The context for the Green Infrastructure Strategy has been established in the adopted
SMDC Core Strategy and is set out in Policy C3 Green Infrastructure.
3.2 This policy in the Council's adopted Core Strategy states that the Council will, through
partnership working with local communities, organisations, landowners and developers,
develop an integrated network of high quality and multi-functional green infrastructure that
will:
Support and improve the provision of open space, sport and recreational facilities for
local communities and enhance the settings of neighbourhoods;
Link existing and potential sites of nature conservation value and historic landscape
features, create new wildlife habitats, increase biodiversity, and increase tree cover
where it is appropriate to the landscape;
Enhance the natural, man-made and cultural features that are crucial to the local
landscape and create opportunities for the restoration of degraded landscapes and the
enhancement of the urban fringe;
Mitigate the negative effects of climate change and maximise potential climate change
benefits including effective flood risk and waterways management;
Create appropriate access for a wide range of users to enjoy the countryside, including
improved linkages to and provision of formal and informal recreation opportunities and
accessible woodland areas, encouraging walking, cycling and horse riding;
Contribute to the diversification of the local economy and tourist development through
the enhancement of existing, and provision of new facilities.

Vision
3.3

The vision for the GI Strategy is:

To develop by 2031 a network of green corridors and green spaces in the Staffordshire
Moorlands that:
Supports access and green travel – by creating appropriate access for a wide
range of users to enjoy the countryside, including creating improved linkages to
services and facilities, as well as formal and informal recreation opportunities.
Promotes health and well-being – by supporting the provision and improvement
of open space, sport and recreational facilities to: facilitate opportunities for walking,
cycling and horse riding; support people's interaction with nature; and to encourage
young children into green spaces.

Page 290
14

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Develops ecological networks – by identifying opportunities for more, bigger,
better and joined up sites of nature conservation, geological and historic landscape
value and historic landscape features, by the creation of new wildlife habitats and
increasing biodiversity, providing buffering and enhancement of existing sites and
creating links between them.
Improves flood and water management – mitigating the effects of climate change
including through using green infrastructure for effective flood risk and waterways
management.
Unlocks economic development potential – by contributing to the diversification
of the local economy through the enhancement of existing, and provision of new
tourist facilities; supporting new opportunities for rural businesses such as the
provision of wood fuel through habitat management and creating and improving
green travel links to areas of employment and the visitor economy infrastructure.
Values ecosystem services - by contributing to air quality improvements,
supporting mental and physical wellbeing, climate change adaptation, carbon
sequestration and benefiting crop pollination by protecting and enhancing habitats
of pollinator species.

Aims
3.4

The aims of the GI Strategy are to:

1.

Provide a wide variety of parks, wild areas and open spaces to meet the needs of both
nature and people.

2.

Create, improve and protect green travel links that enable people to access a range of
jobs, services, facilities and recreation opportunities using sustainable transport options.

3.

Create, improve and protect biodiversity and the ecological networks that provide the
opportunity for species to move within the landscape.

4.

Improve flood and water management including by contributing to maintaining waterways
and managing surface water flow.

5.

Protect and enhance the distinctive character of the District's towns and villages together
with their landscape settings.

6.

Protect and enhance historic landscape character and heritage assets.

7.

Protect and enhance the ecosystem services our green infrastructure provides such
as soil conservation, water management, air quality and crop pollination to ensure a
healthy and resilient natural environment.

8.

Promote the sustainable economic growth of the District.

Page 291
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

15

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

9.

Provide a clear framework for funding biodiversity enhancements appropriate to the
size, scale and nature of a development.

10. Facilitate partnership working and improve access to resources through relevant funding
regimes enabling green infrastructure to be funded on a similar basis to other local
infrastructure.

Benefits
3.5

The benefits resulting from the GI Strategy are expected to be:

1.

Help to promote the District as a high quality place to live, work, invest and visit.

2.

Contribution to the sense of community and place.

3.

Provision of opportunities to protect and enhance landscape (including historic
landscape) other natural assets and the setting of the National Park.

4.

Contribution to the delivery of the Staffordshire and UK Biodiversity Action Plans.

5.

Enhanced opportunities for exercise, sport, active recreation and consequently improved
health and well-being.

6.

Enhanced opportunities for community involvement.

7.

Support for good design and high quality developments including with habitat corridors
and designed access to biodiversity along the edge of settlements.

8.

Provision of enhanced opportunities to connect communities and neighbourhoods.

9.

Contribution to climate change adaptation through opportunities for improved flood-risk
management, maintaining waterways, managing surface water flow and aiding species
movement.

10. Recognition for, and value given to, Ecosystem Services provided by the green
infrastructure network.
11. Opportunities to enhance the District's sustainable tourism offer, particularly in the rural
areas.
12. Contribution to a healthy and diverse natural environment that is essential to food
security, sustainable livelihoods, increased resistance to natural disasters and ability
to recover from them, support for secure and sustainable food production and other
long-term benefits from agriculture.

Page 292
16

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Overview of key assets

Page 293
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

17

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

4 Overview of key assets
4.1 The schematic diagram on the following page illustrates the relationship between the
District, the location of its key GI assets and the wider geographical area.
4.2 This relationship has been used to help inform the GI priorities and proposals set out
in Section 6.

Page 294
18

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

MANCHESTER
J19

4
A3

MACCLESFIELD
BUXTON

SHEFFIELD

J18

CONGLETON

J17
Biddulph
Grange

Tittesworth
Reservoir
Rudyard
Lake

BIDDULPH

Peak District
National Park

LEEK

Ladderedge
Country Park
Deep Hayes
Country Park

J16

Churnet Valley
Railway

STOKE-ONTRENT

NEWCASTLEUNDER-LYME

Cecilly
Brook

J15

ASHBOURNE

Alton
Towers

NOTTINGHAM
& DERBY

CHEADLE

Blythe
Vale

UTTOXETER
KEY

District Boundary
Churnet Valley Living
Landscape Area

J14

Peak Park Boundary
Churnet Valley Railway
STAFFORD

A

Key visitor destinations
River Churnet

8
51

Caldon Canal
Main Road

J13

Biddulph Valley Way
M6

Staffordshire Way
0

2

4 Miles

BIRMINGHAM

Strategic Sites

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017. Ordnance Survey 100018384.

Figure 4.1 Location of the District and its key GI assets

Page 295
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

19

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

4.3 The following maps illustrate the key GI features identified from the review of individual
evidence base maps provided in Appendix A. This overview map combines the key elements
of the evidence base into a single map that is presented below in three parts to aid viewing
and assessment of coverage. By offering a comprehensive picture of the distribution of GI
assets, the overview map helps identify areas of deficiency, supports assessment of
ecosystems provision and enables identification of priorities and multi-functionality.

Page 296
20

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Map 4.1 Overview of key assets: Biddulph and Leek area

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 297
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

21

Picture 4.1 Overview of key assets - central area

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 298
22

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Picture 4.2 Overview of key assets - Cheadle and south

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 299
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

23

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Existing provision and new opportunities

Page 300
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

24

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

5 Existing provision and new opportunities
5.1 A range of existing evidence base data has been assembled to support the GI strategy.
A series of 15 maps have been prepared to illustrate and consider the known distribution of
current GI assets by type. The maps - included at Appendix A are:
1.

Green space within or near built areas

2.

Large-scale, linear infrastructure features with potential for connectivity for biodiversity
enhancement

3.

Green travel links

4.

Blue Infrastructure, flood attenuation and water management

5.

Main landscape character types

6.

Landscape setting and Green Belt

7.

Historic Landscapes

8.

Historic Environment

9.

Location and extent of known internationally, nationally and locally designated sites

10. Extent of mapped habitat surveys and known priority habitats
11. Known Phase 1 Survey habitats by type
12. Distribution of known priority habitat types
13. Extent of mapped woodland and known accessible wodland
14. Extent of known irreplaceable natural habitat
15. Zone identified as being important for willow tit, based on existing records
5.2 An account of the analysis of the evidence base is given below. In each case, existing
provision and the opportunities provided by the GI strategy for new or improved provision
are set out.
5.3 As noted at paragraph 2.7 it is recognised that there are limitations to the data currently
available to the Council, with gaps in the coverage of some datasets. Thus the following
sections are based on best available knowledge at the time.
5.4

Analysis of the currently available evidence base has demonstrated the following:

Green space within or near built areas
5.5 A map of the distribution of mapped green space within or near built areas across the
District is included as Map A.1 in Appendix A. For the purposes of the GI Strategy, this
green space is considered to include the Green Infrastructure assets of Country Parks,

Page 301

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

25

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

registered parks and gardens, Nature Reserves, children's play areas, outdoor sports pitches
and other public open space. Green space within or near built areas can play a key role in
the delivery of local open space to residents.
5.6 Country parks provide a gateway to the countryside and access to these sites is a key
issue. There are three country parks: Greenway Bank, Biddulph Grange (both near Biddulph)
and Ladderedge Country Park near Leek. Links to country parks from settlements across
the District - through the provision of appropriate cycle paths and foot paths - should be
considered a priority.
5.7 Analysis of the location of formal parks shows that the distribution is uneven – with
four of the five parks situated in Leek, the remaining park being situated in Cheadle. Memorial
Recreation Ground in Cheadle provides a wide range of facilities including children’s and
young people’s provision and sports provision. Increasing access to Memorial Recreation
Ground should be considered a priority. Dorset Drive is a large amenity green space (1.4
ha) located within Biddulph and has the potential to become a formal park. Dorset Drive
(west and east) are proposed for designation as Local Green Space in the emerging SMDC
Local Plan. The GI strategy provides an opportunity to upgrade and increase access to this
provision.
5.8

The Strategy provides new opportunities to:
Provide a wide variety of parks, wild areas and open spaces to meet the needs of both
nature and people.
Provide accessible green space in line with recommendations made in the Council's
Open Space Study Standards Paper (October 2017).
Protect existing green and open spaces used and valued by communities, including
designated Local Green Spaces, parks, play and recreation areas and sports pitches.
Improve and create green travel links between towns and villages to local areas of
recreation and open space.

Large-scale, linear infrastructure features with potential for connectivity
for biodiversity enhancement
5.9 A map of the distribution of linear infrastructure features across the District is included
as Map A.2 in Appendix A. For the purposes of the GI Strategy, these features are considered
to include the Green Infrastructure assets of long distance footpaths and trails, canals,
watercourses and disused railways. These features provide linear connectivity throughout
the area and offer significant opportunities to provide ecological connectivity if managed
appropriately.
5.10 Ecological corridors can act as a means of linking isolated nature-rich sites and
habitats, allowing the movement of animals and plants through otherwise unsuitable areas
and making these populations more resilient. Connected habitats provide a greater habitat
area. Larger habitats are often subject to fewer impacts and can support greater species
diversity. Corridors such as hedgerows and field margins are a characteristic part of the
agricultural landscape, and are also important for cultural and archaeological reasons.

Page 302
26

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

5.11 Large scale linear features such as canals, watercourses, railway banks and disused
railways can be important as habitats in their own right, and depending on their management,
can be important for a large number of animals and plants including priority species. For
example recent survey work in the Churnet Vallley has found that the scrub and wet woodland
habitats along canals, rivers and railways are very important for the UK BAP priority species
willow tit. The population of this rapidly declining woodland bird is closely linked to such
linear features which provide connectivity between suitable woodland sites.
5.12 Road Corridors can also make a contribution to the GI network. Roadside verges
can be some of the last vestiges of once flower rich fields and road verge management can
be designed appropriately to optimise the biodiversity value of road verges as refuges and
corridors for wildlife.
5.13 The District contains a wide variety of rivers, canals and towpaths that form the basis
of the blue corridor element of the District's green infrastructure. The Caldon Canal runs
from Stoke-on-Trent through Stockton Brook and Endon to the Churnet Valley.
5.14 The former Stoke-on-Trent to Leek railway line is now disused but until 1988 was
used by BR freight trains to reach the quarries at both Cauldon Lowe and Oakamoor. The
line is made up of two sections: the first section is the remains of the former Biddulph Valley
Line and the second is the former line to Leek from Milton Junction, passing through the
villages of Milton, Stockton Brook and Endon before meeting the Churnet Valley Line at Leek
Brook Junction.
5.15 Long distance footpaths and trails including those that use former railway lines) are
considered in the next section (Green Travel links).
5.16

The GI strategy provides opportunities to:
Identify protect and enhance ecological networks that provide the opportunity for species
to move within the landscape.
Promote the establishment of wider vegetation corridors along watercourses.
Link established linear features, such as disused railway lines, roads or canal and river
banks to nearby habitats and open spaces, to create ecological corridors and facilitate
the movement of wildlife.
Enable connected habitats to provide a greater habitat area. Larger habitats are often
subject to fewer impacts and can support greater species diversity.
Support the re-instatement of disused railway lines to improve green travel links where
appropriate.

Green Travel Links
5.17 A map of the distribution of Green Travel Links across the District is included as Map
A.3 in Appendix A. For the purposes of the GI Strategy, Green Travel Links are considered
to include the Green Infrastructure assets of footpaths, cycle ways, promoted walks and
trails such as the Biddulph Valley Way.

Page 303
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

27

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

5.18 The rural nature of Staffordshire Moorlands lends itself to the provision of linear
corridors which link open spaces (and settlements) together. Green travel links can be
particularly valuable in towns, facilitating links between open spaces and local residents.
5.19 The strategy looks to improve existing connections, and make new connections, in
particular between educational facilities, workplaces, hospitals and care homes and the
green infrastructure network as this can provide valuable opportunities to help support
people's health and well-being. Green corridors also provide valuable linkages between the
towns and outlying rural settlements.
5.20 The abundance of open countryside provides significant opportunities for a dense
Public Rights Of Way (PROW) network across the District - Staffordshire Moorlands has a
(3)
network of 600 miles of PROW . Key routes in the District include the Staffordshire
Moorlands Walks (a series of self-guided walks - route descriptions available from the SMDC
web-site), Biddulph Valley Way, Manifold Valley Walks and County Park trails.
5.21 The Staffordshire Way is a long distance footpath established by Staffordshire County
Council. It is the most established multi-user route in the area, running parallel to the River
Churnet from Rudyard Lake in the north-west to Alton in the south-east, and connecting to
the Leek to Rushton Spencer Greenway and the Oakamoor to Denstone Greenway. These
two Greenways follow the track bed of the former Churnet Valley Railway. Greenways are
generally for shared use by walkers, horse riders, and cyclists.
5.22 There are also a number of strategic cycle routes throughout the District. Specific
routes include the Manifold Trail and Biddulph and Leek to Rudyard Lake. The Manifold
Trail is a high quality site shared by walkers and cyclists and stretches for nearly nine miles
through the Manifold, Hamps Valley, and Waterhouses. The Staffordshire Moorlands link
consists of 23km connection from Stoke-on-Trent to the Manifold Trail and the Roaches via
a segregated cycle route between Stockton Brook and Cheddleton (utilising the Caldon
Canal towpath) combined with an on-road route from Cheddleton to the Manifold Trail. The
District also includes a number of routes suitable for wheelchair users / pushchairs, including
the Rudyard Trail.
5.23 Staffordshire has one horse riding route of strategic significance - the Sabrina
Way. This route is part of the National Bridleroute Network and whilst primarily designed
for horse riders, can be used by walkers and cyclists also. The Way runs through the south
east of the District, from Waterhouses to Oakamoor and Checkley.
5.24 However the evidence base has demonstrated that whilst the network available to
walkers is good and evenly spread, the percentage of the network which is available to horse
riders and cyclists is particularly low. Furthermore, the bridleway network is fragmented
making the establishment of off-road circular routes difficult. Vulnerable users, such as
horse riders and cyclists can be forced onto unsuitable roads.
5.25 It should be noted that where work is undertaken to provide or improve green travel
links, care should be taken to avoid disturbance to sensitive wildlife and damage to heritage
assets (e.g. of disused railways and plate-ways).
5.26

3

28

The GI strategy provides opportunities to:

Page 304

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/eLand/RightsofWay/home.aspx

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Recognise and value existing greenways through settlements such as the Biddulph
Valley Way.
Support the delivery of a network of well connected pathways providing routes for
walkers, cyclists and horse riders.
Identify opportunities to improve existing connections, and make new connections, in
particular between educational facilities, workplaces, hospitals and care homes and
the green / blue infrastructure network to help support people's health and well-being.
Seek opportunities to deliver connections within the GI network that help support access
for those in early years education to their immediate natural environment.
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to enhance
opportunities for walking, cycling and horse riding in the Churnet Valley through creating
and enhancing linkages between existing routes and through upgrading routes and
creating new routes.
Extend footpath links along the Uttoxeter Canal, including at the Bolton Copperworks
site.
Improve access to the countryside for walking by improving existing rights of way which
occupy historic routeways such as the Churnet Valley plateways.
To address gaps in the network for cyclists and horse riders by establishing new horse
riding/cycling routes within the district;
Improve links between Peak District National Park and Churnet Valley for walkers,
cyclists and horse riders.
Extend the network of off-road paths around Leek for walkers, cyclists and horse riders
with links to Rudyard and Tittesworth to the north and strengthen links to the country
parks – Ladderedge and Deep Hayes.
Extend green infrastructure within Leek to improve access to green space within the
town and out to the surrounding countryside, including enhancing the role of Brough
Park.
Seek opportunities to create walking and cycling routes between Cornhill, Leek and
Ladderedge Country Park and Birchall Playing Fields.
Strengthen sustainable transport links between Leek town centre and Cornhill and to
other visitor attractions in the Churnet Valley.
Create links between the Consall Hall Gardens, the adjacent Consall Nature Park, the
Staffordshire Way and Consall Forge (Consall Railway Station and the Caldon Canal).
Establish at least one circular route for less agile people.
Improve sustainable transport connections from Cheadle town centre to other visitor
attractions in the Churnet Valley.

Page 305
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

29

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Extend green infrastructure with access to green space within Cheadle town and to the
surrounding countryside, extending the network of off-road paths for walkers, cyclists
and horse riders
Enhance and develop pathways along rivers and canals, and promote additional links
to provide access to them from as wide an area as possible, while avoiding disturbance
to sensitive wildlife.

Blue Infrastructure, flood attenuation and water management
5.27 A map of the distribution of rivers, and areas at risk of flooding, is included as Map
A.4 in Appendix A. For the purposes of the GI Strategy, blue infrastructure assets (including
for flood attenuation and water management) are considered to include principal rivers and
streams and flood zones 2 and 3 (the areas that could be affected by flooding from a river
with a flood that has a 1% (1 in 100) or greater chance of happening each year [flood zone
3] or areas likely to be affected by a major flood, with up to a 0.1% (1 in 1000) chance of
occurring each year [flood zone 2]. Map A.4 also shows the Environment Agency zones
identifying potential and priority areas for new floodplain woodland, to help reduce downstream
flood risk.
5.28 During heavy rainfall, flooding from sewers or highway drains may occur if the rainfall
event exceeds the design capacity of the drainage system, the system becomes blocked
and/or the system cannot discharge due to high water levels in receiving watercourses.
Sewer and highway flooding typically results in localised short term flooding. There are a
number of areas within the Moorlands where the steep topography, combined with low
permeability soils, can exacerbate surface water flood risk. Areas shown to be at most risk
from surface water flooding are largely associated with the fluvial floodplains and coincide
(4)
with reservoirs .
Blue Infrastructure
5.29 There are four main rivers running north-south across the District providing an
extensive network of blue infrastructure contributing to a distinctive landscape and benefits
for people and wildlife, but with an associated risk of flooding.
5.30 The River Churnet rises in the Peak District National Park, flowing south through the
District around Leek. Catchment land use is largely low grade agriculture or pasture, however
the Churnet flows through significant areas of woodland, much of which is designated SSSI.
Major tributaries include Endon Brook and Combes Brook. South of Cheddleton, the river
is canalised for approximately 1.6km as the Caldon Canal, before returning to natural river
channel, flowing south out of the District and joining the River Dove.
5.31 The River Tean rises to the east of Stoke on Trent and flows south east out of the
District, before joining the River Dove north of Uttoxeter in East Staffordshire. The catchment
is largely rural, except for the town of Cheadle. The Cecilly Brook is a major tributary.
5.32 The River Blithe catchment drains the most southerly region of the District, rising to
the south of Stoke-on-Trent and flowing south east out of the District and ultimately draining
into the River Dove, south of Uttoxeter. Land use is largely mixed arable farming and
grassland. Fors Brook is a major tributary.
4

30

Page 306

Staffordshire Moorlands Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Update; October 2015

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

5.33 Biddulph Brook and its associated catchment drains a small area to the far west of
the District, around the town of Biddulph, ultimately draining to the River Dane east of
Congleton.
5.34 The River Dane is a tributary of the River Weaver that originates in the Peak District
and forms the border between first Cheshire and Derbyshire on the west and east, and then
between Cheshire and Staffordshire, flowing through Rushton Spencer.
5.35

In addition the District has a significant length of ordinary watercourses including:
Biddulph Brook
Black Brook
Blake Brook
Broadgate Hall Brook
Combes Brook
Cotton Brook
Dingle Brook
Ellis Hill Brook
Hoo Brook
Horton Brook
Oakenclough
Rad Brook
Ravensclough Brook
River Dove
River Hamps
River Manifold
Shirley Brook
Warilow Brook
Warslow Brook

5.36 Where possible, opportunities will be sought to undertake river restoration and enhance
natural river corridors as part of a new development in line with the Humber River Basin
Management Plan (Water Framework Directive). All development should be set back from
all rivers and streams with an undeveloped buffer corridor in order to provide biodiversity
307 capacity in view of climate
migration routes, make space for water and Page
provide additional
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

31

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

change demands. New developments should be designed to view watercourses as
aesthetically valuable greenspaces which add value to the development by providing attractive
areas for people to view nature.
5.37 As a result of the topography and hydrology of the District, a number of lakes and
reservoirs have been built or impounded for the supply of drinking water and industry. These
lakes and reservoirs include:
Hales Hall Pool
Ladderedge Storage Reservoir
Knypersley Reservoir
Rudyard Lake / Reservoir
Serpentine
Stanley Pool
Tittesworth Reservoir
5.38 The Caldon Canal runs from Stoke-on-Trent to Leek and to Froghall where there is
a link to the Uttoxeter Canal, currently being restored.
5.39 The canal enters the District at Endon. There are lock flights at Stockton Brook and
Hazlehurst, where the canal divides with one lock-free arm leading to Leek via a short tunnel
and ends at the feeder stream from Rudyard Lake, whilst the other descends the Churnet
Valley via eight more locks to Froghall. The towpath has recently been upgraded to link
Stoke-on-Trent to the Peak National Park. The Staffordshire Moorlands link is part of an
overall £5m Pedal Peak project which is a Staffordshire County Council / Canal and River
Trust initiative.
5.40

The GI strategy provides opportunities to:
Wherever possible avoid development in medium and high flood risk areas (Flood
Zones 2 and 3).
Wherever possible ensure new developments contribute to managing wider flood risk,
for example through use of sustainable drainage schemes (SuDS) and use of low-lying
ground in waterside areas for recreation, amenity and supporting wildlife.
Identify, with partners, problem areas where retro-fitting of SuDS and other enhancement
measures could be used to help solve existing issues.
Identify opportunities to improve access to, and along, watercourse corridors.
Help make space for water by undertaking river corridor restoration and enhancement
as part of a development where a site contains a main river or ordinary watercourse,
site layout should also enable retention of a river corridor including its floodplain.

Page 308
32

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Help ensure that development is set back from rivers and streams, with an undeveloped
buffer corridor in order to provide biodiversity migration routes, make space for water
and provide additional capacity in view of climate change demands.
Encourage natural flood management techniques throughout catchments, for example
slowing the movement of flood water by planting floodplain or riverside woodland, or
the introduction of natural woody debris into streams and watercourses, to increase
resistance to floodwater flow.
Identify opportunities for planning and managing woodlands in association with streams,
rivers and other water bodies to provide and link habitats.

Main landscape character types
5.41 A map of the District's Landscape Character types is included as Map A.5 in Appendix
A. The District includes high quality landscape, including parts of the Peak District National
(5)
Park. Staffordshire Moorlands falls within 4 Joint Character Areas :
64 Potteries and Churnet Valley
52 White Peak
53 South West Peak
68 Needwood Claylands
5.42 The majority and central area of the district falls into the Potteries and Churnet Valley.
The South West Peak and the White Peak joint character areas extend from the Peak Park
area into the eastern edge of the District.
5.43 Further Landscape Character Assessment has been undertaken to identify the specific
landscape character types that are found in Staffordshire Moorlands and that fall within the
wider Character Areas. Where new development is considered, appropriate consideration
should be given to the features of the landscape character type and to the more immediate
landscape setting. The landscape character types in the District are as follows:
Ancient plateau farmlands
Ancient slope and valley farmlands
Settled plateau farmland slopes
Settled plateau farmlands
Gritstone uplands
Dissected sandstone cloughs and valleys
Dissected sandstone highland fringe

5

Page 309

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/eLand/planners-developers/landscape/NaturalEnvironmentLandscapeCharacterTypes.aspx

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

33

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Dissected sandstone uplands
Gritstone highland fringe
Limestone highland fringe
5.44 Development should be informed by and be sympathetic to landscape character and
quality and should contribute, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement,
maintenance or active conservation of the landscape likely to be affected.
5.45 Sustainable agriculture is crucial for the development of rural economies as well as
the rural landscape. Farmers are often considered the custodians of nature - their livelihoods
depending on the well-being of their natural surroundings - as well as high quality natural
environments providing multiple benefits that support sustainable agriculture, healthy and
diversified food production and thriving farm businesses.
5.46 The GI strategy provides opportunities to enhance the natural, man-made and cultural
features that are crucial to the local landscape and create opportunities for the restoration
of degraded landscapes and the enhancement of the urban fringe.

Landscape Setting and Green Belt
5.47 A map showing the Green Belt boundary and sensitive landscapes surrounding the
main settlements is included as Map A.6 in Appendix A. The Green Belt within Staffordshire
(6)
Moorlands District :
Limits the encroachment of the Stoke-on-Trent conurbation into Staffordshire Moorlands
District.
Maintains the rural character and settlement pattern of the District, particularly in the
proximity of the conurbation.
Limits sprawl along the main transport corridors through the eastern part of the District,
thereby helping to maintain the identity of settlements situated along these routes.
Contains growth of the principal settlements of Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle, thereby
maintaining their relative compactness and rural setting.
5.48 Locally, the function of the Green Belt largely mirrors its strategic role, helping to
provide the countryside context for the District’s villages and towns.
5.49 Map A.6 also illustrates judgements made, based on fieldwork, about landscape
quality and landscape sensitivity. The map shows what is considered to be the important
landscape setting to settlements based on a further development of information gathered
under the Landscape Character study to provide a more in depth assessment identifying
(7)
the distinctive qualities of the individual settlements .

6
7

34

Page 310

http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/975/Green-Belt-Review-Study/pdf/GREEN_BELT_REVIEW_FINAL_REDUCED.pdf
Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment of Staffordshire Moorlands; 2008; Wardell Armstrong

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

5.50 The evidence shows the importance of the Churnet Valley for its high natural, cultural
and landscape character sensitivity. Churnet Valley has its own strategy driven by the
Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership. The strategy aims to reflect the existing
habitat network mapping undertaken for the Churnet Valley and seeks to deliver the aims
(8)
of the Churnet Valley Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document , conserving and
enhancing the area for its historic interest, recreation, education and nature conservation
value, seeking to enhance and create further biodiversity as well as opportunities for walking,
cycling and horse riding.
5.51 The GI strategy provides opportunities to conserve and enhance the Churnet Valley
area for its historic interest, recreation, education and nature conservation value.

Historic Landscapes
5.52 A map showing historic landscapes across the District is included as Map A.7 in
Appendix A.
5.53 The Staffordshire Moorlands are defined by their historic landscape character whose
integrity survives particularly well across District which is predominantly rural comprising
well preserved ancient field systems and a predominantly dispersed settlement pattern of
(9)
small farmsteads and cottages . The evidence shows that the District is dominated by the
broad Historic Landscape Character type of ‘Fieldscapes’ which covers over 77% of the
area. Woodland also makes a significant contribution to the historic landscape covering 8%
of the District, the majority of it being located in steep-sided valleys, of which the prime
example is the Churnet Valley.
5.54 Whilst the Broad Type ‘Industrial & Extractive’ only covers 2% of the area of the
District this mostly relates to several large sites of over 50ha. Map A.7 reveals concentrations
at Cauldon in the east of the District, to the north east of Oakamoor and to the south of
Cheadle; all of these sites related to extant quarries. Around Leek the larger industrial sites
are mostly industrial estates.
5.55 The GI strategy provides opportunities to conserve the fabric of the historic landscape
of the Staffordshire Moorlands, including field boundaries, the dispersed settlement pattern
and narrow winding lanes between settlements.

Historic Environment
5.56 A map showing elements of the historic environment across the District is included
as Map A.8 in Appendix A. For the purposes of the GI Strategy, the historic environment is
considered to include the Green Infrastructure assets of historic farmsteads, historic buildings,
scheduled monuments and structures and registered parks and gardens.
5.57 The District contains a high number of designated and non-designated historic assets.
There are 979 Listed Buildings, 117 Scheduled Monuments and fourteen Conservation Areas
lying within the Staffordshire Moorlands District, outside of the Peak National Park. There
are two Grade I Registered parks and gardens in the District: Alton Towers and Biddulph
Grange; both of which are open to the public (charges may be payable).

8
9

Page 311

http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1360/Churnet-Valley-Masterplan
Historic Environment Character Assessment: Staffordshire Moorlands; Staffordshire County Council; August 2010

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

35

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

5.58 There are many other currently non-designated heritage assets including buildings,
monuments, non-designated archaeology and historic landscape character, as well as places
or sites which are not of national importance but are valuable to the local environment and
merit protection. There are currently two heritage assets on the Local Heritage Register:
Pickwood Recreation Ground, Leek and the Hollybush Pub, Brown Edge.
5.59
The GI strategy provides opportunities to recognise the importance and the diversity
of the historic built environment and its contribution to the local distinctiveness of the
Staffordshire Moorlands, ensuring that designated and non-designated historic assets and
their settings are protected and enhanced wherever possible and opportunities to support
investment in heritage at risk identified.

Location and extent of known internationally, nationally and locally
designated sites
5.60 A map illustrating the distribution of known designated biodiversity and geodiversity
sites across the District is included as Map A.9 in Appendix A. For the purposes of the GI
Strategy, these are considered to include the Green Infrastructure assets of statutorily
designated sites such as Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection
Areas (SPAs), Ramsar sites, National Nature Reserves (NNR), Local Nature Reserves (LNR)
and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), along with non-statutorily protected sites
including Sites of Biological Interest and Biodiversity Alert Sites (known collectively as Local
Wildlife Sites) and Regionally Important Geological Sites (RIGs).
5.61 The sites shown on map A.9 are those designated at present, but numbers and
boundaries of sites are subject to change with review, particularly Local Wildlife Sites and
RIGs where not all sites of value have yet been identified comprehensively.
5.62 The District is rich in biodiversity and geodiversity. Geodiversity is a term that can
be broadly defined as encompassing the variety of rocks, fossils and minerals and natural
landscape forming processes on the earth. This is taken to include all geomorphological
(10)
features and landscapes resulting from weathering and transportation of soils and rocks .
5.63 Staffordshire Moorlands District has the largest total area of designated sites of all
districts in Staffordshire and has the second highest percentage coverage (13%) after
Cannock Chase District.
Area of
District (Ha)

Area SSSI
(Ha)

Area SBI
(Ha)

Area BAS
(Ha)

Area
designated

%
designated

57,584.98

4,984.74

2,171.9

305.907

7,462.55

12.96

(1)

Table 5.1 Percentage of district covered by each type of site
1.

Staffordhire Ecological Record, 2016

5.64 Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs) are sites
of European importance designated under the The Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010 that implement the EC Habitats Directive. All sites designated under this
European legislation are already SSSIs. Within the District (but not the Local Plan area) are
the following European sites:
10

36

Page 312

Staffordshire Geodiversity Action Plan; Staffordshire Ecological Record

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

South Pennine Moors (SAC)
Peak District Dales (SAC)
Peak District Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1) SPA
5.65 The Peak District Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1) SPA is noted for the breeding
of five species of birds – golden plover, merlin, peregrine falcon, short eared owl and dunlin.
All of these apart from the peregrine are ground nesting birds which are potentially vulnerable
(11)
to disturbance from walkers and cyclists .
5.66 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) are the finest sites for wildlife and natural
features, supporting many characteristic, rare and endangered species, habitats and natural
features. The purpose of SSSIs is to safeguard for present and future generations a series
of sites that are individually of high natural heritage importance. Large interconnected areas
of SSSI are concentrated throughout the Churnet Valley. The District includes 23 SSSIs as
follows:
Bath Pasture SSSI
Brownend Quarry SSSI (within Peak Park, but not the Local Plan area)
Caldon Dales SSSI
Caldon Low SSSI
Cauldon Railway Cutting SSSI
Churnet Valley SSSI
Colshaw Pastures SSSI (within Peak Park, but not the Local Plan area)
Combes Valley SSSI
Dimmings Dale & The Ranger SSSI
Dove Valley and Biggin Dale SSSI (within Peak Park, but not Local Plan area)
Ecton Copper Mines SSSI (within Peak Park, but not Local Plan area)
Froghall Meadow and Pastures SSSI
Hamps and Manifold Valleys SSSI (within Peak Park, but not Local Plan area)
Hulme Quarry SSSI
Leek Moors SSSI (within Peak Park, but not Local Plan area)
Moss Carr SSSI (within Peak Park, but not Local Plan area)

11

Page 313

Churnet Valley Masterplan: Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report Update; Staffordshire Moorlands District
Council;November 2013

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

37

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Rue Hill SSSI
Saltersford Lane Meadows SSSI
Stanton Pastures & Cuckoocliff Valley SSSI
Swineholes Wood and Blackheath SSSI
Thorncliffe Moor SSSI
Wetley Moor SSSI
Whiston Eaves SSSI
5.67 Section 41 (S41) of The Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act
2006 requires the Secretary of State to publish a list of habitats and species which are of
principal importance for the conservation of biodiversity in England. The S41 list is used to
guide decision-makers such as public bodies, including local and regional authorities, in
implementing their duty under section 40 of the NERC Act, to have regard to the conservation
of biodiversity in England, when carrying out their normal functions. Fifty-six habitats of
principal importance are included on the S41 list. These are all the habitats in England that
were identified as requiring action in the UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UK BAP) and continue
to be regarded as conservation priorities in the subsequent UK Post-2010 Biodiversity
Framework. Within Staffordshire Moorlands district these include:
Broadleaved, mixed and yew woodland
Neutral grassland
Acid grassland
Improved grassland
Dwarf shrub heath
Rivers and streams
5.68 There are currently 352 Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) covering nearly 2,500 hectares
within the Staffordshire Moorlands District (including that part of the district within the Peak
District National Park); however the total number of sites changes periodically as sites are
re-surveyed and new sites are found. Sites of Biological Importance (SBI) are of county
value and Biodiversity Alert Sites (BAS) are sites of district importance.
5.69 Some Local Wildlife Sites may be of SSSI "quality", as SSSIs are only a sample of
the best habitat in the country; LWS cover all the "best of the rest". They come in all shapes
and sizes, from small wildflower meadows and secluded ponds to ancient woodlands. Most
are owned by private individuals. LWS play a critical conservation role by providing wildlife
refuges, protecting threatened species and habitats, and acting as links and corridors between
nationally designated sites such as SSSIs. While they are not legally protected, they are a
material consideration within planning policy.
5.70
38

Page
314
Key sites in relation to the
emerging
GI network include:

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Alton Park SBI and Abbey Wood SBI - at Alton Towers.
Ashbourne Hey SBI, near Moneystone Quarry - area of high quality grassland.
Biddulph Valley Way (Whitemoor) LNR - The Way provides access directly or visually
to areas with historical or natural history interest. Whitemore Wood has a diverse
springtime flora whilst Bailey's Bank Wood (accessed by courtesy of the Woodland
Trust) contains the remains of the medieval Biddulph Castle.
Brough Park Fields LNR - The grassland areas are of such quality that together they
are designated as a County SBI.
Brown End Quarry: A former limestone quarry now managed as a geological nature
reserve near Waterhouses.
Cecilly Brook LNR - The Reserve follows a 1.25 km stretch of Cecilly Brook through
Cheadle and is one of the most important sites for water voles in Staffordshire. Ancient
flower rich meadows occur at Thorley Drive adjacent to Cecilly Brook and are of county
importance for their flora.
Churnet Valley Railway SBI - The former railway line, and in parts the route of the former
Uttoxeter Canal, which now acts as a greenway from Oakamoor to beyond the District
boundary.
Consall - Variety of habitats, woodland and grassland. There are 3 different nature trails
with increasing difficulty which highlight the flora and fauna found here.
Dale Sprink Pastures SBI - Consall Hall Gardens.
Froghall Bridge SBI - near Bolton Copperworks, Froghall.
Hales Hall Pool LNR - plants of the poolside include the Greater Tussock Sedge and
Lesser Reedmace.
Harston Wood: A flower filled ancient woodland in the Churnet Valley.
Hawksmoor Nature Reserve is a National Trust woodland just outside Oakamoor.
Heathy Gore SBI at Moneystone Quarry
Hoften's Cross Meadows SBI - A wide range of herbs and grasses can be found on the
site; the most important area is down the banks by the stream where the flora is
particularly rich and varied.
Ipstones Edge: A mixture of heathland, moorland and woodland near Ipstones.
Ladderedge Country Park LNR - Unimproved grassland meadows. A breeding
population of great crested newts have been located in one of the ponds.
Marshes Hill Common LNR - A six hectare remnant of a once extensive heathland.
Rod Wood: A 40 acre nature reserve near Cheddleton which consists of some of the
finest wildflower meadows in the county.Page 315
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

39

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Soils Wood SBI - adjacent to the railway line at Leekbrook.
Side Farm Meadows: 10 acres of attractive wildflower meadows and a waterfall near
Oakamoor.
Weag's Barn: Picturesque meadows and woodland near Waterhouses.
5.71 Coombes Valley is an RSPB Reserve near Bradnop, Leek. There are short and long
trails that explore the valley.
5.72 The evidence shows that much of the Plan Area's biodiversity and geodiversity is
focused along the Churnet Valley. The Churnet Valley is the subject of a number of separate
studies, including a Churnet Valley Landscape Ecology Pilot: Habitat Networks Modelling
study funded by Natural England. The Council adopted a Churnet Valley Masterplan SPD
in March 2014. To support this work, a Biodiversity Opportunity Map of the district was
prepared - shown in Appendix B.
5.73 New development where appropriate should promote the maintenance, enhancement,
restoration and re-creation of biodiversity in line with the objectives for the relevant Biodiversity
Opportunity Zone set out in Appendix B.
5.74

The GI strategy provides opportunities to:
Target biodiversity enhancement in line with the objectives identified for existing
Biodiversity Opportunity Zones.
Prepare settlement specific biodiversity opportunity maps - mapping existing biodiversity,
high quality habitat, the opportunity for species to move within the landscape and
identifying specific opportunities to develop biodiversity across the Plan Area.
Support an increase in priority species and habitats in and around new developments.
Improve, manage and create a rich mosaic of woodland and grassland habitats, including
ancient and semi-natural woodland, wet woodland and scrub; neutral, acid and
calcareous grassland; wetland and riparian habitats and other habitats of conservation
importance.
Improve, manage and create woodland that supports vulnerable bird species, in particular
ancient and semi-natural woodland that are of high landscape importance and are also
very important for their bird assemblages including redstart, pied flycatcher and wood
warbler; also wet woodland and scrub which are important for willow tit.
Protect, enhance and support biodiversity gain in the Churnet Valley, in line with the
Churnet Valley Masterplan and Biodiversity Opportunity Map.
Support high quality local environments that help under-pin sustainable agriculture by
enabling appropriate nutrient cycling, pollination of crops, pest control, availability of
water and flood control, as well as soil protection.

Page 316
40

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Focus recreational activities in areas away from the European sites, attracting and
holding people to areas outside the SPA in line with the findings of the HRA of the Local
Plan and to help protect the population density of upland waders and other populations
of key SPA species such as golden plover.
Improve the aquatic environment through buffering and appropriate management and
restoration.
Protect, conserve and enhance the natural environment of Cecilly Brook and Hales Hall
Pool Local Nature Reserves in Cheadle, to help strengthen the population of water
voles.

Extent of mapped habitat surveys and known priority habitats
5.75 A map of the extent of surveyed habitats across the District is included as Map A.10
in Appendix A. For the purposes of the GI Strategy, mapped habitats are used to portray
natural open spaces and include the Green Infrastructure assets of Phase 1 habitats (broad
habitat types in accordance with Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC) classification
(12)
guidance eg Woodland and scrub; Grassland and marsh; Heathland; as well as Biodiversity
Action Plan and priority habitats - more specific habitat types identified as being the most
threatened and requiring conservation action eg calcareous grassland; broad-leaved
woodlands. Natural green space is an important and valued element of the District's Green
Infrastructure, any natural green space within settlement boundaries provides a gateway to
the wider countryside.
5.76 Evidence Base Map A.10 illustrates the abundance of natural green space in the
(13)
District and other supporting evidence for the Local Plan
has identified natural and
semi-natural green space as an important part of Staffordshire Moorlands, providing good
access to the countryside and wildlife. Over two thirds (68%) of natural and semi-natural
provision was rated by the 2017 KKP Open Space Study as high quality. Four sites in
particular were found to have increased in quality since the previous (2009) study:
5.77

Bailey’s Wood, Biddulph

5.78

Cecilly Brook, Cheadle

5.79

Crabtree Avenue, Biddulph

5.80

Ladderedge Country Park, Leek

5.81 Whilst there is a reasonably good spread of natural and semi-natural greenspace
identified across Staffordshire Moorlands, the study demonstrated that there are large parts
of the district deficient in terms of accessibility to natural greenspace - in particular the more
urban areas.
5.82 The GI Strategy provides opportunities to support access to the countryside from
towns and villages, through improving and creating green travel links.

12
13

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-4258
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Open Space Study Update Report; Knight, Kavanagh & Page Ltd; August
2017

Page 317

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

41

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Known Phase 1 Survey habitat types
5.83 A map illustrating the distribution of known Phase 1 survey habitat types across the
District is included as Map A.11 in Appendix A. The Phase 1 Habitat Classification and
associated field survey technique provide a standardised system to record semi-natural
(14)
vegetation and other wildlife habitats
.
5.84

The Phase 1 classification comprises ten (A-J) broad high level categories as follows:
A: Woodland and scrub
B: Grassland and marsh
C: Tall herb and fen
D: Heathland
E: Mire
F: Swamp, marginal and inundation
G: Open water
H: Coastland
I: Exposure and waste
J: Miscellaneous

5.85 The evidence shows that the predominant habitat type across the Plan Area is
improved grassland.
5.86

The GI strategy provides opportunities to
Ensure no net loss of biodiversity within developments and aim for net biodiversity gain.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance.
Protect and improve existing sites - including by working with partners to secure and
maintain appropriate conservation management.
Work with the County Council to implement a long term strategy for mitigation,
conservation and enhancement of the grassland resource and for mitigation of landscape
impacts of quarrying, for example around Caldon Lowe.
Recognise the value of ecosystem services - the District's habitats play an important
role in providing valuable ecosystem services, especially carbon storage, water quality
and flood prevention.

14

42

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-4258

Page 318

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Known Priority Habitats by type
5.87 A map illustrating the distribution of known priority habitats across the District by type
is included as Map A.12 in Appendix A. There is a need to protect and maintain natural and
semi-natural habitats of nature conservation value outside of statutory designated sites to
sustain the variety of important habitats and species within the county and the District. The
Churnet Valley area supports examples of nationally important grassland types.
5.88 Managing priority habitats will support the habitat needs for many of the priority
species associated with this area. Ancient and semi-natural woodland are important for their
bird assemblages including redstart, pied flycatcher and wood warbler and wet woodland
and scrub are important for willow tit. Map A.15 shows the zone identified as being important
for willow tit, based on existing records. Woodland is also important for invertebrates including
the argent & sable moth. Priority habitat moorland and grassland mosaics support the priority
bird species curlew, snipe and lapwing and the priority habitat of rivers and streams can
support water voles, another priority species for conservation action. Cecilly Brook, Cheadle
holds a strong, isolated population of water voles.
(15)

5.89 Priority habitats defined as NERC Act S41
habitats of principal importance and
local BAP habitats identified in the Plan Area include:
Ponds
Rivers
Hedgerows
Reedbeds
Lowland mixed deciduous woodland
Upland oakwood
Wet woodland
Lowland calcareous grassland
Lowland meadows
Purple moor-grass and rush pastures
Lowland heathland
Upland heathland
Wood-pasture and parkland
Eutrophic standing waters
Open mosaic habitats on previously developed land

15

Page 319

The Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 - Section 41 requires the Secretary of State to
publish a list of habitats and species which are of principal importance for the conservation of biodiversity in England.

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

43

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

5.90

The GI strategy provides opportunities to:
Create strategically placed stepping stone habitats to facilitate the movement of priority
species across the landscape.
Enhance and expand areas of woodland, grassland and wetland habitat mosaics,
incorporating measures to:
Enhance and expand areas of heathland and blanket bog in situations where
this will reduce soil erosion and benefit biodiversity, carbon storage, flood risk
management and water quality. And / or;
Enhance existing woodlands and expand woodland cover in locations where
well managed woodland can benefit landscape character, biodiversity, water
quality and flood risk, in addition to wider climate change, economic and social
benefits - key locations include: the Churnet Valley and the wider River Churnet
catchment.
Connect and expand areas of existing good quality grassland, for example the
species-rich grassland around Leek and in other locations where this will benefit
biodiversity, water quality and flood risk management.
Increase the area of priority habitats - including by identifying opportunities for habitat
creation as part of quarry restoration.

Woodland
5.91 A map illustrating the distribution of mapped woodland across the District is included
as Map A.13 in Appendix A. The evidence shows the predominant areas of woodland being
along the Churnet Valley.
5.92 Woodland cover exceeds 3,000ha in the Churnet Valley, a large proportion of which
is of ancient origin. Woodland birds such as redstart, pied flycatcher and wood warbler, and
(16)
invertebrates including the argent & sable moth are found throughout . Other important
areas of woodland in the District include:
Coombes and Churnet Valley RSPB woodland - A steep-sided wooded valley of mature
oak with rocky streams and ponds with spring woodland flowers and flower meadows.
Consall Nature Park, Consall Forge, Wetley Rocks.
Cotton Dell Nature Reserve with ancient woodlands and flower rich grassland.
Brough Park Fields, Leek - A network of woodland north of leek to Tittesworth Reservoir
including Abbey Woodland and small pockets of woodland such as at Brough Park
Fields Local Nature Reserve.
Ladderedge Country Park, Leek. Large country park with pastureland and small patches
of woodland.

16

44

Page 320

The State of Staffordshire's Nature; Staffordshire Wildlife Trust; 2016

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Areas of woodland at the northern end of the Biddulph Valley Way - Whitemoor SBI is
connected to woodlands along Congleton Edge plus other woodlands in the vicinity
such as woodland at Biddulph Grange Country Park.
Greenway Bank Country Park - formal gardens leading into extensive areas of quiet
woodland around the Serpentine Pool.
Deep Hayes Country Park - A park with industrial heritage, Deep Hayes is now an area
of woodland and meadows with a series of pools and pathways.
Chain of woodland south-east of Cheadle stretching to Hollinsclough along the border
with East Staffordshire.
5.93

The GI strategy provides opportunities to:
Manage and retain the woodland edge to development sites.
Identify opportunities to support sustainable woodland management across the Churnet
Valley, for example by promoting the local economy through support for rural businesses
associated with woodland habitat management.
Improve, manage and create a rich mosaic of woodland and other habitats of
conservation importance.
Support woodland planting to buffer and link existing woodlands and other semi-natural
open habitats within priority woodland habitat networks to promote biodiversity.
Improve, manage and create woodland that supports vulnerable bird species, in particular
ancient and semi-natural woodland that are important for their bird assemblages including
redstart, pied flycatcher and wood warbler; also wet woodland and scrub which are
important for willow tit.
Restore ancient and semi-natural woodland sites and wet woodland.
Support landscape scale woodland and grassland mosaic restoration and creation
where appropriate, particularly in the Churnet Valley.
Support woodland planting along river corridors and flood plains where appropriate to
assist in flood risk management and to support movement of species such as willow
tit.
Support woodland planting designed to increase infiltration and interception of rain into
the ground, reduce erosion, or slow the flow in the catchment.
Support woodland planting designed to reduce and intercept diffuse pollution from
agriculture to improve water quality.

Page 321
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

45

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Areas of known irreplaceable natural habitat
5.94 A map illustrating the known distribution of irreplaceable natural habitat across the
District is included as Map A.14 in Appendix A. It should be noted that not all veteran trees
have been recorded, and that most ancient woodlands under 2 hectares in size are not
included on the national register. Hence it is likely that more ancient woodland may be
present than is currently shown.
5.95 Trees and woodland classed as "ancient" or "veteran" are irreplaceable. Ancient
woodland takes hundreds of years to establish and is considered important for its wildlife,
soils, recreation, cultural value, history and contribution to landscapes. "Ancient woodland"
is considered to be any wooded area that has been wooded continuously since at least 1600
AD. It includes:
"ancient semi-natural woodland" - mainly made up of trees and shrubs native to the
site, usually arising from natural regeneration;
"plantations on ancient woodland sites" - areas of ancient woodland where the former
native tree cover has been felled and replaced by planted trees, usually of species not
native to the site.
5.96 "Veteran trees" are trees which, because of their age, size or condition are of cultural,
historical, landscape and nature conservation value. They can be found as individuals or
groups within ancient wood pastures, historic parkland, hedgerows, orchards, parks or other
areas.
(17)

5.97 The NPPF
states that planning permission should be refused for development
resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats, including ancient woodland
and the loss of aged or veteran trees found outside ancient woodland, unless the need for,
and benefits of, the development in that location clearly outweigh the loss.
5.98

The GI strategy provides opportunities to:
Protect, connect and enhance irreplaceable natural habitats, particularly ancient
woodlands and veteran trees.

5.99 The new opportunities identified by type of GI asset and described above can be
grouped under the following six headings set out in the summary box below. This has helped
to define the vision set out in section 3.

The GI Strategy provides opportunities to:
1.

17

46

Provide a wide variety of parks, wild areas and open spaces to meet the needs of
both nature and people.

Page 322

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/11-conserving-and-enhancing-the-natural-environment

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

2.

Create, improve and protect green travel links that enable people to access a range
of jobs, services, facilities and recreation opportunities using sustainable transport
options.

3.

Create, improve and protect biodiversity and the ecological networks that provide
the opportunity for species to move within the landscape.

4.

Improve flood and water management.

5.

Protect and enhance the distinctive character of the District's towns and villages
together with their landscape settings.

6.

Promote the sustainable economic growth of the District.

7.

Enhance the profitability of farm businesses and provide extra sources of income
for rural communities.

8.

Understand and protect ecosystem services provided by GI.

Page 323
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

47

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Churnet Valley

Page 324
48

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

GI priorities and proposals

Page 325
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

49

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

6 GI priorities and proposals
Key elements of the strategy
6.1 The outputs of the GIS mapping exercise and an analysis of other plans and strategies,
together with an assessment of proposals in the emerging Local Plan, have formed the basis
for the development of a strategic green infrastructure network for the Staffordshire Moorlands.
6.2 Although this GI network is based on an analysis and understanding of existing assets
and potential opportunities, at this stage it is principally intended as a strategic framework
within which proposals for the protection, enhancement and delivery of green infrastructure
should be brought forward. Further work to develop specific proposals and to implement
the strategy is detailed in section 8.
6.3 It should be noted that the location of a development site within or close to an identified
corridor forming part of the strategic network is not in itself a barrier to development. However
the priorities and proposals set out in this chapter for each of the strategic corridors / areas
will provide a steer as to the habitat protection, restoration or green infrastructure
enhancement and creation actions that should be considered and contributed to through
land management or financial contribution - as part of any development proposal.
6.4
The corridors described and shown in the maps included within this report are
considered to have permeable edges. The boundaries drawn for the strategic corridors
should be considered to act as a guideline only. Main arteries only can be shown on the
maps and these relate to the availability of existing mapping and current information. There
may be other areas for habitat creation, restoration, buffering or linking outside the illustrated
boundaries. Where a site may be in close proximity to part of the shown strategic GI network,
the priorities and objectives of that corridor should still be considered applicable.
6.5 This section identifies and describes the component elements of the strategic green
infrastructure network, and sets out key priorities and actions for each part of the identified
network.
6.6 Although action should be promoted in all parts of the network, some priorities will be
necessary to achieve the vision for the sustainable development of the district as set out in
the emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Three principles are proposed to support
the identification of priority actions for the strategic Green Infrastructure Network for the
Staffordshire Moorlands:
Protecting and, where appropriate, enhancing the critical elements of the existing green
infrastructure resource within the district's towns and villages, including the historic
environment.
Developing and extending where necessary the existing elements of green infrastructure
to create a multi-functional network that links existing and proposed green spaces.
Preparing additional biodiversity opportunity maps where appropriate - to map existing
biodiversity, high quality habitat, the opportunity for species to move within the landscape
and to identify specific opportunities to develop biodiversity across the Plan Area,
particularly in and around new developments and in line with the existing district-wide
Biodiversity Opportunity map.

Page 326
50

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map 6.1 Strategic GI Network

Page 327
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

51

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Description of the Green Infrastructure Network at a strategic level
6.7 The GI network comprises eleven strategic corridors / areas. These are illustrated in
the Strategic GI Network map on the previous page and are described below. The proposed
priorities and actions for each of these corridors / areas are also set out.
6.8 Whilst illustrated as a linear network for simplicity of representation, it is acknowledged
that strategic green infrastructure is in fact a complex network of habitat patches and linear
sites.

1: Churnet Valley Corridor
Fairboroughs - Leek - Cheddleton - Consall - Kingsley Holt - Oakamoor - Alton
6.9 At the heart of the Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Network, the Churnet
Valley Corridor runs the length of the District and is subject to its own Masterplan SPD and
habitat network modelling. From wooded valleys at its heart, to the River Churnet which
flows through the valley from higher land north of Tittesworth Reservoir, through Leek,
Cheddleton, Froghall, Oakamoor and Alton, joining the River Dove beyond Rocester; it is
an area of high landscape value, with many sites of nature conservation and geological
interest. The corridor includes a vast array of heritage features with ancient monuments,
former plateways, a castle and a registered park and garden. The Churnet Valley is home
to a large number of well-established tourist, leisure and visitor attractions, including the
Churnet Valley Railway, the Caldon Canal and the Alton Towers Resort. The whole of the
corridor forms a strategic wildlife corridor with scope for linking habitats, especially woodland
and species rich grassland mosaics, as well as enhancing opportunities for walking, cycling
and horse riding.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Conserve and enhance the Churnet Valley area for its historic interest, recreation, education
and nature conservation value; in particular to:
Help deliver the aims and objectives of the Churnet Valley Masterplan.
Assist with the delivery of the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP)
ambition to support and develop a linear route along the River Churnet from Rudyard
to Denstone as a multi-user trail that is well connected to other green infrastructure.
Work with the CVLLP and individual conservation organisations, to protect, enhance
and support biodiversity gain in the Churnet Valley, in line with the Churnet Valley
Masterplan and Biodiversity Opportunity Map.
Identify opportunities to direct additional investment to build on relevant project work
carried out under existing Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership initiatives.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance supporting a mosaic of woodland, grassland
and wetland habitats.

Page 328

52

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Support landscape scale creation and restoration of a woodland and grassland habitat
mosaic where appropriate.
Enhance and expand areas of unimproved grassland particularly in situations where
this will reduce soil erosion and benefit habitat connectivity, landscape character,
biodiversity, flood risk management and water quality.
Enhance existing woodlands and expand woodland cover in locations where well
managed woodland can benefit landscape character, biodiversity, water quality and
flood risk.
Where appropriate, investigate opportunities to restore ancient and semi-natural
woodland sites and wet woodland and scrub.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Support the development and expansion of high quality, well-connected routes to aid
sustainable tourism in the Churnet Valley for walkers, cyclists and horse riders.
Enhance and develop pathways along rivers and canals, and promote additional links
to provide access to them from as wide an area as possible.
Link established linear routes, such as disused railway lines, roads or canal and river
banks to nearby habitats and open spaces.
Create and improve links within and between towns and villages to local areas of
recreation and open space.
Create and improve links to the countryside from towns and villages, including by
improving existing rights of way which occupy historic routeways such as the Churnet
Valley plateways.
Conserve and enhance the setting of heritage assets by supporting access to and
enjoyment of historic landscapes and heritage assets for recreation, education, and
lifelong learning and strengthen or restore historic links between heritage assets using
green infrastructure.
6.10

The Churnet Valley corridor is considered to have a spur:

1a: Churnet Valley: Winkhill Spur
Oakamoor - Kingsley & Froghall Station - Blackbank Wood - Winkhill
6.11 The sensitivity of the landscape, biodiversity and heritage issues are major factors
of this spur and the key focus should be on conserving and enhancing the landscape and
biodiversity of the area.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
To work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to deliver the aims
and objectives of the Partnership and of the Churnet
Page Valley
329 Masterplan; in particular to:
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

53

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to protect, enhance
and support biodiversity gain in the Churnet Valley, in line with the Churnet Valley
Masterplan and Biodiversity Opportunity Map.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance.
Support the delivery of a network of well-connected pathways providing routes for
walkers, cyclists and horse riders.
Focus recreational activities in areas away from the European sites, attracting and
holding people to areas outside the SPA in line with the findings of the HRA of the Local
Plan and to help protect the population density of upland waders and other populations
of key SPA species such as golden plover.
Conserve and enhance the setting of heritage assets by supporting access to and
enjoyment of historic landscapes and heritage assets for recreation, education, and
lifelong learning and strengthen or restore historic links between heritage assets using
green infrastructure.

2: Leek town
6.12 Leek is the largest settlement in the District with a well established range of facilities
and services and plays a key role as market town for a wide catchment area, particularly to
the north of the District. It is a significant gateway into the Churnet Valley and the Peak
District National Park from the north and west. The strategy can be used to help promote
Leek’s special character and heritage and strengthen its role as a visitor destination. There
is scope for developing a series of green radial routes linking the town with surrounding
countryside.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Protect and extend green infrastructure within Leek to improve access to green spaces and
woodland within the town and links out to the surrounding countryside, in particular to:
Protect existing green and open spaces used and valued by communities, including
designated Local Green Spaces, parks, play and recreation areas and sports pitches.
Investigate opportunities to protect and enhance the "green wedges" into the town of
Ball Haye Green in the north and Ladydale in the south.
Provide accessible green space in line with recommendations made in the Council's
Open Space Study Standards Paper (October 2017).
Maintain and upgrade the existing network of off-road paths, including the Staffordshire
Moorlands promoted walks network (identified and described on the Council's web-site).

Page 330
54

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Investigate opportunities to create walking and cycling routes between Leek town centre,
Cornhill, and key green space in the town including Ladderedge Country Park, Brough
Park and Birchall Playing Fields.
Consider opportunities for the disused railway footpath to Rudyard.
Extend the network of off-road paths around Leek for walkers, cyclists and horse riders
with links to Rudyard and Tittesworth to the north and strengthened links to the country
parks – Ladderedge and Deep Hayes to the south as well as to visitor attractions in the
Churnet Valley.
Investigate opportunities for providing new and improving existing footpaths providing
access into the countryside within new developments on the urban fringe.
Investigate opportunities for linking strategic corridors 1, 3a, and 3 creating a "Leek
loop" wildlife corridor and walking route.
Investigate opportunities to extend the network of footpaths and cycle routes to improve
accessibility to areas of employment including Cornhill.
Investigate opportunities to improve and create pedestrian and cycle links between the
town centre and education sites including Westwood College, Leek High School and
Churnet View Middle School.
Investigate opportunities to link the schools and other areas of the town to nearby wild
spaces.
Investigate opportunities to protect, improve, buffer and connect existing sites of
ecological value, including Ladydale SBI, Ballington Wood SBI, Ladderedge Country
Park LNR and Brough Park Fields LNR - including by working with partners to secure
and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Investigate opportunities to protect, improve, buffer and connect the complex of Local
Wildlife Sites in the Abbey Green area.
Investigate opportunities for habitat creation or restoration as part of new developments,
including looking at establishing or improving wildlife corridors extending into the
countryside.
Investigate opportunities for the conservation or expansion of the populations of key
species including great crested newt, otter, brown trout, polecat, grass snake, hedgehog
and priority bird species such as barn owl and bullfinch.
Consider opportunities to contribute to existing Staffordshire Wildlife Trust or other
appropriate projects taking place in the area, including through the Churnet Valley Living
Landscape initiative.
Wherever possible ensure new developments contribute to managing wider flood risk,
for example through use of sustainable drainage schemes and use of low-lying ground
in waterside areas for recreation, amenity and supporting wildlife.

Page 331
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

55

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Help make space for water by undertaking river corridor restoration and enhancement
as part of a development where a site contains a main river or ordinary watercourse,
including de-culverting and restoration of any watercourses that have been degraded.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Investigate opportunities to restore degraded landscapes and enhance the urban fringe
/ edge of settlement.
Conserve and enhance the setting of heritage assets by supporting access to and
enjoyment of historic landscapes and heritage assets for recreation, education, and
lifelong learning and strengthen or restore historic links between heritage assets using
green infrastructure.

3: Churnet Valley North
Rushton Spencer - Rudyard - Longsdon - Horse Bridge - Endon - Stockton Brook
6.13 Part of the Churnet Valley area with its Masterplan SPD and habitat network modelling,
this distinct blue corridor includes a key recreational hub in the north of the Churnet Valley
dominated by Rudyard Lake which lends itself to a range of leisure and recreational activities
for countryside users and families. The Lake serves a wide area to the north of the County
and into Cheshire with potential for stronger links to Leek. The corridor follows the river
Churnet to Ladderedge and Deep Hayes Country Parks, picking up Endon Brook and the
Caldon Canal to Endon, Stockton Brook and over the border into Stoke-on-Trent, linking
with the River Trent / Caldon Canal corridor within the City. There is scope for woodland
planting to link habitats and manage water flow along the floodplains.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to deliver the aims and
objectives of the Partnership and of the Churnet Valley Masterplan; in particular to:
Assist with the delivery of the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP)
ambition to support and develop a linear route along the River Churnet from Rudyard
to Denstone as a multi-user trail that is well connected to other green infrastructure.
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to protect, enhance
and support biodiversity gain in the Churnet Valley, in line with the Churnet Valley
Masterplan and Biodiversity Opportunity Map.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance supporting a mosaic of woodland, grassland
and wetland habitats.
Connect and expand areas of existing good quality grassland, for example the
species-rich grassland around Leek and in other locations where this will benefit
biodiversity, water quality and
flood 332
risk management.
Page
56

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Support woodland planting to buffer and link existing woodlands and other semi natural
open habitats within priority woodland habitat networks to promote biodiversity.
Investigate potential to improve, manage and create woodland that supports vulnerable
bird species, in particular ancient and semi-natural woodland and wet woodland and
scrub that are of high landscape importance and are also very important for their bird
assemblages.
Investigate potential for new floodplain woodland to manage flood water and provide
wildlife habitat including for willow tit.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Support the delivery of a network of well-connected pathways providing routes for
walkers, cyclists and horse riders.
Cooperate with Stoke-on-Trent City Council in relation to Caldon Canal towpath
improvements to help create an extended cycling and walking network in line with the
City of Stoke-on-Trent Green Space Strategy, March 2014
6.14

The Churnet Valley North corridor is considered to have two spurs, 3a and 3b:

3a: Churnet Valley North: Thorncliffe Spur
Longsdon Grange - Ball Hayes Green - Upper Tittesworth - Thorncliffe; along the river
through Brough Park Field LNR to Tittesworth Reservoir and beyond.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to deliver the aims and
objectives of the Partnership and of the Churnet Valley Masterplan; in particular to:
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to protect, enhance
and support biodiversity gain in the Churnet Valley, in line with the Churnet Valley
Masterplan and Biodiversity Opportunity Map.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance supporting a mosaic of woodland, grassland
and wetland habitats.
Investigate potential for new floodplain woodland to manage flood water and provide
wildlife habitat including for willow tit.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Support woodland planting to buffer and link existing woodlands and other semi natural
open habitats within priority woodland habitat
networks
Page
333 to promote biodiversity.
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

57

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Improve, manage and create woodland that supports vulnerable bird species, in particular
ancient and semi-natural woodland that are of high landscape importance and are also
very important for their bird assemblages including pied flycatcher, redstart and wood
warbler; and wet woodland and scrub habitats for willow tit.
Where appropriate, investigate opportunities to restore ancient and semi-natural
woodland sites and wet woodland.
Focus recreational activities in areas away from the European sites, attracting and
holding people to areas outside the SPA in line with the findings of the HRA of the Local
Plan and to help protect the population density of upland waders and other populations
of key SPA species such as golden plover.
Support the delivery of a network of well-connected pathways providing routes for
walkers, cyclists and horse riders.

3b: Churnet Valley North: Rownall Spur
Horse Bridge - Rownall; linking woodland through Deep Hayes Country Park to Rownall.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to deliver the aims and
objectives of the Partnership and of the Churnet Valley Masterplan; in particular to:
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to protect, enhance
and support biodiversity gain in the Churnet Valley, in line with the Churnet Valley
Masterplan and Biodiversity Opportunity Map.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance supporting a mosaic of woodland, grassland
and wetland habitats.
Support woodland planting to buffer and link existing woodlands and other semi natural
open habitats within priority woodland habitat networks to promote biodiversity.
Improve, manage and create woodland that supports vulnerable bird species, in particular
ancient and semi-natural woodland that are of high landscape importance and are also
very important for their bird assemblages including pied flycatcher, redstart and wood
warbler; and wet woodland and scrub habitats for willow tit.
Investigate potential for new floodplain woodland to manage flood water and provide
wildlife habitat including the willow tit.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Support the delivery of a network of well-connected pathways providing routes for
walkers, cyclists and horsePage
riders. 334
58

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

4: Churnet Valley Central
Park Hall Country Park - Consall - Apesford
6.15 Part of the Churnet Valley area with its Masterplan SPD and specific habitat network
modelling, this woodland corridor is an area of high landscape value and a strategic wildlife
corridor potentially linking Park Hall Country Park, Caverswall Common and Creswell's Piece
to Consall Wood and Nature Park through the Combes Valley to further woodland at
Apesford. There is scope to increase connectivity of habitats by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance. Park Hall Country Park is one of the Stoke-on-Trent's
most important natural sites. Straddling the City and District boundaries at the western edge
of this corridor, the site was declared as Stoke-on-Trent's only National Nature Reserve in
2002; the sandstone canyons are a Site of Special Scientific Interest for their geology.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to deliver the aims and
objectives of the Partnership and of the Churnet Valley Masterplan; in particular to:
Work with the Churnet Valley Living Landscape Partnership (CVLLP) to protect, enhance
and support biodiversity gain in the Churnet Valley, in line with the Churnet Valley
Masterplan and Biodiversity Opportunity Map.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Enhance links to Park Hall Country Park - one of the city of Stoke-on-Trent's most
important natural sites.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance supporting a mosaic of woodland, grassland
and wetland habitats.
Support woodland planting to buffer and link existing woodlands and other semi natural
open habitats within priority woodland habitat networks to promote biodiversity.
Improve, manage and create woodland that supports vulnerable bird species, in particular
ancient and semi-natural woodland that are of high landscape importance and are also
very important for their bird assemblages including pied flycatcher, redstart and wood
warbler; and wet woodland and scrub habitats for willow tit.
Support the delivery of a network of well-connected pathways providing routes for
walkers, cyclists and horse riders.

5: Biddulph Moor Corridor
Raven's Clough - Biddulph Moor - Cowall - Brown Edge - Stanley Moor - Bagnall
6.16 A potential wildlife corridor linking a series of key habitats (in particular heathland
and woodland) and villages to the east of Biddulph. From Ravensclough Wood to the north,
the corridor runs south via Lask Edge to Heath Hay and Biddulph Moor, continuing through
Knypersley Park and Marshes Hill CommonPage
Local Nature
335 Reserve to Brown Edge. The
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

59

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

corridor continues through Tinster Wood, Stockton Brook and Stanley Moor finally linking to
the village of Bagnall. There is scope to extend and improve green infrastructure within the
corridor to help support the delivery of a network of well-connected pathways providing routes
for walkers, cyclists and horse riders and a functional mosaic of woodland and heathland
habitats.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Extend and improve green infrastructure within the corridor to help support the delivery of a
network of well-connected pathways providing routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders
and a functional mosaic of woodland, grassland, heathland and riparian habitats that offer
a safe haven for wildlife, support biodiversity, slow the flow of flood water, improve water
quality and help to absorb and store carbon. In particular to:
Investigate opportunities for providing new and improving existing footpaths providing
access into the countryside and to provide or improve links to and from surrounding
settlements creating a sustainable transport network.
Investigate opportunities to enable safe walking and cycling routes to key destinations
in the villages, including primary schools.
Investigate opportunities for new developments to contribute to managing wider flood
risk, for example through use of sustainable drainage schemes and use of low-lying
ground in waterside areas for recreation, amenity and supporting wildlife.
Help make space for water by undertaking river corridor restoration and enhancement
as part of a development where a site contains a main river or ordinary watercourse.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Investigate opportunities for habitat creation within new developments including looking
at establishing or improving wildlife corridors extending into the countryside.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance, in particular the chain of heathland habitats
stretching from Brown Edge to Wetley Moor.
6.17

The Biddulph Moor corridor is considered to have two spurs, 5a and 5b:

5a: Biddulph Moor Corridor: Grange Spur
Initially following Biddulph Brook and linking the Local Nature Reserve at Whitemoor
via Biddulph Old Hall to Biddulph Grange Country Park and continuing to "The Sprink"
at Heath Hay.

Page 336
60

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Extend and improve green infrastructure within the corridor to help support the delivery of a
network of well-connected pathways providing routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders
and a functional mosaic of woodland, grassland and riparian habitats that offer a safe haven
for wildlife, support biodiversity, slow the flow of flood water, improve water quality and help
to absorb and store carbon. In particular to:
Investigate opportunities for providing new and improving existing footpaths providing
access into the countryside and to provide or improve links to and from surrounding
settlements creating a sustainable transport network.
Investigate opportunities to enable safe walking and cycling routes to key destinations
in the villages, including primary schools.
Investigate opportunities for new developments to contribute to managing wider flood
risk, for example through use of sustainable drainage schemes and use of low-lying
ground in waterside areas for recreation, amenity and supporting wildlife.
Help make space for water by undertaking river corridor restoration and enhancement
as part of a development where a site contains a main river or ordinary watercourse.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Investigate opportunities for habitat creation within new developments including looking
at establishing or improving wildlife corridors extending into the countryside.
Improve the management of woodland to support vulnerable bird species such as pied
flycatcher and wood warbler.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance.

5b: Biddulph Moor Corridor: Knypersley Spur
This spur links the main corridor to the Biddulph Valley Way at Brindley Ford via
Knypersley Reservoir and the Greenway Bank Country Park. The corridor includes
the Head of Trent corridor which runs from Knypersley Reservoir into the City of
Stoke-on-Trent.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Extend and improve green infrastructure within the corridor to help support the delivery of a
network of well-connected pathways providing routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders
and a functional mosaic of woodland, grassland and riparian habitats that offer a safe haven
for wildlife, support biodiversity, slow the flow of flood water, improve water quality and help
to absorb and store carbon. In particular to:

Page 337
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

61

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Investigate opportunities for providing new and improving existing footpaths providing
access into the countryside and to provide or improve links to and from surrounding
settlements creating a sustainable transport network.
Investigate opportunities to enable safe walking and cycling routes to key destinations
in the villages, including primary schools.
Investigate opportunities for new developments to contribute to managing wider flood
risk, for example through use of sustainable drainage schemes and use of low-lying
ground in waterside areas for recreation, amenity and supporting wildlife.
Help make space for water by undertaking river corridor restoration and enhancement
as part of a development where a site contains a main river or ordinary watercourse.
Investigate opportunities for habitat creation within new developments including looking
at establishing or improving wildlife corridors extending into the countryside.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Protect and improve existing sites of ecological value - including by working with partners
to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by linking, buffering and
expanding existing sites of importance.

6: Biddulph corridor (along the Biddulph Valley Way)
Whitemoor - Brindley Ford
6.18 This is a major green network component and route of the former Biddulph Valley
Railway Line. It is suitable for walkers, cyclists and horseriders. Originally a branch of the
North Staffordshire Railway, the path has a mixture of embankments, cuttings, small copses,
hedgerows and ditches. The Whitemoor Local Nature Reserve at the northern end of Biddulph
Valley Way is a Staffordshire Site of Biological Importance due to its woodland wildlife. At
the southern end, the corridor could link beyond the district boundary to the heritage country
park at the site of the former Chatterley Whitfield Colliery. There is scope for increasing
connections from the corridor to Biddulph town centre.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Protect and improve the Biddulph Valley Way as an established greenway through the
settlement, to increase its use and enjoyment by people for health and recreation and to
enhance its function as a wildlife corridor. In particular to:
Investigate scope for improving and maintaining the Biddulph Valley Way and for
increasing the connections to the Way from the town centre.
Investigate opportunities for improved linkages between Biddulph and Congleton and
Biddulph and Stoke and Newcastle, using the Biddulph Valley Way.

Page 338
62

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Improve links to Biddulph Grange Country Park and Greenway Bank Country Park from
the corridor and the town centre.
Investigate scope for establishing network connections between strategic corridors 5a,
5, 5b, 6 and 7 creating a Biddulph circular for walking routes and as a wildlife corridor.
Investigate opportunities to protect and improve existing sites of ecological value,
including the Biddulph Valley Way LNR - including by working with partners to secure
and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Investigate opportunities to reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by
linking, buffering and expanding existing sites of importance, helping to create and
improve wildlife corridors extending into the surrounding countryside.
Investigate opportunities to support woodland planting to buffer and link existing
woodlands and other semi natural open habitats within priority woodland habitat networks
to promote biodiversity.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.

7: Gritstone Corridor (along the Staffordshire Way)
Whitemoor - Mow Cop
6.19 The Staffordshire Way is a long distance footpath which has been established by
Staffordshire County Council. It spans the length of the County for 92 miles from Mow Cop
to Kinver Edge. The start of the Way is shared with the Gritstone Trail, following the gritstone
ridge of Congleton Edge, part of the boundary between the Pennines and the Cheshire
Plain. This corridor extends to link Congleton Edge via the north of the Biddulph Valley Way
Local Nature Reserve at Whitemoor to Bands Wood.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Protect and improve the Staffordshire Way as an established greenway, to increase its use
and enjoyment by people for health and recreation and to enhance its function as a wildlife
corridor. In particular to:
Investigate scope for improving and maintaining the Staffordshire Way and for increasing
the connections to the Biddulph Valley Way and to Biddulph town centre.
Investigate scope for establishing network connections between strategic corridors 5a,
5, 5b, 6 and 7 creating a Biddulph circular for wildlife corridors and walking routes.
Investigate opportunities to reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by
linking, buffering and expanding existing sites of importance, helping to create and
improve wildlife corridors extending into the surrounding countryside.
Investigate opportunities to support woodland planting to buffer and link existing
woodlands and other semi natural open habitats to promote biodiversity.

Page 339
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

63

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

8: Biddulph town
6.20 Biddulph is the second largest settlement in the District. It has suffered from economic
decline and includes the Biddulph East Ward, an area of high deprivation. Implementation
of the Biddulph Town Centre Area Action Plan has lead to a number of recent improvements
to the town centre. The proposed strategy for Biddulph set out in the emerging Local Plan
seeks to further enhance its role as a significant service centre and a market town. Biddulph
Town Council is preparing a Neighbourhood Plan for the parish. The neighbourhood planning
process allows for the provision of locally specific detail around the provision of GI.
6.21 The Biddulph Town strategic area presents opportunities for a network of vital green
/ blue infrastructure connections, utilising water courses and retained woodland. The corridor
running along Biddulph Brook from Hawthorn Grove to the Leisure Centre is especially
important, as are key sites along Biddulph Brook which connect to the Biddulph Valley Way.
6.22 There is scope to use the GI strategy to help improve the image and identity of
Biddulph and strengthen its role as a visitor destination, including by improving and creating
green spaces within the town and strengthening and promoting links between the town and
countryside, in particular with the Biddulph Valley Way, Biddulph Grange Garden and the
Country Parks.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Protect and extend green infrastructure within Biddulph to improve access to green spaces
within the town and links out to the surrounding countryside, in particular to:
Protect existing green and open spaces used and valued by communities, including
designated Local Green Spaces, parks, play and recreation areas and sports pitches.
Provide accessible green space in line with recommendations made in the Council's
Open Space Study Standards Paper (October 2017).
Protect and enhance the Biddulph Valley Way.
Extend the network of connections to the Biddulph Valley Way and Staffordshire Way.
Seek opportunities to create walking and cycling routes between Biddulph town centre
and green space within the town including Biddulph Grange and Greenway Bank Country
Park.
Extend the network of off-road paths around Biddulph for walkers, cyclists and horse
riders with links to the surrounding countryside and visitor attractions in the Churnet
Valley.
Investigate opportunities for improved linkages between Biddulph and Congleton and
Biddulph and Stoke and Newcastle.
Improve links to Biddulph Grange Country Park and Greenway Bank Country Park from
the corridor and the town centre.
Investigate scope for establishing network connections between strategic corridors 5a,
5, 5b, 6 and 7 creating a Biddulph circular for wildlife corridors and walking routes.

Page 340

64

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Investigate opportunities for providing new and improving existing footpaths providing
access into the countryside within new developments on the urban fringe.
Investigate potential for improving connectivity to centres of employment such as Victoria
Business Park, Land off Tunstall Road and Wharf Road Strategic Development Area).
Protect, improve, buffer and link existing sites of ecological value - including by working
with partners to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Investigate opportunities for the conservation or expansion of the populations of key
species including bats and hedgehog and priority bird species such as barn owl,
kingfisher, dipper, lapwing, wood warbler and pied flycatcher.
Consider opportunities to contribute to existing Staffordshire Wildlife Trust or other
appropriate projects taking place in the area.
Wherever possible ensure new developments contribute to managing wider flood risk,
for example through use of sustainable drainage schemes and use of low-lying ground
in waterside areas for recreation, amenity and supporting wildlife.
Seek opportunities for new development to achieve reductions to wider flood risk issues
where possible, e.g. larger developments may be able to make provisions for flow
balancing within new attenuation SuDS features with biodiversity built into their design
as part of a land management scheme.
Help make space for water by undertaking river corridor restoration and enhancement
as part of a development where a site contains a main river or ordinary watercourse,
including de-culverting and restoration of any watercourses that have been degraded.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Support woodland planting along river corridors where appropriate to assist in flood
management and to support movement of species such as willow tit.
Investigate opportunities for habitat creation and restoration within new developments
including looking at establishing or improving wildlife corridors extending into the
countryside.
Support woodland planting designed to increase infiltration of heavy rain into the ground,
reduce erosion, or slow the flow of floodwaters on floodplains.
Creating opportunities for the restoration of degraded landscapes and the enhancement
of the urban fringe /settlement edge.
Conserve and enhance the setting of heritage assets by supporting access to and
enjoyment of historic landscapes and heritage assets for recreation, education, and
lifelong learning and strengthen or restore historic links between heritage assets using
green infrastructure.

Page 341
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

65

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

9: Cecilly Brook Corridor
Checkley - Upper Tean - Mobberley - Cecilly Brook - Cheadle Park - Broad Haye
6.23 A key blue corridor principally following the River Tean and Cecilly Brook to the east
of Cheadle, this is a strategic wildlife corridor running from Checkley in the south of the
district via Upper Tean and Mobberley Brook to follow the route of Cecilly Brook, finally
running north via Cheadle Park towards Broad Haye. The corridor is key to help strengthen
the population of water voles in Cecilly Brook.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Protect, conserve and enhance the natural environment of Cecilly Brook for sense of place,
nature experience, health and recreation, biodiversity and flood risk management. In particular
to:
Protect, conserve and enhance the natural environment of Cecilly Brook and Hales Hall
Pool local nature reserves in Cheadle, including to help strengthen the population of
water voles.
Investigate opportunities to protect and improve existing sites of ecological value,
including the Cecilly Brook and Hales Hall Pool local nature reserves - including by
working with partners to secure and maintain appropriate conservation management.
Promote the establishment of a wider vegetation corridor along the watercourse.
Investigate opportunities to reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by
linking, buffering and expanding existing sites of importance, helping to create and
improve wildlife corridors extending into the surrounding countryside.
Investigate opportunities to support woodland planting along the river corridor where
appropriate to assist in flood management and to support movement of species such
as willow tit.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Investigate opportunities to improve the network of footpath and cycle route connections
between Cheadle town and the Nature Reserves at Cecilly Brook and Hales Hall Pool.
6.24

The Cecilly Brook corridor is considered to have three spurs: 9a, 9b and 9c.

9a: Cecilly Brook Spur to the Churnet Valley
Lightwood - Hales Hall Pool - Oakamoor - Moneystone - Upper Cotton / Ramshorn
Common
6.25 From Lightwood, this spur takes the route of Cecilly Brook and Cecilly Brook Local
Nature Reserve via Hales Hall Pool Local Nature Reserve linking to Hawksmoor Wood and
the Churnet Valley, branching north to Moneystone and continuing east to Ramshorn
Common.

Page 342
66

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Extend and improve green infrastructure within the corridor to help support the delivery of a
network of well-connected pathways providing routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders
and a functional mosaic of woodland, grassland and other habitats that offer a safe haven
for wildlife, support biodiversity and help to absorb and store carbon. In particular to:
Investigate opportunities to improve pedestrian and cycle links to Hawksmoor Wood
and into the Churnet Valley from the corridor and Cheadle town centre.
Investigate opportunities to reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by
linking, buffering and expanding existing sites of ecological value, helping to create and
improve a wildlife corridor extending into the Churnet Valley.
Investigate opportunities to support woodland planting to buffer and link existing
woodlands and other semi natural open habitats to promote biodiversity.

9b: Cecilly Brook corridor: River Tean spur
Mobberley - Brookhouses - Newclosefield
6.26 The spur runs from Mobberley and continues along the River Tean via Brookhouses
to Newclosefield. There is scope along the corridor for woodland planting to help manage
water flow in the floodplain.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Extend and improve green infrastructure within the corridor to help support the delivery of a
network of well-connected pathways providing routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders
and a functional mosaic of woodland, grassland, riparian and other habitats that offer a safe
haven for wildlife, support biodiversity and help to absorb and store carbon. In particular to:
Investigate opportunities to reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by
linking, buffering and expanding existing sites of ecological value, helping to create and
improve wildlife corridors extending into the surrounding countryside.
Promote the establishment of a wider vegetation corridor along the watercourse.
Investigate potential for new floodplain woodland to manage flood water and provide
wildlife habitat including for willow tit.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Investigate opportunities to improve pedestrian and cycle links along the River Tean
and connecting Cheadle town with surrounding villages to the west.

9c: Cecilly Brook corridor: Huntley Wood spur
Mobberley - Boundary

Page 343
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

67

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

6.27 Spur linking the corridor to priority woodland habitats through Huntley Wood SBI and
beyond.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Extend and improve green infrastructure within the corridor to help support the delivery of a
network of well-connected pathways providing routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders
and a functional mosaic of woodland, grassland, riparian and other habitats that offer a safe
haven for wildlife, support biodiversity and help to absorb and store carbon. In particular to:
Investigate opportunities to reduce habitat fragmentation and increase connectivity by
linking, buffering and expanding existing sites of ecological value, helping to create and
improve wildlife corridors extending into the surrounding countryside.
Support woodland planting to buffer and link existing woodlands and other semi-natural
open habitats to promote biodiversity.
Investigate opportunities to improve pedestrian and cycle links to Huntley Wood from
Cheadle town centre.

10: Cheadle town
6.28
Cheadle is the smallest of the District’s market towns and has suffered from
under-investment in its infrastructure and town centre and a lack of housing opportunities.
The Spatial Strategy in the emerging Local Plan identifies the town as an area for significant
growth in order to expand its role as a service centre and market town. There is scope to
improve pedestrian and cycle links across the town and into the countryside.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Protect and extend green infrastructure within Cheadle to improve access to green spaces
within the town and links out to the surrounding countryside, in particular to:
Protect existing green and open spaces used and valued by communities, including
designated Local Green Spaces, parks, play and recreation areas and sports pitches.
Provide accessible green space in line with recommendations made in the Council's
Open Space Study Standards Paper (October 2017).
Seek opportunities to create and improve a network of walking and cycling routes linking
Cheadle town centre and green space within and around the town, including Cheadle
Park; Cecilly Brook and Hales Hall Pool Local Nature Reserves and Huntley Wood.
Extend the network of off-road paths around Cheadle for walkers, cyclists and horse
riders with links to the surrounding countryside and visitor attractions in the Churnet
Valley.
Investigate potential for improving connectivity to centres of employment such as JCB,
Brookhouses and land off New Haden Road.
Protect, improve, buffer and link existing sites of ecological value - including by working
with partners to secure andPage
maintain
appropriate conservation management.
344
68

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Consider opportunities to contribute to existing Staffordshire Wildlife Trust or other
appropriate projects taking place in the area.
Investigate opportunities for habitat creation and restoration within new developments,
including looking at establishing or improving wildlife corridors extending into the
countryside.
Investigate opportunities for the conservation or expansion of the populations of key
species including water voles, bullhead, brown trout, bats, hedgehog and priority bird
species.
Wherever possible ensure new developments contribute to managing wider flood risk,
for example through use of sustainable drainage schemes and use of low-lying ground
in waterside areas for recreation, amenity and supporting wildlife.
Investigate opportunities for utilising natural ways to reduce flood risk, provide temporary
storage and improve water quality, while creating wetland habitats for wildlife.
Help make space for water by undertaking river corridor restoration and enhancement
as part of a development where a site contains a main river or ordinary watercourse,
including de-culverting and restoration of any watercourses that have been degraded.
Seek opportunities for the restoration of degraded landscapes and the enhancement
of the urban fringe / settlement edge.
Conserve and enhance the setting of heritage assets by supporting access to and
enjoyment of historic landscapes and heritage assets for recreation, education, and
lifelong learning and strengthen or restore historic links between heritage assets using
green infrastructure.

11: Blythe Bridge Opportunity corridor
Bromley Wood - Cresswell - Forsbrook - Dilhorne Park Station - Godleybrook
6.29 The emerging Local Plan proposes development of a site at the junction of the A50
with the Blythe Bridge bypass for a mix of uses. The Local Plan considers the site may have
a role to play in supporting the emerging Northern Gateway regeneration initiative. This
initiative spans Cheshire and North Staffordshire and seeks to maximise the regeneration
benefits of HS2 related investment in the vicinity of Crewe. The Blythe Bridge Opportunity
corridor is potentially a corridor linking the Bromley Wood and Hose Wood SBIs in the south
with Cresswell and the proposed development site through to Forsbrook, and running north
along the Foxfield Steam Railway linking Little Eaves Farm SBI with important habitats at
Dilhorne Park and Godley Brook. The potential corridor has scope to create and contribute
to significant GI networks for people and wildlife as part of any development at Blythe Vale.
Proposed priorities and actions are to:
Protect and extend green infrastructure within the corridor to improve access to surrounding
settlements and links out to the surrounding countryside, in particular to:
Contribute to the strategic Green Infrastructure supporting the emerging Northern
Gateway initiative.
Page 345
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

69

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Extend the network of off-road paths around the proposed allocation of a Strategic Site
at Blythe Vale for walkers, cyclists and horse riders with links to the surrounding
settlements and countryside.
Investigate opportunities for delivering connectivity to new centres of employment
brought forward at the site via a network of footpaths and cycle ways.
Provide accessible green space in line with recommendations made in the Council's
Open Space Study Standards Paper (October 2017).
Investigate opportunities for habitat creation and restoration within new developments
including looking at establishing wildlife corridors extending into the countryside.
Investigate opportunities for the conservation or expansion of the populations of key
species including otter, great crested newts, bats and priority bird species.
Consider opportunities to contribute to any existing Staffordshire Wildlife Trust or other
appropriate projects taking place in the area.
Wherever possible ensure new developments contribute to managing wider flood risk,
for example through use of sustainable drainage schemes and use of low-lying ground
in waterside areas for recreation, amenity and supporting wildlife.
Help make space for water by undertaking river corridor restoration and enhancement
as part of a development where a site contains a main river or ordinary watercourse,
including de-culverting and restoration of any watercourses that have been degraded.

Page 346
70

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Strategic GI Network settlement maps

Page 347
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

71

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

7 Strategic GI Network settlement maps

Page 348
72

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

7.1 Leek

Map 7.1 Green Travel corridors in and around Leek

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 349
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

73

Map 7.2 Ecological corridors in and around Leek

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 350
74

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Map 7.3 Water management corridors in and around Leek

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 351
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

75

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

7.2 Biddulph

Map 7.4 Green Travel corridors in and around Biddulph

Page 352

76

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map 7.5 Ecological corridors in and around Biddulph

Page 353
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

77

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map 7.6 Water management corridors in and around Biddulph

Page 354
78

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

7.3 Cheadle

Map 7.7 Green Travel corridors in and around Cheadle

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 355
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

79

Map 7.8 Ecological corridors in and around Cheadle

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 356
80

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Map 7.9 Water management corridors in and around Cheadle

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 357
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

81

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

7.4 Strategic site at Blythe Vale

Page 358

Map 7.10 Green Travel corridor opportunities

82

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map 7.11 Opportunities to support ecological network development

Page 359

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

83

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map 7.12 Water management corridor

Page 360
84

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Implementation

Page 361
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

85

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

8 Implementation
8.1 The proposed priorities and actions for the strategic network set out in section 6 will
be used to:
Form part of the evidence base for Local Plan policies including Strategic Development
Site policies.
Inform the Local Plan Infrastructure Delivery Plan.
Assist with development management decisions.
Inform design and contributions required from new developments.
Guide use of any CIL monies and other developer contributions.
Help identify potential sites for any biodiversity off-setting and opportunities to conserve
and enhance the setting of heritage assets.
Identify and inform any future partnership projects.
Identify and plan specific projects through grant funding opportunities / neighbourhood
plan proposals.
Support broader ecological networks, for example through the Local Nature Partnership
and Duty to Cooperate with the strategies of neighbouring authorities.
Create significant corridors and larger scale features outside the boundary of the
strategy.
Support and encourage community engagement and participation around GI assets.
8.2 A Delivery Plan will be prepared setting a delivery framework for the Green Infrastructure
Strategy. The Delivery Plan will show how the key partners and agencies involved will
support the delivery of green infrastructure and contribute to the aims of the Strategy. The
Plan will include a series of delivery and action plans for key projects - to be developed as
the focus of the next phase of this work.
8.3

The Delivery Plan will:
Summarise the principal existing and planned green infrastructure projects and initiatives.
Identify gaps and new opportunities.
Consider the scope for fostering links between developers and organisations, voluntary
and statutory, that can help deliver strategic biodiversity gains through appropriate
offsetting initiatives.
Provide an indicative timescale for implementation.
Identify potential funding sources, including a consideration of the role of section 106
agreements.

Page 362

86

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Consider the recommendation made by the SMDC Open Space Study Standards Paper;
KKP; October 2017 to collect developer contributions in the form of a set fee per new
household for natural and semi-natural provision to help fund the priorities and
opportunities set out in this document.
Consider the recommendations set out in the SMDC Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP)
Final Report; ARUP; February 2018 identifying the infrastructure needed to achieve
the existing and emerging spatial aims within the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan
and in particular the references within the IDP to this document.
Set out arrangements for monitoring progress and reviewing priorities.
8.4 Currently there are eight Parish / Town Councils in the Staffordshire Moorlands Local
Plan area working on the preparation of a Neighbourhood Development Plan. These
Neighbourhood Plans can be used to complement the Strategic Network by adding locally
specific detail relating to green infrastructure in each of the Neighbourhood Areas and by
forming part of the Delivery Plan as appropriate.

Page 363
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

87

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Maps of GI assets by type

Page 364
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

88

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Appendix A Maps of GI assets by type

Map A.1 Green space within or near built areas

Page 365

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

89

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.2 Large-scale, linear infrastructure features with potential for connectivity for biodiversity
enhancement

Page 366
90

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.3 Green Travel Links

Page 367
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

91

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.4 Flood attenuation and water management

Page 368
92

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.5 Main Landscape Character Types

Page 369
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

93

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.6 Landscape setting and Green Belt

Page 370
94

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.7 Historic Landscapes

Page 371
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

95

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.8 Historic Environment

Page 372
96

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.9 Internationally, nationally and locally designated sites

Page 373
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

97

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.10 Extent of mapped habitat surveys and known priority habitats

Page 374
98

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.11 Known Phase 1 Survey habitats by type

Page 375
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

99

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.12 Distribution of known priority habitat types

Page 376
100

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.13 Extent of mapped woodland and known accessible woodland

Page 377
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

101

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.14 Extent of known irreplaceable natural habitat

Page 378
102

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Map A.15 Zone identified as being important for willow tit, based on existing records

Page 379
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

103

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Staffordshire Moorlands Biodiversity Opportunity Map

Page 380
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

104

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Appendix B Staffordshire Moorlands Biodiversity Opportunity Map
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust
The Wolsley Centre, Wolseley Bridge,
Stafford. ST17 0WT
Tel: 01889 880100 Fax: 01889 880101
Email: info@staffs-ecology.org.uk
Registered Charity No. 259558
Limited Company No. 959609

Staffordshire Moorlands Biodiversity Opportunity Map

Staffs Moorlands Biodiversity Opportunity Map Zones
Limestone
Farmland
Churnet Woodlands
Moorland
Species Rich Farmland
Northern Churnet and Rudyard Woodlands

No Window

00

3.5
3.5

77

kilometres
kilometres

from
Ordnance
Survey
Mapping
with
the
permission
of
Her
Majesty's
Stationery
Office,
©
Crown
copyright
2003,
Staffordshire
Wildlife
Trust.
Licence:
AL
100032203
Reproduced
Reproduced
Reproducedfrom
fromOrdnance
OrdnanceSurvey
SurveyMapping
Mappingwith
withthe
thepermission
permissionof
ofHer
HerMajesty's
Majesty'sStationery
StationeryOffice,
Office, ©
©Crown
Crowncopyright
copyright2003,
2003,Staffordshire
StaffordshireWildlife
WildlifeTrust.
Trust.Licence:
Licence:AL
AL100032203
100032203

Map B.1 Biodiversity Opportunity Map

Page 381

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

105

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

B.1 The zones indicated on the Biodiversity Opportunity map are described below with
associated objectives for each.

1 Limestone
B.2 The Limestone zone broadly covers the Staffordshire area of the White Peak National
Character Area (NCA). The geology of the area is Carboniferous limestone and is largely
identified as limestone grasslands, with the west of the area described as wet heath, moor
or boglands. The area has a distinctive character is due to its limestone geology and
topography, which has a main plateau area which is incised by steep-sided dales. Agriculture
is mainly pastoral, with limestone walls as the dominant field boundary type.
Objectives
The primary habitat objective within the area is the maintenance, restoration and
expansion of species-rich grasslands, particularly calcareous grassland.
The other objective in the area is to increase connectivity of semi-natural habitats to
create larger habitat complexes using priority habitats where possible. New hedgerows,
field margins and woodland extension will be key to achieving this objective.

2 Churnet Woodlands
B.3 The Churnet Woodlands lie entirely within the Potteries and Churnet Valley NCA.
The area is transitional between upland and lowland and contains a wide range of habitats,
including heathland and grassland. The area has been preserved from more significant
agricultural intensification by its rolling landscape of upland pasture hills cut by steep-sided,
wooded valleys locally known as cloughs. The two largest designated sites within the zone
are the Churnet Valley SSSI and Coombes Valley SSSI.
B.4 The area comprises upland areas described as upland pasture within the wet heath,
moor or boglands or as dry moor, both of which are dissected by incised wooded valleys.
The south of the area is described as free draining farmland. The upland pasture comprises
an extensive area of predominantly grassland containing a mosaic of acidic/neutral and
marshy grassland.
Objectives
The primary habitat objective within the area is the maintenance, restoration and
expansion of native woodland. There are however also other important habitats within
the area, so the placement of new woodland needs to consider existing and surrounding
habitats, particularly grasslands.

3 Moorland / Moorland Fringe
B.5 This zone lies almost exclusively within the Southwest Peak NCA. The area is a
mosaic of closely related landform and vegetation patterns. These include extensive tracts
of heather-dominated upland heathland and cotton-grass blanket bog with wooded cloughs.

Page 382
106

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Objectives
The primary habitat objective within the area is the maintenance, restoration and
expansion of the upland mosaic of upland heathland, blanket bog, purple moor-grass
and rush pasture and lowland meadow. This area contains 100% of the Staffordshire
resource of Blanket Bog.

4 Farmland
B.6 The Farmland predominantly lies within the Staffordshire Plain NCA. Much of the
land is now intensive agriculture and there are many expanding towns with infrastructure
development demands. There is one unifying factor across this zone and that is the degree
and extent of habitat and landscape through human management.
Objectives
The primary objective for the Farmland zone is to reduce fragmentation of existing
semi-natural habitats by linking sites through the creation of habitat corridors and
networks using priority habitats where possible. Hedgerows, arable field margins and
rivers are priorities in achieving this objective, however opportunities to create wetland,
grassland and woodland mosaics will also need to be taken to diversify the area.
Grasslands are particularly important, with an emphasis on lowland meadow and coastal
floodplain grazing marsh.

5 Species-rich Farmland
B.7 The Species-rich Farmland zone covers the majority of the west of the district. Much
of this rural area abuts the major conurbation of Stoke-on-Trent. It is contained almost
entirely within the Potteries and Churnet Valley NCA.
B.8 The area has something of a north-south divide, with the north dominated with wet
heath, moor and boglands and some dry heathland areas. The south has a prevalence of
free-draining farmlands, with a proportion of dry heathland and some areas of wet heath,
moor & boglands. Washland areas are important on the southern fringe of the zone along
the River Dove and also in the northeast associated with the Churnet.
Objectives
The primary habitat objectives within the area are the maintenance, restoration and
expansion of species-rich grasslands, particularly lowland meadows and also upland
and lowland heathland.
The other objective in the area is to increase connectivity of semi-natural habitats to
create larger habitat complexes using priority habitats where appropriate.

6 Northern Churnet and Rudyard Woodlands
B.9 The Northern Churnet and Rudyard Woodlands comprises an area immediately
south/south - west of Leek extending northwards to Rudyard and contained within the
Potteries and Churnet Valley NCA. The area consists of wooded valleys, moorland fringe,
Page 383
and upland pasture. Primarily set in valleys the woodland blocks are scattered and
Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

107

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

fragmented. The two largest woodland blocks are Deep Hayes Country Park SBI and
Longsdon Wood and Cowhay Wood SBI. Man-made reservoirs occur in two of the valley
bottoms at Deep Hayes and Rudyard. On the surrounding plateaus there are scattered
heathland patches within a network of improved pasture enclosed by dry stone walls and
hedgerows. Small patches of species rich grassland occur mostly associated with the
fragmented woodland areas.
Objectives
Maintain, enhance and expand the native woodland resource to reduce fragmentation
of isolated woodland patches. The creation of native woodland needs to consider the
presence of other habitats, in particular the presence of remnant heathland patches
and small areas of species rich grassland.
Increase the connectivity of semi-natural habitats in association with the woodland
resource to create larger habitat mosaics of woodland, heathland and species rich
grassland.
Maintain and expand remnant patches of heathland within the upland pasture.

Page 384
108

Staffordshire Moorlands Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - May 2018

Page 385

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018

Page 386

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 387

MRS ANGELA
Yes, the aims are excellent. However, the details of
Turner
implementation are lacking so until these exist in greater
detail it is difficult to say how effective this strategy will
be. I support the ability for Neighbourhood Plan groups to
work in partnership with SMDC on the implementation of
this strategy and hope this will bring much needed support
to work at this level. Little work has been carried out on GI
outside of the main Churnet Valley area.

GI36

The Council will prepare an
Implementation Plan to set a delivery
framework for the GI strategy. This will
include identifying gaps and new
opportunities. The Council welcomes the
role that neighbourhood planning can play
in providing locally specific detail around
provision of GI.

Yes, the aims are excellent. However, the details of
MRS ANGELA
implementation are lacking so until these exist in greater
Turner
detail it is difficult to say how effective this strategy will be.
I support the ability for Neighbourhood Plan groups to work
in partnership with SMDC on the implementation of this
strategy and hope this will bring much needed support to
work at this level. This framework and the evidence
contained within it provides a strong focus for funding to be
directed to areas outside of the Churnet Valley so that the
whole district will benefit.

GI24

Noted. And see response to GI36

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 388

Yes. This is a detailed analysis. I'd like to see more explicit Mrs Lorna
Stoddart
reference in the vision and values to encouraging young
children (especially in early years settings) into green
spaces. A recent Government report stated that of the 12%
of children who had been into wild spaces, only 7% had
done so with schools. It would be great if there was an
expectation that schools took the children in their care to
local spaces.

GI32

Add additional text to chapter 4 (vision) to
include reference to encouraging young
children into green spaces.

yes very much so. It seems to be ambitious which is good to Mrs Penny
see, although there are no measures or means of achieving Anderson
the ambitions yet?

GI2

The Council will prepare an
Implementation Plan to set a delivery
framework for the GI strategy.

Yes, I support the broad vision as published.

GI40

Support noted.

GI49

The strategic GI Network identifies Cheadle
town as area 10 and at paragraph 6.26 sets
out that proposed priorities and actions
are to protect and extend GI within
Cheadle to improve access to green spaces
within the town and links out to the
surrounding countryside. Proposed
development site CH001 is located within
the town development boundary and was
identified in the Core Strategy as a broad
location for housing.

I object to the housing numbers that have been allocated
for Cheadle and Staffordshire Moorlands in general. The
greenfield spaces within Cheadle town boundary are
needed to prevent oversized blocks of housing and
maintain the town's open and green character. The
proposed development of CH001 would have the maximum
adverse impact upon existing residents and so should be
Visual Open Space. The existing green areas in Cheadle
North East do more to enhance the settings of the existing
neighbourhoods than any property development could do.

Mr Robert
Turner
Chris Bolton

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 389

Yes. The vision and overall aims sets out the importance of Mr Mike
Shurmer
integrating effective ecological networks into GI and
understanding the importance that this can place in allow
connectivity for species across the Churnet Valley
landscape. The point in the vision on promoting health and
well‐being could also reflect peoples access to nature and
interaction with nature, which is well known to provide a
multitude of health and wellbeing benefits. The economic
potential could also consider the management of habitats
for wildlife, for example newly planted woodlands managed
sustainably for wildlife, whilst providing small scale
economic income through the provision of woodfuel, may
be a means of supporting their long‐term management.

Senior Conservation
Officer RSPB

GI54

Add additional text to chapter 4 (vision) to
include reference to the benefits of
supporting people's access to nature. Also
to expand on opportunities to develop the
economic potential of GI, for example
through provision of wood fuel.

We are very supportive of a green infrastructure approach Kezia
and welcome the preparation of this document. Where the Taylerson
evidence base is discussed in paragraph 3.5 we would
recommend inclusion of historic landscape character
studies that have been used to inform the document. We
support the reference to the historic environment within
the vision on page 15. We would recommend the inclusion
of an aim for the historic environment that seeks to protect
and enhance historic landscape character and heritage
assets, within the list on page 16. We support the reference
to the historic environment within the benefits section.

Historic England

GI63

Amend the evidence base text to include
the historic landscape character studies
used. Aso add an additional aim at 4.4 to
seek to protect and enhance historic
landscape character and heritage assets.
Invite Historic England to join Steering
Group.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 390

James
The Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for
Chadwick
Staffordshire Moorlands Vision is in accordance with the
NPPF and the White Paper for the Natural Environment and
reflects local landscape‐scale initiatives.

Staffordshire County GI68
Council

Support noted.

Vision 4.3 Bullet point 3rd from the bottom – Improves
Sam Hughes
flood and water management – mitigating the effects of
climate change including through using green infrastructure
for effective flood risk and waterways management”. Need
to include reference to the need to maintain the waterways
too. Lack of maintenance creates areas of stagnant water
creating foul odour and an excessive fly population.
Additionally particularly where there is no mains sewerage
system serious consideration needs to be given to where
surface water and the outflow created by septic tanks will
flow too and the ability for that to be absorbed.

Rushton
GI73
Neighbourhood Plan
Group

Amend Aims and Benefits sections at
paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5 to include
reference to the need to maintain
waterways and manage surface water
flow.

Question 2 ‐ Do you agree with the analysis of existing
green infrastructure assets (described in section 5 of this
report and mapped in Appendix A)?

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 391

You have omitted the value of roadside verges ‐ these can Mrs Penny
be some of the last vestiges of once flower‐rich fields. Also Anderson
the value of railway banks ‐ disused or otherwise. Are there
not areas of importance within school grounds as well, even
if small? These need to be connected to the wider
green/blue infrastructure as well. I don't think you have
adequately linked your green/blue infrastructure into
adjacent areas. Species need to be able to live or move
along corridors, they take no notice of political boundaries!
This is particularly so for the Peak District on your northern
boundary. You need to know where the key habitat
networks are in this area to tie in with them? The National
Park is not all good habitat.

GI3

Consider inclusion of road side verges and
railway embankments within evidence
base relating to large‐scale, linear
infrastructure features. Talk to PDNPA
about key habitat networks for the SMDC
strategic network to link to.

Broadly I agree and support maintenance of any green
assets. The distinction between existing and new green
assets is not clearly drawn.

GI11

The Council will prepare an
implementation plan that will consider
delivery opportunities for new assets and
new connections.

Mr Peter
Cowie

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 392

Mr Julian
The Cheadle map is misleading. On previous maps the
Baskeyfield
Council has shown the school playing fields at County
Primary, Cheadle Acadamy and Painsley Acadamy as being
green open space. This is not the case as the public has no
right of access to use this land. It gives the appearance that
green open space is weighted towards the west of the town
which is not the case. The green open space is in fact
located to the north i.e. Cheadle Park, east Churchill Road
playing fields and the town's recreation ground. The council
also wants to protect a piece of land along Glebe Road, who
would want to have a picnic along the side of a road?

GI21

Action taken

The illustration of school playing fields as
open space on a map does not indicate
public access, but shows protection under
Core Strategy policy for open space.
Grassland to the north east of Glebe Road
has recreational and visual amenity value.
The Council's evidence base supports its
proposed designation as a Local Green
Space in the emerging Local Plan.

Page 393

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

The Biddulph Valley Way should be included in Map A.2 ‐
the long distance footpath connects to other habitats
including those in Cheshire and Stoke‐on‐Trent. The whole
length of the Biddulph Valley Way needs to be designated
as Open Space ‐ there seems to be a part in the middle
missed out from this designation on Map A.1. Map A.4
highlights flooding hotspots in Biddulph. These are mainly
from extreme rainfall events which are predicted to
increase with climate change. The Biddulph Valley needs a
specific focus on managing rainfall runoff and natural
watercourse management to slow down the rain entering
the streams. Tree planting schemes and wet meadow
creation should be encouraged as part of the solution
alongside SUDS. Map A.10 highlights how little of the
Biddulph Valley and areas away from the Churnet corridor
have been mapped. This work is urgently needed in order
to identify and protect valuable habitats/species including
semi‐ancient woodland.

MRS ANGELA
Turner

Consider inclusion of long distance
footpaths and trails within the evidence
base relating to large‐scale, linear
infrastructure features. The full length of
the Biddulph Valley Way is designated as
open space, this could be more clearly
presented on Map A.1. Include further text
relating to SuDS and making space for
water within proposed priorities and
actions for the Biddulph corridor. Consider
gaps in evidence within the
implementation plan and identify
opportunities where further mapping can
help to deliver the strategy.

GI25

Page 394

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

I would consider assets to also include Woodcroft
Recreation Ground and other smaller wild spaces within
Leek. Not only Brough Park, most of which is managed
space.

Mrs Lorna
Stoddart

GI33

Amend Map 7.2 to show Churnet Valley
North corridor 3 including woodland and
grassland west of Westwood College,
Westwood High School and Woodcroft
First School, with associated text in the
proposed priorities and actions for Leek
strategic area 2 identifying opportunities to
link the schools and other areas of the
town to nearby wild spaces.

Para 5.16 (green travel links) Add to key routes: The
Mr Robert
Churnet Valley Railway track east of Oakamoor, linking to
Turner
East Staffs. There is a long distance horse riding route, the
Sabrina way, passing through the east of the District
(Waterhouses Parish area) which is not mentioned, suggest
add to Para 5.17. Acknowledge that the Biddulph Valley
Way, Churnet Valley track and Manifold Trail are key horse
riding assets in addition to cycling. Agree with para 5.18 to
the point where some rural roads are dangerous not just
unsuitable as they are carrying increasing commuter and
HGV traffic. Agree with para 5.19 but add
require Staffordshire County Council to address its huge
backlog of applications to upgrade existing footpaths to
higher user rights.

GI41

Green Travel Links text to be expanded to
include reference to the Staffordshire Way
long distance footpath, and the multi‐user
Greenways from Leek to Rushton Spencer
and Oakamoor to Denstone following the
track bed of the former Churnet Valley
Railway. Also to add the Sabrina Way ‐ a
long distance route and part of the
National Bridleroute Network running
through the District from Alton to
Oakamoor and Waterhouses ‐ primarily
designed for horse riders but can be used
by walkers and cyclists. Amend text to
clarify that multi user trails include
opportunities for horse riding. Support for
paragraph 5.19 detailing opportunities
noted.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 395

Chris Bolton
Opposes development proposals for Cheadle north east
that result in the loss of valued green space from existing
built up areas. Proposed site CH001 is widely used by the
residents directly bordering the field and also beyond.
Cheadle does not have a housing crisis. CH001 features a
gentle slope controlling and slowing the release of water
into the adjoining brook. Increasing the impermeable
surfaces of a development would increasing the risk of
flooding. When flooding occurs, what compensation is
available to cover the increased insurance cost and who
takes responsibility? Filling in every available green space is
poor planning. The areas designated as Visual Open Space
are few but the land designated for development is
considerable. CH001 should be Visual Open Space instead
of being used to connect the existing housing to form a
continuous block of housing in Cheadle. All of the proposed
sites around Cheadle north east should be considered
Green Belt. Water voles live around the brook in CH001 and
further downstream, this habitat would be destroyed by
development. Supports CH168.

GI50

Action taken

The Council is undertaking a review of
open space, sport and recreation facilities
which includes an updated playing pitch
strategy. New housing schemes (depending
on their size) will need to incorporate areas
of open space and landscaping, in line with
Local Plan policy. Local Plan Policy will also
require that, wherever possible,
development will promote the reduction of
flood risk by the use of sustainable
drainage techniques. All current Preferred
Options sites have been subject to Phase 1
ecological surveys which set out ecological
evaluations of the sites followed by
recommended further surveys / actions in
the event of future development.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Planners do not understand the green areas allocated in the Mrs Jennifer C
Moreton
south west of Cheadle. The 'green areas' are not open
recreation spaces but private school grounds not available
to the public.

Page 396

Overall this seems to be a good summary of the existing
Mr Mike
knowledge of current assets. There are some gaps, in terms Shurmer
of the coverage of existing datasets based on available data.
Perhaps it needs to be clearer that this is based on the best
available knowledge, but that some important areas may
have been omitted due to a lack of current information. We
would also support the comments made by Penny
Anderson regarding the importance of the other blue
habitats and consideration of habitats outside of the area in
the Peak District National Park.

Senior Conservation
Officer RSPB

Action taken

GI52

Areas shown as open space on the Local
Plan maps do not represent publicly
accessible open space, but those areas of
green space protected under Local Plan
policy and this may include school playing
fields.

GI55

Add additional text to section 5 to clarify
data limitations. Enhance text relating to
blue infrastructure and linkages into the
National Park.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Kezia
We support the reference to the historic environment in
paragraph 5.1 on page 20. We welcome the inclusion of a Taylerson
reference to the historic environment on page 27/28. We
would encourage the Council to consider if there is any
heritage at risk that could be enhanced through this
strategy. As well as citing non designated archaeology and
historic landscape character within paragraph 5.48. We
welcome the inclusion of mapping that assesses the historic
environment and historic landscape character.

Historic England

GI64

Action taken

Support noted. Consider if there is any
heritage at risk that could be enhanced
through the strategy. Amend paragraph
5.48 to include non designated
archaeology and historic landscape
character. Invite Historic England to join
the Steering Group.

Page 397

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 398

Miss Jane
We are satisfied that flood risk has been adequately
Field
covered throughout the document and that the potential
opportunities identified for managing flood risk are
appropriate. The report also has good coverage of the
biodiversity issues in relation to watercourses. We do
however, recommend integrating the following to section
5; "Where possible, opportunities will be sought to
undertake river restoration and enhance natural river
corridors as part of a new development in line with the
Humber River Basin Management Plan (Water Framework
Directive). ‐All development should be set back from all
rivers and streams with an undeveloped buffer corridor in
order to provide biodiversity migration routes, make space
for water and provide additional capacity in view of climate
change demands. ‐New developments should be designed
to view watercourses as aesthetically valuable greenspaces
which add value to the development by providing attractive
areas for people to view nature."

Planning Specialist
GI67
Environment Agency

Action taken

Suggested text to be inserted as a new
paragraph before existing paragraph 5.29.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 399

James
Some Staffordshire County Council Country Parks are
Chadwick
missing from the s.5.5 list: Deep Hayes Country Park and
Consall Nature Park (both mentioned in the woodlands
section of part 5). The maps in Appendix A are at such a
resolution that it is difficult to fully assess coverage but
appear to represent the different aspects of green
infrastructure. A simplified combined map might be helpful
to give a comprehensive picture and help identify areas of
deprivation, support assessment of ecosystems services
provision and enable identification of priorities and of
multifunctionality. Green space within or near built areas
could also include Staffordshire Wildlife Trust Nature
Reserves. Consall Nature Park – at present a SCC Country
Park – does not appear to be included on the map. It is not
clear why willow tit habitat mapping is included. It does not
appear appropriate to include measures for a single species
in such a strategy. Some sites are missing from maps. SCC
owned and managed disused railways designated as local
wildlife sites, are missing from the A.2 Large‐scale, linear
infrastructure features with potential for connectivity for
biodiversity enhancement map. These are the Denstone‐
Oakamoor Disused Railway and the Rudyard Disused
Railway (Leek – Rushton Spencer). These are well linked to
other green infrastructure.

Staffordshire County GI69
Council

Action taken

A simplified, combined map to be prepared
showing key assets drawn from across the
evidence base. Deep Hayes Country Park
and Consall Nature Park to be added to
para 5.5. Staffordshire County Council
Country Parks and Staffordshire Wildlife
Trust Nature Reserves to be added to Map
A.1 (where there is existing GIS mapping of
sites available). Map A.2 to be amended to
include Staffordshire Way, Biddulph Valley
Way and the Greenways from Leek to
Rushton Spencer and Oakamoor to
Denstone. Zone identified as being
important for willow tit is incuded as it is
an example of the importance of
supporting large scale linear features and
the benefits to priority species of
increasing connectivity between suitable
habitats.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Para 5.27. The River Dane runs through Rushton Spencer
but is not mentioned in this section.

Sam Hughes

Add a new paragraph following existing
paragraph 5.26 to read "The River Dane is a
tributary of the River Weaver that
originates in the Peak District and forms
the border between first Cheshire and
Derbyshire on the west and east, and then
between Cheshire and Staffordshire,
flowing through Rushton Spencer.

Rushton
GI74
Neighbourhood Plan
Group

Page 400

Grant
Fradley Estates
Objection to Map A.6 Landscape setting and Green Belt
Anderson (Hill
which identifies Fradley Estate's site off Langton Court /
Dickinson)
Tregaron Court as being within "important landscape
setting to settlement". On the basis of landscape and
Green Belt assessment undertaken by Bright and
Associates, contend that the Fradley Estate site should be
excluded from the important landscape setting on Map A.6.
Also proposes that Local Plan Preferred Options site (July
2017) WE003 should be added to the designation.

Question 3 ‐ Do you agree with the new opportunities that
the strategy is expected to provide (set out in section 5 of
this report)? If not, can you suggest what opportunities
you would support?

GI75

Map A.6 reflects the Council's current
evidence base. If the Council's evidence is
updated, the map will be updated
accordingly.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 401

Mrs Penny
Suggest you add in making connections between schools
Anderson
and places where people work/learn into the green/blue
infrastructure so that they can easily be reached. Can you
increase green/blue infrastructure within view of hospitals
and care homes ‐ these would support health and wellbeing
too? Also need to link educational facilities with greenspace
for ease of reach for study and enjoyment/or green
exercise. Have you any other LA premises to which this
could apply too ‐ making working spaces more attractive
improves wellbeing and work output of those inside?

GI4

Add new paragraph after 5.15 ‐ and an
additional bullet point at 5.19 ‐ to state
that improving existing connections, and
making new connections, between
educational facilities, workplaces, hospitals
and care homes and the green
infrastructure network can provide
valuable opportunities to help suppport
people's health and well‐being.

Same response as to question 2.

Mr Peter
Cowie

GI12

See response to GI11.

Yes I agree with them. I await the implementation plan to
see what will happen in reality.

MRS ANGELA
Turner

GI26

Noted.

GI34

Add an additional bullet point to 5.19
stating: Seek opportunities to deliver
connections within the GI network that
help support access for those in early years
education to their immediate natural
environment.

Please consider adding opportunities that specifically target Mrs Lorna
connection early years to their immediate natural
Stoddart
environment.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 402

The owners of the Mobberley Farm Strategic Development Mr T A J
Campbell
site welcome the suggestion in paragraph 5.19 that
pathways should be provided along rivers because that has
always been their intention as part of the development of
the remainder of the site.

GI38

Noted.

I fully support the broad thrust of proposals in section 5. My Mr Robert
primary interest is in green travels links and the
Turner
enhancement rights of way for cyclists and horse riders in
order to provide viable strategic routes away from the road
network, instead of the present fragmented and very
limited existing provision. Full opportunities should be
made of s106 contributions when development is
considered especially where that increases traffic
materially. In establishing such routes consideration should
be given to reinstating historic rights of way in order to
support the historic landscapes and environment policies.
Access by horse in particular causes less disturbance to
wildlife as most species do not react to horse and rider
combinations as they do humans alone.

GI43

Support for section 5 noted.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 403

Mr Mike
In general this seems to be a very good reflection of the
opportunities and we would support many of these. There Shurmer
are some additional considerations in terms of woodland,
for example thinking about the opportunity for supporting
sustainable woodland management across the Churnet
Valley which could perhaps be better reflected.
Additionally, we would suggest that care needs to be taken
not to compartmentalize habitats, but to think about
mosaics and transitions, for example between woodland
and meadows. This is reflected in some elements of this
section of the strategy, but could perhaps be repeated in
the section on woodland.

Senior Conservation
Officer RSPB

Action taken

GI56

Add an additional bullet point to 5.78 to
read: Identify opportunities to support
sustainable woodland management across
the Churnet Valley. Add a further bullet to
read: Improve, manage and create a rich
mosaic of woodland and other habitats of
conservation importance.

Question 4 ‐ Do you agree with the description of the GI
Network at a strategic level as detailed in section 6 and
illustrated on map 6.1?
Yes ‐ but see my comment above about connecting better
into the Peak District National Park.

Mrs Penny
Anderson

GI5

See response to GI3.

Broadly I agree. Why is SMDC committed to building huge
numbers of houses at the expense of countryside?

Mr Peter
Cowie

GI13

The National Planning Policy Framework
requires that local planning authorities
identify the objectively assessed need for
housing in their areas, and that Local Plans
translate that need into a housing
requirement.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 404

Under the heading Leek town in Section 6.10 the first bullet Mr John
Pigott
point is 'Protect existing green and open spaces used and
valued by Communities etc' . However the Draft Plan seems
to have ignored this point as no assessment or comment
has been made about the amenity value of The Mount in
terms of the number of people who walk or jog around it. If
the housing estate is built and Mount Road becomes an
estate road then the amenity is lost as many people will not
want to walk along a busy road. A large number of people
commented about this in their response to the 2016
Consultation but no assessment has been made! Why look
to create new walking routes when the walk around the
Mount is much valued with around 200 people per day
using it. Don't destroy this route by building 317 houses!

GI19

Action taken

The SMDC Local Plan policy DSL2 Land at
The Mount, Leek has been amended to
include a requirement for development to
be subject to priorities and actions
identified in the Council's Green
Infrastructure Plan.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 405

MRS ANGELA
Yes, although some of the current names given to the
Turner
corridors in Biddulph Valley are confusing and need to be
renamed to avoid confusion. The main Corridor 5 ‐
Knypersley Corridor has little to do with Knypersley. This
should be renamed The Moor Corridor, with spur 5b The
Knypersley Spur and 5a The Grange spur. The Biddulph
Town corridor is a vital connecting network, made mostly of
water courses and retained woodland. The area along the
brook from the Moor and down to the leisure centre is
especially important, as are key sites along the Biddulph
Brook which connect with the Biddulph Valley Way.

GI27

Following further consultation with
Biddulph Town Council, amend corridor
names and references to them throughout
the document as follows: 5: Knypersley
Corridor to be renamed 5: Biddulph Moor
Corridor; 5a Knypersley Corridor spur to be
renamed 5a: Biddulph Moor Corridor:
Grange spur and 5b Knypersley Corridor
spur to be renamed 5b: Biddulph Moor
Corridor: Knypersley spur. Text on page 50
under 8. Biddulph town to be amended to
include additional text as supplied.

Broadly yes but with the additions outlined in my response
to Q 2 above.
Overall, yes. The networks described seem to make sense
at a strategic level. Perhaps there could be more
consideration of what these link to outside of the area, for
example in the Peak District National Park.

GI44

See response to GI41.

GI57

Please see response to GI3 and GI55.

Mr Robert
Turner
Mr Mike
Shurmer

Senior Conservation
Officer RSPB

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 406

Mr Yendole
The Borough Council notes that the Green Infrastructure
Strategy Network document makes reference to the Blythe
Bridge Opportunity corridor (paragraphs 6.27 & 6.28) which
is supported. Nevertheless Map 7.11 on page 68 shows part
of the Opportunity corridor within Stafford Borough's
boundary and Green Belt area. Furthermore Map 7.12 on
page 69 shows an extensive area of "potential new
floodplain woodland" and "priority new riparian woodland"
as new designations within Stafford Borough. However
these proposed designations have no status in the adopted
Plan for Stafford Borough nor as part of the North
Staffordshire Green Belt.

Forward Planning
Stafford Borough
Council

GI60

Support for the Blythe Bridge Opportunity
corridor noted. The indicative boundary
for the ecological network illustrated on
map 7.11 can be redrawn to exclude land
in Stafford Borough. The areas of potential
and priority floodplain woodland are
Environment Agency designations, SMDC
to discuss with Stafford Borough how best
to represent GI at the cross boundary level
as part of Duty to Cooperate.

Denise
I have attached a map of the village of Bagnall with two
village greens marked with an orange arrow. As the village Cooper
green at the southern approach to Bagnall has been "colour
washed green" it seems to suggest that the two remaining
greens should be similarly protected. Could you please give
consideration to including these areas within the Local Plan
Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire
Moorlands.

Bagnall Parish
Council

GI61

These areas are considered to be part of
strategic corridor 5: Knypersley Corridor.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

As previously commented potentially Map 6.1 Strategic GI James
Chadwick
Network is misleading as it appears to indicate that
strategic green infrastructure is linear in nature rather than
being the actual complex network of habitat patches and
linear sites. Use of washes covering the relevant areas
rather than lines with arrows would be more
representative. There is potential for a joint working
initiative with East Staffordshire Borough Council and the
County Council regarding grassland habitat connectivity and
footpaths in the Cauldon and Weaver Hills area.

Staffordshire County GI70
Council

Action taken

Page 407

Para 6.4 sets out that corridors are
considered to have permeable edges.
However text to be added to para 6.7 to
clarify that "whilst illustrated as a linear
network for simplicity of representation, it
is acknowledged that strategic green
infrastructure is in fact a complex network
of habitat patches and linear sites". SMDC
would welcome joint working with East
Staffordshire Borough Council and the
County Council on connectivity across
boundaries.

Question 5 ‐ Do you agree with the priorities and actions
identified for each of the strategic corridors/ areas (as set
out in section 6)? If not, can you suggest what priorities
and actions you would support?
Seems fine. I would like to see more about how you are
going to action many of the ideas though. You need to be
proactive, not just wait for and tie in with planning
conditions etc. This costs time and resources. Good luck.

Mrs Penny
Anderson

GI6

Comments noted. Please see response to
GI36.

Corridors should not be used as a vehicle for built
development.

Mr Peter
Cowie

GI14

Vision for the GI strategy is set out at 4.3.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

MRS ANGELA
Yes I do. I welcome the inclusion and recognition of
Turner
managing surface water in the Biddulph Valley and the
opportunities that development can be creative in its'
management using SUDS and natural flood management
techniques. I also welcome the recognition that tree
planting, river management and other habitat measures can
assist in this. There is much work to do in order to
accurately identify the ecological corridors within the
Biddulph Valley in more detail, and I welcome the fact the
the Neighbourhood Plan Group can assist with this.

Page 408

Overall these seem to be good. They could be perhaps be
tightened and improved in places.

Mr Mike
Shurmer

Senior Conservation
Officer RSPB

Action taken

GI28

Support noted.

GI58

Comments noted. SMDC will welcome the
continued support of RSPB in helping to
develop the GI Strategy.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 409

Kezia
Under section 6 ‐ the key elements of the strategy we
would be supportive of the inclusion of a paragraph relating Taylerson
to the historic environment and how the strategy is
supportive of the aims and management of the historic
environment. Page 41 begins to look at specific landscape
corridors. We note in the example of the Churnet Valley
Corridor that there is reference to heritage assets that
could be affected, which we are supportive of. However,
there is no reference to these assets and management
opportunities within the list of bullet points following
paragraph 6.8 on page 41. We would welcome a specific
bullet point that recognises these heritage assets and how
the green infrastructure strategy can assist. Additionally,
page 42 discusses the Churnet Valley: Winkhill Spur and
cites "heritage issues" yet there is no further discussion
about what these are or how they can be incorporated into
the green infrastructure strategy. The above comments are
relevant to all of the green infrastructure corridors where
there are heritage assets or historic landscape character
and we would request to see the inclusion of a specific
bullet point for the historic environment in all relevant
areas.

Historic England

GI65

Action taken

Add "including the historic environment"
to the end of the first bullet point at
paragraph 6.6. Also add an additional
bullet point to paragraphs 6.8, 6.9, 6.10,
6.21 and 6.26 to read: "Conserve and
enhance the setting of heritage assets by
supporting access to and enjoyment of
historic landscapes and heritage assets for
recreation, education, and lifelong learning
and strengthen or restore historic links
between heritage assets using green
infrastructure."

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 410

James
S.5.19 objectives for development of new routes should
take avoiding disturbance to sensitive wildlife and damage Chadwick
to heritage assets (e.g. of disused railways and plate‐ways).
The GI Strategy appears to have missed an opportunity to
promote sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) with
biodiversity built into design as part of GI to provide more
than a flood alleviation function. The Green Infrastructure
Strategy includes a requirement that development should
be informed by and be sympathetic to landscape character
and quality and contribute to enhancement and
conservation of the landscape, and this is supported. The
Strategy also, in the section on Priorities and Proposals,
adopts a holistic approach to securing benefits for
biodiversity water quality and flood risk, and landscape and
this is supported.

Staffordshire County GI71
Council

Action taken

Add a new paragraph following 5.18 to
read: "It should be noted that where work
is undertaken to provide or improve green
travel links, care should be taken to avoid
disturbance to sensitive wildlife and
damage to heritage assets (e.g. of disused
railways and plate‐ways). Also amend
bullet point 16 at 6.21 to read "... SuDS
features with biodiversity built into their
design as part of ..."

Question 6 ‐ Do you agree with the suggested routes and
corridors as illustrated on the strategic network
settlement maps set out in section 7? If not, can you
suggest what corridors you would support?
Better connections and linkages to and within the NP
needed

Mrs Penny
Anderson

GI7

Please see response to GI3 and GI55.

Dislike the term 'corridors'. Smacks of a desire to build.

Mr Peter
Cowie

GI15

Noted.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 411

The existing walking route right round Rudyard Lake could Mr John
easily be altered to make it an off road circular cycle route Pigott
as well. Currently cycling round is discouraged and there is
at least one gate to negotiate.There seems no good reason
why it cannot be turned into a cycle route!

GI20

Suggestion noted.

MRS ANGELA
Biddulph Maps: Map 7.5 Ecological corridor 6 (Map 7.5)
should extend along the entire length of the Biddulph Valley Turner
Way to the south. Ecological corridor 5a (Map 7.5) should
extend slightly northwards to include The Clough (near PH
and Poolfold). Ecological corridor 5 (Map 7.5) should
include the whole of "The Sprink" to the east of Biddulph
Grange. The specifics of the town centre maps will need
more work and it is welcomed that Neighbourhood Plan
Groups can add detail to these maps at a more local level.
Map 7.6 focuses on water management corridors in
Biddulph. This strategy recognises the role that tree
planting can play in managing surface runoff and it is
excellent to see suggested new riparian woodland to the
east of the Valley. However, it is absent for the west of the
valley and this needs future consideration, especially as
more development will exacerbate these problems rather
than decrease them.

GI29

The ecological corridors illustrated on map
7.5 highlight where there are key habitats
that would benefit from being protected,
connected and enhanced for the benefit of
wildlife. Overlaying this with key green
travel routes and water management
corridors has helped to identify the
strategic corridors shown in map 6.1. The
whole of the Biddulph Valley Way
constitutes strategic corridor 6 (The
Biddulph Corridor) and "The Sprink" to the
East of Biddulph Grange is shown on map
6.1 as within Spur 5a (Whitemoor to High
Bent).

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

I would wish to add the former railway line north of Leek to Mr Robert
Turner
the cycling/horse network as a priority to enable a
convenient and safe route avoiding the heavily used A523.
All references to improving footpath and cycling network to
include horse riding as well.

Action taken

GI45

See response to GI41.

GI8

Suggestions noted with thanks.

Mr Peter
The stated principles are fine provided that they are not
conveniently adjusted to fit a local plan for huge numbers Cowie
of houses and other built development such as Moneystone
Park.

GI16

Noted.

Yes I do and I welcome the role that Neighbourhood Plans
can perform in partnership with other bodies.

GI30

Noted.

Question 7 ‐ Do you agree with the proposals for an
Implementation Plan as described in section 8? If not, can
you suggest what proposals you would support?

Page 412

You will need to emphasize the use of agri‐environment
schemes to get financial support for many of your
ambitious ideas. HLF may be another potential funder.
There are some grants for health and wellbeing works too.

Mrs Penny
Anderson

MRS ANGELA
Turner

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

I broadly agree with the Implementation Plan. A key partner Mr Robert
Turner
will be Staffordshire County Council as by its actions and
inaction much of the pre‐existing higher rights network
(bridleways, BOATS, unmaintained public highways etc) has
been downgraded or lost. As an authority it is not
undertaking its statutory obligations to deal with
applications to upgrade these rights of way where proper
evidence is submitted.

Action taken

GI46

SMDC will continue to work with
Staffordshire Couty Council where
appropriate.

Page 413

We would request that the historic environment forms part Kezia
of the implementation strategy in section 8.
Taylerson

Historic England

GI66

Please see response to GI65.

An implementation Plan will be essential to facilitate
delivery of actions to achieve Strategy objectives.

Staffordshire County GI72
Council

Please see response to GI36.

Question 8 ‐ Do you have any other comments?

James
Chadwick

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 414

In the section on ecosystem services you have omitted
Mrs Penny
discussion on carbon ‐ there is much more carbon
Anderson
sequestrated in flower‐rich grassland than in monocultural
grassland, much more in other habitats not arable, more in
mixed, diverse structural woodlands than in conifers, lots in
water too ‐ ponds are very good. Any soils that are carbon
rich ‐ peaty or heathy with a deep organic horizon ‐ are
really important for carbon stores. These need to be
protected and the habitat on them enhanced to protect the
organic layer and to help trap more carbon (heathland or
wet gleyed soils for example). You can use these arguments
in the wider value of carbon and reduced effects of climate
change (lots of little things add up) as part of the value of
your suggestions for ecosystem services. Good luck with the
development, resourcing and support of this strategy. I will
be interested to see how you manage to implement it. It
will mean prioritizing many of the actions and sourcing
finance etc to support it. It ties in nicely with the S W Peak
HLF LP project in which I am involved. Hope you can use this
to obtain funding to make more links with the NP.

GI1

Action taken

Add additional text to paragraph 2.16 to
read: "Carbon rich soils, such as those that
are peaty or heathy and habitats like
ponds, flower‐rich grassland and mixed,
diverse structural woodlands are very good
carbon stores. Protecting and enhancing
these soils and the habitats on them can
play an important role in trapping carbon
and helping to mitigate the effects of
climate change." SMDC would welcome
any links with the SW Peak Landscape
Partnership project.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

Page 415

Mr Peter
This website is far too unwieldy for Joe Bloggs to access. I
Cowie
have wasted hours of my time simply trying to register.
Today I was in luck. I have made several phone calls to
SMDC without success ‐ some staff are not au fait with the
site and I have received confusing advice and emails which
have not worked. Registration alone is too challenging and
unnecessary in order to gain productive consultation.
Comments for planning applications do not require
registration, password etc. So why does consultation on
local plans which have severe impact on our environment?

GI17

Noted. The Council produced a guide to
how to make comments via the online
consultation system. Responses to the
Local Plan and this GI consultation can also
be made by email and letter.

There is also a plan to put in a bypass to the west of
Mr Julian
Cheadle from Team Road to Draycott Cross Road. This
Baskeyfield
would not ease any traffic congestion in the town as if you
were to travel from Tean to Blythe Bridge you would not
use this road and it would not ease traffic heading for Alton
Towers as it would still have to travel through the town.
The traffic survey is also flawed as it was conducted during
the autumn and winter months and does not capture the
increase of traffic in the summer months.

GI22

Noted. Please also see GI39.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Natural England welcomes this Strategy and considers that Consultation
Service
it provides a valuable framework for the protection and
enhancement of green infrastructure within the
Staffordshire Moorlands. We are pleased to note that the
benefits of GI have been clearly set out and welcome the
analysis of existing green infrastructure assets. We will be
happy to work in partnership with the local authority in the
future to help implement the priorities that the strategy
identifies.

Natural England

Action taken

Page 416

GI23

Support noted and offer of continued
partnership working received with thanks.

I await the detail of the Implementation Plan with interest. MRS ANGELA
Turner

GI31

Noted.

I would welcome a conversation about how this strategy
Mrs Lorna
Stoddart
can help link young children in the area with their
immediate natural environment. Recently I have been
working to encourage carers and children into Leek's green
areas. Our own survey asking people who attended why
they came, how they benefitted, and why they wouldn't go
alone revealed some interesting impacts on physical and
mental health, a greater respect for the space and a strong
connection to community as a consequence of joining our
activities. Hope to hear from you!

GI35

SMDC would welcome a conversation to
consider how this strategy and wider work
of the Council can help to support
connecting young children with their
natural environment.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

The owners of the Mobberley Farm Strategic Development Mr T A J
site have noted Mr Julian Baskeyfield's comments about the Campbell
"bypass" with interest as the view that it will not aid
congestion in the town centre reflects the earlier view of
the Highways Authority. Irrespective if that a distributor
road is going to be needed to serve 400+ houses and so it
should be possible to combine both functions provided a
route for the road and the dimensions it should have can be
agreed soon.

Page 417

The comments set out below are from the partnership as a Mr Ian Wykes
whole and do not necessarily fully represent views of
individual partners. The Churnet Valley Living Landscape
Partnership (CVLLP) is a multi‐sector partnership seeking to
conserve and enhance the area's unique landscape and
heritage for all to enjoy. The programme began in 2012 and
with a grant of £1.89 million from Heritage Lottery Fund's
Landscapes Partnership initiative and other funding it has
helped deliver a range of projects run by local organisations
and community groups to create long term environmental
and social benefits for the area. These aspirations are in line
with the stated aims set out in policy C3 of the Local Plan
Preferred Options and the Strategic Green Infrastructure
Network (SGIN) and it is welcomed that the special nature
of the Churnet Valley is recognised. It is also welcomed that
the CVLLP are seen as a key delivery agent for proposals
within the GSIN. It is understood that an implementation

Development
Manager Churnet
Valley Living
Landscape
Partenrship

Action taken

GI39

Noted.

GI42

The Council is keen to work closely with
CVLLP in considering how best to ensure
effective implementation of the strategy.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Action taken

The strategy will only be of value if implemented. I hope
that local, charitable and specialist interest groups will be
encouraged to be involved. There is a potentially a wealth
of enthusiasm and knowledge available and access to
funding not claimable by local authorities.

Mr Robert
Turner

Noted. Partnership with other
organisations to help implement the
strategy will be welcomed.

GI47

Page 418

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 419

Agree more woodland planting to link existing woodlands. Mrs Lesley
Also support circular path around Biddulph. "Knypersley
Averill
Corridor" and spurs are badly named. Support improving
the Biddulph Valley Way. This will require measures to ban
its increasing use by motorbikes and quad bikes. There is
also encroachment onto the Way by adjacent property
owners. The allotments near to Biddulph Leisure Centre and
near the Gardeners Arms Pub in Brown Lees village are
missing from the map. Map 7.4 shows Long Lane and Brown
Lees Road from Harriseahead to Brown Lees as a
designated cycle network route. This is a dangerous lane
and unsuited to a cycle route. Map A.4 shows flood risks,
and Biddulph stands out as being a "hot spot" for flooding.
However there are insufficient measures proposed to deal
with this. Also the Sewage Works seems inadequate for the
size of the population, as sewage floods regularly after
torrential rain.

GI48

Action taken

Support for tree planting and the proposed
Biddulph circular route noted. Please see
response to GI27 re naming of the
Knypersley corridor and its spurs. The
Council records three allotment sites in
Biddulph, at: Moorland Road, Squirrel
Hayes Avenue and Church Road
Community Garden. Th flooding hotspots
shown on Map A.4 use data obtained from
Staffordshire County Council records of
reports received from residents, district
councils, fire services and other bodies of
flooding incidents around the County. A
number of the bullet points at paragraph
6.21 identify proposed priorities and
actions in Biddulph to address flood risk as
a consequence of the high number of
incidents of flooding reported in the town.
An Infrastructure Delivery Plan is being
prepared which will identify the
infrastructure necessary to support Local
Plan proposals.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

CH001 ‐ I believe that the Highways Department has raised Chris Bolton
serious concerns about the road system in Cheadle not
being able to cope with additional housing. The proposed
school would be accessed through CH001. CH001 ‐ Potential
for increased flooding and risk to existing properties,
damage to Water Vole habitat. CH001 ‐ This is the site of
old mine workings, development has been avoided in this
area in the past.

GI51

Action taken

Page 420

Policy DSC1 (Cheadle North Strategic
Development Area) requires development
to be subject to a comprehensive
masterplan to include detailed
investigation work in relation to the mining
legacy of the site; site specific flood risk
assessment and consideration of the
impact of growth on the Cecilly Brook Local
Nature Reserve, the ecological network
identified on map 7.8 and the priorities and
actions identified in this Green
Infrastructure Plan.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 421

Yes I do want to comment . I am sure you have made this
Mrs Jennifer C
web site so complicated on purpose, and the questions on Moreton
paper are also very difficult for the average person to
understand. You should realize that it is also the lives of
many older people you are about to effect. I have had
many conversations with people who do not know how to
express themselves apart from breaking into tears. I am
in total disgust of the way Cheadle has been treated,
nobody has listened to all our comments over the years. I
fail to understand how you people can dictate what
happens to our town when the majority of you have
not even been to Cheadle or experienced its problems, no
way is this right. Even the signed petition of almost 1000
signatures in objection has made no difference. I am
proud to say I am a fifth generation of Cheadle and I feel
what you are doing is very wrong. In the future either the
council or the residents will go down in history for the
responsibility of what Cheadle has become ‐ a congested
poor sister of the Moorlands or thriving popular market
town. Sadly by your choice I doubt it will not be the latter ‐
you should think again!

GI53

Action taken

The vision for the GI strategy is set out at
paragrapgh 4.3. Please also see response
to GI17.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 422

Mr Mike
Overall, the RSPB welcomes the Green Infrastructure
Strategy. We are please to see that use has been made of Shurmer
existing datasets and mapping and the work of the Churnet
Valley Living Landscape Partnership, to help to develop a
coherent strategy. We would be keen to work with the local
authority and other partners to help ensure that due
consideration of the opportunities presented by this
strategy to improve ecological networks for priority species
and habitats are realized and that there is a net gain for
nature. We would also encourage thought to be given of
how this plans can be realized and additionally how they
can be monitored and evaluated to ensure that objectives
for improved ecological networks as part of this strategic
approach are delivered effectively.

Senior Conservation
Officer RSPB

GI59

Action taken

Overall support noted. SMDC is grateful
for the advice and assistance provided by
the RSPB in the development of the
strategy to date and welcomes the offer of
further partnership working. The
Implementation Plan will set out
arangements for monitoring progress and
reviewing priorities.

Question

Full Name Organisation
Ref
(where relevant)

Page 423

NFU has over 1600 farming businesses in membership in
Ms S Faulkner Environment and
GI62
Staffordshire and thriving branches in Leek and Cheadle.
Rural Affairs Adviser
Agricultural businesses invest in landscape management and
(West Midlands) NFU
enhancement works but this is not acknowledged. Concerned that
strategy may add to the regulatory burden for farmers eg access
already covered by Rights of Way Improvement Plans; landscape
and biodiversity delivery is covered by cross compliance and agri‐
environment schemes. Agriculture, food production and farm
businesses are not mentioned, a paragraph is needed on the role
and importance of Staffordshire's farmers. Vision should include
role and contribution of agriculture. Para 5.7 Impact of new urban
development on surrounding famland should be addressed. 5.13
Existing provision should be acknowledged. 5.19 farmers and
landowners must be fully engaged with discussions on access. 5.29
This includes any new access to water. 5.36 Needs reference to
green belt being maintained by agricultural businesses ‐ farming
businesses have an essential role in maintaining landscape. 5.64
and 5.75 This should recognise that many listed habitats are
agricultural. 5.72 Much of the action proposed relies on farmers
and landowners for delivery. Analysis is required of how this can
be achieved via profitable farm businesses engaged in food
production. 5.85 themes directly affect agricultural businsses,
point 6 should include a focus on impacts on the rural economy
and farm businesses. 6.3 Clarity is needed on how this would
relate to wider farmland. NFU happy to discuss development of
the strategy with the Council.

Action taken

Helpful and constructive input from NFU welcomed.
NFU to be invited to join Steering Group to ensure
farmers and landowners are fully engaged. Add new
paragraph following existing paragraph 2.16 under
the heading "environmental stewardship". Add new
text following existing paragraph 5.34 to read:
"Sustainable agriculture is crucial for the
development of rural economies as well as the rural
landscape. Farmers are often considered the
custodians of nature ‐ their livelihoods depending on
the wellbeing of their natural surroundings ‐ as well
as high quality natural environments providing
multiple benefits that support sustainable
agriculture, healthy and diversified food production
and thriving farm businesses." 4.5 Add additional
benefit to read: "Contribution to a healthy and
diverse natural environment that is essential to food
security, sustainable livelihoods, increased resistance
to natural disasters and ability to recover from them,
support for secure and sustainable food production
and other long‐term benefits from agriculture." Add a
new bullet point to 5.64 to read: "Support high
quality local environments that help under‐pin
sustainable agriculture by enabling appropriate
nutrient cycling, pollination of crops, pest control,
availability of water and flood control, as well as soil
protection." 5.85 add new point to read: "Enhance
the profitability of farm businesses and provide extra
sources of income for rural communities."

Page 424

12

Agenda Item 12.1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 425

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 429

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 437

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 453

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 459

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 463

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 473

This page is intentionally left blank

